
CABINET 
AGENDA 

 
Page 1 of 2 

 

TUESDAY 19 JANUARY 2021 AT 6.30 PM 
MICROSOFT TEAMS - MICROSOFT TEAMS 

 
This meeting will be held remotely via the Microsoft Teams application. Should any 

members of the public wish to join this meeting, please contact 
member.support@dacorum.gov.uk by 5pm on 

Monday 18th January. 
 
The Councillors listed below are requested to attend the above meeting, on the day and at the time 
and place stated, to consider the business set out in this agenda. 
 
 
Membership 
 

Councillor Williams (Leader) 
Councillor Griffiths (Deputy Leader) 
Councillor Elliot 
 

Councillor G Sutton 
Councillor Anderson 
Councillor Banks 
 

 
 
For further information, please contact Corporate and Democratic Support or 01442 228209 
 

AGENDA 
 
 
1. MINUTES  (Pages 3 - 8) 
 
 To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on  15th December 2020.  

 
 
 

2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   
 
  

To receive any apologies for absence. 
 

3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   
 
 To receive any declarations of interest 

 
A member with a disclosable pecuniary interest or a personal interest in a matter who 
attends a meeting of the authority at which the matter is considered - 
 
(i) must disclose the interest at the start of the meeting or when the interest 

becomes apparent 

Public Document Pack



 
Page 2 of 2 

 

 
and, if the interest is a disclosable pecuniary interest, or a personal interest 
which is also prejudicial 

 
(ii)  may not participate in any discussion or vote on the matter (and must withdraw 

to the public seating area) unless they have been granted a dispensation. 
 

A member who discloses at a meeting a disclosable pecuniary interest which is not 
registered in the Members’ Register of Interests, or is not the subject of a pending 
notification, must notify the Monitoring Officer of the interest within 28 days of the 
disclosure. 
 
Disclosable pecuniary interests, personal and prejudicial interests are defined in Part 2 
of the Code of Conduct for Members 
 
[If a member is in any doubt as to whether they have an interest which should be 
declared they should seek the advice of the Monitoring Officer before the start of the 
meeting]  
 

4. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION   
 
 An opportunity for members of the public to make statements and ask questions in 

accordance with the rules as to Public Participation. 
 

 
5. REFERRALS TO CABINET   
 
 There were no referrals to Cabinet 

 
6. CABINET FORWARD PLAN  (Page 9) 

 
7. HEMEL GARDEN COMMUNITIES SPATIAL VISION  (Pages 10 - 73) 

 
8. DACORUM STRATEGIC SITES DESIGN GUIDE  (Pages 74 - 466) 

 
9. APPROPRIATION OF GENERAL FUND LAND TO THE HRA FOR HOUSING 

DEVELOPMENT  (Pages 467 - 488) 
 

10. EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC   
 
 To consider passing a resolution in the following terms: 

 
That, under s.100A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972 Schedule 12A Part 1 as 
amended by the Local Government (Access to Information) (Variation) Order 
2006 the public be excluded during the items in Part 2 of the Agenda for this 
meeting, because it is likely, in view of the nature of the business to be 
transacted, that, if members of the public were present during those items, there 
would be disclosure to them of exempt information relating to the financial and 
business affairs of the Council and third party companies/organisations. 
 
Local Government Act 1972, Schedule 12A, Part 1, paragraph 3. 
 

 
 



MINUTES 
 

CABINET 
 

15 DECEMBER 2020 
 
Councillors: Williams (Leader)  
 Griffiths (Deputy 

Leader) 
 

 Elliot  
 G Sutton  
 Anderson  
 Banks  
 
Officers: Claire Hamilton Chief Executive 
 James Deane Corporate Director - Finance and 

Operations 
 Mark Gaynor Corporate Director - Housing & 

Regeneration 
 Nigel Howcutt Assistant Director - Finance and Resources 
 Farida Hussain Group Manager (Legal & Corporate 

Services) 
 Katie Mogan Corporate and Democratic Support Lead 

Officer 
 Linda Roberts Assistant Director - Performance, People 

and Innovation 
 
 
 
The meeting began at 6.30 pm 
 
 

CA/105/20   MINUTES 
 

Minutes of the meeting held on 24 November 2020 were agreed by Members present 
and signed by the Chair. 
 

CA/106/20   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

There were no apologies for absence. 
 

CA/107/20   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

There were no declarations of interest 
 

CA/108/20   PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 
 

There was no public participation. 
 

CA/109/20   REFERRALS TO CABINET 
 

There were no referrals to Cabinet. 

Page 3

Agenda Item 1



 

CA/110/20   CABINET FORWARD PLAN 
 

The forward plan was noted. 
 

CA/111/20   COUNCIL TAX BASE 
 

Decision 
 
1. That Cabinet approves the Collection Fund surplus estimate of £43,362.84 as at 

31 March 2021. The Dacorum Borough Council share of this surplus is 
£5,268.18.  
 

2. That Cabinet approve the distribution profile for the surplus identified at 1.) as 
required by the Collection Fund: Surplus and Deficit (Coronavirus)(England) 
Regulations 2020.  This is contained at section 2.8 of the Cabinet report. 

 
3. That Cabinet approves the calculation of the Council’s tax base for the year 

2021/22 incorporating an estimated collection rate of 99.4%. 
 

4. That, in accordance with the Local Authorities (Calculation of Tax Base) 
Regulations 2012, the amount calculated by the Council as its tax base for the 
year 2021/22 shall be 58,693.7 and its constituent elements shall be: 

 

Part of Area -  Parished and 

Non Parished 

100% Tax 

base 

99.4% Tax 

base 

Hemel Hempstead 31,519.5 31,330.4 

Aldbury 479.4 476.5 

Berkhamsted 8,611.6 8,559.9 

Bovingdon 2,132.3 2,119.5 

Chipperfield 867.5 862.3 

Flamstead 647.5 643.6 

Flaunden 178.8 177.7 

Great Gaddesden 456.0 453.3 

Kings Langley 2,316.0 2,302.1 

Little Gaddesden 640.4 636.6 

Markyate 1,358.6 1,350.4 

Nash Mills 1,244.2 1,236.7 

Nettleden with Potten End 802.7 797.9 

Northchurch 1,301.5 1,293.7 

Tring Rural 690.6 686.5 

Tring Town 5,120.6 5,089.9 

Wigginton 680.8 676.7 

Total 59,048.0 58,693.7 

 
Deputy Monitoring Officer 
 

Page 4



3 
 

No comments to add to the report. 
 
Section 151 Officer 
 
This is a Section 151 officer report. 

Advice 

Councillor Elliot introduced the report to members which recommends that Cabinet 

approve the collection fund surplus for 2020/21 and setting of the council tax base for 

2021/22. These are both statutory requirements as part of the council budget setting 

process. Under item 1, the collection fund surplus arises from a timing difference 

between collecting council tax and paying out to the other council tax preceptors in 

the county. The report shows the surplus at £43,362 to be split between the 

Hertfordshire preceptors as outlined in the statute. Item 2, annually the council is 

required to use a prescribed formula to estimate the number of band D equivalent 

properties in the borough and so the council tax base for 2021/22 is calculated to be 

£58,693 band D equivalent households.  

Councillor Griffiths referred to paragraph 2.3 of the report in reference to the surplus 

estimated as at 31 March 2021. She asked for clarification if this was based on what 

it was in 2020 or what the cut-off date was for this estimate.  

N Howcutt said there were two elements. The surplus of deficit is calculated a year in 

arrears as the budget is set and the payments to the preceptors are estimated and at 

the end of the financial year, it is calculated and that is what the surplus is. The 

payment in 2021/22 relates to the previous financial year because we have to wait for 

all the payments to be made. The second element is the council tax base and the 

baseline for that is at 30 November 2020 and is put into a formula and this gives the 

projected council tax base for the subsequent financial year. One is forward looking 

and one is backward looking.  

Councillor Griffiths queried the low figure for new builds despite the increase in new 

homes being built.  

N Howcutt said the surplus is not reflective of the new builds. The small surplus 

means our estimates were accurate.  

Councillor Williams said Councillor Griffiths was referring to the financial implication 

section of the report which shows the council tax base growth seems relatively small 

to the development happening in the borough.  

N Howcutt said the estimates show lower growth for next year mainly due to the 

delays caused by the Covid-19 pandemic. We are projecting the same growth next 

year but we will be starting from a lower baseline.  

Recommendations agreed. 

 

Page 5



CA/112/20   TREASURY MANAGEMENT MID-YEAR UPDATE 
 

Decision 

RESOLVED TO RECOMMEND: 

The acceptance of the Cabinet report on mid-year treasury management 

performance and prudential indicators for 2020/21. 

Monitoring Officer 
   
No comments to add to the report. 
 
Deputy S.151 Officer 
 
This is a Deputy Section 151 Officer Report. 
 

Advice  

Councillor Elliot introduced the report and said it was a statutory report on the 

performance of treasury management which is presented twice a year. He confirmed 

that all treasury management strategies have been followed in 20/21 and there are 

no proposed changes to the existing treasury management policy. The return of 

investment and quarterly revenue monitoring returns are behind expectations due to 

the impact of covid on cash balances and interest rates being significantly lower. The 

council’s cash is safe but like most other businesses, we are not earning much 

interest.  

There were no questions. 

Recommendations agreed.  

 

CA/113/20   EQUALITY, DIVERSITY AND INCLUSION STRATEGY 
 

Decision  

1 That the draft Equalities, Diversity and Inclusion Strategy and Action Plan (as 

set out in the report) be approved 

 

RESOLVED TO RECOMMEND: 

 

2 That the International Holocaust Remembrance Alliance definition of 

antisemitism be adopted as set out in the report and the illustrative 

examples that are presented alongside. 

Page 6



5 
 

3.     That the new post for a Diversity and Community Inclusion Officer be 

included as   part of the 2021/22 budget as set out in section 5 of this 

report. 

 

Councillor Williams introduced the report and said that approval of a strategy does 

not normally need to be approved by Full Council but he felt it was important to be 

recommended to Council due to the adoption of the International Holocaust 

Remembrance Alliance definition of anti-Semitism. He felt the weight of the full 

Council’s endorsement would send the right messages.  

M Gaynor added that the new strategy takes into account legislative changes and the 

additional responsibilities and expectations from government. The strategy also takes 

into account the rapidly changing demographics of the borough and get a better 

understanding of the entire community. The report also includes staff resources to 

deliver the strategy.  

Councillor Griffiths said she thought it was important that this went to Full Council 

and get the endorsements of all councillors. She welcomed the fact that this strategy 

would bring the council into line with legislation and have someone to implement it.  

Councillor Tindall thanked the Cabinet for how this matter has been dealt with and 

said it will receive full endorsement from his group at council.  

Councillor Williams asked for clarification on recommendation three as there was 

nothing that contradicts the budget process.  

N Howcutt said this will be approved as part of the budget process in 2021/22.  

Recommendations agreed.  

 

CA/114/20   GARAGE PROGRAMME UPDATE 
 

Decision  

That progress made to date be noted. 

Deputy Monitoring Officer comments 

There are no legal implications arising from this report. 

Deputy S151 Officer comments 

There are no financial implications arising from this report. 

Advice  

L Roberts advised that this was the same report that was presented to the Overview 

and Scrutiny committees last week. 

Page 7



Councillor Williams added that he listened to the report that was presented at 

scrutiny and he highlighted that this was a working progress and he was having 

discussions with the Chief Executive about the way forward to give the programme a 

clearer focus.  

Councillor Griffiths noted the update report and that the next report the committee 

see will show how this can be taken forward.  

L Roberts explained that there had been a delay of 3 -4 months due to covid which is 

why the project is a little behind where we expected it to be.  

Councillor Williams said the department now have a better understanding of what 

stock we have and what condition it is in alongside the low and high demand areas. 

We now need to address how we devise policies to take them forward.  

Recommendations agreed.  

 

CA/115/20   COMMITTEE TIMETABLE 2021/22 
 

Decision  

RESOLVED TO RECOMMEND: 
 
The approval of the Meeting Timetable for 2021/22 as set out in Appendix A to 
the Cabinet report. 

Deputy Monitoring Officer: 
 
No comments to add to the report. 
 
Deputy S.151 Officer 
 
No comments to add to the report. 
 

Advice  

Councillor Williams introduced the report to members.  

There were no questions.  

Recommendations agreed.  

 
 
 
The Meeting ended at 6.50 pm 
 

Page 8



 
Last updated: 11 January 2020 

 

 CABINET FORWARD PLAN  
 

 DATE 

MATTERS FOR 
CONSIDERATION 

 
Decision 
Making 
Process 

Reports to 
Monitoring 

Officer/ 
S.151 

Officer 

CONTACT DETAILS 
BACKGROUND 
INFORMATION 

1.  09/02/21 Budget 2021/22  21/01/21 James Deane, Corporate Director 
Finance & Operations  
01442 228278 
james.deane@dacorum.gov.uk  

To approve the 
budget for 
2021/22 

2.  09/02/21 Climate Change 
Emergency 
Update 

 21/01/21 Mark Gaynor, Corporate Director 
Housing & Regeneration 
01442 228575 
mark.gaynor@dacorum.gov.uk 
 

To report 
progress on the 
Climate Change 
Emergency action 
plan.  

3.  09/02/21 Independent 
Remuneration 
Panel 2020 – 
Scheme of 
Members’ 
Allowances for 
Dacorum Borough 
Council 

 21/01/21 Mark Brookes, Assistant Director 
Corporate & Contracted Services 
01442 228236 
Mark.brookes@dacorum.gov.uk 

To report on the 
outcome of the 
review of the 
Council’s Scheme 
of Members’ 
Allowances by the 
Independent 
Remuneration 
Panel. 

4.  09/02/21 HRA Business 
Plan 

 21/01/21 Fiona Williamson, Assistant 
Director of Housing  
01442 228855 
Fiona.williamson@dacorum.gov.uk 

Revised HRA 
Business Plan to 
provide details for 
the period 2020-
2023. 

5.  09/02/21 Allocation of ‘One 
to One’ Right to 
Buy receipts for 
use on social 
housing schemes 

 21/01/21 David Barrett, Group Manager 
Housing Development 
01442 228252 
david.barrett@dacorum.gov.uk  

Allocation of ‘one 
for one’ RTB 
receipts for new 
social housing, to 
include grant to 
Registered 
Providers. 
 

6.  09/02/21 Senior Officer Pay 
Policy 

 21/01/21 Linda Roberts, Assistant Director 
Performance, People & Innovation  
01442 228979 
Linda.roberts@dacorum.gov.uk  

To be provided  

7.  16/03/21 Transformation 
Programme 

 25/02/21 Linda Roberts, Assistant Director 
Performance, People & Innovation  
01442 228979 
Linda.roberts@dacorum.gov.uk 

To be provided 

8.  16/03/21 Garage Strategy  25/02/21 James Deane, Corporate Director 
Finance & Operations  
01442 228278 
james.deane@dacorum.gov.uk 

To be provided  

      

 
Future Items: 

 

 South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan (J Doe)  

 The Bury museum project (J Doe) - To update Cabinet on progress on options for delivering a new 
museum at The Bury, and seek agreement on the next stages of the project. 

 Drug and Alcohol Support Commissioning (L Roberts & M Rawdon) 

 Constitution Update/Protocol on filming (M Brookes) 

 Berkhamsted Sports Centre (M Brookes)  

 Paradise Depot Redevelopment and New Provision for DENS 

 New Build DevCo 
 

Page 9

Agenda Item 6

mailto:james.deane@dacorum.gov.uk
mailto:mark.gaynor@dacorum.gov.uk
mailto:Mark.brookes@dacorum.gov.uk
mailto:Fiona.williamson@dacorum.gov.uk
mailto:david.barrett@dacorum.gov.uk
mailto:Linda.roberts@dacorum.gov.uk
mailto:Linda.roberts@dacorum.gov.uk
mailto:james.deane@dacorum.gov.uk


 
 

Report for: Cabinet 

Date of meeting: 19th January 2021 

Part: 1 

If Part II, reason:  

 

Title of report: Hemel Garden Communities Spatial Vision  

Contact: 
Cllr Graham Sutton, Portfolio Holder for Planning and 
Infrastructure 
 
Responsible Officer:  
James Doe, Assistant Director - Planning, Development and 
Regeneration 
Ian Charie, Programme Director, Hemel Garden Communities 
 
Authors: 
Nathalie Bateman, Hemel Garden Communities Lead 
Olivia Halper, Urban Design Officer 
 

Purpose of report: To seek Cabinet’s endorsement of the Hemel Garden 
Communities Spatial Vision report and next steps. 

Recommendations That Cabinet: 

1. Endorses the Hemel Garden Communities Spatial 
Vision for use by the Hemel Garden Communities 
Programme, Dacorum Borough Council and other 
stakeholders as set out in 2.5. 

2. Delegates authority to the Assistant Director – 
Planning, Development and Regeneration in 
consultation with the Programme Director Hemel 
Garden Communities and the Portfolio Holder for 
Planning and Infrastructure to agree minor 
amendments to the draft Spatial Vision arising from the 
multi-Authority approvals process. 

Period for post 
A review of the Spatial Vision’s impact and continuing 
relevance should be undertaken within 5 years. 

Page 10

Agenda Item 7



project review 

Corporate 
objectives: 

The Spatial Vision provides a framework of spatial principles 
which will inform the transformation and growth of Hemel 
Hempstead, as part of the Hemel Garden Communities 
Programme, in support of DBC’s stated Corporate objectives: 

 A clean, safe and enjoyable environment: the Spatial 
Vision promotes a network of green routes to support 
healthy lifestyles and active travel, access to nature, 
and safe routes and spaces which are inclusive to all 
local communities.  

 Building strong and vibrant communities: the 
Spatial Vision’s engagement methodology supported 
local communities to help shape a vision which sets out 
principles to create and reinforce a series of distinct, 
walkable neighbourhoods centred around lively, 
inclusive local centres with an offer of leisure, retail, 
employment opportunities, business space, culture and 
community facilities to meet the needs of local 
communities. Hemel’s communities will be connected 
and engaged, and will be active participants in the 
transformation of the town, including through cultural 
activity, public art, and knowledge and skills sharing. 

 Ensuring economic growth and prosperity: the 
Spatial Vision provides a framework to stimulate the 
diversification of Hemel Hempstead’s employment offer 
and improve the resilience and sustainability of its 
economy, through localising supply chains, building 
skills, and implementing a circular economy, improving 
digital connectivity and introducing innovative 
technologies that build on the growth of Hertfordshire 
Innovation Quarter to benefit existing businesses and 
the whole of Hemel Hempstead and the surrounding 
area. 

 Providing good quality affordable homes: the Spatial 
Vision sets a framework for delivery of new 
neighbourhoods and homes with a mix of tenures 
including 40% affordable homes.  

 Ensuring efficient, effective and modern service 
delivery: the Spatial Vision promotes innovative 
methods of engaging communities and the use of 
digital technologies in the design and development of 
Hemel Garden Communities. This was commenced 
through engagement on the Spatial Vision itself, (during 
the Covid restrictions period), which made use of digital 
methods to overcome social distancing and reach more 
children and young people. Running throughout the 
Spatial Vision are opportunities for community 
collaboration, leadership and stewardship to ensure 
that places meet the needs of the communities they 
serve. 

Implications: Financial 

Page 11



 
 
 
 
‘Value for money’ 
implications 

 
None directly associated with this report.  
 
Value for money 
 
The consultants were appointed through a formal 
procurement process where value for money 
considerations were reflected in the scoring criteria. 
 

Risk implications 
Given the scale of future growth planned for Hemel 
Hempstead, it is critical that the HGC Programme can guide 
new development so that it responds to the needs of local 
communities and stakeholders, integrates new and existing 
communities and transforms the existing town of Hemel 
Hempstead, to meet the Garden Communities programme 
aspirations. 
 
If the Spatial Vision is not approved, the HGC Programme will 
be limited in its ability to secure the high quality growth, 
infrastructure and transformation of Hemel Hempstead in a 
way which is rooted in the local context and responds to the 
needs of the communities of Hemel and the wider area.  The 
ambition and aspiration that this visionary document sets out is 
considered essential to underpin a large scale, long term 
Placeshaping Programme. Non approval of this document 
could also present a risk to the town’s Government-supported 
Garden Town status. 
 

Community Impact 
Assessment 

The Council has undertaken a Community Impact Assessment 
(CIA) for the Hemel Garden Communities Spatial Vision, which 
is appended to this report.  

 
The HGC Spatial Vision forms part of the Draft Local Plan’s 
Hemel Garden Communities Delivery Strategy. A full 
Sustainability Appraisal/Strategic Environmental Assessment 
(SA/SEA) is being carried out on the new draft Dacorum Local 
Plan which considers social, environmental and economic 
impacts in detail and will be scrutinised at the future Local Plan 
examination by an independent inspector. The Council has 
also undertaken a CIA on the draft Local Plan.  
 

Health and safety 
Implications 

The framework for masterplanning and design quality provided 
by the Spatial Vision will promote the physical and mental 
wellbeing of Hemel Hempstead’s communities, and create 
safe, vibrant places. 

Monitoring 
Officer/S.151 
Officer Comments 

Monitoring Officer 
 
The Spatial Vision, whilst not a statutory document, provides a 
framework for future development within the Garden 
Communities area and the transformation of the wider town of 
Hemel Hempstead and connecting routes. 
The statutory implementation of the vision will come through 
local plan policy and supplementary planning documents and 
therefore a material planning consideration in applications. 

Page 12



 
Deputy S.151 Officer 
 
No further comments to add to the report. 

 

Consultees: The following teams and organisations have been consulted on 
the Draft document: 

 HGC partners including officers and Members from 
Dacorum, St Albans, Hertfordshire County Councils.  

 Hertfordshire Local Enterprise Partnership. 

 The Crown Estate and its masterplanning consultants. 

 HGC Councillor Visioning Group. 

 Dacorum services: Strategic Planning & Regeneration, 
Climate Change teams. 

 St Albans City & District Council services: Planning & 
Building Control teams. 

 Hertfordshire County Council services: Ecology, Public 
Health, Countryside and Rights of Way, Education, 
Sustainability, Highways Strategy & Implementation 
teams. 

Background 
papers: 

1. Cabinet reports -  Oct 2018, July 2019, Jan 2020 

2. HGC Memorandum of Understanding 

3. HGC Charter 

4. Dacorum Strategic Planning & Environment Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee report – 1st December 2020 

5. Community Impact Assessment for the Hemel Garden 
Communities Spatial Vision: Appendix 3 

Glossary of 
acronyms and any 
other abbreviations 
used in this report: 

DBC – Dacorum Borough Council 

HGC – Hemel Garden Communities 

LEP – Hertfordshire Local Enterprise Partnership 

TCPA – Town and Country Planning Association 

MHCLG – Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 
Government 

CIA – Community Impact Assessment 

1.0  Introduction 
 

Page 13



1.1  Dacorum Borough Council, St Albans City and District Council, 
Hertfordshire County Council, Hertfordshire Local Enterprise 
Partnership (LEP) and The Crown Estate are working in partnership to 
deliver Hemel Garden Communities (HGC), a major expansion of 
Hemel Hempstead bringing transformative benefits for the existing 
town.  

 
1.2  The Authorities were awarded Garden Town Status from Government 

in March 2019 and are working under the Ministry of Housing, 
Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) Garden Communities 
programme to deliver the HGC programme. 

 
1.3  The programme is supported by the HGC Memorandum of 

Understanding and the HGC Charter, which sets out nine placemaking 
principles, and is driven by a mission statement to ‘take the best of the 
New Town heritage into the 21st century…anchoring the 
transformation of Hemel Hempstead and the wider area.’ 

 
1.4  HGC includes new development and transformation proposals for the 

town and wider connections. It will be the catalyst for transformation of 
the wider town and its connections is the North and East of Hemel 
Hempstead Growth Areas, where housing growth is divided roughly 
equally between Dacorum and St Albans districts and the majority of 
the employment growth is located in St. Albans district – see Appendix 
1 HGC Programme Area. All other development proposed for HGC in 
the town of Hemel Hempstead, as set out in Dacorum’s draft Local 
Plan, will be supporting and shaping the transformation agenda either 
on site and/or through developer contributions. The proposals include 
a range of sites, some of which have been allocated in the adopted 
Local Plan whilst others will be allocated in emerging or future Local 
Plans or are simply windfall opportunities.  

 

2.0  Purpose 
 

2.1  The Spatial Vision builds on Hemel Hempstead’s strengths and 
explains how HGC will look and feel once the development and 
transformation is complete. It provides a locally specific narrative and 
framework to guide the transformation of Hemel Hempstead and its 
strategic growth, and is a high-level, overarching and necessarily 
aspirational document. It will guide all other masterplanning and 
design work for HGC.  

 
2.2  New development will be delivered in phases via the Local Plan and 

the development management processes. The ability of phased 
development to contribute to the HGC Programme’s specific Garden 
Communities aspirations for Hemel Hempstead and the surrounding 
area relies on having a compelling and coherent vision in place, 
encapsulating both the Town and Country Planning Association’s 
(TCPA) Garden City Principles and Hemel Hempstead’s unique 
growth potential, which is provided by the Spatial Vision. 

 
2.3  The joint Dacorum and St Albans Strategic Design Guide sets the 

Authorities’ general expectations for best practice, high quality design, 
and includes a design process to achieve these. In this context, the 
Spatial Vision will ensure that development proposals, designed in 
accordance with the Strategic Design Guide, achieve the specific 

Page 14



Garden Communities’ ambitions for the growth and transformation of 
the town. 

 
2.4  The status of the Spatial Vision is consolidated through the 

Authorities’ emerging Local Plan policies and the joint Dacorum and St 
Albans Strategic (Sites) Design Guide. The HGC Programme partners 
will work collaboratively and put in place the appropriate legal 
mechanisms to ensure that each phase contributes towards the 
Spatial Vision’s aspirations for the quality of new growth and the 
transformation of the existing town.  

 
2.5  The HGC Spatial Vision will be used to: 

 

 Guide the HGC Programme and preparation of key studies: 
the HGC Framework Plan, HGC Transport Plan, HGC 
Infrastructure Delivery Plan, HGC Transformation Plan, HGC 
Programme Delivery Plan, where all costed proposals and key 
actions will be set out in a HGC Transformation and 
Infrastructure Plan which could become a Supplementary 
Planning Document, see Figure 1. 

 Inform design and infrastructure requirements as part of the 
masterplanning and determination of planning applications for 
HGC. 

 Provide direction for further evidence base work, studies and 
strategies required to support the HGC Programme.  

 
Figure 1: Relationship of Spatial Vision to next stages of the HGC 
Programme

 
 
 

3.0  Approach 

 

Page 15



3.1  The HGC Spatial Vision was created through collaboration between 
the HGC Programme Team and consultants DK-CM, working closely 
with the LEP and The Crown Estate. The Spatial Vision project team 
developed new engagement approaches to adapt to the COVID-19 
pandemic social distancing requirements, including ‘virtual’ meetings 
and events where feedback was captured on digital whiteboards. 

 
3.2  As an overarching engagement method, ‘Hemel Channel’, an 

Instagram-based social media channel was created. The Instagram 
site is being used by the HGC Programme team and the public to 
engage on activities and events but also as a virtual space to discuss 
programme matters.  

 
3.3  The Hemel Channel acted as a central communications platform to 

keep members of the public up to date throughout a two-phase 
programme of engagement activities. The first phase engaged with 
communities and stakeholders to help them gain a greater 
understanding of the place, and the second phase enabled these 
groups to contribute to shaping the Spatial Vision in a hands-on way.  

 
3.4  Phase 1: Understanding the Place: The Spatial Vision project team 

engaged with a broad range of communities in Hemel Hempstead and 
the surrounding area to explore and characterise the place and to 
create a picture of the town generated by the people who live, work 
and play here. Activities included a series of competitions inviting 
entries from children and adults showcasing what they find special 
about Hemel and the surrounding area and how they imagine its 
future. The team reached out to schools as part of this process, and 
held a live sketching session on Instagram. In parallel, the team held a 
series of 1:1 conversations with key stakeholders in the HGC 
Programme area and wider stakeholders to understand their 
aspirations for the future. 

 
3.5  Phase 2: Shaping the Vision: The Spatial Vision project team held a 

series of events aimed at different groups, to allow the communities of 
Hemel Hempstead and the surrounding area to influence the 
emerging Spatial Vision. The events comprised: 

 

 An interactive session with the Dacorum Community Review 
Panel 

 A ‘virtual’ Public Workshop, attended by 40 members of the 
public and key stakeholders 

 A Councillor Visioning Group, including Councillors from 
Dacorum, St Albans and Hertfordshire County Council. 

 
3.6  In addition to the Spatial Vision project team, an Expert Group made 

up of notable specialists in their fields was formed to provide input on 
key areas: transport, inclusive design, history, cultural commissioning, 
urban futures, Garden Cities, ecology and sustainability. Members of 
the Expert Group are listed at the end of the Spatial Vision document. 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 16



4.0  The draft HGC Spatial Vision 
 

4.1  The draft HGC Spatial Vision, attached as Appendix 2, explains how 
HGC will look and feel once the development and transformation is 
complete. It consists of an overarching Spatial Vision, which is broken 
down into four Pillars with individual spatial visions and spatial 
principles. Each Pillar is supported with best practice examples from 
Hemel Hempstead, the wider area and beyond, and a ‘delivery’ list of 
studies and next steps. 

 

4.2  A series of maps and drawings has been produced to illustrate the 
vision, supported by best practice, local context, case studies, 
photography and indications of further guidance. These visuals show 
a concept interpretation of the built and green form with a range of 
indicative proposals, which represent the Spatial Vision. 

 
4.3  A summary of the vision and its supporting pillars is provided below. 
 

The Vision is:  
 

‘Hemel Garden Communities: creating a greener, more connected 
New Town.  
 
In the heart of the Golden Triangle between Oxford, Cambridge and 
London, Hemel Garden Communities will create new neighbourhoods 
and transform existing ones and the wider area, building on the best of 
its heritage and culture to become a greener, more connected New 
Town. The vision is organised into four thematic pillars, all of which 
reinforce the aspirations to promote healthy lifestyles and respond 
to the climate crisis. Hemel Garden Communities will be home to 
inclusive, integrated neighbourhoods connected by a green 
network, and thoughtfully designed places with engaged 
communities, all underpinned by digital connectivity, a self-
sustaining economy and pioneering green technology driven by 
Herts Innovation Quarter’. 

 
The Four Pillars are: 
 
A Green Network - A network of green and blue routes, travel and 
places will support healthy lifestyles, biodiversity, climate resilience, 
environmental sustainability and the wellbeing of local communities. 
 
Integrated Neighbourhoods – A series of walkable neighbourhoods, 
connected to each other, each with individual distinct identities, 
exemplar design and sustainability standards, centred upon lively, 
inclusive local centres. 
 

A Self-sustaining Economy - Innovation in sustainability, circular 
economy principles and digital connectivity will be key employment 
drivers in Hemel Garden Communities and provide a strong theme for 
the economic identity of the town. 
 
Engaged Communities – Connected and engaged communities will 
be active participants in the transformation of Hemel Garden 
Communities. Cultural and heritage activity, public art, knowledge and 
skill exchange and enterprise will all play a role, now and in the long 
term. 

Page 17



 
4.4  There are two cross-cutting themes running throughout: a response 

to the climate crisis, and healthy lifestyles, to which each Pillar’s 
Spatial Principles contribute. 

 
5.0  Endorsement process and next steps 

 
5.1  The Draft Spatial Vision was reported to the Strategic Planning, 

Environment and Overview Committee on 1st December 2020. The 
Committee asked many questions about its scope and next steps and 
gave a view that as an aspiration setting document the HGC Spatial 
Vision was a good basis for the project to be taken forward. 

 
5.2  In addition to submission to Dacorum’s Cabinet for endorsement, the 

Spatial Vision will be reported to St Albans City and District Council’s 
Planning Performance Committee and Hertfordshire County Council’s 
Growth, Infrastructure, Planning and the Economy Cabinet Panel in 
February 2021. Further changes may be made as a result of this 
consultation across the three partner Authorities. 

 
5.3  Cabinet is asked to endorse the HGC Spatial Vision and delegate 

authority to the Assistant Director for Planning, Development and 
Regeneration in consultation with the Programme Director HGC and 
the Portfolio Holder for Planning and Infrastructure to approve final 
amendments to the Spatial Vision arising from the multi-Authority 
noting and approvals process.  

 
5.4  Once the document is finalised, it will be used as a platform to steer 

ambitions and engage the communities of Hemel Hempstead and the 
wider area on the next level of detail and proposals for the Hemel 
Garden Communities programmer. 

 
Appendices: 
 
Appendix 1 – HGC Programme Area 
Appendix 2 – HGC Spatial Vision 
Appendix 3 – Community Impact Assessment 
 
 
 

Page 18



Appendix 1 HGC Programme 
Area 

P
age 19



 

Page 20



1 

A SPATIAL
   VISION

DK-CM for the Hemel Garden Communities Programme

   HEMEL GARDEN 
COMMUNITIES

Page 21



2  

 

1

2

3

4

Introduction 5

THE VISION 6

FOUR PILLARS 10 

A GREEN NETWORK 15

INTEGRATED NEIGHBOURHOODS 23

A SELF-SUSTAINING ECONOMY 31

ENGAGED COMMUNITIES 39

Approach 47 

Delivery 55
 
Appendix 1: Engagement Findings 61

Appendix 2: Case Studies  71

Credits 88

P
age 22



54   

HGC
Chiltern   W

ay

M
1

A41

M1

A1 (M
)

M25

M
11

A414

HS2

Luton

Heathrow

5km

CHILTERNS
AONB

HERTFORDSHIRE

W
est Coast Mainline

M
idlands M

ainline

OXFORD-CAMBRIDGE ARC

LONDON

Hemel Garden 
Communities  
Programme Area

The Green Triangle sites

Railway line

Roads

INTRODUCTION

What is Hemel Garden Communities? 

Supported by Garden City Principles, Hemel Garden Communities (HGC) 
will take the best of the New Town heritage into the 21st century with over 
11,000 homes, 10,000 jobs and Hertfordshire Innovation Quarter at its 
heart, anchoring the transformation of Hemel Hempstead and the wider 
area. 

The HGC programme area covers the whole town of Hemel Hempstead, 
within the borough of Dacorum, as well as proposed growth areas 
straddling both Dacorum and St. Albans district to the north and east of the 
town and wider movement routes beyond.

Dacorum Borough Council, St Albans City and District Council, 
Hertfordshire County Council, Hertfordshire Local Enterprise Partnership 
and The Crown Estate are working together to deliver this ambitious 
development programme which will transform and grow Hemel Hempstead 
and create attractive, sustainable new neighbourhoods to its north and east 
by 2050. The HGC proposal has been recognised by Government, which 
awarded Hemel Hempstead ‘Garden Town’ status and a grant in 2019 to 
help develop garden communities of the future.
  
What is a Spatial Vision? 
 
The Spatial Vision builds on Hemel Hempstead’s strengths and explains 
how HGC will look and feel once the development and transformation is 
complete. It provides a framework of locally specific spatial principles to 
inform detailed masterplanning and further studies, and guide landowners 
and developers following the Dacorum and St Albans’ joint Strategic (Sites) 
Design Guide. 
 
The Spatial Vision is a high-level document that provides a series of 
aspirations for the future of HGC. It is made up of an overarching vision, 
which is then subdivided into four thematic pillars and two crossover 
themes. Each of these pillars includes an illustration and Spatial Principles, 
supported by contextual information, further guidance and precedents. The 
illustrations visualise different aspects of the Spatial Vision and the potential 
spaces and places it might inform, including visuals which draw attention 
to particular locations within Hemel Hempstead and the wider area as 
examples or to illustrate how a proposal could be developed.

Harlow & Gilston  
Garden Town

Milton 
Keynes

Cambridge

Aylesbury
Garden Town

Harpenden

St Albans

Berkhamsted

Tring

Thames

P
age 23



76   

THE
    VISION

Hemel Garden Communities: creating a greener, more 
connected New Town.

In the heart of the Golden Triangle between Oxford, Cambridge 
and London, Hemel Garden Communities will create new 
neighbourhoods and transform existing ones and the wider area, 
building on the best of its heritage and culture to become a 
greener, more connected New Town.

The vision is organised into four thematic pillars, all of which 
reinforce the aspirations to promote healthy lifestyles and 
respond to the climate crisis.

Hemel Garden Communities will be home to inclusive, integrated 
neighbourhoods connected by a green network, and 
thoughtfully designed places with engaged communities, all 
underpinned by digital connectivity, a self-sustaining economy 
and pioneering green technology driven by Herts Innovation 
Quarter.

P
age 24



98 THE VISION THE VISION

 G
re

en
 Val ley Swathes

S
U

S
T

A
I N

A
B L E     T R A N S P O R T

EC
O

LO
G

IC
A

L
 B

L
U

E
 R

O
U

T
E

S

S
T

R
A

T
EGIC G

REEN    R
OUTES

Hemel 
Channel

   HEALTHY 
LIFESTYLES

  CLIMATE 
 CRISIS 
 RESPONSE

Net-Zero Carbon

C
irc

u
la r  E

conomy         B iod i ve rs
i t y

 N
et

 G
ai

n

Access to nature

A
c

t iv i t i e s  and  Even ts        
 A

ct i v
e 

t r
av

el

OUTLET

M

ade in Hemel

Fo

od Growing &

Sus
ta

in
ab

le Construction

A
 G

R E E N  N E T W
O

R
KS

USTAINABLE TRAVEL

P I L L A R  1

S
A

F
E A

ND AC C E SSIBLE R
O

U

T
E

S
IN

T
E

G
R

A

T
E D  N E I G H B O

U
R

H
O

O
D

S
T

R
A

N
S

P
O

R

T
 INTERCHANGES          W

A
L

K
A

B
L

E

P I L L A R  2

H
ILLT

OP N EIG H B O URHOO

D
S

A
 S

E
L

F
 S

U S TA I N I N G  EC
O

N
O

M
Y

D
IV

ERSIFIED EMPLOYM

EN
T

P I L L A R  3

T
E

C

H
N

OLO G Y & I N N OVAT
IO

N

M

AYLAND S A N D HERTS IQ

E
N

G
A

G
E D  C O M M U N

IT
IE

S

H

ERITAGE AND CULTUR
E

P I L L A R  4

S
T

E
W

A
RDSH IP & E N GAGEM

EN
T

Vi
br

an
t  L

ocal Centres

Div
er

s i
f ie

d Town C
entre

 G
re

en
 Val ley Swathes

A
g r i - t e c h  i n n o v a t i o

n

Sustainable transport 
routes

Strategic green routes

Key Transport 
Interchanges

Circular Economy

Green valley swathes

Digitally connected 
Neighbourhoods

HGC New 
Development Areas

North and East 
Hemel Growth Areas

CHILTERNS
AONB

P

ILLARS

E
x

am

ple Outpu
ts

CROSSOVER 
     THEMES

ST 
ALBANS

A
4

1

M 2 5

M
1

A VISION FOR HEMEL GARDEN 
COMMUNITIES

P
age 25



A network of green routes, travel and places will 
support healthy lifestyles, biodiversity, climate 
resilience, environmental sustainability and the 
wellbeing of local communities.

      1.
A GREEN NETWORK 

A series of walkable neighbourhoods, connected 
to each other with individual distinct identities, 
exemplar design and sustainability standards, 
centred upon lively, inclusive local centres.

      2. INTEGRATED 
NEIGHBOURHOODS

Segregated cycle and
 e-mobility routes

Hierarchy of green routes      
and places

Green valley 
swathes

Biodiversity net gain Healthy 
communities and 

lifestyles

Hilltop neighbourhoods

Lively local centres

Shared 
community

facilities

Heritage and culture 
shaping development

Network of 
transport

interchanges

        3. 
     A SELF-
SUSTAINING                      
    ECONOMY

Innovation in sustainability, circular 
economy principles and digital 
connectivity will be key employment 
drivers in Hemel Garden Communities 
and provide a strong theme for the 
economic identity of the town.

         4.
ENGAGED COMMUNITIES

Connected and engaged communities will be active 
participants in the transformation of Hemel Garden 
Communities. Cultural and heritage activity, public art, 
knowledge and skill exchange and enterprise will all play a role, 
now and in the long term.

Showcase diverse
businesses

Food growing 
spaces and 

systems

Local business
startup spaces

Circular economy

Net zero carbon

New Town heritage

Public art

Active stewardship

Spaces for culture

Digital connectivity

Future-proofed 
buildings

FOUR
   PILLARS

P
age 26



1312 THE VISION THE VISION

HGC Charter Principles

Connective Green Infrastructure
Transformative Mobility Improvements
Diverse Employment Opportunities
Vibrant Communities
Exemplary Design
Strong Corporate and Political Public Leadership
Empowering Communities
Innovative Approaches to Delivery
Active Local Stewardship

TCPA Principles

Land value capture for the benefit of the community.
Strong vision, leadership and community engagement.
Community ownership of land and long-term stewardship of assets.
Mixed-tenure homes and housing types that are genuinely affordable.
A wide range of local jobs in the Garden City within easy commuting 
distance of homes.
Beautifully and imaginatively designed homes with gardens, combining 
the best of town and country to create healthy communities, and including 
opportunities to grow food.
Development that enhances the natural environment, providing a 
comprehensive green infrastructure network and net biodiversity gains, and 
that uses zero-carbon and energy-positive technology to ensure climate 
resilience.
Strong cultural, recreational and shopping facilities in walkable, vibrant, 
sociable neighbourhoods.
Integrated and accessible transport systems, with walking, cycling and 
public transport designed to be the most attractive forms of local transport.

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

The HGC Programme’s participation in the Government-supported Garden 
Communities initiative sets clear expectations for holistically planned, self-
sustaining and characterful communities. The HGC Spatial Vision pillars 
were shaped by the HGC Charter Principles, which were themselves 
developed from the Town and Country Planning Association (TCPA) 
Garden City Principles, to articulate the HGC Programme’s ambition for 
the specific context of Hemel Hempstead and the wider area.

1
2
3
4
5

6

7

8

9
Diagram showing how the four Spatial Vision themes respond to the Hemel Garden 
Communities Charter and TCPA Garden City Principles

      1.
   A GREEN 
             NETWORK 

        3. 
     A SELF-
SUSTAINING                      
           ECONOMY

                     2.
       INTEGRATED 
NEIGHBOURHOODS

         4.
ENGAGED 
COMMUNITIES

DELIVERY

H1 H2

H3

H4 H7

H7H5 H6

H8

H8

H4 H7H5 H9

H9

H9

T2 T3

T3

T1

T5 T6 T7 T8

T2 T4 T6 T7 T8

T2 T8

T9

T5 T7 T8 T9

P
age 27



      1.
   A GREEN 
             NETWORK 

The town’s best natural asset is its abundance of green 
routes and spaces. These will be consolidated into a 
green network to support environmental sustainability 
and promote healthy communities through maximising 
opportunities for active, outdoor lifestyles. Green spaces in 
the valleys will be enhanced and extended to provide hilltop 
communities with access to leisure, and adapted to support 
biodiversity and climate resilience.

The green network will make active and sustainable travel 
accessible to everyone and connect local centres and 
key places to the countryside, the Chiltern Hills and wider 
destinations across Hertfordshire, transforming lifestyles 
through greater engagement with nature, reducing energy 
demand and making a significant contribution to achieving 
net zero carbon. 

P
age 28



1716 A GREEN NETWORK A GREEN NETWORK

 

Hemel 
Hempstead

Apsley

Kings
Langley

St Albans 
Abbey

Bricket 
Wood

How Wood

Park 
Street

Town 
Centre

Maylands

 HG
C

     G
 R

 E
 E

 N
     L

 O
 O

 P

A
4

1

R I V E R
   G

 A
 D

 E

C
 H

 I
 L

 T
 E

 R
 N

   
W

 A
 Y

 

G
R A N D  U N I O N  C A NA L

R
IV

E
R

 B
U

L
B

O
U

R
N

E
PILLAR 1: A VISION FOR A GREEN NETWORK

Local green connections

Ecological links

Land east of M1 is shown for 
future M1 J8 enhancements only, 
including ecological/biodiversity 
enhancements but no residential 
or employment development.

HGC New Development Areas

North and East Hemel Growth 
Areas

* Linking with regional ecology 
corridors

Green space including 
parks, gardens, woodlands 
and open space

Green valley swathes

Strategic transport corridor

Sustainable transport 
corridor to Harlow

Strategic green routes*

Blue routes*

Key Transport Interchanges

CHILTERNS
AONB

A 4 1 4

N I C K E Y   L
 I N

 E   L
 O

 O
 P

A 4 1 4

M 2 5

M
1

R I V
 E

 R
   V

 E
  R

N
 I 

C
 K

 E
 Y

   L
 I N

 E

to
 R

edbo
ur

n &
 H

arp
enden

ST 
ALBANS

P
age 29



1918 A GREEN NETWORK A GREEN NETWORK

CONTEXT

The existing landscape character of the local area will be strengthened 
and Geoffrey Jellicoe’s landscape-led New Town masterplan ambitions 
enhanced, with development placed away from green valley floors and 
on to the sides and tops of hills and higher ground. Neighbourhoods are 
richly integrated with green and blue spaces and a network of diverse but 
connected landscapes which provide desirable settings. As an exemplar of 
a green space, at Shrubhill Common one can move in a matter of moments 
from a manicured sports field with a play area, overlooked by family homes, 
into a woodland nature reserve that feels ‘wild’ and is home to a variety of 
wild flowers, on to an adventure playground and out to the countryside and 
Chiltern Way. The chalk stream rivers and the Grand Union Canal provide 
biodiverse routes lined with water.

KEY CHALLENGES

A variety of key challenges will need to be overcome to achieve a significant 
shift where active and sustainable modes of travel will account for at least 
40% of trips originating from and/or ending within Hemel Hempstead, 
and 60% of trips originating from and/or ending within the North and East 
Hemel Hempstead Growth Areas by 2050. Car dependency has resulted 
in severance to the green network caused by major road and highway 
junctions including the M1, Plough Roundabout and A414, and traffic 
pollution resulting in areas of poor air quality.

Shrubhill Common is an existing example of a green valley swathe in Hemel Hempstead that 
provides a good precedent for its scale, mix of types of green space and wider connectivity.

The Chiltern Way

Northridge Way

Northridge 
Park

Town Centre
30 min walk
9 min cycle

School sports 
grounds

Easy access to AONB 
and surrounding 

countrysideAdventure 
Playground, 

Community Hall 
Sports Pitch

Post Box

Footpath

Playground

Chaulden 
allotments
6 min walk

Chaulden 
Local 

Centre

FURTHER GUIDANCE

• HGC Transport Plan (including modal share targets)
• Mayor of London: All London Green Grid
• NHS Healthy New Towns: Putting Health Into Place 
• TCPA: Healthy Town Framework
• Hertfordshire Green Infrastructure Plan
• Herts and Middlesex Wildlife Trust: Hertfordshire State of Nature Report
• Construction Industry Research and Information Association (CIRIA): SuDS Manual
• AECOM: Water, People Places: Guidance for masterplanning sustainable drainage. HGC 

Transformation Plan
• HGC Green Infrastructure Strategy
• Dacorum & St Albans Local Plans
• Transformation and Infrastructure Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)
• Dacorum & St Albans Strategic (Sites) Design Guide: Principles 3.4, 4.1, 4.3, 4.5, 4.7, 7, 8
In addition to the modal share target, Dacorum and St Albans have biodiversity net gain and 
net zero carbon targets. Further green network targets will be developed.

An existing green valley swathe in Hemel Hempstead. 
Photograph by @shu_teaches via #hemelchannel.

Gadebridge Park is a green valley swathe, seen here 
in a 1969 publication about Hemel Hempstead found 
by author John Grindrod.

Multi-modal transport corridor in London with public and 
active transport prioritised

The ’Grown in Detroit’ project links 
up private gardens and communal 
growing spaces into a network.

P
age 30

https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/algg_spg_mar2012.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/innovation/healthy-new-towns/
https://www.tcpa.org.uk/health-publications
https://www.welhat.gov.uk/media/5051/Herts-SHIP-Final-Report-310311/pdf/Herts_SHIP_-__Final_Report_310311.pdf?m=634715710300000000
https://www.hertswildlifetrust.org.uk/stateofnature
https://www.ciria.org/Memberships/The_SuDs_Manual_C753_Chapters.aspx


2120 A GREEN NETWORK A GREEN NETWORK

SPATIAL PRINCIPLES

New development and transformational projects should contribute to the 
following spatial principles: 

Create a network of strategic and local green and blue routes 
offering convenient connections between places and key locations within 
Hemel and beyond, connecting easily and legibly with public transport 
corridors and interchanges. The network will be formed by making new 
routes, and celebrating, enhancing and integrating existing routes such as 
the Nickey Line and Grand Union towpath.

Build a strong green network to serve multiple users and 
functions including commuter travel, school travel, and a network for 
leisure, replacing the private vehicle for short trips. The network will offer a 
choice of good quality, accessible, signposted routes, and integrated with 
sports and play equipment. Dedicated leisure and health routes will also be 
created.

Create, protect and enhance new ‘green swathes’ in the valleys 
between neighbourhoods to help ensure natural drainage, carbon 
sequestration and to reduce the heat island effect, as well as providing 
residents with easy access to high quality local parkland and a rich variety 
of types of green space, including substantial areas of tree cover.

Support and encourage community stewardship of places within 
the green network, such as through initiating agreements for community 
management and maintenance or by supporting local groups and initiatives.
> Pillar 4: Engaged Communities

Increase biodiversity and retain, enhance and extend existing 
habitats. In particular, grasslands, the chalk streams framed by 
chalk valleys, the southern ‘dip slope’ of the Chilterns, hedgerows and 
woodlands and their associated wildlife including protected species 
such as badgers, bats and great crested newts.  > Dacorum & St Albans 
Strategic (Sites) Design Guide: 8.2

1.1

1.2

1.3

1.4

1.5

20 A GREEN NETWORK

Enable wildlife movement through the green network, especially 
the river valleys and links to Ashridge, cross-Hertfordshire and cross-
Buckinghamshire west/east migratory routes that are currently severed by 
transport arteries like the M1 and A414, and local ecological routes linking 
the town to the surrounding countryside. Ecological permeability should be 
built into new development. > Dacorum and St Albans Green Infrastructure 
Plans

Create and maintain rich, wide and well-connected biodiverse 
buffers to reduce air and noise pollution, including along transport routes 
such as the M1.

Make the green network accessible to all by creating routes and 
places that are safe and make it easier to navigate Hemel’s undulating 
topography on foot or using personal mobility and cater for a full range of 
accessibility requirements.

Create sustainable urban drainage systems (SuDS) for water 
management, landscape design and placemaking. SuDS should bring 
water into residents’ daily lives, for example by running alongside a linear 
pedestrian route,whilst forming part of a wider strategy for flood risk 
mitigation and facilitating a sustainable water cycle. > Dacorum & St Albans 
Strategic (Sites) Design Guide 8.3

Extend and enrich Hemel’s existing network of adventure 
playgrounds to provide access to adventure play to all neighbourhoods.
> Dacorum & St Albans Strategic (Sites) Design Guide 3.4

Extend the existing network of productive landscapes including 
allotments and community orchards, to serve all neighbourhoods and 
reflect the wider area’s rich tradition of agriculture. Community-led 
initiatives and those which draw on the green technology specialism of the 
Green Triangle and Herts IQ, with a circular economy approach towards 
food, should be encouraged. > Pillar 3: A Self-sustaining Economy

1.6

1.7

1.8

1.9

1.10

1.11

21A GREEN NETWORK

P
age 31



                     2.
       INTEGRATED 
NEIGHBOURHOODS

Hemel Garden Communities will be made up of a 
series of neighbourhoods, each with a distinct identity 
drawing on nearby heritage and landscape, cultural and 
architectural cues, developed to exemplar design and 
sustainability standards, and carefully integrated and 
connected to each other physically and socially. 

Neighbourhoods will be centred upon lively, well-
designed local centres serving a walkable residential 
area. These local centres will provide opportunities for 
social interaction and events, access to open space 
and play and a variety of services, shops and facilities 
that prioritises active and sustainable travel modes, 
maximising the physical and mental wellbeing of all 
members of the community. 

P
age 32



2524 DISTINCTIVE NEIGHBOURHOODS DISTINCTIVE NEIGHBOURHOODS

S U S TA I N A B L E  T R A N S P O R T         C O R R I D O R

H G C  G R E E N  L O O P

N I C K E Y  L I N E

COMMUNITY LIBRARY

SCHOOL

PLAYING FIELD

MARKETPUB

WORKSPACEFLEXIBLE 

SHOP

PARCEL LOCKERS

RAPID AND EFFICIENT 
BUS ROUTE

network connecting 
local centres and key 

destinations

COMMUNITY 
ALLOTMENT

Self-service parcel 
kiosks well-integrated 

with routes and 
interchanges

Enclosed 
CYCLE 

STORAGE

‘WILDER’ 
network of secondary 

off-road routes to 
supplement the primary 

network

ZERO 
CARBON 
housing

SEGREGATED CYCLE 
AND PEDESTRIAN 
ROUTE NETWORK 
well-lit, surfaced and 
accessible to all, and 

overlooked or adjacent to 
key routes for safety

Safe, 
overlooked 

PLAY SPACE

COMMUNITY AND FAITH 
SPACES 

which provide shared 
facilities and rooms 

including events space for 
cultural activities

Multi-modal transport 
INTERCHANGE

CAR-SHARING 
spaces and 

infrastructure

PUBLIC BUILDINGS 
that express their 

community or civic 
use

Building frontages 
providing 
SHELTER 

CENTRAL PUBLIC SPACES
designed to prioritise 

pedestrian use and support 
events

Mature, shade-
providing 
TREES

PUBLIC SPACES 
in which to meet, 
socialise and relax

SCHOOL 
with managed ‘out 
of hours’ access to 

sports facilities

LIBRARY 
with flexible workspace, 

access to shared 
facilities, rooms and 

equipment

PILLAR 2: A VISION FOR INTEGRATED 
NEIGHBOURHOODS

P
age 33



2726 INTEGRATED NEIGHBOURHOODS INTEGRATED NEIGHBOURHOODS

CONTEXT

Hemel Hempstead’s New Town masterplan aimed to create a series of 
neighbourhoods with strong individual characters, and used swathes 
of green landscaping in the valleys to make clear distinctions between 
neighbourhoods and to connect them. Accordingly, neighbourhoods and 
their local centres are often found on hills or high ground. This principle will 
be followed in the design of new neighbourhoods as a way of strengthening 
Hemel Hempstead’s identity and delivering a series of integrated ‘garden 
communities’. It will also be important to maintain separation and distinction 
between HGC and neighbouring settlements, for example Redbourn 
and Harpenden, and masterplanning will need to ensure that positive 
relationships with these settlements are maintained or created.

The majority of people who live in Hemel Hempstead work locally; this 
self-sufficiency will be further supported, with new and strengthened 
neighbourhood-level facilities and amenities making it easy to work and 
access services locally, whilst maintaining good connections to London 
and nearby settlements. Strong digital connectivity across HGC will be 
essential to this.

Local centres will be positioned to support local economic activity and 
town-wide connectivity, encourage active and sustainable travel from 
centres’ residential catchments and between centres and other places in 
the town. Local centres will vary in scale across HGC. Some centres will 
be of a scale that provides a comprehensive range of facilities and services, 
and others will have a more local, basic range of facilities along with a 
‘specialism’, such as food growing and gardening. Each centre should 
complement and contrast centres in close proximity, including those in 
nearby settlements, and provide opportunities for local-level employment 
and cultural space. > Pillar 4: Engaged Communities

KEY CHALLENGES

Although Hemel’s neighbourhoods will be used as model for growing and 
regenerating the town, certain aspects of them will need to be significantly 
modified to meet twenty-first century challenges. The challenges to be 
met are tackling car dependency, responding to large portions of the 
housing stock aging at the same time, and diversifying local centres. 
Development of new neighbourhoods will also need to ensure that places 
and communities are integrated with each other and with established 
neighbourhoods.

The church of St. Stephen, Hemel Hempstead (1959) 
was designed such that it can be converted from 
church to community room simply by sliding a screen.

Maylands Infant & Junior Schools. 
Schools in HGC will be a strong part of 
their communities and offer managed 
‘out of hours’ access to communities.

Marmalade Lane is a UK co-housing scheme notable 
for its provision of shared spaces and facilities, 
including shared gardens and a flexible ‘common 
house’ with a playroom, guest bedrooms, laundry 
facilities, meeting rooms, and a large hall and kitchen. 

Magenta Court, Apsley, new social 
rent housing drawing on the area’s 
canalside location and industrial 
heritage.

FURTHER GUIDANCE

• CoMoUK: Mobility Hubs Guidance
• CBRE Research: Multigenerational Housing 
• Design Council: Inclusive Environments
• The National Custom and Self Build Association
• Helen Hamlyn Centre for Design (Royal College of Art): Designing With People
• Design Og Arkitektur (DoGA): Innovating With People
• UNICEF: Child Friendly Cities
• Greater London Authority: Making London Child Friendly
• ITP: HGC Interim Transport Strategy
• Dacorum & St Albans Strategic (Sites) Design Guide (SDG): 1 A Distinctive Place, 2 A 

Compact Place, 3 A Place for All, and principles 4.1, 4.2, 5.1, 5.3
• Public Health England: Spatial Planning Evidence Review 
• Herts County Council: Health & Wellbeing Planning Guidance & Health Impact 

Assessments

P
age 34

https://como.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/10/Mobility-Hub-Guide-241019-final.pdf
https://www.cbre.co.uk/research-and-reports/our-cities/multi-generational-housing
https://www.rca.ac.uk/research-innovation/research-centres/helen-hamlyn-centre/about-centre/
https://childfriendlycities.org
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/ggbd_making_london_child-friendly.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/spatial-planning-for-health-evidence-review
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-library/documents/public-health/hertfordshires-health-and-wellbeing-planning-guidance-may-2017.pdf
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-library/documents/public-health/hertfordshires-health-and-wellbeing-planning-guidance-may-2017.pdf


2928 INTEGRATED NEIGHBOURHOODS INTEGRATED NEIGHBOURHOODS28 INTEGRATED NEIGHBOURHOODS

SPATIAL PRINCIPLES

New development and transformational projects should contribute to the 
following spatial principles: 

Create new neighbourhoods and grow existing ones on hilltops and 
higher ground following the established development pattern of the town 
and using lower ground and green routes to support the > Green Network.

Establish and reinforce walkable relationships between housing, 
community facilities and the wider > Green Network. Examples of this 
approach include:

• Providing safe, overlooked pedestrian routes from housing to nearby 
parks without needing to cross a road

• Community facilities such as allotments or community halls situated within 
housing blocks, overlooked by dwellings

• Providing smaller ‘pocket’ green spaces that provide amenities such as 
growing space or informal play. 

Support vibrant, accessible local centres that: 

• Directly connect into the green active and sustainable travel network 
• Serve a walkable, 360 degree residential catchment area
• Provide public transport interchanges that are attractive, integrated public 

spaces
• Contrast but complement other local centres in close proximity in types of 

use, function, design and scale
• Have a strong civic and social character and the amenities, shops, 

services and facilities to meet local community needs
• Support start-ups and remote working hubs open to the local community
• Include opportunities for showcasing activities within built facilities and 

events spaces
• Include schools with managed out of hours use, especially for sports 

facilities, through community use agreements built around the needs of 
the individual school

• Respond to emerging trends in home working and promote the sharing 
economy with provision of common and shared facilities

• Support adaptability to changing service, employment, retail and transport 
requirements.

2.1

2.2

2.3

29INTEGRATED NEIGHBOURHOODS

Create neighbourhoods that are distinct from each other by:

• Developing distinct architectural and urban forms and languages that 
respond to local context

• Providing each with a distinctive ‘offer’, such as facilities for a local 
sports club or association, a specific kind of productive landscape, or a 
particular housing delivery model

• Engaging directly with local communities and following the principles of 
Inclusive Design such that local need is served

• Supporting local-level cultural, community and enterprise initiatives 
through strategies, promotion and events, or by brokering sharing of 
facilities and amenities, to support community food growing, skill-sharing 
and development, and vulnerable groups. 
 

Create intergenerational and inclusive neighbourhoods by: 

• Providing public spaces, facilities and homes which are designed to be 
child-friendly, accessible and welcoming to the full range of potential 
users Supporting a diversity of housing delivery and ownership models, 
including self-build and custom-build models, affordable housing which is 
integrated with other tenures and housing types and includes accessible 
homes, and housing specifically designed for older people and those with 
disabilities, co-housing, and self- and custom-build homes, potentially 
provided as serviced plots

• Building local-level community infrastructure with and for the communities 
it will serve, using participatory models and with funding in place to 
support community groups and individuals through the process, and 
create approaches that give communities the opportunity to take 
ownership of engagement and toward long-term local stewardship. 
> Dacorum & St Albans Strategic (Sites) Design Guide: 3.1, 6.1

Create energy-efficient neighbourhoods and homes with sustainable 
energy infrastructure, such as heating and power generation and storage, 
in particular initiatives which hold an opportunity for community leadership 
or stewardship. Developments should aim to be carbon neutral, and should 
be future-proofed to adapt to changing energy technologies.

2.4

2.5

2.6

P
age 35



        3. 
     A SELF-
SUSTAINING                      
           ECONOMY

Hemel Garden Communities will be an exemplar self-sustaining green 
economy. The employment offer anchored by Maylands Business Park 
with 650 businesses and 20,000 employees will be diversified with the 
development of Herts IQ.

Herts IQ will bring companies collaborating in innovation in built environment 
technologies together on a campus, with a focus on agricultural and 
construction sectors, and research and development supported by the 
Green Triangle, a partnership aiming to establish Hertfordshire as a centre of 
excellence in green technology. 

Existing local centres, retail parks and other employment areas will support 
new technologies to enable employment innovation and diversification. This 
will be consolidated with digitally-enabled homeworking and service provision, 
community based working spaces and facilities to support new enterprises. 

HGC’s improved sustainable transport connections will also enable wider 
regional economic activity in London, Hertfordshire, nearby towns and 
wider growth corridors including the Oxford-Cambridge Arc. Innovation in 
sustainability, circular economy principles, digital connectivity and open data 
networks will be key employment drivers in HGC and provide a strong theme 
for the economic identity of the town. 

P
age 36



3332 A SELF-SUSTAINING ECONOMY A SELF-SUSTAINING ECONOMY Bricket 
Wood

How Wood

Park 
Street

St Albans 
Abbey

Hemel 
      Channel

T
E C H N O L O G Y

M

AYLANDS & HERTS IQ

A

N
D   I N N O V A T

I O
ND

I V E R S I F I E D

TOWN CENTRE

E

M
P L O Y M E N

T

S
U

P
P

O
R T I N G  LO

C
A

LT
W

O
 W

ATERS & AP

S
L

E
Y

E

N
T E R P R I S

E

Hemel 
Hempstead

Apsley

Kings
Langley

W

O
R K S P A C

E
H

O M E S

C
O

N
N E C T I V I T

Y

N

E T W O R K

L
O

C

A L  M A R K
E

T

IN

C U B AT O

R

New forms of workspace

W
orkspace

netw
ork

L

O R AWA N

in
 n

eig
hbourhoods

I N

N
O V A T I O

N

A
G

R

I C U L T U R
A

LAgri-tech

S
m

ar

t C
onstruction

D
I G I TA L

Agri-tech and farming innovation

Digital support groups

M
M

C
 h

ub

employment
Training and

Employmen

t

Regional higher education

 network

Distribution of local produce

Res
ea

rc
h 

lin
ks

 to

Gree
n T

ria
ng

le 
sit

es

Made in 
Hemel

W
E S T  C O A S T  M A I N  L I N E

T
O

 L
E

IG
H

T
O

N
 B

U
Z Z A

R
D

A 4 1  T O  O X F O R D

A
4

1

PILLAR 3: A VISION FOR A SELF-
SUSTAINING  ECONOMY

Maylands & Herts IQ

Town Centre

Local centres

Retail and employment area

Existing agriculture / farms

Key circular economy / 
recycling hubs

Digitally-enabled data collection

Diversified uses

Strategic transport corridor

Sustainable transport corridor 
to Harlow 

Strategic economic connections

Digitally connected 
neighbourhoods

Digitally connected HGC New 
Development Areas

North and East Hemel Growth 
Areas

Land east of M1 is shown for 
future M1 J8 enhancements 
only, including ecological/
biodiversity enhancements but 
no residential or employment 
development.

A 4 1 4  T O  H A R L O W

M
1

M 2 5  T O  L O N D O N

M
1

   T
O

 B
IR

M
IN

G
H

A
M

CHILTERNS
AONB

ST 
ALBANS

PR
IO

R
IT

Y OUT
P

U
T

S

P
age 37



3534 A SELF-SUSTAINING ECONOMY A SELF-SUSTAINING ECONOMY

CONTEXT

Hemel’s New Town legacy is a high degree of economic self-sufficiency, 
where diverse employment opportunities integrated with residential 
neighbourhoods enable the majority of residents to work within the town. 
The town’s most significant employment area, Maylands, is home to high 
tech engineering companies, Research and Development businesses 
and a growing logistics sector. Herts IQ, the county’s Enterprise Zone, is 
building a cluster of smart construction and agri-tech businesses that will 
provide an additional 8,000 jobs for the local community, on seven sites 
in the area, including a 55 hectare site to the east of Maylands. This and 
other significant employment areas will consolidate the diversity of local 
enterprises and provide high skilled job opportunities, and will function as 
neighbourhoods, with their own local centres and strong connections to the 
wider HGC. Further job opportunities will be generated in and around new 
local centres through the provision of community facilities, services and 
shops and supporting local business and social enterprises. HGC’s digital 
connectivity and open data networks (such as Long range low-power wide-
area network, LoRaWAN) will play a key role in its economic development 
as well as contributing to achieving net zero carbon, climate resilience and 
modal shift across the town and wider area. HGC will create a circular 
economy, localise supply chains, respond to changes in how people live, 
work and shop, and meet the health and wellbeing challenges of the 21st 
century.

Hemel town centre is well-used for leisure and socialising purposes with 
play-on-the-way activities for young families, and parks & gardens at key 
locations. Its retail and leisure offer is well-placed to respond to changing 
retail trends and offers further opportunities to diversify the town centre 
with a variety of workspaces, distinctive cultural offer > Pillar 4: Engaged 
Communities and local business showcasing > Pillar 2: Integrated 
Neighbourhoods.

FURTHER GUIDANCE

• Mayor of London: Circular Economy Primer
• Ellen MacArthur Foundation: Circular Economy in Detail
• We Made That: Industrial Intensification and Co-Location Study
• UK Green Buildings Council: Resources
• Centre for Alternative Technology: Zero Carbon Britain
• Dacorum & St Albans Strategic (Sites) Design Guide (SDG): Employment 

Uses Guidance and Design Principles 4.4, 4.7, 5.3, 5.10, 7.5, 8, 9. 

Hemel Food Garden offers training 
and employment for people with 
learning disabilities within a social 
enterprise setting, and sells fresh 
local produce via a shop and cafe.

Gloucester Services offers road users an engagement 
with locally-produced food in an innovative, highly 
efficient building with a strong relationship to 
landscape.

Blackhorse Workshop is London’s first 
public workshop, for making, mending 
and learning.

Maylands Business Centre in Hemel provides 
hot-desking and small-scale office and 
industrial units plus a business development 
programme and networking spaces.

KEY CHALLENGES

Key challenges to be met are promoting economic activity which 
contributes to achieving net zero carbon targets and which follows 
sustainable, circular economy principles as well as contributing to public 
value and placemaking. This will require changes to the urban fabric, 
including retrofitting existing buildings to improve their performance and 
reimagining and repurposing large-scale industrial buildings. A green 
economy requires new systems to link local land management, produce 
and wider environments to communities. New housing and employment 
development will need to be future-proofed to adapt to changing 
technologies and working practices. Upskilling and training can help 
ensure that Hemel’s communities benefit from the self-sustaining economy, 
requiring partnership working with education providers and employers. 
> Strategic Design Guide: Part 2 SDG4.4, Part 3 Employment Uses 
Guidance

P
age 38

https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/design_for_a_circular_economy_web.pdf
https://www.ellenmacarthurfoundation.org/explore/the-circular-economy-in-detail
http://www.wemadethat.co.uk/projects/view/industrial-intensification-and-co-location-study
https://www.ukgbc.org
https://www.cat.org.uk/info-resources/zero-carbon-britain/research-reports/zero-carbon-britain-rising-to-the-climate-emergency/


3736 A SELF-SUSTAINING ECONOMY A SELF-SUSTAINING ECONOMY36 A SELF-SUSTAINING ECONOMY

SPATIAL PRINCIPLES

New development and transformational projects should contribute to the 
following spatial principles: 

Support a circular and inclusive economy by:

• Maximising the use of local supply chains
• Supporting local enterprises, skills providers and initiatives that will 

bring investment back to HGC and the surrounding area, or which bring 
forward forms of stewardship over the town’s assets and spaces

• Maximising use of low carbon and recycled materials, including 
supporting businesses which can demonstrate low carbon processes

• Minimising waste and maximising its recycling potential.

Support and promote green technologies, particularly those which can 
be applied to developments within HGC. This includes modern methods of 
construction, including off-site manufacturing, and innovation in agriculture 
and food production or agri-tech.

Diversify the offer of employment areas in response to local need. For 
example, there is currently a strong need for further small (200-300m2) 
industrial and office spaces to provide ‘move up’ space for growing 
businesses in the area.

Create and enhance places to meet, socialise and connect within 
employment areas, performing a similar function to HGC’s local centres. 
These should provide goods, services and spaces of leisure to working 
communities and nearby residents. Public space should be inclusive to all 
potential users, and prioritise the human scale, including the pedestrian 
experience of moving around, providing good outdoor spaces for lunch, 
breaks and informal interaction, access to nature, and good connectivity to 
the wider area. The highway network in such areas will be planned and/or 
modified and managed to enable access for goods vehicles while avoiding 
local centres and other sensitive street environments. > Pillar 1: A Green 
Network; > Dacorum & St Albans Strategic (Sites) Design Guide 4.0, 5.3

3.1

3.2

3.3

3.4

37A SELF-SUSTAINING ECONOMY

Diversify the town centre to include businesses and organisations that 
provide experiences, enterprise, sociability and access to culture, and 
which are active in the local economy. This might include the creation 
of temporary or occasional spaces and events to test market and local 
appetite, for example a ‘local’ market or ‘pop-up’ use in an existing retail 
unit, before moving on to more permanent interventions. This diversification 
should be accompanied by supporting and encouraging more traditional 
‘anchors’ within the town centre.

Test new forms of office and networking spaces within neighbourhoods, 
local and town centres and employment areas. New typologies should 
be encouraged that provide the right degree of flexibility, communality 
and servicing. These new forms of workspace might be added to existing 
community facilities like libraries. > Pillar 2: Integrated Neighbourhoods

Create public value from less public-facing forms of enterprise such 
as distribution and fulfilment centres, and ‘dark kitchens’ (kitchens only 
providing for food delivery companies). This might include providing public 
amenities on-site (such as space for growing, sports equipment or small 
businesses) or off-site initiatives such as skills training, or using local supply 
chains.

Support and encourage businesses to showcase their activities to the 
public by making local products, services or associated activities visible to 
the public in creative ways. Showcasing can involve cultural commissions 
involving local artists and makers, and spaces, such as markets, ongoing 
support and promotion, and creation of networking and collaboration 
opportunities. Digital tools could play a vital role in this. > Pillar 4: Engaged 
Communities 4.2

3.5

3.6

3.7

3.8

P
age 39



         4.
ENGAGED   
   COMMUNITIES

Hemel Garden Communities will connect and enrich 
the lives of Hemel’s existing and new communities 
by providing welcoming, distinctive and attractive 
places, and by ensuring that communities are 
engaged in making them. The people of HGC will be 
engaged in development, in the transformation of the 
town, in their communities and in the wider region. 
Cultural activity, public art, knowledge exchange, 
enterprise, skill-sharing will all be involved in shaping 
and transforming the places of Hemel such that 
communities are engaged in the place now and in the 
long-term.

P
age 40



4140 ENGAGED COMMUNITIES ENGAGED COMMUNITIES

Leverstock Green 
cricket / football / 

tennis clubs

Productive 
farming 

landscape

Gorhambury 
Estate

Roman Theatre 
of Verulamium St Albans 

Cathedral

St Albans 
Museum &

Gallery

Abbey 
Theatre

Weekly local 
produce market 
in local centre

Hertfordshire 
County Show

(digital for 2020)

The Apsley 
Paper Trail

Pope’s Yard 
Brewery

Pope’s Yard 
Brewery

Adeyfield: the 
New Town's first 
neighbourhood, 
local centre and 

public house

Made in Hemel 
Making visible 

Hemel’s products 
and makers

Hemel Open. Open 
upfactories, 

research institutions, 
crafts & makers to 

the public

Redbournbury 
Mill - The 

home of the 
hot cross bun 

Boxmoor and 
District Angling 

Society

West Herts 
Ramblers 
Society

Health 
Walks

Community 
growing 
group

HH Local 
History 
Society

HHTheatreCo

Henry VIII 
Charter market

Navratri 
celebrations 

Hemel 
Hempstead 

School

Jellicoe Water 
Gardens

Fishery 
Wharf Cafe

Piccotts 
End murals

V
IS

IB

L E  M
A N U F AC T

U
R

IN
G

C
R

A
F T  &  M A K

I N
G

A S  W E L L  A S  O F  T H E  T
O

W
N

C E L E B R A T E  T H E  C U L T U R E  O F  T
H

E  R
E G

I O

N

E
N

S
U

R
E

 A
 C

O
M

P
L

E
M

E
N

T
A

R
Y

 C
U

L
T

U
R

A
L  O

F F E R

T
O

 N
E

A
R

B
Y

 S
E

T
T

L
E

M
E

N
T

S

T
O

 N
E

A
R

B
Y

 S
E

T
T

L
E

M
E

N
T

S

T
O

 N
E A R B Y  S E T T L E M E N T S

E
N

S
U

R
E

 A
 C

O
M

P L E M E N T A R Y  C U L T U R A L  O F F E R

A S  W E L L  A S  O F  T H E  T O W N

C
E

L
E

B
R

A
T

E  T H E  C U L T U R E  O F  T H E  R E G I O N

CELEBRATE

N
E

W

 T
O W N  H E R I T

A
G

E

C
O M B I N E D

E
X

I S

T I N G  V E N

U
E

S

W
A

T
ER AND INDUS

T
R

Y

T
O

W
N

 C
ENTRE CULT

U
R

E

U
T

IL
ISE & ENRIC

H

S
U

P
P

O
RT  LOCAL  SOC

IET
IE

S

PR
IO

R
IT

Y OUT
P

U
T

S

PILLAR 4: A VISION FOR 
ENGAGED COMMUNITIES

Existing neighbourhoods

HGC New Development 
Areas

North and East Hemel 
Growth Areas

Examples of cultural and 
community activity:

Groups
Events
Places

TO
WATFORD &

LONDON

CHILTERNS
AONB

ST 
ALBANS

P
age 41



4342 ENGAGED COMMUNITIES ENGAGED COMMUNITIES

CONTEXT 

Hemel Hempstead has a rich heritage and culture that has shaped the town 
and its communities. There is a tangible legacy of buildings and spaces 
that speak of the town’s agricultural and market heritage, of its history of 
industrial waterways and paper manufacturing, and of course development 
during the New Town era. But Hemel’s culture also includes language, 
religion, social habits, music, food and practices; it is the expression of the 
town’s communities.

Local culture was supported by the New Town Development Corporation 
through public art initiatives, setting up neighbourhood councils and 
funding neighbourhood-level newspapers. Many cultural initiatives were 
also established by the communities themselves, some of which - such as 
the Local History Society - survive today and play an ongoing active role 
in the cultural life of the town. A recent restoration of the Jellicoe Water 
Gardens supported by the Friends of the Water Gardens has also proven 
the endurance of this community spirit.

In this tradition, cultural activity and engagement will be embedded in 
the development of Hemel Garden Communities from the start, enabling 
conversations which celebrate and explore Hemel Hempstead and feed into 
the development process, whilst producing excellent public art and local-
level projects in advance of the completion of the new neighbourhoods. 
Creative commissions will celebrate and draw out local character, develop 
skills, relationships, connections and local capacities. They will assist in the 
formation of heritage and cultural organisations prepared to welcome the 
communities of the future.

Some themes that are likely to be significant include:

• Hemel Hempstead’s industrial heritage, including associations with 
rivers and waterways, and its contemporary reputation for innovation in 
manufacturing and the ‘green economy’

• Agriculture, allotments and productive landscapes
• The heritage of Hemel Hempstead as a Roman settlement, chartered 

market town and particularly its history as a New Town; part of an 
ambitious postwar development programme and a longer history of 
town planning stretching back to the Garden City Movement which was 
particularly impactful in Hertfordshire

• Hemel and the surrounding area’s complex and varied natural landscapes.

KEY CHALLENGES

Recapturing the ‘New Town’ spirit in today’s fast-paced world, with global climate and 
biodiversity challenges and more limited public sector resourcing, will be a significant 
challenge. The process must define the themes that ‘ring true’ in terms of local identity and 
culture, whilst acknowledging and celebrating diversity, and promote the accessibility of 
culture and ensure that the full range of communities and demographics is reached.

FURTHER GUIDANCE

• Arts Council England: Arts and Place Shaping
• TCPA: Built Today, Treasured Tomorrow
• TCPA: I’d Love to Live There! Planning for Culture and the Arts.
• TCPA: Creating Successful New Communities Guide #9: Long-term Stewardship
• Milton Keynes City Discovery Centre: New Town Heritage Explorers 
• Dacorum & St Albans Strategic (Sites) Design Guide (SDG): Principles 3.3, 4, 10

Erith Lighthouse brought the diverse communities of 
Erith - and beyond - together in a single temporary 
building and a highly-curated programme of meals and 
events. The project aimed to build the capacity of local 
entrepreneurs and organisations.

City Club, a series of interventions commissioned 
by MK Gallery that revisit Milton Keynes’ New Town 
heritage and which  included a child-led walk through 
the city.

Dacorum has a network of Friends Groups 
made up of local residents and other 
interested parties who dedicate their time 
and knowledge to work with the Council to 
improve their local park or open space.

Turf Projects provides gallery and 
workspace for artists, utilising what 
were vacant units in a town centre 
shopping mall.

P
age 42

https://www.artscouncil.org.uk/publication/value-arts-and-culture-place-shaping
https://www.tcpa.org.uk/built-today-treasured-tomorrow2014
http://modgov.cherwell.gov.uk/documents/s31701/TCPA_GC_Guides_Arts-Culture.pdf
https://www.tcpa.org.uk/tcpa-pgs-guide-9-stewardship
https://mkcdc.org.uk/new-town-heritage-explorers/


4544 ENGAGED COMMUNITIES ENGAGED COMMUNITIES44 ENGAGED COMMUNITIES

4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

New development and  transformational projects should contribute to the 
following spatial principles: 

Support town-wide heritage and cultural organisations and events 
especially those that are distinct to Hemel Hempstead and its surrounding 
areas,  and which play a role in reaching the diverse communities of the 
place.

Support the creation of new town-wide heritage or cultural 
programmes for groups including local communities, businesses, 
community associations, sports clubs and vulnerable groups. For example, 
an annual ‘Hemel Open’ could each year celebrate the town by opening up 
factories, maker spaces and productive land to the public. > Pillar 3: A Self-
sustaining Economy 3.8

Support and promote heritage and cultural activities in the town 
centre. This could draw on existing local initiatives and organisations, and 
include bringing underutilised spaces back into use, contributing to the 
diversification of the town centre.

Provide space in buildings and public spaces for local-level heritage 
and cultural activities within new and existing neighbourhoods to 
compliment the cultural offer of neighbouring local centres, the town 
centre, and neighbouring towns and cities. This could be provided through 
a mixture of multi-use community space and bespoke cultural facilities.
> Pillar 2: Integrated Neighbourhoods

Support neighbourhood-level heritage and cultural activities and 
networks among makers, cultural providers, and community 
associations, giving them a role in shaping the development of Hemel 
Garden Communities and contributing to management and maintenance 
of spaces. Activity includes that provided by local organisations, societies, 
events, clubs and venues. > Pillar 3: A Self-sustaining Economy

SPATIAL PRINCIPLES

45ENGAGED COMMUNITIES

4.6

4.7

4.8

Build in cultural commissions which shape new development. Where 
possible, cultural commissions could commence during the development 
as well as enrich the developed place, such as an artist residency within a 
place in advance of physical changes, with the ambition of work emerging 
from this period being tangible and present in the delivered projects and 
places. 

Deliver meaningful, early activation and temporary projects to promote 
community engagement or test longer-term interventions, such as pop-up 
uses or a new public amenity in an underused location. This could include 
collaboration with local employers. For example, a ‘Herts IQ Canteen’ 
could open as a temporary intervention providing locally-grown food for 
workers and visitors or demonstrating locally-developed innovations.

Enable long-term stewardship of spaces, places and assets by 
community associations and local societies, and a wider network of 
interested individuals and groups. Support for this approach can take the 
form of innovative funding models, community capacity building, effective 
dialogue and creation of stewardship bodies.

Hemel Hempstead mural by Rowland Emett

P
age 43



APPROACH

P
age 44



4948

Hemel Hempstead 
transformation and
 infrastructure Plan

APPROACH

APPROACH APPROACH

HGC Framework plan

D
et

ai
le

d 
S

tr
at

eg
ic

Masterplanning Transformation

Relationship of Spatial Vision to the next stages of the Hemel Garden Communities 
programme

HGC Spatial Vision

Detailed masterplans

Design codes

Phased delivery of 
strategic sites

Transformational project and 
infrastructure delivery

The development of the Spatial Vision began by assessing Hemel 
Hempstead and the surrounding area’s strengths, weaknesses, 
opportunities and threats. Key strengths and opportunities reinforced 
a priority focus for four areas of placemaking that also related strongly 
to the TCPA and HGC Charter Principles.. The four areas provide the 
foundational > Four Pillars of the Spatial Vision giving a spatial expression 
to the already-established spirit of the HGC programme, whilst ensuring 
qualities that give it an identity are captured to form the basis for future 
development and transformation. Running through and supported by the 
Pillars are key themes of responding to the climate crisis, promoting food 
growing, and enhancing connectivity. 

The Spatial Vision has been enriched and shaped through engagement 
work with the communities of Hemel and the wider area > Engagement. 
In turn, the Spatial Vision has been aligned with the HGC Programme 
and existing proposals but is also shaping emerging strategies, plans 
and policies. It will also provide a strong foundation for future proposals, 
particularly those that will emerge from the Transformation Plan which will 
help develop the transformation agenda for the town of Hemel Hempstead.

A series of maps and drawings have been produced to illustrate the vision, 
supported by best practise, local context, case studies, photography and 
indications of further guidance. These visuals show a concept interpretation 
of the built and green form with a range of indicative proposals, which 
represent the Spatial Vision.

In addition to the design team, an Expert Group made up of notable 
specialists in their fields was formed to provide input on key areas: 
transport, inclusive design, history, cultural commissioning, urban futures, 
Garden Cities, ecology and sustainability. Members of the Expert Group 
are listed at the end of the document.

HGC includes new development areas, allocated through Dacorum’s 
and St Albans’ Local Plans, and transformation proposals for the town 
and wider connections. The Spatial Vision is an overarching strategic 
document which will guide the future, more detailed masterplanning and 
transformation work shown in the above diagram.

The Spatial Vision sits within a hierarchy of design guidance supporting 
the Dacorum and St Albans Local Plans, including the joint Dacorum 
and St Albans Strategic (Sites) Design Guide (SDG) which sets out a 
design process and a series of strategic design principles which apply to 
HGC development. The Spatial Vision provides further, locally-specific 
guidance to inform the design process and help delivery of those principles. 
Principles from the SDG which particularly align with the aims of the Pillars 
are linked throughout. More detailed design guidance developed by the 
Authorities in future will also apply to HGC.

ROLE OF THE SPATIAL VISION

P
age 45



5150 APPROACH

Strengths Weaknesses

• Abundance and variety of green routes 
and spaces 

• Strong landscape character with green 
valley swathes 

• Strong built character with development 
typically on higher ground 

• Clear neighbourhood structure with local 
centres 

• Good connections between housing and 
green spaces 

• Large number of residents work locally 

• Strong history of local-level community 
activity and organisation 

• Established - and growing - reputation 
for green technologies, sustainable 
construction and agri-tech 

• Lively town centre with people visiting 
for pleasure/leisure as well as to access 
retail 

• Diverse cultural activity 

• Rich heritage including agricultural, 
industrial heritage and ‘New Town’ 
heritage

• Hilly environment has led to car 
dependency 

• Lack of integration between 
neighbourhoods and key destinations 

• Neighbourhoods ‘all built at the same 
time’ have led to housing stock aging at 
the same time 

• Health inequalities and areas of poor air 
quality 

• Some lack of awareness of existing 
cultural activities and initiatives amongst 
the wider public 

• Some lack of space for community 
activity and culture, and for communities 
to meet and socialise

SWOT ANALYSIS

APPROACH

Opportunities Threats

• Build upon existing green routes and 
spaces to create a strong, integrated 
green network

• Enrich and future-proof existing transport 
routes with sustainable transport routes 
and corridors

• Diversify uses within the town centre, 
employment areas, local centres and 
retail parks to increase their resilience, 
adaptability and skill diversity

• Enrich cultural activity 
• Develop food growing networks and agri-

tech as aligned programmes
• Maintain and enhance biodiversity, 

ensuring biodiversity net gain is achieved 
where biodiversity is affected by 
development

• Secure and enhance ecological corridors 
through and around HGC into the open 
countryside

• Diversify housing models and housing 
delivery to ensure adaptability

• Build on active communities to create 
strong participatory model of developing 
HGC, pioneering innovative and inclusive 
community engagement

• Establish better connections between 
existing initiatives, businesses and 
organisations, and build awareness

• Build on Herts IQ’s Enterprise Zone 
status to enhance digital connectivity and 
innovation across HGC

• Declaration of Climate Emergency by 
Dacorum, St Albans and Hertfordshire 
Councils

• Severance issues caused by transport 
routes and development 

• Cost of infrastructure to deliver effective 
sustainable movement routes 

• Risk of ‘blurring’ of settlements between 
HGC and surrounding communities 

• Challenge of achieving ambitious modal 
share target 

• Overarching challenge of meeting net 
zero aspirations

P
age 46



5352 APPROACH

APPROACH TO ENGAGEMENT

Engaging communities and stakeholders was carried out through close 
collaboration between HGC Programme Team and DK-CM. We developed 
new approaches to engagement to adapt to the COVID-19 pandemic, 
including ‘virtual’ meetings and events where feedback was captured 
on digital whiteboards. This approach will be carried forward as HGC 
develops, to complement engagement carried out by more traditional and 
in-person methods.

As an overarching engagement method, the team established the ‘Hemel 
Channel’, an Instagram-based social media channel, to enable the public to 
assist with understanding the place and to create a space where the future 
of HGC can be discussed and shared, and communities kept informed of 
future developments in the HGC Programme. 

The Hemel Channel acted as a central communications platform to keep 
members of the public up to date with throughout a two-phase programme 
of engagement activities. The first phase engaged communities and 
stakeholders to gain a greater understanding the place, and the second 
phase enabled these groups to contribute to shaping the Spatial Vision in a 
hands-on way. 

Hemel Channel

1. Understanding the Place

Stakeholder
Conversations

2. Shaping the Vision

Public 
Workshop

Councillor 
Visioning Group

DBC
Community 

Review Panel

Hemel Channel

Public
Competitions

Engagement diagram. The Hemel Channel,  Councillor Visioning Group 
and overall approach will continue in later phases of HGC development.

Phase 1. Understanding the Place
The project team engaged with a broad range of communities of Hemel 
Hempstead and the surrounding area to explore and characterise the 
place and to create a picture of the town generated by the people who 
live, work and play here. Activities included a series of competitions 
inviting entries from children and adults showcasing what they find special 
about Hemel and the surrounding area and how they image its future. The 
project team reached out to schools as part of this process, and held a live 
sketching session on Instagram. In parallel, the team held a series of 1:1 
conversations with key stakeholders to understand their aspirations for the 
future of the area.

Phase 2. Shaping the Vision
The team held a series of events aimed at different groups, to allow the 
communities of Hemel and the surrounding area to influence the emerging 
Vision. The events comprised:
• An interactive session with the Dacorum Community Review Panel, to 

explore emerging themes and opportunities 
• A ‘virtual’ Public Workshop, attended by 40 members of the public and 

key stakeholders, where the key Pillars and themes of the Vision were 
explored and reworked 

• A Councillor Visioning Group, including Councillors from Dacorum, St 
Albans and Hertfordshire County Council, was convened to input into the 
Vision and its Pillars.

> Appendix 1: Engagement Findings

APPROACH

P
age 47



DELIVERY

P
age 48



5756 DELIVERY DELIVERY

Partnership working

The Hemel Garden Communities partners include Dacorum Borough 
Council, St Albans City and District Council, Hertfordshire County Council, 
Hertfordshire Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP). The three Authorities 
and the LEP have agreed a strategic approach to the programme through 
a Memorandum of Understanding and work collaboratively with The Crown 
Estate, a significant stakeholder and major landowner. 

The stakeholders listed above played an active role in shaping the Spatial 
Vision, and strong collaboration between them and other stakeholders will 
ensure that the Spatial Vision principles are achieved as the programme is 
developed and delivered.

Phased delivery

The HGC programme area covers development and transformation 
proposals for Hemel Hempstead, including the proposed HGC New 
Development Areas and wider transport routes. The main catalyst for 
transformation of the wider town and its connections is defined as North 
and East of Hemel Hempstead Growth Areas, where East of Hemel 
Hempstead is in St. Albans district and includes the delivery of Herts IQ. 
All other development proposed for Hemel Garden Communities within 
Dacorum’s future Local Plan will also support and shape the transformation 
agenda. 

These proposals include a range of sites, some of which have been 
allocated in the adopted Local Plan whilst others will be allocated 
in emerging or future Local Plans or are simply windfall. The new 
development will be delivered in phases via the development management 
process, with the HGC Programme partners working collaboratively and 
putting in place the appropriate planning and legal mechanisms to ensure 
that each phase contributes towards the Spatial Vision’s aspirations for 
the quality of new growth and the transformation and integration with the 
existing town. The status of the Spatial Vision is consolidated through the 
Authorities’ emerging and future Local Plan policies and the joint Dacorum 
and St Albans Strategic (Sites) Design Guide.

DELIVERY

Funding

The partners and The Crown Estate are dedicating resources to planning 
Hemel Garden Communities. The Authorities are also working with 
Government and other agencies to secure further funding to support the 
programme and delivery of the required infrastructure.

The Programme will be seeking additional funding from other landowners 
and developers to support programme and delivery costs, including 
developer contributions.

Further studies and supporting work

The HGC Programme is undertaking further studies and work to support 
the delivery of Hemel Garden Communities. This includes:

• Transport Plan
• Infrastructure Delivery Plan
• Framework Plan
• Transformation Plan
• Programme Delivery Plan
• Drawing on best practice through participation in the Government’s 

Garden Communities programme, which provides support from Homes 
England and enables the partners to share ideas with and learn from 
Town and Country Planning Association guidance and support, and other 
Garden Communities being planned across the UK.

• Collaborative work with neighbouring Garden Towns including Aylesbury 
and Harlow and Gilston

• Collaborating with wider authority teams and the partners on crossover 
themes such as the Climate Crisis Response and Healthy Lifestyles.

The following pages identify specific items required to support the delivery 
of the four Spatial Vision Pillars. The authorities and HGC Programme 
Team will work with the developers to ensure these studies, strategies and 
proposals are delivered and monitor their delivery.

P
age 49



5958 DELIVERY DELIVERY

PILLAR 1: A GREEN NETWORK

• Green Infrastructure strategy - equivalent 
to All London Green Grid ‘shades of 
green space’ with consideration to their 
ecological, environmental, sports and 
leisure and other functions. The network 
can be made through the upgrading of 
existing paths (and their visibility and 
access), and adding ‘modes’ to existing 
transport routes such as a pedestrian 
path along a country lane.

• Transport Plan (In progress), identifying 
physical interventions and methods to 
support behaviour change in a shift to 
sustainable modes, and including health 
and wellbeing and air quality objectives.

• Ecological and biodiversity gain strategy, 
to include ecological assessment and 
a plan for ecosystem resilience and 
adaptation, and enhancing ecological 
movement through and across HGC, in 
the face of a changing climate.

• Sustainable agriculture and food growing 
strategy, including seeking to promote 
understanding of and engagement with 
nature amongst communities. 

• A holistic strategy for water management 
and mitigating flood risk, facilitating a 
sustainable water cycle.

• Integrate NHS Healthy New Towns 
principles in proposals.

• Autonomous logistics and delivery 
service strategy, including supporting 
development of the underpinning 
technology and a pilot project.

• Local Walking and Cycling Plan.

PILLAR 2: INTEGRATED 
NEIGHBOURHOODS

• Character study for ‘˜local distinctiveness’ 
within Hemel Hempstead to inform 
the design of new neighbourhoods (In 
progress; Dacorum Detailed Design 
Guide).

• Energy strategy to support net zero 
carbon, energy efficient new buildings, 
and retrofitting of existing buildings, and 
delivery of solar bulk buy scheme.

• Develop a community engagement and 
participation methodology that embeds 
inclusive design processes and supports 
local-level community voices based on 
inclusive design principles of Continuity, 
Ownership, Legacy and Trust, includes 
early activation projects and builds 
towards community stewardship and 
ownership of places and organisations.

• Circular economy and sustainable 
construction strategy (zero waste, 
adaptability, longevity, reuse and recycle).

• Local centres study to understand a 
locally-specific approach to scale and 
geographic location.

• Approach to improve health and 
wellbeing and tackle health inequalities 
within communities, aligned with 
Dacorum and St Albans emerging Local 
Plans and Hertfordshire County Council 
guidance and strategies, to be integrated 
throughout other strategic studies for 
HGC Programme.

PILLAR 4: ENGAGED 
COMMUNITIES

• Engaged Communities Strategy to: 
- build a fresh understanding of   
 existing and emerging heritage and  
 cultural activity. 
- plan for future needs in response to  
 the development and transformation  
 agenda. 
- build local and community capacity. 
- embed a strategic approach to 

  arts and culture aligned with 
  development timescales, to 
  support and critique the 
  transformation and to enable the 
  results of commissions can 
  be appropriately integrated with final 
  developments
• Developer/landowner statements 

setting out their approach for engaged 
communities and stewardship 
arrangements spanning short-, mid- and 
long-term.

• Develop site-by-site strategies that 
respond to the wider principles and make 
a contribution to community capacity-
building, arts, and stewardship.

PILLAR 3. A SELF-SUSTAINING 
ECONOMY:

• Economic strategy building on the 
principles of the circular economy 
(designing out waste and pollution, 
keeping products and materials in use, 
and regenerating natural systems), This 
should include strategies for reuse of 
existing building fabric, for low-carbon 
development and production, for sharing 
and distributing resources, and to 
support local economies and supply 
chains, including co-operative ownership 
models of common assets.

• Workspace emerging trends study and 
response strategy, exploring topics 
including: future of high streets and 
Hemel’s town centre, new types of 
business and social activity, reinforcing 
the diversity of HGC’s economy, 
COVID-19 impacts and emerging trends 
in workplace provision.

• Digital connectivity strategy and proposal 
for a LoRaWAN (Long range low-power 
wide-area network) delivery.

• ‘Made in Hemel’ - a rigorous study 
into industries, manufacturers, crafts 
and makers in the wider HGC area to 
support the creation of local supply 
chains.

P
age 50



            APPENDIX 1: 
              ENGAGEMENT 
          FINDINGS

P
age 51



6362 APPENDIX 1: ENGAGEMENT FINDINGS APPENDIX 1: ENGAGEMENT FINDINGS

As summarised in > Approach, engagement activity was in two phases. A 
summary of the conversations held during the second phase is included 
below. For time reasons some questions were only asked of the smaller, 
more focused CRP group, and this is noted in the text. For ease of reading 
the summary is broken down by the themes that emerged from these 
sessions and which now structure the Spatial Vision. References are 
provided that connect these community-generated ideas to the principles of 
the Spatial Vision, to make clear how the vision has developed directly from 
these conversations.

1: A GREEN NETWORK

What are the important green/blue routes, and spaces, in and 
around the town? What do you use them for?

Many existing green routes are seen as important in the town and 
understood as an important network of Rights of Way, whether providing 
routes for commuting or for leisure. It was noted that the maintenance and 
character of some of the routes, together with some critical ‘breaks’ such 
as along the Nickey Line, makes them currently more popular for leisure 
uses than commuting, though this view was not universal. > 1.1, 1.2, 1.3

Routes that connect Hemel Hempstead up to neighbouring settlements are 
considered particularly vital, such as providing an easy way of accessing 
neighbouring train stations without needing to drive. > 1.1, 1.2, 1.3

There is a strong desire for improvements to promote greater use of 
the Grand Union Canal, particularly as it allows off-road access to 
Berkhamsted and Kings Langley. > 1.1

Some paths, such as along the River Gade, have seen significant increases 
in use during the Covid-19 pandemic, and this increased usage is seen as 
a positive, showing the need for these spaces in daily life. > 1.1, 1.2, 1.8

Beyond connectivity, there is support for a growth in the amount of 
allotment and growing space in the town’s green spaces, and a recognition 
that properties without gardens have a particularly strong need for 

rich, diverse public open space. There should be better and increased 
connections between local centres and green spaces, both within and 
beyond the town. > 1.1, 1.2, 1.11

There is widespread support for a green network that promotes 
biodiversity. People recognise that a single thin thread or hedgerow is not 
enough to become a real habitat or route and also that ‘not all green spaces 
are biodiverse’, with calls for clear distinctions between spaces for play, 
for example, and places that prioritise wildlife habitats, though sometimes 
these things overlap to the benefit of both too. > 1.5, 1.6, 1.7

What’s needed to make a green/blue route better and encourage 
more use? What are the current barriers to using them?
What are the current barriers to replacing the car with other 
forms of mobility?

There is broad recognition that different users of routes can come into 
conflict and this can limit use, for example cyclists and pedestrians, and 
that paths need to be carefully designed to manage the needs of different 
users, including for equestrian users, tricycles and cargo bikes. Ideas for 
avoiding unusable muddy paths - without too many hard surfaces - were 
discussed. Generally, not all paths need to be the same, and Hemel has 
space for ‘off-road’ paths that feel quite remote but also lit, hard routes 
close to existing roads and pavements. > 1.8

It is generally recognised that the landscape and topography of Hemel 
Hempstead - which is very undulating in places - is a barrier to more 
cycling. Green networks should be designed to respond positively to 
this, such as through creating paths that minimise steep inclines, and 
by providing infrastructure and/or services for e-bikes and e-scooters, 
powered forms of personal mobility that have recently seen strong growth, 
widening the number of people that can use bikes and scooters for daily 
journeys. > 1.8

P
age 52



6564 APPENDIX 1: ENGAGEMENT FINDINGS APPENDIX 1: ENGAGEMENT FINDINGS

Seating is understood as part of mobility, providing a place to rest as part of 
a journey. > 1.8

The road network is understood as a barrier to wider use of walking, 
cycling and other forms of sustainable personal mobility, both in terms of its 
presence dominating existing off-road notes (for example, how to navigate 
around a car-dominated roundabout) and because the car is seen as a 
convenient means of travel that prevents wider adoption of other means. 
Traffic calming measures, tighter speed restrictions and a layout that 
prioritises pedestrian and bicycle movement over private vehicles are seen 
as potential solutions. > 1.2, 1.8, 2.2

There is a need for richer and more diverse greenery along existing routes, 
with attendees recognising that wildflower meadows, hedgerows and wild 
areas are good in terms of maintenance and limits the potential of litter to 
‘spoil’ a place. > 1.5, 1.6

The integration of water conservation measures, flood mitigation and 
swales in green spaces was discussed. > 1.9

Good maintenance and better promotion of existing and new routes are 
both seen as vital. > 1.2, 1.4

What forms of personal mobility are best suited to Hemel 
Hempstead? What do people already use?

Whilst there is a vibrant communities of walkers and cyclists in Hemel 
Hempstead, it is generally thought that the growing trend toward e-bikes 
and e-scooters will be particularly impactful in this town thanks to its 
undulating topography. Such innovative means of personal mobility should 
be encouraged and supported, and infrastructure such as charging points, 
secure overlooked parking, etc., should be provided. Bicycle hire schemes 
are also considered a good idea. > 2, Delivery

Security around bikes and similar vehicles is a key concern, and users 
recognise that this is not simply a question of good quality security 
measures, such as racks, but is also overwhelmingly about choosing the 
right busy and overlooked places to situate this equipment. > 2 

PILLAR 2: INTEGRATED NEIGHBOURHOODS

What is distinctive about the existing neighbourhoods of Hemel?
What are your favourite neighbourhoods or local centres in 
Hemel Hempstead and what do you like about them?

A number of features are seen as distinctive, such as the neighbourhoods’ 
relation to green space, walkability, human scale, and the presence of 
allotments. It is felt that some recent developments in the town have 
lost this human scale, and often do not provide the same connections to 
green space of older neighbourhoods, and that these are issues for future 
development to overcome. >1.3, 2.1, 2.2

It is felt that some neighbourhoods are a little similar to each other, 
particularly the various ‘New Town’ era neighbourhoods, and that more 
could be done to promote distinctiveness and difference, including 
orientation and more ‘distinctive’ or particular community facilities. > 2.4

It is widely understood that a distinctive positive quality of Hemel 
Hempstead’s neighbourhoods is the significant areas of green space that 
often sit between them, also the smaller and more incidental green spaces 
between homes. Part of the valuing of these places is the potential for 
play that they provide, and also the fact that so many of the green spaces 
accessible to Hemel Hempstead’s neighbourhoods are local nature 
reserves with an abundance of wildlife, such as Long Deans, Shrub Hill 
Common and Halsey Fields. 1.3, 1.10, 2.1, 2.2

Boxmoor, with a wide range of independent shops, relation to green space 
(including pubs & restaurants that also face that green space) is a popular 
local centre. The Boxmoor Trust that manages the open spaces nearby is a 
real asset to that place.

P
age 53



6766 APPENDIX 1: ENGAGEMENT FINDINGS APPENDIX 1: ENGAGEMENT FINDINGS

What local-level facilities are relied upon in Hemel Hempstead? 
(CRP only)

Hemel Hempstead’s former arts centre is missed, but equally there 
were calls for more local-level facilities and amenities to support culture 
more broadly, with space for community groups, sports teams, theatre 
companies etc., and ‘multi-functional’ space generally, considered vitally 
important. > 2.3, 2.5, 3.5, 4

Good access to these facilities, including easy booking, is considered very 
important.

It is understood that there are many schools in Hemel Hempstead’s 
neighbourhoods and these are often closely related to local centres. It is 
felt that the facilities at these schools could be more widely used by the 
community outside of school hours. > 2, 2.3, 2.5

Initiatives like Sunnyside Rural Trust and DENS, the latter of which provides 
a ‘first port of call’ for people facing poverty, homelessness and social 
exclusion are strongly valued.

How should transport interchanges look and feel?

It is felt that, as people spend a lot of time at transport interchanges, 
they should be better integrated with their context and with local centres. 
Facilities should be provided to help ‘pass the time’ and routes and 
directions should be clearer. > 2.2, 2.3

Interchanges with a strong relation to another programme, such as the 
former bus interchange next to Hemel Hempstead’s market square, are 
considered particularly good examples.

Places like bus stops need thought, care and love in their design. > 2

PILLAR 3: A SELF-SUSTAINING ECONOMY

What facilities do you need for a successful and sustainable 
workplace?

There is widespread understanding that workplaces and workspace should 
become more flexible and take into account new patterns of working, home 
working, resource sharing etc., and that this might benefit local centres 
and indeed the town centre. Current trends may also see local and small 
businesses becoming better integrated into communities, rather than 
congregating in commercial areas or the town centre, and this should be 
welcomed and encouraged, particularly to help local centres to thrive. > 
3.1, 3.3, 3.4, 3.5, 3.6, 3.8, 4.2

For Maylands to thrive in the context of these trends it is felt that it needs 
to diversify its offer even further, provide some public and social facilities 
- building on some good existing cafes - and ensure good public transport 
links. Croxley Green is noted as a good, well-designed local business park. 
> 3.4

Companies based and working in Hemel Garden Communities should offer 
something back to the communities in which they work, including training 
and support for local initiatives. > 3.1, 3.8

There was widespread support for a focus on a ‘green’ economy and the 
idea of Hemel as a leader in this area, particularly in terms of ‘celebrating 
and supporting the local’ and local supply chains. Innovation in vegetable-
based plastics and biodegradable materials was discussed, as were smart 
construction and agri-tech as things to encourage. It was considered vital 
that all such initiatives should have local relevance and see local benefits.  
> 3.1, 3.2

How could local businesses and employment areas be more 
sustainable?

A balance between large and small firms is seen as a good thing, for 
reasons or diversity and a good mix. We should be thinking of businesses 
and institutions in Hemel Hempstead ‘like an ecosystem’. > 3.3, 3.5, 3.6

P
age 54



6968 APPENDIX 1: ENGAGEMENT FINDINGS APPENDIX 1: ENGAGEMENT FINDINGS

People felt that ‘good’ local green businesses should be celebrated and 
rewarded for their efforts, and their products promoted in this way. Could 
there be a local award for excellence in the green economy? Similarly, it is 
felt that many local people are not aware of organisations like Herts IQ and 
these things should be more widely known. > 3.8, 4.2

Businesses should engage in investing in skills and training locally in order 
to improve their own sustainability and invest in their future workforces, as 
well as working to improve employment equality and access to jobs. > 3.1, 
3.6, 3.7

Members of the CRP group were particularly keen that themes of rewilding, 
veganic food production, zero-carbon technologies and innovation in 
construction generally should become tangible themes associated with 
Hemel Hempstead. The town should be a hub for sustainable innovation.

PILLAR 4: ENGAGED COMMUNITIES

What is the best art, community event or performance that is in 
or happened in Hemel? (CRP)

Music and street theatre were prominent in people’s minds, as well as 
performances by local choir groups and memories of ‘big names’ at the 
former arts centre.

The Water Gardens were noted by several people as a key piece of ‘art’ 
in the town, as they are widely loved and understood as a notable piece of 
garden design and landscape architecture.

What of Hemel Hempstead’s culture should be more celebrated?

Local talent and culture should be supported and space for it provided, 
though being able to attract ‘big name’ acts too is also desirable.    
> 4.1, 4.4, 4.5 

The public art that already exists in Hemel, particularly as a legacy of the 
New Town era, is valued. Could the ambition of this era be rediscovered 
today, and indeed what remains of this past era be better celebrated and 
treated?  > 4.6

The history of Hemel Hempstead as a productive place, of manufacturing 
and agriculture, should be better celebrated, for example hemp growing, 
iron foundries, brick kilns, and the connection with Kodak (‘the national 
centre for colour slide processing’), watercress and paper mills, often 
joined up by the industrial waterway of the Grand Union Canal.

Some very ancient wonders, such as the medieval ‘heretical’ wall paintings 
discovered at 130-136 Piccotts End, should be more widely known about 
and celebrated.

P
age 55



            APPENDIX 2: 
                  CASE 
              STUDIESP

age 56



7372 APPENDIX 2: CASE STUDIES APPENDIX 2: CASE STUDIES

PILLAR 1: A GREEN NETWORK

Ecoquartier Vauban is a suburb of Freiburg in Germany. The development follows the principle 
of ‘filtered permeability’ whereby active forms of mobility, including walking and cycling, have 
access to a comprehensive network of paths and routes.

Around Lyon is a cohesive programme of green infrastructure improvements is being 
undertaken in cooperation with infrastructure, drainage and tree departments. Through this 
programme Lyon has diversified its tree population by over 68% since the mid 1990s, with 
over 80% of the newly planted trees being of local provenance. By capitalising on its rich 
history of agriculture and growing, Hemel could similarly contribute to local economies and 
lower carbon emissions by using local planting stock.

The Friends of Arnold Circus in Tower Hamlets, London,have a service level agreement 
with the local authority that allows the community to take over the care, programming and 
maintenance of the estate’s gardens whilst the council retain overall responsibility.

This ‘green bridge’ across the A556 in Cheshire was the centrepiece of a Highways England 
project to make the most environmentally-friendly road the agency had ever built. The project’s 
green measures earned it a prestigious Green Apple Award for Environmental Best Practice 
last year. The project was delivered by Highways England as part of the Northern Powerhouse 
initiative.

P
age 57



7574 APPENDIX 2: CASE STUDIES APPENDIX 2: CASE STUDIES

The Cambridgeshire Guided Busway connects Cambridge, Huntingdon and St Ives. In the 
first year of operation 2.5m trips were made. The busway integrates green infrastructure along 
its length.

An initial ‘design framework’ by 5th Studio proposed a series of upgrades, access 
improvements, allocations and connections to create a linear park from the Queen Elizabeth 
Olympic Park through to the Thames, following the river Lea. At times the park swells to 
include other facilities and landscapes, at other times it is simply a path. 5th Studio worked 
with JCLA to deliver a series of interventions to create the park along with a design manual to 
inform other complementary projects.

The ‘Grown in Detroit’ initiative links up private gardens, communal growing spaces and 
former vacant plots into a district wide network of productive spaces. Members of the 
programme share seeds, knowledge & skills, plus resources and space to grow and sell local 
produce, bringing together communities of all ages. The programme is managed by Keep 
Growing Detroit, a non-profit organisation. This has transformed the appearance of vacant 
public space, and supported the development of fresh produce markets, keeping revenue 
within the local community.

Ebbsfleet Get Active is an initiative to encourage active travel in Ebbsfleet Garden City. It 
features range of projects including a free app where users receive ‘BetterPoints’ which they 
can swap for vouchers to spend locally.

P
age 58



7776 APPENDIX 2: CASE STUDIES APPENDIX 2: CASE STUDIES

Clay Field by Riches Hawley Mikhail is a cluster of 26 sustainable homes in a rural Suffolk 
village. Homes evoke rural and agricultural building types and are grouped into clusters around 
a series of sociable spaces including a dedicated play area.

Flat House by Practice Architecture is a zero-carbon dwelling in a rural context which makes 
extensive use of natural hemp as a building material. The project is a high quality, beautifully-
detailed prototype home which is at ease in its rural and agricultural context.

PILLAR 2: INTEGRATED COMMUNITIES

An innovative developer-led co-housing scheme in South Cambridgeshire, notable for its 
provision of shared spaces and facilities. These include extensive shared gardens as the focal 
space of the community, with areas for growing food, play, socialising and quiet contemplation, 
and a flexible ‘common house’ with a play room, guest bedrooms, laundry facilities, meeting 
rooms, and a large hall and kitchen for shared meals and parties. A separate workshop is 
located elsewhere on site. Residents have a stake in the common parts and contribute to the 
management of the community. The Common House is at the physical and social heart of the 
community, and includes facilities for communal use by all of the households.

Local Precedent: The church of St. Stephen was built in 1959 to provide a church and 
community hall for Chaulden, one of the ‘new’ neighbourhoods created as part of the Hemel 
Hempstead New Town. The ‘sanctuary’ of the church can be separated off from the main 
space to make the interior suitable for a wide range of community uses. A charming and very 
well-loved pre-fabricated building, it is also a potential precedent for how community spaces 
might be shared in the future.

P
age 59



7978 APPENDIX 2: CASE STUDIES APPENDIX 2: CASE STUDIES

Local Precedent: The old market place in the Old Town exploits its high location to provide 
long, wide views over the wider town and landscape. At Keens Field the housing frames long 
views and footpaths across the adjacent green swathe.

Local Precedent: At Piccotts End, the houses have a strong collective quality and a mix of 
shared and individual open spaces. Local farmyards such as Westwick Row provide another 
good local example of how buildings might be arranged to achieve a ‘collective’ character.

Local Precedent: In places like Chambersbury Lane and Jocketts Road, houses and 
landscapes are designed to support easy walking routes and connections to a wider green 
network, helping these communities stay connected.

P
age 60



8180 APPENDIX 2: CASE STUDIES APPENDIX 2: CASE STUDIES

PILLAR 3: A SELF-SUSTAINING ECONOMY

Dokk 1 is a large new citizen services’ building built in Arrhus harbour with the mission of 
being a ‘flexible and dynamic sanctuary for everyone in search of knowledge, inspiration, and 
personal development.’ Providing workspace as well as access to resources, it reflects futurist 
Greg Lindsay’s vision that ‘the workspace of the future looks a lot like a library.

Blackhorse Workshop is London’s first public workshop, for making, mending and learning. In 
the spirit of the public library, the workshop lends resources such as wood and metal working 
equipment, offers workshops, space for assembly and construction and is a social space open 
to all. The project explores what a public-facing programme can offer in an industrial context.

Gloucester Services offers road users an engagement with locally-produced food in an 
innovative, highly efficient building with a strong relationship to landscape. The services 
began as a family-run business focussing on family’s agricultural business on a service station 
situated on the M5 motorway that ran through their land. It has blossomed into an enterprise 
that promotes local produce and invests a percentage of profits back into the local community.

From Around Here, Tottenham involved an extensive mapping of everything made, produced, 
crafted and developed in the Tottenham area, and culminated in a temporary exhibition and 
shop selling local products and a comprehensive catalogue of local producers. The work has 
gone on to inform investments into these industries and shape regeneration briefs.

P
age 61



8382 APPENDIX 2: CASE STUDIES APPENDIX 2: CASE STUDIES

The Business Improvement District (BID) for Camden Town, Camden Town Unlimited aims 
to enhance the commercial environment for  local  businesses and to enrich the offer of the 
area as a place to stay and dwell as well as a retail environment. The programme is particularly 
notable for its events, public realm improvements and focus on the environment, ensuring that 
the streets and retail areas of Camden Town are durable, diverse and delightful enough to 
draw visitors and customers.

Local Precedent: Hemel Food Garden offers training and employment for people with learning 
disabilities within a social enterprise setting, and sells fresh local produce via a farm shop and 
cafe. The project is an initiative of Sunnyside Rural Trust.

PILLAR 4: ENGAGED COMMUNITIES

Botkyrka Konsthall, an established public-funded art venue, developed a long-term residency 
programme - and ultimately its new gallery and home - in the context of Fittja in Stockholm, a 
postwar neighbourhood with an unusually high demographic and ethnic mix. The programme 
played a key role in understanding the demographic shifts in the neighbourhood and in helping 
to modify social policy to support community activity there. It also attracted a long list of 
international practitioners to Fittja to explore its complexities and imagine potential futures.

Open City is a charity that works with architecture and urban design to make our built 
environment more accessible and inclusive. In addition to running the pioneering ‘Open House 
London’ annual festival during which 800 buildings are opened to the public, the charity runs 
self-guided tours, guided tours, a publishing and podcast programme.

P
age 62



8584 APPENDIX 2: CASE STUDIES APPENDIX 2: CASE STUDIES

Company Drinks, initiated by the artist Kathrin Böhm, formed a new company producing 
drinks in Barking & Dagenham, involving 1,200 local people in the production of drinks and 
making a real contribution to local culture. Company Drinks has generated an innovative, 
sustainable local organisation with a local supply chain, and one that has embedded in the 
long-term history of the area and in the lives of its communities, in effect producing an open, 
inter-generational and cross-cultural public space as part of its activities.

Erith Lighthouse brought the diverse communities of Erith - and beyond - together in a single 
temporary building and a highly-curated programme of meals and events. The project aimed to 
build the capacity of local entrepreneurs and organisations.

Radical Essex is a programme of events, online mapping and publishing that celebrates 
hitherto neglected narratives of the county of Essex, especially its history as a place of testing 
radical social and environmental ideas. The project aims to play to the natural strengths and 
particularities of the place. The project is an ongoing collaboration between Focal Point 
Gallery, Visit Essex and Firstsite.

Inspired by a visionary leisure complex in Milton Keynes that was never built, MK Gallery 
commissioned ‘City Club’ a series of interventions in the wider city that revisit the ambitions of 
the ‘lost’ building in the public realm of the city, including this child-led tour of the New Town 
instigated by artist family Townley and Bradby and associate artist Georgie Manly.

P
age 63



8786 APPENDIX 2: CASE STUDIES APPENDIX 2: CASE STUDIES

Turf Projects provides gallery and workspace for artists and was set up as a charity to address 
the lack of affordable space for artists in Croydon town centre. The flagship space is a 
previously-vacant retail unit in the Whitgift Centre, the town centre’s largest shopping mall. 
The programming of the space often produces work which explores the particular identity and 
culture of Croydon, especially its postwar development.

Escape Vehicle #9 (2018), Heather and Ivan Morison. The artwork, commissioned by Into 
Nature, an art biennial in the Netherlands. The project enables visitors to spend the night in 
one of the country’s most ancient landscapes, and the pavilion provides passive heating and 
cooling, as well as imagining how future people will inhabit the landscape.

Local Precedent:  The Friends of Jellicoe Water Gardens are a voluntary group whose aim is 
to encourage the use and enjoyment of the Jellicoe Water Gardens by local people and visitors 
and to help to develop and maintain a safe, beautiful and wildlife rich environment. The Friends 
run events and gardening days, host a dedicated website for the gardens and collaborated 
with Dacorum Borough Council on an extensive recent restoration of the gardens, supporting 
and promoting the project and assisting with the project’s successful Heritage Lottery bid.

Local Precedent: This mural by Rowland Emett was commissioned during the ‘New Town era’ 
to celebrate Hemel Hempstead and neighbouring communities. It is still in place today and 
serves as a reminder of the connections and culture of this place.

P
age 64



88 CREDITS

CREDITS

The Hemel Garden Communities Spatial Vision was produced in 2020 by 
DK-CM for the Hemel Garden Communities programme.

Graphic design by Europa.

The production of the Vision was supported by an invited group of experts:

John Dales, Urban Movement
Rama Gheerawo, Helen Hamlyn Centre for Design, Royal College of Art
John Grindrod, author of ‘Outskirts’ and ‘Concretopia’
Diana Ibáñez López, Create London
Greg Lindsay, NewCities 
Katy Lock, Town and Country Planning Association
Natalie Simmons, Jonathan Cook Landscape Architects
Maria Smith, Buro Huppold

Image Credits

The producers of this Vision have made every effort to contact copyright 
holders and will be happy to correct, in subsequent editions, any errors or 
omissions that are brought to their attention.

P17 @shu_teaches via Hemel Channel; P17 ©TFL; P17 ITP; P17+P72 
Keep Growing Detroit; P17 S.Hastie, ‘Hemel Hempstead, The Story 
of Newtown Development’, 1997 (book); P25+75 DK-CM; P25 Hemel 
Hempstead Development Corporation, ‘The Development of Hemel 
Hempstead’, 1952 (book); P25 (HGC); P25+P75 Mole Architects, 
Photo: David Butler; P33+80 (HGC); P33+P79 Frank Whittle Partnership 
Architects; P33 (HGC); P33+78 Assemble; P41 DK-CM; P41+84 Harold 
Offeh, Turf Projects Photo: Tim Bowditch; P41+85 (HGC); P41+83 Miles 
Umney; P70 Jacques Léone, Métropole de Lyon; P70 Emmett Russel 
Architects; P71 Friends of Arnold Circus; P71 (HGC); P72 Cambridge 
Science Park; P74 Mikhail Riches, Photo: ©Tim Crocker; P74 Practice 
Architecture & Material Cultures, Photo: Oskar Proctor; P75 5th Studio; 
P78 Oodi, Helsinki Central Library; P79 Gort Scott; P80 Camden Town 
Unlimited; P81 Luke O’Donovan; P81 Botkyrka Konsthall; P82 Company 
Drinks & Create; P82 DK-CM; P83 Focal Point Gallery. P84 Studio 
Morison; P85 - S.Hastie, ‘Hemel Hempstead, The Story of Newtown 
Development’, 1997 (book).

P
age 65



90 CREDITSPage 66



September 2019 V2 1 

Dacorum BC Community Impact Assessment (CIA) Template 

Policy / service / decision Hemel Garden Communities Spatial Vision 

Description of what is being impact assessed 

What are the aims of the service, proposal, project? What outcomes do you want to achieve? What are the reasons for the proposal or change? Do you 

need to reference/consider any related projects? 

Stakeholders; Who will be affected? Which protected characteristics is it most relevant to? Consider the public, service users, partners, staff, Members, etc 

It is advisable to involve at least one colleague in the preparation of the assessment,  dependent on likely level of impact 

Dacorum Borough Council, St Albans City and District Council, Hertfordshire County Council, Hertfordshire Local Enterprise Partnership 

(LEP) and The Crown Estate are working in partnership to deliver Hemel Garden Communities (HGC), a major expansion of Hemel 

Hempstead bringing transformative benefits for the existing town.  

The new development will be delivered in phases via the development management process. The ability of phased development to 

contribute to the HGC Programme’s specific Garden Communities aspirations for Hemel Hempstead and the surrounding area relies on 

having the compelling and coherent vision, encapsulating both the TCPA’s Garden City Principles and Hemel Hempstead’s unique growth 

potential, which is provided by the Spatial Vision. 

The Spatial Vision builds on Hemel Hempstead’s strengths and explains how HGC will look and feel once the development and 

transformation is complete. It provides a locally specific narrative and framework to guide the transformation of Hemel Hempstead and its 

strategic growth, as a high-level, overarching document, which will guide all other masterplanning and design work for HGC.  

The HGC Spatial Vision will be used to: 

 Guide the HGC Programme and preparation of key studies: the HGC Framework Plan, HGC Transport Plan, HGC Infrastructure Delivery 
Plan, HGC Transformation Plan, HGC Programme Delivery Plan, where all costed proposals and key actions will be set out in a HGC 
Transformation and Infrastructure Plan Supplementary Planning Document, see Figure 1. 

 Inform design and infrastructure requirements as part of the masterplanning and determination of planning applications for HGC. 

 Provide direction for further evidence base work, studies and strategies required to support the HGC Programme. 
 

 

P
age 67



September 2019 V2 2 

  

Evidence 

What data/information have you used to assess how this policy/service/decision might impact on protected groups? 

(include relevant national/local data, research, monitoring information, service user feedback, complaints, audits, consultations, CIAs from other projects 

or other local authorities, etc.). You should include such information in a proportionate manner to reflect the level of impact of the policy/service/decision.   

Review of national policy, guidance and best practice to support the production of the Spatial Vision. 
 

Who have you consulted with to assess possible impact on protected groups?  If you have not consulted other people, please 

explain why? You should include such information in a proportionate manner to reflect the level of impact of the policy/service/decision.   

Councillor Graham Sutton – Portfolio Holder for Planning and Infrastructure 
Ian Charie – Hemel Garden Communities Programme Director 
Dacorum Borough Council services: Strategic Planning & Regeneration, Climate Change. 
Hertfordshire County Council services: Ecology, Public Health, Countryside and Rights of Way, Education, Sustainability, 
Highways Strategy & Implementation. 
St Albans City & District Council services: Planning & Building Control. 
 

P
age 68



September 2019 V2 3 

Analysis of impact on protected groups (and others) 

The Public Sector Equality Duty requires Dacorum BC to eliminate discrimination, advance equality of opportunity and foster 

good relations with protected groups. Consider how this policy/service/decision will achieve these aims.  Using the table below, 

detail what considerations and potential impacts against each of these using the evidence that you have collated and your own 

understanding.  Based on this information, make an assessment of the likely outcome, before you have implemented any 

mitigation. 

 The PCs of Marriage and Civil Partnership and Pregnancy and Maternity should be added if their inclusion is relevant for impact assessment. 

 Use “insert below” menu layout option to insert extra rows where relevant (e.g. extra rows for different impairments within Disability). 

Protected group 

Summary of impact 

What do you know?  What do people tell you? Summary of data and feedback about service 

users and the wider community/ public. Who uses / will use the service? Who doesn’t / can’t 

and why? Feedback/complaints?  

Negative 

impact / 

outcome 

Neutral 

impact / 

outcome 

Positive 

impact / 

outcome 

Age The Spatial Vision sets out principles for homes, local centres and 
land uses, green routes and public spaces which are inclusive and 
accessible to people of all ages.  

☐ ☐ ☒ 

Disability (physical, 

intellectual, mental) 

Refer to CIA Guidance Notes 

and Mental Illness & 

Learning Disability Guide 

The Spatial Vision sets out principles for homes, local centres and 
land uses, green routes and public spaces which are inclusive and 
accessible to people of all abilities. ☐ ☐ ☒ 

Gender reassignment No material impact on this protected group. 

☐ ☒ ☐ 

P
age 69



September 2019 V2 4 

Race and ethnicity No material impact on this protected group. 

☐ ☒ ☐ 

Religion or belief No material impact on this protected group. 

☐ ☒ ☐ 

Sex No material impact on this protected group. 
☐ ☒ ☐ 

Sexual orientation No material impact on this protected group. 
☐ ☒ ☐ 

Not protected 

characteristics but 

consider other 

factors, e.g. carers, 

veterans, homeless, 

low income, 

loneliness, rurality 

etc. 

The Spatial Vision sets out principles for homes, local centres and 
land uses, green routes and public spaces which are inclusive and 
accessible to all members of the community. It sets out principles for 
boosting local-level initiatives which build community wealth and 
social connections. ☐ ☐ ☒ 

P
age 70



September 2019 V2 5 

Negative impacts / outcomes action plan 

Where you have ascertained that there will potentially be negative impacts / outcomes, you are required to mitigate the impact of 

these.  Please detail below the actions that you intend to take. 

Action taken/to be taken 

(copy & paste the negative impact / outcome then detail action) 
Date 

Person 

responsible 
Action complete 

n/a Select date  ☐ 

 Select date  ☐ 

 Select date  ☐ 

 Select date  ☐ 

 Select date  ☐ 

 Select date  ☐ 

 Select date  ☐ 

 Select date  ☐ 

 

P
age 71



September 2019 V2 6 

If negative impacts / outcomes remain, please provide an explanation below. 

n/a 

Completed by (all involved in CIA) Olivia Halper 

Nathalie Bateman 

Date 11/12/2020 

Signed off by (AD from different Directorate 

if being presented to CMT / Cabinet) 

 

Mark Brookes, Assistant Director, Corporate and Contracted Services. 

Date 22/12/20 

Entered onto CIA database - date  

To be reviewed by (officer name)  

Review date  

 

P
age 72



September 2019 V2 7 

 

P
age 73



 
 

Report for: Cabinet 

Date of meeting: 19 January 2021 

Part: 1 

If Part II, reason:  

 

Title of report: Dacorum Strategic Design Guide Supplementary Planning 
Document 

Contact: 
Cllr Graham Sutton: Portfolio Holder for Planning & 
Infrastructure 
 
Author/Responsible Officer: 
Alex Robinson: Strategic Planning Manager 
Claire Covington, Assistant Team Leader, Strategic Planning 

Purpose of report: To seek Cabinet’s agreement to adopt the draft Dacorum 
Strategic Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document 
(the draft SPD). 

Recommendations 
1. That Cabinet recommends to Full Council that the draft 

SPD be adopted.  
 

2. That authority to make changes to the draft SPD 
documents, including any necessary to reflect Cabinet’s 
discussions and decision, be delegated to the Assistant 
Director (Planning, Development & Regeneration) in 
consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Planning and 
Infrastructure.  
 

Period for post 
policy/project 
review 

The Dacorum Strategic Design Guide SPD should be reviewed 
within 5 years of adoption.  
 

Corporate 
objectives: 

The draft Dacorum Strategic Design Guide SPD will support 
the following corporate objectives: 
 

 A clean, safe and enjoyable environment: e.g. contains 
design principles that include promoting walkable 
neighbourhoods, accessible green infrastructure and 
prioritising pedestrians; 

 Building strong and vibrant communities: e.g. includes 
design principles providing a mix of uses and range of 
housing types and tenures integrated within 
neighbourhoods; 

 Ensuring economic growth and prosperity: e.g. includes 

 

Page 74

Agenda Item 8



design principles that promote contemporary, suitable 
designed employment areas; and 

 Providing good quality affordable homes: e.g. includes 
design principles to promote a range of tenures and 
housing typologies that meet all socio-economic needs 
and conform to best practice in relation to space, 
quality and sustainability standards.  

Implications: 
 
 
 
 
‘Value for money’ 
implications 

Financial 
 
None directly associated with this report.  
 
 
Value for money 
 
The consultants were appointed through a formal procurement 
process where cost and value for money considerations were 
reflected in the scoring criteria.  
 

Risk implications 
Given the scale of future growth likely to come forward across 
the Borough it is important that the Council has up to date and 
robust design policies that reflect national practice and 
Dacorum’s emerging Local Plan.  
 
National guidance advises all Councils to have in place local 
Design Guides that provide detailed design guidance; the draft 
SPD provides this local-level framework whilst reflecting the 
latest national-level design guidance.  
 
If the draft SPD is not approved, the Council will continue to 
apply its existing suite of design guidance documents, many of 
which are out of date and will not reflect Dacorum’s emerging 
Local Plan.   
 

Community Impact 
Assessment 

A Community Impact Assessment for the draft SPD was 
undertaken in April 2020 and reported to Cabinet in May 2020.  
 

Health and safety 
Implications 

Higher quality design of new developments will support 
improved community health and wellbeing.  

Monitoring Officer/ 

Deputy S.151 
Officer 
Comments 

Deputy Monitoring Officer: 
 

The process of adopting supplementary planning documents is 
set out in the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) 
(England) Regulations 2012.  Furthermore the Council is 
required to comply with its Statement of Community 
Involvement (SCI) during this process. 

Adoption of the draft SPD will raise the design standards 
ofdevelopment proposals that are submitted to the Council for 
determination and will help guide planning decisions made on 
these. 
 
 
Deputy S151 Officer 

Page 75



 
There are no financial implications arising from this report.  

Consultees: 

 

The following officers have been consulted on the draft SPD: 

 Hemel Garden Communities 

 Development Management 

 

Background 
papers: 

 Cabinet Report 19th May, 2020 Strategic Sites Design 
Guidance Supplementary Planning Document  

 Appendix 1: Dacorum Strategic Design Guide SPD 

 Appendix 2: Draft Dacorum Strategic Design Guide SPD 
Consultation Report of Responses 
 

Glossary of 
acronyms and any 
other abbreviations 
used in this report: 

  

DBC – Dacorum Borough Council 

CIA – Community Impact Assessment 

SCI – Statement of Community Involvement 

SPD – Supplementary Planning Document 

DSDG – Dacorum Strategic Design Guide SPD 

 

Page 76



 
1. Introduction 

 
1.1. The Draft Dacorum Strategic Design Guide SPD outlines the Council’s 

design expectations for high quality, inclusive and sustainable places that 
reflect and respond to Dacorum’s local character. It also provides detailed 
guidance for the design of commercial areas, and business and industrial 
units.  
 

1.2. The draft SPD comprises three parts, each of which has a specific role to 
play in guiding design: 

 
o Part 1: Design Process - involving three key stages of observing, 

evaluating and making a place;  
 

o Part 2: Design Principles – to which all development proposals in the 
Borough will be expected to adhere; 

 
o Part 3: Employment Uses Guidance – design principles for 

employment areas and examples of design solutions for commonly 
encountered challenges.  

 
1.3. Once adopted, the draft SPD will provide additional guidance on the design 

related policies in the Core Strategy Development Plan Document (adopted 
September 2013) and those ‘saved’ parts of the Dacorum Borough Local 
Plan (adopted April 2004). The SPD is in alignment with the Council’s 
proposed policy approach to delivering great places and high quality design 
as set out in the new Dacorum Local Plan (2020-2038) Emerging Strategy 
for Growth (Regulation 18), on which public consultation is currently taking 
place.  
 

 
2. Preparation of the Draft Dacorum Strategic Design Guide Supplementary 

Planning Document (the Draft SPD) 
 
2.1. The draft SPD was commissioned jointly by Dacorum and St Albans City & 

District Councils, with input from the Local Enterprise Partnership for use 
with commercial development proposals.  Each authority has customised the 
final version to suit their particular circumstances and the draft SPD 
(appendix 1) is Dacorum’s document. Despite this, the content and 
aspirations have remained broadly the same.  
 

2.2. The draft Dacorum Strategic Design Guide SPD was reviewed by the 
Strategic Planning and Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee in 
April 2020. The views of the Committee and the SPD documents were 
subsequently reported to Cabinet for consideration at the May 2020 meeting, 
where Cabinet approved the Draft Dacorum Strategic Design Guide SPD for 
public consultation.  
 

2.3. The timing of the public consultation took into account the first national 
COVID-19 lockdown (ending on 4th July) and ran for over 6 weeks from 3rd 
July up until the 16th August 2020. This is two weeks longer than the time 
period stipulated in the Statement of Community involvement (SCI), and 
gave residents additional time to engage in the process as the consultation 

Page 77



took place partly over the school summer holiday and while COVID-19 
restrictions were in place. 

 
2.4. The Council received 61 responses in total from 59 consultees, which are 

summarised in the draft SPD Consultation Report of Responses, attached as 
Appendix 2. Each response received was individually reviewed and collated, 
and an officer response added to the points raised. The tables also identify 
where the draft SPD has been revised as a result of the consultation 
comments received.  

 
 
3. Conclusions 

 
3.1. The draft SPD will ensure that new development contributes towards making 

distinctive, attractive and successful places to live and work that are 
adaptable for the future. The Dacorum Strategic Design Guide SPD will 
provide further detail to the saved design policies of the Core Strategy (2013) 
and, subsequently, the New Single Local Plan, once adopted.  
 

3.2. Until the New Single Local Plan is adopted the Dacorum Strategic Design 
Guide SPD will only implement those design requirements which can be 
justified under the policies set out in the Core Strategy and Site Allocations 
Documents. 
 

3.3. The updated Dacorum Strategic Design Guide Supplementary Planning 
Document is attached at Appendix 1 and Cabinet is asked to recommend to 
Full Council that the document be adopted.    
 
 

4. Next Steps  
 
4.1. Subject to approval by Full Council, the adoption (regulation 14) process will 

be completed and the Dacorum Strategic Design Guide SPD will become a 
material consideration in planning decisions.  

 
 
 
 

Page 78



Appendix 1: Draft Dacorum Strategic Design Guide Supplementary Planning 
Document  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Attached separately 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 79



 
Appendix 2: Dacorum Strategic Design Guide Supplementary Planning 
Document Consultation Report of Responses 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Attached separately 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 80



Dacorum Strategic Design Guide
Part 1: Design Process
Supplementary Planning Document
January 2021

P
age 81



This document was developed collaboratively by  

Dacorum Borough Council, 

St Albans City & District Council, 

HertsIQ,

Proctor & Matthews Architects, and

David Lock Associates.

P
age 82



Contents
4 Introduction 

5 Introduction
6 The Dacorum Strategic Design Guide
7 How to Use This Guide
9 The Design Process  

10 Observing Place
11 Introduction to Observing Place

12 Topography and Geology

14 Water

16 Green Infrastructure and Landscape

18 Ecology and Biodiversity

20 Historic Legacy

22 Visual Exposure and Shelter

24 Environmental Exposure, Enclosure and Shelter

26 Connectivity

28 Edges and Beyond

30 Land Use

32 Urban Grain and Built Form

34 Unique Features and Narratives

36 Local Vernacular Details and Materials

38 Identifying Patterns 
40 Spatial Typologies 
44 Example

47 Checklist

Design Process

48 Evaluating Place

49 Introduction to Evaluating Place

49 Identifying Strengths and Opportunities

50 Illustrating Strengths and Opportunities and    
 Structuring Elements

53 Checklist

54 Making a Place: Frameworks

55 Introduction to Frameworks

56 The Ingredients of Community

57 Spatial Requirements 

58 The Vision
59 Relating the Vision to the Frameworks

60 Land Use Framework

62 Landscape Framework

64 Movement Framework

66 Urban Design Framework

68 The Illustrative Masterplan

69 Checklist

70 Making a Place: Spatial Typologies

71 Introduction to Spatial Typologies

72 The Green and The Ham / Worth 
74 The Hoe 
76 The Stead / Sted 
78 The Bourne / End 
80 Example
82 Checklist
83 Additional Resources

P
age 83



Introduction

P
age 84



5

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
oc

es
s 

 I 
 In

tr
od

uc
tio

n 
I O

bs
er

vi
ng

 P
la

ce
 I 

Ev
al

ua
tin

g 
Pl

ac
e 

I M
ak

in
g 

a 
Pl

ac
e

Introduction

Dacorum’s Design Aspirations

Significant planned growth in Dacorum Borough will lead to 
the development of new communities and economic activity, 
enhancing housing choices and providing new opportunities 
for local residents. Some of this growth will be accommodated 
in the Borough’s existing settlements, and some will be 
delivered on adjacent greenfield sites.

Today’s new development needs to factor in significant 
and transformative future changes to the ways in which we 
live, work, shop, travel and spend our free time - prompted 
by climate change, economic fluctuations, advances in 
technology and demographic shifts. 

DBC has declared a Climate Emergency and is committed to 
fostering genuinely sustainable development which supports 
a zero carbon future - meeting the needs of communities 
without compromising the ability of future generations to 
meet their needs. Sustainability needs to come in the form 
of technology - including leaving space for adaptation to 
technologies which have yet to be developed - as well as 
through planning of compact, well-integrated mix-use 
environments.

Meeting these challenges requires a strategic approach to 
design at all scales, embracing nationally-recognised best 
practice whilst responding to the characteristics and features 
which are unique and distinctive to Dacorum. The Strategic 
Design Guide provides clear guidance to landowners, 
developers and their design teams on how they can achieve 
this.

Dacorum Borough Council (DBC) has developed this Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) to 
promote the highest quality new development which supports sustainable, inclusive and attractive 
places and integrated communities.  

Map of Dacorum Borough

P
age 85



6

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
oc

es
s 

 I 
 In

tr
od

uc
tio

n 
I O

bs
er

vi
ng

 P
la

ce
 I 

Ev
al

ua
tin

g 
Pl

ac
e 

I M
ak

in
g 

a 
Pl

ac
e

The Dacorum Strategic Design Guide
This guide outlines Dacorum’s strategic design expectations and a design process which should be used to 
achieve these through new development of all scales. It also provides detailed guidance on the design of 
employment uses.

Context

The Strategic Design Guide was prepared through 
collaboration with St Albans City and District Council 
(SADC) and Herts IQ, in recognition that the features 
which make the local area distinctive are not contained by 
administrative boundaries. The final documents have been 
published separately by the two Local Authorities to enable 
customisation to their respective planning policies, however 
the contextual baseline and strategic aspirations of the 
guidance remain shared.

Collaboration to prepare this guidance also provides the 
basis for a joined-up approach to design for the cross-
boundary Hemel Garden Communities (HGC) programme. The 
Authorities have also collaborated to produce a Spatial Vision 
for HGC, which provides an additional layer of guidance to the 
Strategic Design Guide for new development within Hemel 
Hempstead and the North and East Hemel Hempstead Growth 
Areas, which are on land split roughly equally between DBC 
and SADC. 

The Strategic Design Guide was prepared in accordance with 
Dacorum’s Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) and 
sets out clear principles for early engagement of stakeholders 
and communities in the site development process.

In accordance with national-level planning policies and 
guidance, this guide ensures clarity on design expectations 
and how this will be demonstrated and tested through the 
development management process. 

Planning Status

The Strategic Design Guide is a Supplementary Planning 
Document (SPD) and is a material consideration in the 
determination of planning applications. The guidance 
supports the following Local Plan policies: [insert list of 
policies]

The Guide will be used by:

• Applicants and their design teams preparing development 
proposals;
• Planning officers, to negotiate with applicants/agents as 
proposals are developed, to offer pre-application advice at 
the outline and reserved matters stage, and to assess the 
quality of development proposals when determining planning 
applications;
• Elected Councillors when assessing development proposals 
in advance of and at planning committee; 
• Statutory consultees providing commentary on applications;
• The Dacorum Community Review Panel when reviewing 
development proposals at pre-application and application 
stage; and
• Local communities as they are consulted on applications.

Scope

The Strategic Design Guide applies to planning applications 
and sites across Dacorum of all scales, for which it covers the 
strategic objectives and design process to which DBC expects 
designers to adhere. 

Part 3 of the Guide provides detailed guidance for the design 
of employment areas and business and industrial units, which 
are of strategic importance to the local economy. DBC is in 
the process of preparing detailed guidance for other types of 
applications, to complement this Strategic Design Guide.

 Structure of the Guide

There are three parts to the Strategic Design Guide:

• Part 1: Design Process (this document) sets out an 
approach to the design process that the Council will 
expect applicants to follow. This provides a route for 
planning applicants and their design teams to understand 
the specific character of this part of Hertfordshire and 
apply a character-led approach to design. 

• Part 2: Design Principles establishes design principles 
to which all development proposals in the Borough are 
expected to adhere so that they contribute to sustainable 
growth and continue Dacorum’s tradition of distinctive, 
attractive and successful places.

• Part 3: Employment Uses Guidance provides guidance to 
secure contemporary employment development which 
adheres to best practice environmental sustainability 
measures, offer a diverse and flexible range of commercial 
spaces and public spaces and streets which encourage 
healthy working lifestyles and social interaction.

P
age 86



7

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
oc

es
s 

 I 
 In

tr
od

uc
tio

n 
I O

bs
er

vi
ng

 P
la

ce
 I 

Ev
al

ua
tin

g 
Pl

ac
e 

I M
ak

in
g 

a 
Pl

ac
e

Key

The guidance contains clear pointers towards issues 
to consider, additional resources and key outputs and 
‘supplementary’ outputs, marked in the document as 
shown below.

How to Use This Guide
The three-stage design process - observing, evaluating, making - supports meeting the design principles 
for high quality, inclusive and sustainable places in a way which reflects and responds to Dacorum’s local 
character.

Relationship with Part 2 Design Principles

Part 2 of the Strategic Design Guide establishes design 
principles to which all development proposals in the 
Borough are expected to adhere. Principles are arranged into 
categories, each of which links strategic aims to a checklist 
of practical, measurable principles which designers can 
implement and planning officers can assess. 

Following the design process outlined in this document will 
help to ensure that the resulting designs meet these strategic 
aims.

Principle of ‘Comply or Justify’

The Strategic Design Guide is to be used following a principle 
of ‘Comply or Justify’. Deviation from the principles and 
design processes set out will only be permitted with robust 
and evidence-based justification for doing so. In such cases, 
developers and their design teams must demonstrate that 
their proposals will deliver the very highest quality design that 
aligns with the aims of each Design Principle theme. 

Proposals that do not comply with these principles and fail 
to provide compelling justification, including evidence and 
options analysis, will be refused.

Design Process

The guidance advocates a structured design process based on 
three key stages:

• Observing Place – Observing and understanding the site 
and its broader context 

• Evaluating Place – From the features observed, identifying 
which will be most influential to design

• Making a Place – Applying the identified features 
to design at all scales and stages, from a site-wide 
masterplan through to increasing levels of detail, to 
create distinctive places.

These stages provide a route toward developing a local 
vernacular-led design proposition based on analysis of the 
built and natural context of a development site. 

Applicants and their design teams should use the guidance 
methodically, but it is important to emphasise that successful 
design outcomes will result from an iterative, not linear design 
process. Reviewing and revisiting what is observed at the start 
of the design process and re-evaluating its significance at each 
design stage will allow design solutions to be tested and refined 
in order to achieve a robust set of proposals. 

As well as detailing the design process, this document includes 
guidance on the type and quality of outputs that the Council 
will expect design teams to produce and evidence through 
pre-application and application processes. These will depend 
on the nature and scale of proposals, and should be agreed 
during pre-application discussions.

Required Outputs

Consider

Supplementary Information

Additional Resources

P
age 87



8

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
oc

es
s 

 I 
 In

tr
od

uc
tio

n 
I O

bs
er

vi
ng

 P
la

ce
 I 

Ev
al

ua
tin

g 
Pl

ac
e 

I M
ak

in
g 

a 
Pl

ac
e

How to Use This Guide

The Guidance within the Planning Process 

The diagram to the right provides a broad overview of the 
planning process for strategic sites and highlights how the 
design process stages and outputs typically relate to each 
stage.

The diagram represent the process for strategic sites, which 
is the most complex, and Outline and Reserved Matters 
Applications have been separated out. This guidance also 
applies to Full Planning Applications which combine the two 
types of applications, and smaller scale applications.

Relationship between the design process and the planning process at DBC (planning process shown is indicative - to be determined 
on a site-by-site basis)

The Design Process guidance is a tool spanning the pre-application and application stages in planning.

P
age 88



9

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
oc

es
s 

 I 
 In

tr
od

uc
tio

n 
I O

bs
er

vi
ng

 P
la

ce
 I 

Ev
al

ua
tin

g 
Pl

ac
e 

I M
ak

in
g 

a 
Pl

ac
e

Spatial Typologies DetailNeighbourhoods

Masterplan

Making a Place

Evaluating Place

Observing Place Contextual Observations Building a library of research for reference in later design stages

Strengths and
Opportunities Plan

Vision Frameworks

Land Use

Landscape
Movement

Urban Design

Observation Layers

Site

Context

Filter

The Design Process

NeighbourhoodsNeighbourhoods

/ Employment Areas/ Employment Areas

Spatial TypologiesSpatial Typologies

/ Industrial and Office Typologies/ Industrial and Office Typologies

DetailDetail

MasterplanMasterplan

VisionVision

The three key stages of the design process are detailed in the figure. Successful design outcomes involve using the 
guide’s three-stage design process iteratively with close working between designers and the Local Authority and 
consideration given to visions and other strategic documents which have a bearing on the site and its wider context.

The scope of design topics and information required in Making a Place will depend on the 
scale and type of proposal, and should be agreed in collaboration with DBC officers

Larger-scale applications

Smaller-scale applications

P
age 89



Hemel Hempstead’s old town High Street is an urban 
environment with a characteristic townscape, but 
remains closely connected to the landscape with level 
changes and views to the river valley bottom below.

Observing Place

P
age 90



11

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
oc

es
s 

 I 
O

bs
er

vi
ng

 P
la

ce
 I 

Ev
al

ua
tin

g 
Pl

ac
e 

I M
ak

in
g 

a 
Pl

ac
e

Introduction to Observing Place
The process for developing proposals for a successful place grounded in a strong narrative starts 
with a clear and detailed understanding of the characteristics of a site and its wider context.

Observing Place sets out a series of key 
topics for consideration and ways to 
observe site-specific features. These are a 
starting point and the topics listed are not 
exhaustive. Town-wide visions and other 
strategic documents for places which have 
been produced by the Authorities may 
identify some of the key features of the site 
and its wider context.

Topography

Green Infrastructure

Water

Historic Legacy

Connectivity

And more...

Required Outputs 

A consistent set of analysis drawings which illustrate 
findings from observations should be prepared.

Some observations may also be supplemented by 
additional outputs, as detailed in the headings within 
this chapter.

Site Context

Observing then continues with a detailed 
understanding of the features and assets 
of the site, and how they are treated in the 
wider context. Layers of information are built 
up on plans.

Wider Context

Analysis begins with an understanding of 
the wider context in which the site sits.

1
2

3

P
age 91



12

Additional ResourcesD
es

ig
n 

Pr
oc

es
s 

 I 
O

bs
er

vi
ng

 P
la

ce
 I 

Ev
al

ua
tin

g 
Pl

ac
e 

I M
ak

in
g 

a 
Pl

ac
e

Context: Topography and Geology

Topography

The districts show considerable variation in topography 
character. Steep valleys with plateaus are common in the 
west. This transitions to flatter ground in the south east. The 
Chiltern Hills form a natural boundary to the north and west. 
Rolling countryside cut through by river valleys connects 
the two areas. 

Soils

The soils which cover Hertfordshire today are of two kinds: 
alkaline or neutral. Chalky soils predominate in the north 
and east of the county (more or less acid) and chalky 
and clay soils cover the centre and west of the county. 
Domesday settlement numbers were higher in the north 
and east with more land ploughed in these areas than to the 
west.

Geology

The geological make-up of the districts reflects the 
topography very closely. In the west chalk bedrock with 
boulder clay surface deposits creates steep valleys. A clear 
divide in geology running along a NE-SW line near St Albans 
reflects a similar sharp change in topography. Below this 
line gravels and alluvial deposits dominate.

Topography, geology and soils have played a key role in shaping the natural and built environments across the districts 
over time, with historic land uses and settlement patterns often strongly reflective of the lay and make-up of the land 
sitting beneath. Understanding these elements is important to enable place-specific design proposals to be developed. 

Landscape Character Assessments

Guidance at different scales on key 
landscape characteristics are available.
National / East of England / Hertfordshire

1

www.naturalengland.org.uk

111: Northern Thames Basin
Supporting documents

National Character
Area profile:

Key facts
and data

AnalysisDescriptionIntroduction & Summary Opportunities Landscape
change

Hemel Hempstead

Hemel Hempstead

Hemel Hempstead

St Albans

St Albans

St Albans

P
age 92



13

3

2

1

Outputs

Wider Context

Site Context

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
oc

es
s 

 I 
O

bs
er

vi
ng

 P
la

ce
 I 

Ev
al

ua
tin

g 
Pl

ac
e 

I M
ak

in
g 

a 
Pl

ac
e

Observing: Topography and Geology

Supplementary Information

3D models
Contextual studies of the site topography and 
geology

Key Outputs

Context plan
Site plans of topography, geology and soils
Site photographs 
Sections
Surveys

Understand

• Topographical features and areas of the site
• Origins of topographical features
• Inter-relationships between soil types, geology and 

topographical features

Examples of What to Observe

• Valley sides and bottoms
• Plateaus
• Ridgelines
• Undulating ground
• Changes of bedrock and surface material
• Soil changes

Examples of What to Observe

• Broad topographic elements such as valley 
corridors, plains, ridgelines and hilltops 

• The composition of geology and soil types in 
relation to topography

Understand

• Topographical features and composition
• Underlying geology
• Soil types
• Inter-relationships between soil types, geology and 

topographical features

P
age 93



14

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
oc

es
s 

 I 
O

bs
er

vi
ng

 P
la

ce
 I 

Ev
al

ua
tin

g 
Pl

ac
e 

I M
ak

in
g 

a 
Pl

ac
e

Context: Water
Water, in its natural form or altered by human development, is a key influence on landscape and urban form. 
Natural water movement and its use in the wider context should be observed at an early stage of design.

Water Gardens
Hemel Hempstead’s masterplan-
ner, Geoffrey Jellicoe, created 
the linear Water Gardens to 
connect together the River Gade 
Valley and town centre running 
running alongside it.

Water and urban 
development 
Water channels can be found 
running along the edge of city 
streets. Industrial buildings 
relate to water features. Other 
towns and villages turn their 
back on rivers.

Small watercourses
Even the largest rivers in the 
districts are small and retain 
an intimate, soft character. 
The largest rivers often form 
meanders across small 
flood plains at the bottom of 
steep-sided valleys.

Natural and man-made 
habitats
Water runs through valley-
bottom wetlands, fed by 
rivers and springs. Among 
the largest water features 
are reservoirs around Tring 
and filled in gravel pits south 
of St Albans and Kings 
Langley.

Change in character
To the south-east of St Albans 
the presence of water on the 
surface is more frequent and 
visible. This corresponds with 
the major change in topography 
and geology.

Watershed 
boundary

Chalkland water
Much of Dacorum and the 
north-west of St Albans 
District is on chalk bedrock, 
which results in little water 
visible on the surface except 
in large watercourses. 
Seasonal streams and 
springs are present across 
the landscape, and surface 
run-off on clay soils may be 
an issue.

Place names and water
Across the districts, water 
is present in place names, 
reflecting its importance in 
history. Places frequently 
mention sources and 
destinations of water, 
such as ‘Water End’, which 
includes a Conservation 
Area.

Grand Union Canal
Running NW-SE through 
Dacorum, the canal is a historic 
highway that is now a leisure 
attraction. Industrial buildings. 
Nash Mills canal system is a key 
historic feature. The Wendover 
and Aylesbury Canals also run 
through the area.

Hemel Hemel 
HempsteadHempstead St. AlbansSt. Albans

TringTring

BerkhamstedBerkhamsted

HarpendenHarpenden

P
age 94



15

3

2

1

Outputs

Wider Context

Site Context

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
oc

es
s 

 I 
O

bs
er

vi
ng

 P
la

ce
 I 

Ev
al

ua
tin

g 
Pl

ac
e 

I M
ak

in
g 

a 
Pl

ac
e

Observing: Water

Examples of What to Observe

• Rivers, streams, brooks
• Canal, channels and traditional field drainage pattersn 

such as ditches
• Seasonal nature / characteristics 
• Flood history
• Character of water edges (soft, engineered, 

accessible, wooded?)

Understand

• Water bodies and watercourses present
• Natural, engineered or man-made elements
• Purpose of engineered or man-made elements
• Recreational amenity value of water present
• Ecological value
• Drainage patterns 

Examples of What to Observe

• Source and destination of watercourses
• Presence or absence of water from the landscape
• Water in nearby habitats

Understand

• Water bodies and watercourses present
• Patterns of flooding
• Water catchments
• Seasonal nature of water 

Key Outputs

Context plan
Site plans of watershed boundaries, watercourses, 
water bodies and flood zones
Site photographs 

Supplementary Information

Contextual studies of the water bodies within and 
adjacent to a site or in the wider context.

P
age 95



16

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
oc

es
s 

 I 
O

bs
er

vi
ng

 P
la

ce
 I 

Ev
al

ua
tin

g 
Pl

ac
e 

I M
ak

in
g 

a 
Pl

ac
e

Context: Green Infrastructure and Landscape

Wooded Chalk Valleys
Steep sided, wooded valleys 
penetrating surrounding upland 
plateau, becoming shallower with 
seasonal watercourses in their 
upper parts. Larger valleys have 
permanent watercourses, often 
associated with river meadows.

Valley Meadowlands
Flat, low lying valley floors 
supporting a pastoral land 
use, associated with notable 
watercourses/rivers. Generally 
unsettled, with occasional areas of 
carr woodland and gravel extraction 
lakes, or ancient meres.

Lowland Village 
Farmlands
A well settled, low 
lying landscape. 
Intensive agriculture 
means this a busy, 
rural landscape.

Lowland Village Chalklands
Low lying, but gently rolling 
arable landscape, dissected by 
small streams, with a distinctive 
pattern of nucleated villages and 
a patchwork of woodlands and 
shelterbelts.

Chalk Hills and Scarps
Prominent chalk hills, incised by dry 
valleys to create a rounded rolling 
landform. Often well wooded with 
long distance views.

Lowland Settled 
Farmlands
A settled agricultural 
landscape, often with 
a recurring estate 
character, associated 
with fertile rolling 
lowlands.

Wooded Hills and 
Ridges
A varied and textured 
landscape characterised 
by undulating hills and 
steep ridges, cloaked in 
woodland with clearings.

Settled Chalk Valleys
Distinguished by soft, 
rounded and sometimes 
steep topography. There 
is a balance of woodland 
and farmland, with 
distinctive villages and 
associated parklands.

Wooded Plateau Farmlands
A settled, early enclosed 
landscape with frequent ancient 
woods, associated with a rolling 
or undulating glacial plateau, 
dissected by numerous shallow 
valleys.

The districts are characterised by a number of landscape types, with a broad change from north-west 
to south-east. River valleys cut through this landscape to create distinct character changes. Each 
landscape form has defining green infrastructure such as hedgerows, woodland and grasslands.

Additional Resources

Landscape Character Assessments

Guidance at different scales on key 
landscape characteristics are available.
National / East of England / Hertfordshire

1

www.naturalengland.org.uk

111: Northern Thames Basin
Supporting documents

National Character
Area profile:

Key facts
and data

AnalysisDescriptionIntroduction & Summary Opportunities Landscape
change

Hemel Hemel 
HempsteadHempstead

St. AlbansSt. Albans

TringTring

BerkhamstedBerkhamsted

HarpendenHarpenden

P
age 96



17

3

2

1

Outputs

Wider Context

Site Context

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
oc

es
s 

 I 
O

bs
er

vi
ng

 P
la

ce
 I 

Ev
al

ua
tin

g 
Pl

ac
e 

I M
ak

in
g 

a 
Pl

ac
e

Observing: Green Infrastructure and Landscape

Understand

• Type of green infrastructure and landscape present
• Distinctive characteristics
• Ecological value 
• Scale, age and quality of green infrastructure and 

landscape elements, relationship with topography 
• Designations, sensitivities and protection
• Amenity and recreation value

Examples of What to Observe

• Trees and hedgerows
• Ancient woodlands 
• Grasslands, especially species-rich grassland
• Seasonal variations and sensitivities
• Landscape use for human activities
• Local landscape policies and designations

Examples of What to Observe

• Hills and lowlands, scarps and valleys, 
meadowlands and farmlands 

• Trees referenced in local place names

Understand

• Broad green infrastructure network 
• Landscape character designations 
• Locally, regionally or nationally distinctive 

characteristics
• Scale, age and quality of green infrastructure and 

landscape elements
• Tree coverage

Supplementary Information

Contextual studies

Key Outputs

Context plan
Site plan showing existing landscape features
Site photographs 
Surveys

P
age 97



18

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
oc

es
s 

 I 
O

bs
er

vi
ng

 P
la

ce
 I 

Ev
al

ua
tin

g 
Pl

ac
e 

I M
ak

in
g 

a 
Pl

ac
e

Context: Ecology and Biodiversity

Tring
Reservoirs
Wetlands

Tring Park / High 
Scrubs
Mixed deciduous 
woodland and
Chalk grassland

River Chess Valley
Wetlands, 
Grasslands, 
Woodland and heath

Ashridge/Berkhamsted 
Common/Aldbury
Beech woodland, Heath, 
Chalk grassland

Upper Gade Valley
Wetlands, 
Grassland and 
Woodlands

Bricket Wood/Moor Mill
Wetlands, Woodlands and 
Heath

Upper 
Colne
Valley
Wetlands 
and Heath

Upper Lea Valley
Wetlands, Woodlands 
and Heath

River Ver/
Gorhambury
Wetlands and 
Woodlands

New places must conserve and protect, and where possible enhance, the natural 
environment. Observing the existing ecology and biodiversity of a place is essential to 
understand opportunities for enhancement of the nearby and wider natural ecosystem.

Species Action Plans

The Hertfordshire BAP sets out 5 Species Action Plans 
that guide work on protecting, restoring and re-creating a 
sustainable level of biodiversity in the county based around 
native species:

• Mammals: Water vole, common dormouse, Natterer’s 
bat and otter

• Birds: Tree Sparrow, Bittern, Stone-Curlew, Song 
Thrush, Black-Necked Grebe

• Amphibians: Great Crested Newt

Biodiversity Areas

A range of key biodiversity areas have been 
identified by the Hertfordshire Biodiversity 
Action Plan (BAP), comprising native 
habitats and their associated species.

• Invertebrates: The chalkhill blue, grizzled skipper and 
purple emperor butterflies, stag beetle and white-
clawed crayfish

• Flora: Great pignut, cornflower, river water-dropwort 
and the county flower, the pasque flower

Habitat Action Plans

There are 8 Habitat Action Plans in place in Hertfordshire:

• Woodland, including lowland mixed deciduous 
woodland, lowland wood pasture and parkland

• Wetlands, including wet woodland
• Heathland and acid grassland
• Neutral grassland
• Chalk grassland
• Farmland
• Orchards
• Urban

Additional Resources

Biodiversity Action Plans

The Hertfordshire Environmental Forum 
has prepared a 50-year Biodiversity 
Action Plan for the county. The Hertford-
shire BAP identifies 5 Species Action 
Plans and 8 Habitat Action Plans.

Hemel Hemel 
HempsteadHempstead St. AlbansSt. Albans

TringTring

HarpendenHarpenden

P
age 98



19

3

2

1

Outputs

Wider Context

Site Context

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
oc

es
s 

 I 
O

bs
er

vi
ng

 P
la

ce
 I 

Ev
al

ua
tin

g 
Pl

ac
e 

I M
ak

in
g 

a 
Pl

ac
e

Observing: Ecology and Biodiversity

Understand

• Conditions that underpin the distinctiveness of 
local flora and fauna

Examples of What to Observe

• Statutory ecology and biodiversity surveys
• Wildlife corridors
• Composition of habitats
• Endangered or protected species
• Key Biodiversity Areas

Examples of What to Observe

• Existence of wildlife corridors
• Existence and composition of habitats
• Local nature reserves

Understand

• Native species of flora and fauna 
• Wildlife in the wider context
• The wider needs for biodiversity enhancement
• Potential impact on nearby protected species
• Local Biodiversity Action Plans

Supplementary Information

Contextual studies

Key Outputs

Context plan
Site plan showing existing ecology and biodiversity
Ecological surveys

P
age 99



20

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
oc

es
s 

 I 
O

bs
er

vi
ng

 P
la

ce
 I 

Ev
al

ua
tin

g 
Pl

ac
e 

I M
ak

in
g 

a 
Pl

ac
e

Context: Historical Legacy
The historic legacy present in the landscape and built environment is most significantly 
expressed settlement patterns and historic buildings. The districts have rich histories of 
agriculture, historic parks and houses, and a pioneering New Town.

Other historical legacies that may be found on or near 
the site include:

• Hedgerows, trees and woodland
• Ridgeways and watersheds
• Historic and listed buildings
• Conservation areas
• Historic agriculture such as ridge and furrow
• Archaeological features
• Ancient tracks and historic way-markers
• Canal and industrial heritage

Field Patterns

Place Names

Historic Parks New Towns and Garden Cities

Other Legacies

The districts are home to distinctive and ancient 
co-axial field patterns.

Common place names in the districts are closely 
related to landscape, water and historic patterns 
of usage. 

Local historic park landscapes can inform future 
developments. Their design principles are successful 
examples of integrating landscape and built form.

Hertfordshire contains the two original Garden Cities, 
and three ‘mark 1’ New Towns. Set piece architectural 
design, integration of green spaces and distinct 
architecture create their unique characters.

Historical Maps

Historical mapping is available from 
commercial providers and for reference 
at Hertfordshire Archives and Local 
Studies.

^
^

^

^

^

Hemel
Hempstead Hatfield

Stevenage

Welwyn
Garden City

Letchworth
Garden City

Additional Resources

P
age 100



21

3

2

1

Outputs

Wider Context

Site Context

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
oc

es
s 

 I 
O

bs
er

vi
ng

 P
la

ce
 I 

Ev
al

ua
tin

g 
Pl

ac
e 

I M
ak

in
g 

a 
Pl

ac
e

Observing: Historical Legacy

Supplementary Information

Figure ground drawings based on historical maps
Field pattern drawings based on historical maps

Examples of What to Observe

• The chronology of historic uses
• The pattern of movement and development 
• The meaning of place names

Examples of What to Observe

• Locally distinctive building styles and materials
• Scale, age and quality of features
• Sensitive historical elements or those in need of 

protection or enhancement

Understand

• Activities and uses that have taken place on the site 
during different historical periods

• Manifestation in present-day features
• Topographical features and field patterns
• Agricultural legacy and field patterns
• Engineering of water bodies and courses

Understand

• Existence of human-influenced landscape and 
topographical features 

• Historical land uses and their impact on the local 
context today 

• Historical reasons for development of centres in 
the wider context

Key Outputs

Context plan 
Site plan including listed buildings, archaeological 
features, statutory designations, ancient tracks etc
Site photographs 
Contextual studies

P
age 101



22

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
oc

es
s 

 I 
O

bs
er

vi
ng

 P
la

ce
 I 

Ev
al

ua
tin

g 
Pl

ac
e 

I M
ak

in
g 

a 
Pl

ac
e

Context: Visual Exposure, Enclosure and Shelter
The districts have a variety of landscapes that feature changes in visual exposure, enclosure 
and shelter, contributing to their distinct characters. Exposure or enclosure can be found in 
both rural and urban areas.

Rural

En
cl

os
ur

e
Ex

po
su

re

Urban

Exposed chalkland plateau
High chalk grasslands with expansive views over 
valleys are a distinct feature of the landscape of 
the NW of the districts.

Views from High Streets
St Albans’ and Hemel Hempstead’s high 
streets incorporate frequent views out towards 
the surrounding landscape.

Valley side settlements
Settlements like Harpenden and Berkhamsted  
have extended from the valley floor up the 
slopes, but have retained visual connectivity to 
the valley and centre of the original town.

Enclosed valleys and vegetation
Several landscape character areas have intimate, 
enclosed characters to their rural areas with 
pockets of woodland and hedgerows.

Enclosed urban streets
The tight urban streets of places like 
Berkhamsted generate their distinctive 
character.

Nucleated or valley bottom settlements
Settlements in valley bottoms, or nucleated 
settlements are often enclosed in character.

P
age 102



23

3

2

1

Outputs

Wider Context

Site Context

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
oc

es
s 

 I 
O

bs
er

vi
ng

 P
la

ce
 I 

Ev
al

ua
tin

g 
Pl

ac
e 

I M
ak

in
g 

a 
Pl

ac
e

Observing: Visual Exposure, Enclosure and Shelter

Examples of What to Observe

• Key view corridors reinforced by topography
• Visual connections within settlements reinforced 

by topography

Examples of What to Observe

• Effects of topography and vegetation
• Public Rights of Way
• Visual connection into nearest settlement
• Visual connections towards other places
• Frequency of hedgerows creating pockets of 

enclosure

Understand

• Views into and out of the site, sensitivity of views, 
key receptors and the proximity of receptors 

• Locations and character of areas of enclosure and 
shelter

• Sources of enclosure and shelter

Understand

• The character of visual exposure, enclosure and 
shelter within the context

• Contributors to exposure, enclosure and shelter 
• Views between the site and the original town 

centre 

Supplementary Information

Contextual studies

Required Outputs

Context plan 
Site plan illustrating aspect, slope and direction of view
Site photographs 
Sections

P
age 103



24

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
oc

es
s 

 I 
O

bs
er

vi
ng

 P
la

ce
 I 

Ev
al

ua
tin

g 
Pl

ac
e 

I M
ak

in
g 

a 
Pl

ac
e

Context: Environmental Exposure, Enclosure and Shelter
The aspect and exposure of a site can have significant influence on character, quality of public realm and 
energy efficiency.  Location of noise and air pollution sources will also affect the nature of development.

Public activity spaces oriented towards sunlight
Public realm such as the marketplace in St Albans is 
oriented in a way that maximises solar gain into activity 
spaces. 

The aspect ratio and enclosure of the spaces protects 
against cold winds from the east and north-west.

Orientation of streets for solar gain
Orientation and change in aspect ratio of streets to 
maximise solar gain can be observed in Berkhamsted, on 
the north and south sides of the valley. 

The south-facing side of the valley is oriented to maximise 
south-facing aspect into houses, while the north-facing, 
shaded side of the valley orients streets to maximise 
dwelling exposure to the east-west axis.

Aspect Streets oriented 
for solar gain

Street trees providing shade
Deciduous street trees such as these in Berkhamsted will 
provide shade in the summer along pedestrian routes. 

P
age 104



25

3

2

1

Outputs

Wider Context

Site Context

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
oc

es
s 

 I 
O

bs
er

vi
ng

 P
la

ce
 I 

Ev
al

ua
tin

g 
Pl

ac
e 

I M
ak

in
g 

a 
Pl

ac
e

Observing: Environmental Exposure, Enclosure and Shelter

Examples of What to Observe

• Change in character of neighbourhoods related to 
orientation and access to sunlight

• Location and orientation of public spaces and 
activities on those public spaces

• Local Air Quality Management Areas

Examples of What to Observe

• Sun path
• Resilience challenges from changing weather 

patterns
• Opportunities for shade and shelter
• Site wide noise and air pollution levels

Understand

• Sources of shelter, enclosure or exposure
• Aspect and daylight 
• Prevailing wind
• Exposure to easterly and northerly winds 
• Flooding 
• Microclimate conditions 

Understand

• The character of environmental exposure, 
enclosure and shelter within the context

• Sources of exposure, enclosure and shelter 
• Solar orientation of streets and corresponding 

street widths
• Location of pollution and noise sources

Supplementary Information

Contextual studies

Key Outputs

Context plan 
Site plan showing orientation of slope, sun path, wind 
direction and other environmental features
Site photographs 
Sections

P
age 105



26

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
oc

es
s 

 I 
O

bs
er

vi
ng

 P
la

ce
 I 

Ev
al

ua
tin

g 
Pl

ac
e 

I M
ak

in
g 

a 
Pl

ac
e

Context: Connectivity

Many historic settlements contain fine-grain 
connectivity through alleys and paths to the 
surrounding landscape, referencing burgage plots.

Movement networks have created settlement 
structures, such as linear settlements along valleys or 
nucleated settlements on high ground.

Local routes for journeys to school, work and 
shopping exist throughout the districts. Public rights 
of way knit together rural areas and provide access to 
open space.

Key road and rail routes in the districts run in valleys 
to or from London. There is weaker connectivity 
between valleys, usually only by road. There are 
plans to enhance connectivity, such as the A414. 

Public Transport Pathways

Active TravelSettlement DevelopmentMajor Routes

Strong public transport links to London are a key 
feature and are part of the desirability of the districts. 
Connectivity to railheads is essential.

1

2

3
4

56

7 8

9 10

1

Connectivity and movement corridors have played a significant role in the location, form and scale of development within 
the study area. These include waterways, historic routes, paths, rail lines and roads. These have evolved over time to shape 
places. An in-depth analysis and appreciation of the connectivity of the site to the surrounding context and any emerging 
policies or strategies is required in order to ensure place is functional and to develop a site-specific narrative.

Additional Resources

Hemel HempsteadHemel Hempstead St AlbansSt Albans

Latest Local Transport Plan by Hertfordshire 
County Council (LTP4) and supporting 
strategies

P
age 106

https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/recycling-waste-and-environment/planning-in-hertfordshire/transport-planning/local-transport-plan.aspx


27

3

2

1

Outputs

Wider Context

Site Context

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
oc

es
s 

 I 
O

bs
er

vi
ng

 P
la

ce
 I 

Ev
al

ua
tin

g 
Pl

ac
e 

I M
ak

in
g 

a 
Pl

ac
e

Observing: Connectivity 

Examples of What to Observe

• Public Rights of Way, National Cycle Networks
• Road hierarchy
• Links to topography 
• Links to settlement patterns 
• Relationship to surrounding settlements
• Location of nearby facilities and amenities

Examples of What to Observe

• Formal and informal paths and patterns of use
• Walking and cycling
• Hierarchy of roads and streets 
• Relationship to surrounding settlements 
• Relationship to topography 

Understand

• Links and connections to wider pedestrian, cycle and 
public transport networks

• Vehicular networks 
• Present-day and historical routes and movement 

corridors adjacent to the site

Understand

• Pedestrian and cycle networks surrounding the site
• Vehicular networks surrounding the site
• Public transport networks
• Integration of travel modes
• Present-day and historical routes and movement 

corridors
• Routes and destinations of non-motorised users

Supplementary Information

Contextual studies
Walking times studies
Travel time studies

Key Outputs

Context plan showing strategic highways, local access, 
bus routes and local cycle network
Site plan showing existing footpaths, public rights of 
way, cycling routes and other site access
Site photographs 

P
age 107



28

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
oc

es
s 

 I 
O

bs
er

vi
ng

 P
la

ce
 I 

Ev
al

ua
tin

g 
Pl

ac
e 

I M
ak

in
g 

a 
Pl

ac
e

Context: Edges and Beyond

Railway line

Farmstead

Residential

Water course
 / body

Lane / minor 
road

New places should form a valuable new part of a wider town or settlement. Knitting the new 
place into the existing community requires observation of existing edges, nearby facilities, 
and opportunities for development to benefit the existing place and facilities.

Nearby Facilities

New development should provide good accessibility 
to existing, nearby facilities. Designers should 
observe nearby provision of commonly-used 
facilities and amenities such as:

• Schools
• Doctors and healthcare centres
• Dentists
• Shops
• Post offices
• Community facilities
• Play areas
• Open space
• Allotments
• Train stations

Amenity Capacity

A comprehensive observation and assessment of 
amenity provision and available capacity in the local 
context should be undertaken by designers to inform 
on-site provision and connections. 

Where existing facilities are overburdened, 
development of new or enhanced amenities offers 
the opportunity to improve provision for existing 
residents. Refer to policy on the expectations for the 
strategic sites and whether it is expected that the site 
provides for the additional demand, rather than using 
spare capacity elsewhere.

Edges

Hedgerows
and trees

Landscape Connectivity Built Form and Uses

Topography

Parks or 
open space

Street / Road

Motorway Local centre 

Industry

A typology of observed 
edges to major 
development sites in 
the districts is shown to 
the right.

Landscape edges 
offer the opportunity to 
enhance access to the 
districts’ high quality 
open spaces and green 
infrastructure for new 
and existing residents 
in the area. They can 
also provide biodiversity 
corridors or visual 
landscape buffers.

Transport 
Infrastructure 
edges are vital for 
the development of 
sustainable places, but 
can also bring noise and 
air pollution.

Built Form edges offer 
opportunities to knit 
the new place into the 
existing settlement to 
form a cohesive whole.

P
age 108



29

3

2

1

Outputs

Wider Context

Site Context

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
oc

es
s 

 I 
O

bs
er

vi
ng

 P
la

ce
 I 

Ev
al

ua
tin

g 
Pl

ac
e 

I M
ak

in
g 

a 
Pl

ac
e

Observing: Edges and Beyond

Understand

• The range of types of facilities and places 
• The nature of their distribution
• Catchment of facilities and places
• Available capacity and provision of nearby facilities
• Effect and influence of edges on the site

Understand

• Location of higher-order services in the area
• The range of types of facilities and places and 

opportunities for additional provision
• How developments have knitted into the existing 

context elsewhere
• Amenity provision and capacity

Examples of What to Observe

• Edges present on the site
• Existing facilities present on or adjacent to the site
• Routes to existing facilities

Examples of What to Observe

• Health and education
• Retail
• Community
• Public transport
• Sport, leisure and recreation
• Heritage and cultural elements 
• Open space

Supplementary Information

Contextual studies
Capacity studies
Sections or elevations
Supporting illustrations
Travel studies

Key Outputs

Context plan showing existing edges and nearby 
facilities
Site plan
Site photographs 

P
age 109



30

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
oc

es
s 

 I 
O

bs
er

vi
ng

 P
la

ce
 I 

Ev
al

ua
tin

g 
Pl

ac
e 

I M
ak

in
g 

a 
Pl

ac
e

Additional Resources

Context: Land Use

Woodland
The districts have significant amounts of tree cover 
and ancient woodland, providing habitat and leisure 
opportunities.  New woodland at Heartwood near St 
Albans is being planted. Understanding and retaining high 
quality mature woodland as part of a development could 
contribute to character and narrative.

Existing adjacent land uses of a site can inform the future development of a place. 
A variety of land uses are found near the existing settlements in the districts, to 
which the  design should respond - in terms of character, function and integration.

Agriculture
Much land in the districts is devoted to agriculture. A rich 
history of field patterns, farm buildings and landscape 
management is often present. Edges to sites defined by 
hedgerows or field boundaries can provide opportunities 
for views into the wider landscape or connections to public 
rights of way.

Industry and Infrastructure
Light industrial estates are often present at the edges 
of towns in the districts, providing employment but also 
generating visual, traffic and noise impacts, such as at the 
Buncefield oil depot on the edge of Hemel Hempstead. 
Other infrastructure such as major traffic arteries, gas 
mains and power cables can create land use restrictions.

Education and Sports Facilities
School sites and sports facilities often contribute to 
landscape edges or wider green space. Their buildings can 
be significant landmarks, and provide an existing focus point 
for a place.

National Grid Design Guidelines
Guidance on design near high voltage 
power lines

P
age 110



31

3

2

1

Outputs

Wider Context

Site Context

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
oc

es
s 

 I 
O

bs
er

vi
ng

 P
la

ce
 I 

Ev
al

ua
tin

g 
Pl

ac
e 

I M
ak

in
g 

a 
Pl

ac
e

Observing: Land Use

Understand

• How to engage with adjacent land uses
• Historical legacy of land uses to inform narratives
• Retention of some existing land uses

Understand

• Land uses that exist and their location
• Design of existing places reflecting historic or 

adjacent land uses
• Historic reasons for land uses

Examples of What to Observe

• Agriculture
• Woodland
• Sports facilities
• Education
• Industry
• Former industry or land uses
• Transport and other infrastructure

Examples of What to Observe

• Links to topography, water and landscape
• Historic industries, farming practices and other 

distinctive land use elements or distinctive land 
uses

• Employment sites in the wider context

Supplementary Information

Contextual studies

Key Outputs

Plan showing land uses of the site
Site photographs 
Surveys

P
age 111



32

Additional Resources

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
oc

es
s 

 I 
O

bs
er

vi
ng

 P
la

ce
 I 

Ev
al

ua
tin

g 
Pl

ac
e 

I M
ak

in
g 

a 
Pl

ac
e

Built Form and Patterns

Depending on the location and nature of the settlements, different 
built forms and patterns can be found. For example, all the historic 
towns have a fine grain formed from the historic long burgage plots 
running perpendicular to the main street, whereas in some of the valley 
settlements, long houses are arranged parallel to the primary route and 
river. Many of the historic farmsteads are set around courtyards. 

Layout and Density

Most towns created before c.1250 either occupied significant positions 
in the landscape such as strategic places along rivers or major route 
junctions or established as places of ancient importance, such as old 
estate centres of hundred meeting places. The relationship between 
the natural topography and a settlements’ layout and density is evident 
in historic figure grounds based on ordnance surveys.

Urban Grain 

Ridgetop villages, hillside villages, larger towns with a centre and a 
‘high street’, and valley settlements all have their different features 
and characteristics, as do the New Towns. The variety in morphology 
and grain characteristic of old settlements is often missing in new 
developments, which tend to be comparatively monotonous in 
appearance as a result.

Context: Urban Grain and Built Form
The narrative of a place can be developed from looking at the historic legacy of the built 
environment. The morphology and grain of the settlements varies depending on their 
location, the surrounding topography and landscape as well as their size and density.  

Historical Maps

Historical mapping is available from 
commercial providers and for reference 
at Hertfordshire Archives and Local 
Studies.

P
age 112



33

3

2

1

Outputs

Wider Context

Site Context

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
oc

es
s 

 I 
O

bs
er

vi
ng

 P
la

ce
 I 

Ev
al

ua
tin

g 
Pl

ac
e 

I M
ak

in
g 

a 
Pl

ac
e

Understand

• Historic plots and typologies
• Clustering and arrangement of these plots
• Influence of surrounding topography on layout and 

built form
• Type of topography and grain that can be found on 

pre-existing on the site

Observing: Urban Grain and Built Form

Understand

• Prevalent morphology and historic urban grain of 
the surrounding settlements

• Built form response to the topography
• Relationship of movement routes to grain
• Influence of surrounding topography on layout and 

density

Supplementary Information

Contextual studies and sketches

Key Outputs

Analysis of historic maps and documents
Studies of urban patterns such as figure grounds
Site photographs of the local historic settlements

Examples of What to Observe

• Spatial plot and building configurations
• Street, public realm and open space patterns
• Grain, shape and articulation of historic buildings
• Relationship between movement routes and 

contours

Examples of What to Observe

• Urban morphology in relation to topography, 
location and orientation

• Spatial plot and building configurations
• Street, public realm and open space patterns
• Grain, shape and articulation of historic buildings
• Relationship between movement routes and 

contours

P
age 113



34

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
oc

es
s 

 I 
O

bs
er

vi
ng

 P
la

ce
 I 

Ev
al

ua
tin

g 
Pl

ac
e 

I M
ak

in
g 

a 
Pl

ac
e

Context: Unique Features and Narratives
Many places are defined or remembered by their unique features. Local 
examples can be used as inspiration for the design.

Unique Architecture
Napsbury Park is a development based in a former hospital. 
The hospital buildings themselves were built in a former 
manor house park. The architecture of the buildings and 
structure of the grounds provided a basis for the design 
and distinctive nature of the development.

Unique Institutions
Many places in the districts contain unique institutions 
and historic uses that reflect the history of the area. The 
Harpenden Youth Mission at Highfield Oval is a distinct and 
characterful place.

Unique History
Modern heritage can also provide a unique narrative of 
place. Former airfields with industrial or wartime heritage 
have modified landforms. The legacy of the Garden Cities 
and New Towns of Hertfordshire is another distinct feature. 
The TCPA have created guidance to explain the garden 
city principles and how to apply them to contemporary 
development.

P
age 114



35

3

2

1

Outputs

Wider Context

Site Context

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
oc

es
s 

 I 
O

bs
er

vi
ng

 P
la

ce
 I 

Ev
al

ua
tin

g 
Pl

ac
e 

I M
ak

in
g 

a 
Pl

ac
e

Observing: Unique Features and Narratives

Understand

• Unique regional historical identity

Understand

• Local historical context

Examples of What to Observe

• First impressions and striking features of the site
• Potential of unique features to influence 

development layout and landscape design

Examples of What to Observe

• First impressions and striking features of the wider 
context and locality

• Potential for views of historic features
• In the case of New Towns, historic planning and 

design principles
• Importance and wider relevance of historical 

context

Supplementary Information

3D models
Contextual studies

Required Outputs

Plan showing the unique features of the site
Site photographs 

P
age 115



36

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
oc

es
s 

 I 
O

bs
er

vi
ng

 P
la

ce
 I 

Ev
al

ua
tin

g 
Pl

ac
e 

I M
ak

in
g 

a 
Pl

ac
e

Patterns and Details

Geometric patterns and well crafted details can be found on both 
the exterior and interior of buildings across the region. 
The influence of traditional crafts such as straw plaiting can be seen 
in intricate geometrical configurations and patterns. Chequerboard 
patterns using flints are occasionally seen and some geometric 
patterns in brickwork appear,  particularly in 19th century buildings.

Materials and Colour

Locally sourced bricks range in colour from warm orange/red to brown 
and purple, and are sometimes arranged in patterns using burnt 
headers. Other traditional materials include the local Puddingstone rock 
formed with rounded flint pebbles bound by a lighter sand coloured 
matrix.

Construction and Craftsmanship

Earlier buildings are constructed using timber framing generally 
with wattle and daub and, later, brick infill panels.  Clay peg tiles are 
used on steeply-pitched gabled roofs, slate appearing from the 
eighteenth century on shallower pitches. Other typical traditional 
features include chimneys, timber windows and in some cases 
dormers. 

Context: Local Vernacular Details and Materials

Additional Resources

Historic information in local libraries. 
including the Hertfordshire Archives and 
Local Studies Library and in the Chilterns 
Buildings Design Guide.

Photo: DBC

Photo: DBC

P
age 116



37

3

2

1

Outputs

Wider Context

Site Context

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
oc

es
s 

 I 
O

bs
er

vi
ng

 P
la

ce
 I 

Ev
al

ua
tin

g 
Pl

ac
e 

I M
ak

in
g 

a 
Pl

ac
e

Understand

• Traditional architectural features on or in close 
proximity of the site

• Typical details or patterns either as part of existing 
historic buildings or other pre-existing structures 
or elements

• The colour palette of the environment

Observing: Local Vernacular Details and Materials

Understand

• Local traditional architectural features 
• Local traditional materials used in the area and how 

they are shaped and applied
• Local traditional typical details and patterns
• The colour palette of the historic built environment

Supplementary Information

Contextual studies and sketches
Material samples
Historic information on local vernacular architecture

Required Outputs

Studies of local vernacular features
Photographs of typical materials, details and patterns

Examples of What to Observe

• Typical construction methods and craftsmanship
• Architectural elements and details within the 

historic built environment
• Materials and their use within the historic built 

environment
• Traditional colours and patterns within the wider 

context

Examples of What to Observe

• Typical construction methods and craftsmanship 
on or in close proximity of the site

• Architectural elements and details within the 
historic built environment

• Materials and their use
• Traditional colours and patterns 

P
age 117



38

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
oc

es
s 

 I 
O

bs
er

vi
ng

 P
la

ce
 I 

Ev
al

ua
tin

g 
Pl

ac
e 

I M
ak

in
g 

a 
Pl

ac
e

Identifying Patterns: Built Form in DBC and SADC 

The following pages draw out some spatial typologies 
observed in settlements in Dacorum and St Albans. 
These have been given historic place names based on 
their topographical context. 

The purpose is to demonstrate how patterns of built 
and natural form can be identified and understood as 
part of the observation stage of design. Designers 
are encouraged to use the approach presented here 
to identify sets of patterns and categorise them into 
spatial typologies themselves.

Guidance on using typologies to inform contemporary 
design is found in Making a Place.

Early settlements were established at significant positions 
in the landscape: on hill tops, along rivers or near major 
route junctions. Historic figure grounds of Hertfordshire 
show the relationship between the landscape and 
topography and the grain and orientation of built form.

Historic high streets are often set along contour lines and 
support a mix of uses and higher density developments. 
Perpendicular routes, typically secondary streets and 
mews, lead to lanes of lower density terraces. The grain 
and character of the high streets is often based on the 
historic burgage plots that have governed development 
over time. 

Settlements on ridge lines are set around greens or 
commons. Buildings found on high ground are arranged 
around courtyards to provide a sheltered environment, 
(often farmyard settlements) set in the landscape. Sloping 
sites typically have a built form that follows the contours 
with linear housing typologies.

Concept cartoon of patterns of landscape conditions and local place names in west Hertfordshire © Proctor & Matthews Architects

mead:
A Meadow, a piece 
of low ground near 
a river

Valley 
Floor

Slopes

High 
Ground

bourne / end:
On a river or stream 
or watercourse

stead / sted:
A ‘place’

hoe:
The slope of a hill

green:
Small, nucleated 
village clustered 
around commons

worth:
Enclosed farmstead

ham:
A sense of 
enclosure, a place 
fenced in

High 
Street

P
age 118



39

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
oc

es
s 

 I 
O

bs
er

vi
ng

 P
la

ce
 I 

Ev
al

ua
tin

g 
Pl

ac
e 

I M
ak

in
g 

a 
Pl

ac
e

Spatial Typologies: Relating to Historic Place Names and Topography

Concept cartoon of spatial typologies relating to place names © Proctor & Matthews Architects

bourne / end
typically long houses 
situated along 
the contours with 
extended views across 
marshland landscape 

stead / sted
higher density place with a 
market street, which runs 
parallel to the contours

hoe
typically a series 
of long houses 
running parallel to 
the slope

green 
lower density, larger scale 
buildings with aspect over the 
shared common space

ham
orthogonal homestead courtyard 
(or a ‘set piece’ of architecture) to 
one side of the green to create 
shelter on the high ground

P
age 119



40

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
oc

es
s 

 I 
O

bs
er

vi
ng

 P
la

ce
 I 

Ev
al

ua
tin

g 
Pl

ac
e 

I M
ak

in
g 

a 
Pl

ac
e

Spatial Typologies: Historic Examples 

Example - Little Gaddesden (Dacorum)

High GroundHistoric Examples Slopes 

Example - Wheathampstead (St Albans)Little Gaddesden, north of Berkhamsted
The village is characterised by its large, linear green at the 
centre that runs along the ridgeway at the top of the valley. 
The primary route aligns with the green, forming the principle 
frontage, and the built form sits to one side, overlooking the 
valley to the south. The built form consists of a number of 
large scale buildings and farmsteads set back from the green 
and surrounding shared surface courtyards.

Wheathampstead, north of St Albans
The main high street follows the topography up the hill, 
perpendicular to the valley below. Secondary routes run 
perpendicular to the main street and access the long linear 
buildings that sit within the burgage plots on the eastern 
side. Towards the high point of the village sits Town Farm 
which is arranged around a courtyard.

Hemel Hempstead old town
The historic high street lies part way down the valley. 
Routes to alleyways follow the grain of the co-axial field 
patterns and provide access to the burgage plots, which 
are perpendicular to the high street.

Church End, north-east of St Albans
Church End is a small village that sits at the valley floor just 
south-west of Redbourn. It features a series of long houses 
that run parallel to the contours. These long houses have 
smaller outbuildings at the back of their plots that run 
perpendicular to the main buildings. The long houses form 
the edge to the wetland meadow landscape beyond.

On looking in more detail at existing villages, the relationship between the natural topography - of the high-ground, the slopes and the valley 
floor - and the layout and density of settlements becomes apparent. 

Nettleden Road

Church
Road

Nettleden Road

Hud
na

ll L
an

e

Nettleden
Road

Nettleden
Road

Nettleden
Road

Golden Valley

0 20 40 60 80 100 120 140 160 180 200 m
Feb 19, 2019 14:53

University of Sheffield

Projection: British National Grid

Scale 1:2500

© Getmapping Plc Contains OS data © Crown copyright and database rights 2019

P
age 120



41

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
oc

es
s 

 I 
O

bs
er

vi
ng

 P
la

ce
 I 

Ev
al

ua
tin

g 
Pl

ac
e 

I M
ak

in
g 

a 
Pl

ac
e

Spatial Typologies: Historic Examples

High Street Valley Floor 

Example - Hemel Hempstead (Dacorum) Example - Church End (St Albans)

Additional Resources

Historic information in local libraries. 
including the Hertfordshire Archives and 
Local Studies, St. Albans.

Historic Maps

Historical mapping is available from 
commercial providers.

0 50 100 150 200 250 300 350 400 450 500 m
Sep 11, 2019 14:39M

a
yflo

w
er

A
v

enue

Commons La
ne

Bencr of
t R

oa
d W
in

dm
ill

Road

em
m

aes
M

ead
o

w

Combe Street

Lockers Pa rk Lane

G
reat Heart

N
ep

tu
ne

D
ri

ve

Grover Close

La
yh

ill

Allandale

M
arlow

e s

C
e m

m
a

es
C

ou
rt

R
oad

B
ur

y
R

o
ad

Ga

debridge Lane

Bet jeman W
ay

P
iccotts

End
Road

Piccotts End
RoadGadebridge Lane

Manscroft Road

Bury Hill

Gadebridge Road

Gadebridge
Road

Mer
cers

Baylie
Lane

St Paul's
Road

Slippers Hill

A
lexan

d
ra

R
oad

H
igh

Str ee t

M
arlow

es

W
ood

V
iew

Warners End Road

W
a ter h

ou
s e

S
tr eet

Dacorum Way

G
lendale

Melsted Road

Lo
ck

er
s P

ar
k

La
ne

C
o

llett
R

o
ad

Adeyfield Road

Adeyfield Road

Eastb ro
ok

W
ay

W
in

dm
ill

Roa
d

Conc
or

d
e

D
ri

ve

M
ayflow

er
A

v en
u

e

C
rescen

tR
o

ad

Dacorum Way

S
un

nyh
ill R

oad

Pinewood
G

arden

s

Austins Place

Fle
tch

er Way

Woo d View

A
lexan

d
ra

R
o

ad

George Street

St Mary's RoadHerbert Street

C
hurch

Street

A
llan

d
ale

Alla
ndal

e

Pas ton Road

C
at

ts
de

ll

Fletcher Way

C
at

ts
d

el
l

Th
um

pe
rs

Woodhall Lane

Pluto Rise

Dow
ns

id
e

St
Pa

ul
's

Ro
ad

B
ohemia

St Paul 's Road

Low
er

Adeyfield
Road

Broad Street

T ow
ns

en
d

Chapel Street

Berefeld

Thrift field

Smith
fie

ld

P
as

ton Road

Christchurch Road

Fi
g

tr
ee

H
il

l
Gadebridge Lane

Gadebridge Lane Fletcher
W

a y

Projection: British National Grid

Scale 1:5000

© Getmapping Plc Contains OS data © Crown copyright and database rights 2019

P
age 121



42

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
oc

es
s 

 I 
O

bs
er

vi
ng

 P
la

ce
 I 

Ev
al

ua
tin

g 
Pl

ac
e 

I M
ak

in
g 

a 
Pl

ac
e

Spatial Typologies: Features and Characteristics

Example - Leverstock Green

...ham typology (located on the high ground)
…ham: a sense of enclosure, a place fenced in
...worth: enclosed homestead or farm

...green typology (located on the high ground)

...green: small, nucleated villages clustered around 

village commons

...hoe typology (located on slopes)
…how: a slope of a hill

• orthogonal farmstead clusters
• farmstead clusters are built around courtyards that 

are either fully enclosed or open on one side to the 
surrounding landscape

• creates a sheltered form 
• buidlings arranged around shared access courts
• relatively low building heights and density

• long linear houses run parallel to the topography
• permeable routes perpendicular to the contours
• secondary access streets configured along contours 

support the building frontages
• relatively low density allow landscape elements and 

trees to feature between the buildings
• a strong sense of the surrounding landscape and 

topography within the settlement
• buildings and open spaces at the edge of the 

settlement enjoy long views across the landscape and 
into the valley 

• long linear green aligns with the contours
• primary route to one side of the green
• perpendicular secondary routes cut through the 

green, perpendicular to the contours
• main buildings with aspect over the green
• loose grain of buildings and clusters
• farmstead arrangements often found towards the edge 

- see ‘the ham / worth’

Each typology is defined by features including topography, green space, access routes, grain, form and density.

Drawings on pages 42-43 © Proctor & Matthews Architects

P
age 122



43

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
oc

es
s 

 I 
O

bs
er

vi
ng

 P
la

ce
 I 

Ev
al

ua
tin

g 
Pl

ac
e 

I M
ak

in
g 

a 
Pl

ac
e

Spatial Typologies: Features and Characteristics

Supplementary Information

Supporting sketches and diagrams
3d illustrations

Key Outputs

Historic and spatial evaluation of the surrounding 
context to identify relevant spatial typologies
Historic and spatial evaluation of site to identify which 
typologies suit the site

...stead typology (located on the slopes)

...stead: a place

..bourne/ end typology (located in a valley)
…bourne: on a river or stream or watercourse
...end: of the watercourse
...den: in a valley

• fine grain and higher density
• wide market high street perpendicular to contours
• tree lined market street and continuous frontage
• burgage plots found on both sides of the market street 
• marker buildings sit within the high street at widest 

point
• perpendicular secondary routes join the the high 

street via alleyways 
• parking courts behind main routes
• typologies are flexible and can accommodate 

residential, commercial and retail uses

• long linear houses are arranged along the contours 
and run parallel to the main street 

• buildings arranged around green spaces
• primary route to one side of the typology
• majority of buildings along primary route have an 

aspect towards the landscape beyond
• a strong sense of the surrounding landscape and 

topography within the settlement
• height and density of the built form is relatively low but 

but may increase with proximity to the main street

P
age 123



44

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
oc

es
s 

 I 
O

bs
er

vi
ng

 P
la

ce
 I 

Ev
al

ua
tin

g 
Pl

ac
e 

I M
ak

in
g 

a 
Pl

ac
e

Observing Place: Example

Rail
Line

Canterbury Cathedral
@ 72m High A2Site Coverage

Vertical Scale Exaggeration x4
0m

68m

8m

62m

C L L 001  |   LV I A ,  M O U N T F I E L D  PA R K ,  C A N T E R B U R Y,  K E N T
F O R  C O R I N T H I A N  L A N D  LT D.  S TAT U S :  P L A N N I N g

D E C E M B E R  2014

  LOCATION 7-B FIELD BELOW NEAL’S PLACE |    9

9. LOCATION 7-B FIELD BELOW NEAL’S PLACE

PHOTO 1 - Existing View (SINGLE FRAME 50mm)

View from Public Footpath - Field below Neal’s Place Road

0°
6.

75
°

6.
75

°
13

.5
°

13
.5

°

Image Viewing Distance: 400mm

Production size:   Standard A3 Landscape

Horizontal Field of View:  43.5 degrees

PHOTO DATA:

Location: 613191 , 158761

Date: 01/10/2014   

Time: 16.31am 

Elevation: 54m   

Camera Height: 1.65m  

Viewing Direction: 121°  

Focal length:50mm 

Distance to centre of Site: 4485m

10.87° 21.75°0°10.87°21.75°

Mountfield Park, to the south-east of Canterbury in Kent, is a 4,000 home strategic development that is on the periphery of the 
existing cathedral city, and has a strong narrative of place. This section illustrates some of the materials produced during the 
Observing Place stage of the design process.

Topography
Contour maps are supplemented with sections and photos 
that illustrate the visual relationship of the site with the city 
centre and notable landmarks. 

Contextual Studies
A study of the urban grain and structure of nearby 
settlements is illustrated using figure grounds, sections and 
block structure plans.

Visual Exposure
Studies provide an understanding of the site’s visibility 
from key external viewpoints, supplemented by photos 
from the site which illustrate visual connectivity to the city. 
Site photos are taken in a variety of seasons and weather 
conditions conditions.

19 - 24.5m Building to Building

2.5-4m variable 
Footpath/ Drive

2.5-6.5m Verge 9m Carriageway with Parking 3.5m Verge with 
Street Lights

1.5m 
Footpath

High Street

Landscape Influences: Long views and topography

P
age 124



45

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
oc

es
s 

 I 
O

bs
er

vi
ng

 P
la

ce
 I 

Ev
al

ua
tin

g 
Pl

ac
e 

I M
ak

in
g 

a 
Pl

ac
e

Water
Analysis of water flow and catchments build a picture of 
drainage and the impact of water within the site.

Connectivity and Places to Connect To
Existing facilities and their catchment areas are mapped 
to understand the potential for active travel links 
and connectivity to the existing settlement. This is 
supplemented by a movement study of public transport 
and existing active travel routes.

Historic Legacy and Unique Features
Aerial photos of gridded agricultural landscape forms 
are observed in the wider context. An iconic view of 
Canterbury Cathedral is noted as a key feature of the 
site, while a woodcut showing a shared meal from William 
Caxton’s second edition of Chaucer’s Canterbury Tales, 
further informs the narrative.

12

Old Wives Lees - Kent Selling - Kent

Precedent Study

Gridded Landscapes - Orchards / Hops

Corinthian Land | Phase 1A • Mountfield Park |February 2016

5

1

2 3

4

5

6

7

8

9

14

13

17

16

11

10

12

21

18

19

15

20

22

01  Canterbury East Railway Station

02  Dane John Gardens

03  Riding Gate

04  St George Gate (Newing Gate)

05  Canterbury Cathedral *

06  St Augustine’s Abbey

07  Canterbury Christ Church University

08  Canterbury Christ Church University

09  University for Creative Arts UCA

10  Kent and Canterbury Hospital

11  Cricket Field

12  Simon Langton Grammar School for Girls

13  Pilgrims Way Primary School

14  Chaucer Technology School

15  Saint Anselm’s Catholic School

16  The Old Gate Inn *

17  Little Barton Farm *

18  Barton Business Park

19  Little Barton House *

20  Orchard

21  Orchard

22 Orchard

Significant “Enclosures” / “Institutions” With Defined Boundaries / Edges

Corinthian Land | Phase 1A • Mountfield Park |February 2016

P
age 125



46

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
oc

es
s 

 I 
O

bs
er

vi
ng

 P
la

ce
 I 

Ev
al

ua
tin

g 
Pl

ac
e 

I M
ak

in
g 

a 
Pl

ac
e

The first phase of 140 homes will set a benchmark for a further 4,000 new homes by establishing a 
contemporary identity that encapsulates the essence of Canterbury. The formal composition of homes, 
apartment blocks and open spaces is driven by the site’s iconic view of Canterbury Cathedral. 

Identifying the view to the Cathedral
Design Concept - Residential Cluster & Orchard Shelter Belts

• Community Clusters

• “Courtyard Dwellings”

• “Edge” & “Central Orchards”

• Phased Neighbourhood Clusters   

With Strong Identity

• Perimeter Village Garden Wall

Field Patterns and hop fields in Kent

05

06

07

08 02

03

04

Views to Canterbury cathedral from surrounding 
areas

Observing Place: Example

© Proctor & Matthews Architects

P
age 126



47

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
oc

es
s 

 I 
O

bs
er

vi
ng

 P
la

ce
 I 

Ev
al

ua
tin

g 
Pl

ac
e 

I M
ak

in
g 

a 
Pl

ac
e

Observing Place: Checklist

Supplementary Information

Topography and Geology

Water

Green Infrastructure and Landscape

Ecology and Biodiversity

Historical Legacy

Visual Exposure, Enclosure and Shelter

Environmental Exposure, Enclosure and Shelter

Connectivity

Edges and Beyond

Land Use

Urban Grain and Built Form

Unique Features and Narratives

Local Vernacular Details and Materials.

Key Outputs

3D
 m

od
el

s

Co
nt

ex
tu

al
 s

tu
di

es

Su
pp

or
tin

g 
ill

us
tr

at
io

ns
 

Re
so

ur
ce

 li
br

ar
y

Se
ct

io
ns

 / 
el

ev
at

io
ns

Tr
av

el
 s

tu
di

es

Ca
pa

ci
ty

 s
tu

di
es

M
at

er
ia

l s
tu

di
es

Co
nt

ex
t p

la
ns

Si
te

 p
la

ns
 

Si
te

 p
ho

to
gr

ap
hs

 

Se
ct

io
ns

Co
nt

ex
tu

al
 s

tu
di

es

Su
rv

ey
s

Applicants are encouraged to illustrate their site 
observations imaginatively, making best use of media 
to suit the information gathered. This checklist should 
be considered a starting point and Key Outputs are 
prescriptive.

P
age 127



The Grand Union Canal runs through Dacorum Borough 
and has a distinct character and history. A feature like a 
canal can be a strong, defining feature of the narrative 
of a new place, and create a focal point for design

Evaluating Place

P
age 128



49

 D
es

ig
n 

Pr
oc

es
s 

I  
O

bs
er

vi
ng

 P
la

ce
  I

  E
va

lu
at

in
g 

Pl
ac

e 
 I 

M
ak

in
g 

a 
Pl

ac
e

Introduction to Evaluating Place

Strengths and Opportunities

Evaluating the observed characteristics and features 
in order to identify a site’s primary strengths, 
opportunities and structuring elements. 

Illustration

Bringing together the understanding of the site in 
an illustrative plan and supporting materials.

In bringing together the observations, a detailed understanding of the strengths and 
opportunities of a place can be formed.

Too often the process of design for large development sites 
focuses on constraints, limitations and numerical metrics. The 
Evaluating Place process aims to help designers understand 
and build on the strengths and opportunities identified 
in the Observation stage, and focus their design efforts 
on enhancing these key assets. These assets, physical or 
otherwise, form the basis of the emerging narrative of the 
place.

This section outlines a simple process for evaluating strengths 
and opportunities that should underlie design decisions. This 
understanding should be demonstrated through a range of 
materials which will inform discussions with the LPA. Place-
specific visions and strategies will assist in the identification of 
key features, and should form a basis for the narrative of the 
place. Design Principles

The Design Principles for creating high quality new 
places should underlie decisions and identification of 
site assets and strengths.

P
age 129



50

 D
es

ig
n 

Pr
oc

es
s 

I  
O

bs
er

vi
ng

 P
la

ce
  I

  E
va

lu
at

in
g 

Pl
ac

e 
 I 

M
ak

in
g 

a 
Pl

ac
e

Identifying Strengths and Opportunities
Design teams must evaluate the features identified during the observation stage 
to identify a site’s primary strengths and opportunities. 

Applying a series of questions to the layers of information 
observed can help in evaluation. The box below provides 
some suggested questions which may form a starting 
point. 

Answers to the questions rely on subjective assessment, 
and do not pre-determine design responses. Rather, they 
set a potential framework for onward design proposals to 
respond to. 

Overlay Layers of 
Observation

Combine and FilterOutputs from
Observing Place

Identify Strengths, 
Opportunities and 
Structuring Elements

Consider

• Are features of good physical quality? 
• Do elements have cultural or social significance?
• Are elements of high ecological value?
• Are elements permanent or ephemeral? 
• Are elements of old age or heritage value? 
• Are elements significant or distinctive, locally or 

wider?
• Are elements scarce, rare or endangered?
• Do elements pose a risk or hazard?

P
age 130



51

 D
es

ig
n 

Pr
oc

es
s 

I  
O

bs
er

vi
ng

 P
la

ce
  I

  E
va

lu
at

in
g 

Pl
ac

e 
 I 

M
ak

in
g 

a 
Pl

ac
e

Illustrating Strengths, Opportunities and Structuring Elements

The example to the right is taken from Mountfield 
Park, Canterbury, a 4,000 home development that was 
introduced in the Observing chapter. 

The plan shows the strengths, opportunities and 
structuring elements which were identified through 
Observing Place and evaluated to be of greatest potential 
to the site.

P
age 131



52

 D
es

ig
n 

Pr
oc

es
s 

I  
O

bs
er

vi
ng

 P
la

ce
  I

  E
va

lu
at

in
g 

Pl
ac

e 
 I 

M
ak

in
g 

a 
Pl

ac
e The example below is taken from Silver End, Essex, a 

350-home development introduced in the Observing 
chapter.

Illustrating Strengths, Opportunities and Structuring Elements
Design teams must evaluate the features identified during the observation stage 
to identify a site’s primary strengths and opportunities. 

Supplementary Information

Supporting illustrations 
Tables of opportunities and constraints

Key Outputs

Strengths, Opportunities and Structuring Elements Plan
Supporting photographs and illustrations 
Written explanations and statements  

P
age 132



53

 D
es

ig
n 

Pr
oc

es
s 

I  
O

bs
er

vi
ng

 P
la

ce
  I

  E
va

lu
at

in
g 

Pl
ac

e 
 I 

M
ak

in
g 

a 
Pl

ac
e

Evaluating Place: Checklist

This check-list should be considered a starting point, and 
may vary according to the nature of the site and proposed 
development

Topography and Geology

Water

Green Infrastructure and  Natural Habitats

Ecology and  Biodiversity

Historical Legacy

Visual Exposure, Enclosure and Shelter

Environmental Exposure, Enclosure and Shelter

Connectivity

Edges and Beyond

Land Use

Urban Grain and Built Form

Unique Features and Narratives

Local Vernacular

Analysis

A
re

 e
le

m
en

ts
 o

f g
oo

d 
ph

ys
ic

al
 

qu
al

ity
? 

D
o 

el
em

en
ts

 h
av

e 
cu

ltu
ra

l o
r 

so
ci

al
 s

ig
ni

fic
an

ce
?

A
re

 e
le

m
en

ts
 o

f h
ig

h 
ec

ol
og

ic
al

 v
al

ue
?

A
re

 e
le

m
en

ts
 p

er
m

an
en

t o
r 

ep
he

m
er

al
? 

A
re

 e
le

m
en

ts
 o

f o
ld

 a
ge

 o
r 

ha
ve

 h
er

ita
ge

 v
al

ue
? 

A
re

 e
le

m
en

ts
 lo

ca
lly

, r
eg

io
na

lly
 

or
 n

at
io

na
lly

 s
ig

ni
fic

an
t a

nd
 

di
st

in
ct

iv
e?

A
re

 e
le

m
en

ts
 s

ca
rc

e,
 ra

re
 o

r 
en

da
ng

er
ed

?

D
o 

el
em

en
ts

 p
os

e 
a 

ris
k 

or
 

ha
za

rd
?

P
age 133



Highfield Oval on the northern edge of Harpenden has a 
clear sense of identity, place and character.

Making a Place: Frameworks

P
age 134



55

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
oc

es
s 

I  
O

bs
er

vi
ng

 P
la

ce
  I

  E
va

lu
at

in
g 

Pl
ac

e 
 I 

 M
ak

in
g 

a 
Pl

ac
e

Introduction to Making a Place: Frameworks

Ingredients of Community and Spatial 
Requirements

What a new community and place need to be 
successful, and how much space will it use.

The Vision

A concept to underpin the evolution of the 
masterplan, rooted in a site-specific narrative.

Frameworks

Land use, landscape, movement and urban design 
frameworks provide structure for the vision and create 
a neighbourhood structure as the building blocks of 
the new place.

Illustrative Masterplan

Consolidation of the frameworks to realise the vision.

This chapter builds on the understanding of place, emerging narrative and structuring elements identified in the previous 
chapters, and introduces key community and spatial requirements from larger scale new developments. These contribute 
towards a vision, frameworks and neighbourhoods, which make up an illustrative masterplan. 

P
age 135



56

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
oc

es
s 

I  
O

bs
er

vi
ng

 P
la

ce
  I

  E
va

lu
at

in
g 

Pl
ac

e 
 I 

 M
ak

in
g 

a 
Pl

ac
e

The Ingredients of Community

Applicants and their design teams should, as a minimum:

• Review open space standards (or in their absence 
refer to Fields in Trust as a starting point for 
discussions with the LPA).

• Liaise effectively with the Lead Local Flood Authority and 
Thames Water to begin to shape a strategy for surface 
water drainage.

• Enter into early dialogue with the Local Education 
Authority to confirm the scale of provision required for 
early-years, primary and secondary education, and in 
what form.

• Assess the scale of local retail, leisure and hospitality 
required and establish whether the scale of new 
development will trigger a retail impact.

• Understand what is needed to support specific 
community needs for example, community halls, 
indoor sports provision, library services and adult 
learning.

• Confirm the level of provision needed for health care.
• Agree the type and amount of employment to be 

provided.

The Local Planning Authorities will particularly encourage 
applications from teams who:

• Explore the provision of amenities, facilities and 
design interventions which go above and beyond 
requirements, to make a new place unique and a 
positive addition to its locality.

• Demonstrate a clear narrative of place that informs 
designs at all scales throughout the process.

• Integrate the new place successfully into nearby 
existing places, bringing benefits and improvements to 
the established community in areas such as amenities, 
service provision, and access to open space.

• Incorporate all of the placemaking and design 
principles (refer to the Design Principles section) into 
their designs, addressing the broader development 
challenges set out at the start of this document.

Design teams and applicants should start by considering in 
detail how to build a successful and integrated community.

It is important at the outset to understand what the site will 
need to accommodate in order to meet the needs of the 
new and established communities. The Local Plan policy 
for each site should provide a starting point.

The capacity of the site to accommodate a wide range of 
uses needs to be tested and retested as the masterplan 
progresses. 

Strategic sites should not be designed as ‘anywhere’ housing estates, but as places 
which enable a community to exist, grow and evolve.  The spatial requirements of a 
community must form a foundational element of design frameworks.

P
age 136



57

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
oc

es
s 

I  
O

bs
er

vi
ng

 P
la

ce
  I

  E
va

lu
at

in
g 

Pl
ac

e 
 I 

 M
ak

in
g 

a 
Pl

ac
e

Spatial Requirements 

Space Provision

Estimating and understanding the capacity for development is a crucial first step for strategic 
sites. The Local Authority will consider the balance between facilities, open space and 
residential development. Understanding the scale of the spatial requirements of a new place 
will help create a neighbourhood structure and define appropriate design responses.

The diagram below shows the indicative space requirements for a 1,000 home development, with an approximate population 
of 2,400 people at an indicative household size of 2.4 people per dwelling. The household size figure, and current space and 
facility provision standards, should always be sought from the relevant local authority.

Open space should include a variety of 
uses:
• Amenity recreation space
• Play space
• Formal parks, gardens and allotments
• SuDS and drainage
• Biodiversity and wildlife areas
• Sports pitches
• Landscape buffers

Consider

Other potential uses that may be required on site 
and which could have an impact on development 
capacity, are:

• Elderly care home provision
• Custom / self-build plot provision
• Healthcare hubs and health centres
• Employment areas
• Indoor leisure facilities
• Community space

Requirements should be determined through 
consultation with the relevant local planning 
authority and and through market needs 
assessments, where relevant.

1000 dwellings @ 100 

25ha

10ha 12.84ha

15%

Grey infrastructure
which includes roads, 
channels and pipes.

Fields in Trust 
recommended
5.35ha per 1000 popn.

1000 dwellings @ 40dph

P
age 137



58

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
oc

es
s 

I  
O

bs
er

vi
ng

 P
la

ce
  I

  E
va

lu
at

in
g 

Pl
ac

e 
 I 

 M
ak

in
g 

a 
Pl

ac
e

The Vision
The Vision should be produced to establish important ideas and structural elements which will 
underpin the evolution of the masterplan framework, all grounded in a site-specific narrative.

Drawing on what has been learnt at the Observe and 
Evaluate stages, the Vision should provide the first 
ambitious narrative about the future place, referencing 
character, responses to the landscape, integration with the 
surrounding built and natural environment, neighbourhood 
structure, how the growth of community will be supported 
and what might be distinctive. 

The purpose of the vision is to set an agenda and foster 
understanding about the direction of travel for future 
masterplanning. Some of the details will change and evolve 
but the broad narrative should be retained throughout.

If there already is an overarching vision for a place that has 
been produced by the Authority, the purpose of the site vision 
is to show how the site contributes to and builds upon this.

The materials illustrating the Vision should show how 
the approach responds to the key site opportunities 
supporting the ambition. It should include an indication 
of neighbourhood structure, focal points, initial landscape 
arrangement, location of key land uses, access, principal routes 
and connections to the surrounding area. These go on to 
inform the development of the supporting frameworks.

Illustrating the Vision

Clear illustration of the emerging vision and narrative is an 
effective communication tool for defining the nature of the 
new place, and demonstrating how the observations have 

contributed to the design. Applicants should make use of 
a variety of media to demonstrate a strong vision which will 
guide and define the rest of the process.

Mountfield Park, Cantebury - David Lock Associates

P
age 138



59

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
oc

es
s 

I  
O

bs
er

vi
ng

 P
la

ce
  I

  E
va

lu
at

in
g 

Pl
ac

e 
 I 

 M
ak

in
g 

a 
Pl

ac
e

Relating the Vision to the Frameworks

Land Use

Arrangement of land uses
• Provision based on spatial requirements
• Relationship to land uses outside the site 

boundary
• Relationship to movement network

Identification of key sites
• Education
• Healthcare
• Community facilities
• Local centres and high streets
• All responsive to active travel catchments
• All positively integrated into neighbourhoods
• Consider integration of uses / co-location

Movement

Connections to existing movement network
• Informed by technical traffic assessment 
• Identification of new infrastructure 
• Walking, cycling and public transport routes

Circulation networks
• Primary routes of circulation
• A hierarchy of routes 
• Prioritise active modes of travel and public 

transport

Landscape

Open space structure
• Identification of key typologies
• Relationship to landscape and to open space 

provision

Green and blue infrastructure
• Connections to wider green and blue 

infrastructure corridors 
• Biodiversity and ecological protection
• Integrate drainage patterns and SUDS
• Informed by technical hydrological assessments 

of water movement, capacity and flooding
• Integration into open space provision

Urban Design

Neighbourhood structure
• Identification of boundaries, centres and main 

streets, defining features and character within 
the site

• Relationship to key uses
• Connections between neighbourhoods

Intensity, grain and frontages
• Variation to provide interest and respond to 

movement networks, land uses and open space
• Defining frontages and legible landmarks

The categories to the right outline what designers should 
consider when putting together the initial vision, and how it 
is elaborated in the frameworks. Each category relates to a 
framework, on which more guidance is provided in subsequent 
sections.

Each framework is closely related and should respond to the 
others, creating an iterative design process.

Supplementary Information

Supporting illustrations and videos
Photographs
3D Model and bird’s eye views

Key Outputs

Vision plan
Sections
Written narrative

P
age 139



60

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
oc

es
s 

I  
O

bs
er

vi
ng

 P
la

ce
  I

  E
va

lu
at

in
g 

Pl
ac

e 
 I 

 M
ak

in
g 

a 
Pl

ac
e

Land Use Framework

Home

Pl
ay

 A
re

as

Community Bldg

Prim
ary School

Local ShopsHealth Centre

Nursery

Gym

Start-
up Space

Delivery Point

Cafe

Pu
bl

ic
 Tr

an
sp

or
t S

to
ps

Public Square

Secondary SchoolEmployment

Gr
ee

n 
Sp

ac
e

Pu
bl

ic
 Tr

an
sp

or
t S

to
ps

Ra
il S

ta
tio

n
Gr

ee
n 

Sp
ac

e

Gr
ee

n 
Sp

ac
e

Furth
er E

ducatio
n

Employment

Hospital

Leisure

Sports Facilitie
s

Pl
ay

 A
re

as

Pl
ay

 A
re

as

Higher Order Shops

Cafe / Restaurant Restaurants / Bars

The Land Use Framework shapes a place and locates uses to serve new and existing 
communities. The final plan may be used as a parameter plan for the Environmental Impact 
Assessment (EIA) and application purposes.

Catchments and Provision

Services and facilities need enough 
people in their catchments to be viable and 
sustainable. Day-to-day services should be 
within walking distance of the people they 
serve.

Larger developments will have a greater 
number of higher-order services located 
within them.

All new developments should have a defined 
centre with a mix of land uses, such as 
schools, local shops, community space or 
play areas.

Co-locating uses which are used at different 
times of day can promote public realm 
vitality throughout the day and evening, 
improving natural surveillance in a place.

Consider

• Land uses required by local and national policy, 
related to proposed dwellings and site

• Land uses that could complement residential and 
required uses to improve placemaking

• Land uses that could help integrate the new 
place into any existing settlement

• Active travel catchments for local facilities
• Mixing of uses to complement and reinforce each 

other and public realm activity
• Relationship to movement networks
• Relationship to intensity levels and placemaking 

potential
• Contextually-driven orientation of land uses, 

either linear or nucleated
• Location of land uses in context of emerging 

neighbourhood structure
• Relationship to topography, for example school 

playing fields requiring mostly flat land

Supporting Strategies

To clearly address all of these issues, a series of Strategies 
should be developed to inform and underpin the overall 
Framework. These will be agreed during the pre-application 
process, and may include:

• Community facilities
• Sport and recreation
• Open space 

• Education provision
• Healthcare provision
• Sustainable Movement 

provision

P
age 140



61

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
oc

es
s 

I  
O

bs
er

vi
ng

 P
la

ce
  I

  E
va

lu
at

in
g 

Pl
ac

e 
 I 

 M
ak

in
g 

a 
Pl

ac
e

Land Use Framework: Example 

Land use framework plan 
illustrating key land uses.

Plan showing catchment of proposed community 
hub land use

Additional Resources

Up to date space and facility provision 
standards should always be sought 
from the relevant local planning 
authority.

October 2015

Supported by

Active Design
Planning for health and wellbeing through sport and physical activity

Sport England have developed principles 
for Active Design to create healthier and 
more active new places

Residential

Local Centre

Primary School

Park and Ride

Community Hub

Community Pavilion

Reserve site for hospital 
and commercial uses

Geographic 
Information (see 
Landscape Framework)

Supplementary Information

Supporting illustrations
Sections 

Key Outputs

Land Use Framework plan
Land use budget
Supporting Strategies

Mountfield Park, Canterbury - David Lock Associates

P
age 141



62

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
oc

es
s 

I  
O

bs
er

vi
ng

 P
la

ce
  I

  E
va

lu
at

in
g 

Pl
ac

e 
 I 

 M
ak

in
g 

a 
Pl

ac
e

Landscape Framework

Consider

• Response to topography and site conditions
• Provision of a variety of space types and scales 
• Open space typologies which respond to their 

catchment and location and are based on 
planning requirements and standards, distributed 
through and integrated into the development

• Connections with existing open space beyond 
the site boundary

• Promotion of active travel and healthy lifestyles 
• Provision for wildlife and existing high value 

natural features
• Integration of surface water drainage and SUDS
• Integration of heritage and archaeology 
• Provision of community orchards and allotments 

Natural open space
Woodland

Greened boulevards
Formal parks and gardens
Micro-parks

Green corridors
Urban agriculture/allotments
Play areas
Micro-parks

Civic spaces
Hard public realm spaces

Open Space Typologies

A wide variety of open spaces can contribute to the 
variety and character of a place. Different typologies are 
appropriate in different parts of the masterplan. Up to date 
guidance on appropriate provision levels for each type of 
space should always be sought from the Local Planning 
Authority.

The Landscape Framework defines how landscape, ecology, water and open space are 
integrated into and contribute to the new place. It should encourage active usage, community 
development and healthy living, and contribute to environmental resilience and sustainability.

Supporting Strategies

To clearly address all of these issues, a series of Strategies 
should be developed to inform and underpin the overall 
Framework:

• Environmental 
         sustainability 
• Ecology
• Drainage, SuDS and
         flood prevention 
• Climate change resilience
• Heritage and archaeology 

Opportunities to integrate Sustainable Urban Drainage 
Systems (SuDS) and water flow should be considered 
at all scales and throughout all open space typologies, 
from large landscape-scale drainage features all the way 
through to permeable materials and integrated retention 
tanks.

• Open space community 
facilities 

• Sport and recreation 
provision

• Open space typologies
• Green infrastructure

P
age 142



63

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
oc

es
s 

I  
O

bs
er

vi
ng

 P
la

ce
  I

  E
va

lu
at

in
g 

Pl
ac

e 
 I 

 M
ak

in
g 

a 
Pl

ac
e

Landscape Framework: Example

Landscape and open 
space plan for Mountfield 
Park, showing open space 
typologies, integration 
with green and blue 
corridors, wildlife habitats 
and main SUDS provision.

Existing woodland

Allotments / orchards

Proposed woodland

Playing fields

Open green space

SuDS basins

Civic spaces

Amenity green space

Supplementary Information

Supporting illustrations
Sections 
Surveys

Key Outputs

Landscape Framework plan
Supporting Strategies

Additional Resources
CIRIA and DEFRA have published The 
SUDS Manual to give guidance on 
effective sustainable urban drainage 
systems in new developments.

Mountfield Park, Canterbury - David Lock Associates

P
age 143



64

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
oc

es
s 

I  
O

bs
er

vi
ng

 P
la

ce
  I

  E
va

lu
at

in
g 

Pl
ac

e 
 I 

 M
ak

in
g 

a 
Pl

ac
e

Movement Framework
The Movement Framework defines how the communities can access services, employment, leisure and 
open space in a healthy, safe and sustainable way. New places should be seamlessly connected with 
existing settlements, within and beyond the boundary of the new development.

Movement and Place 

Streets are both movement corridors and places, and the 
Movement Framework should reflect this understanding. 
This approach aims to prevent streets becoming traffic-
dominated, create high quality public spaces and ensure 
effective mobility throughout. The relationship between 
movement and place is set out in the diagram to the side 
and below.

Movement
The position of a street along the movement axis is  
determined by the strategic importance of that route. 
Movement includes pedestrian, cycling and public transport 
movement.

Place
The position of a street along the place axis is determined 
by its catchment and contribution to placemaking. The 
higher along the place axis, the greater attraction and 
contribution of the street to the character of a place.

Supporting Strategies

A series of Strategies should be developed to inform and 
underpin the overall Framework:

• Environmental sustainability
• Green infrastructure
• Walking / cycling / active travel
• Public transport

M
ov

em
en

t

Place

Hub/
Boulevard

Arterial
Road High road

Connector Local
high street

Town high
street

Residential /
access street

Local square /
street

Town square /
street

M1 M1 M1

M2 M2 M2

M3 M3 M3
P1 P2 P3

P1 P2 P3

P1 P2 P3

Place

+ =

Movement Street Types

Consider

• Maximising active travel minimising the need for 
day-to-day car use 

• Use of green infrastructure corridors
• Public transport corridors with stops based on 

residential catchment
• The needs of the wider settlement, for example 

Park and Ride locations
• Legible and permeable routes for all modes
• Catchments of land uses and relationship to 

movement networks 
• Connections to existing movement networks 

such as paths, cycle network, rail and road
• Flexibility to accommodate future expansion 

beyond the site and changes in lifestyle and 
movement patterns

• A street’s Movement and Place hierarchy to 
inform appropriate future design 

• Flexibility to accommodate Electric and 
Automated Vehicles and future technology

• Efficient layout in terms of land-take

Movement Place • Street typologies 

• Street typologies
• Emergency access 
• Waste strategy

P
age 144



65

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
oc

es
s 

I  
O

bs
er

vi
ng

 P
la

ce
  I

  E
va

lu
at

in
g 

Pl
ac

e 
 I 

 M
ak

in
g 

a 
Pl

ac
e

Movement Framework: Example

Movement framework 
plan illustrating active 
travel catchments, route 
hierarchy, open space 
movement, key land uses 
and public transport 
provision

Existing public rights 
of way

Primary street

Limited access

Important public 
realm

Parcel access

Fast bus route

Bus gate

Green bridge

Supplementary Information

Supplementary illustrations / graphics

Key Outputs

Movement Framework plan
Supporting Strategies
Street sections

Additional Resources

Making 
Space for 
Cycling

A guide for
new 
developments 
and street 
renewals

Second edition, 2014 
Published by Cyclenation, creating a 
nation of cycle-friendly communities
Written by Cambridge Cycling Campaign
Funded by Bike Hub

www.makingspaceforcycling.org

Manual for Streets outlines key move-
ment network design principles

Hertfordshire County Council’s Highway 
Design Guide defines acceptable street 
design within the county.

3rd Edition – Version 1 – January 2011 

Roads in Hertfordshire: A Design Guide 
3rd Edition 

Section 1: Policy Information and General Guidance 

Cycle nation have published Making 
Space for Cycling, a guide to creating 
successful new places and streets with 
good provision for cycling.

TfL’s Street Types for London Guidance 
expands on their implementation of the 
Movement and Place typology matrix.

The Chartered Institute of Highways and 
Transport have published guidelines for 
integrating buses in new developments

2018

January 2018

Buses in Urban 
Developments
Principal author: Tim Pharoah, FCIHT

Mountfield Park, Canterbury - David Lock Associates

P
age 145



66

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
oc

es
s 

I  
O

bs
er

vi
ng

 P
la

ce
  I

  E
va

lu
at

in
g 

Pl
ac

e 
 I 

 M
ak

in
g 

a 
Pl

ac
e

Urban Design Framework

Average density: 40dph

40dph 40dph20dph

Employment, Schools, other uses

Green Infrastructure Corridors

100dph+

Average density: 40dph

Place: Intensity, Focus and Variety Housing Estate: No Variety

Average density: 40dph

40dph 40dph20dph

Employment, Schools, other uses

Green Infrastructure Corridors

100dph+

Average density: 40dph

Place: Intensity, Focus and Variety Housing Estate: No Variety

The Urban Design Framework creates varied, legible and interesting places with a clear spatial hierarchy, which are 
welcoming to a wide range of different groups, facilities and activities.  It defines neighbourhoods, variety, centres, 
intensity and structuring elements such as boundaries, nodes, frontages, views and gateways.

Framework Elements

As well as site-specific defining principles, designers 
should use the Townscape Elements below to structure the 
framework. Effective use of the framework elements will 
help create legible and memorable neighbourhoods.

The introduction of townscape principles sets a quality 
level for later stages of design in the proposals.

Frontages /
Building Lines

Paths Edges /
Boundaries

Nodes Gateways

Views Building
Heights

Density / Intensity
Distribution

Landmarks

Consider

• Structure of neighbourhoods - refer to the Spatial 
Typologies in ‘Making a Place’

• Neighbourhood boundaries and centres
• Development intensity variations
• Paths, edges, nodes and landmarks to aid 

legibility of movement and distinctiveness of 
place - consider key corners and noteworthy 
buildings

• Variety and richness along streets and 
movement networks

• Views and visual connections in and out of the 
site

• Key frontages and building lines defining spaces
• Edge conditions and appropriate responses

Placemaking through the Framework 

Key placemaking decisions are made at this framework 
stage. Neighbourhoods should be clearly defined by the 
framework elements, with the potential for clusters of 
different typologies within the neighbourhoods, explored in 
the following section of this document.

Supporting Strategies

To clearly address all of these issues, a series of Strategies 
should be developed to inform and underpin the overall 
Framework:

• Building Heights
• Intensity / Density Distribution
• Neighbourhood Structure
• Green Infrastructure

P
age 146



67

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
oc

es
s 

I  
O

bs
er

vi
ng

 P
la

ce
  I

  E
va

lu
at

in
g 

Pl
ac

e 
 I 

 M
ak

in
g 

a 
Pl

ac
e

Additional Resources

Urban Design Framework: Example

The Urban Design Compendium contains  
principles of urban design, how they can 
be applied and lead to successful places.

Dacorum Borough Council’s Urban Design 
Assessment gives examples of grain and 
intensity variations within the borough’s 
urban areas.

An urban design 
parameter plan showing 
neighbourhood structure, 
key boundaries and 
landmarks, main frontages, 
defining principles and land 
use overlay 

Supplementary Information

Supplementary illustrations
Sections showing edge treatment, key spaces, 
noteworthy buidlings and visual connections

Key Outputs

Urban Design Framework plan
Supporting Strategies

Mountfield Park, Canterbury - David Lock Associates

P
age 147



68

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
oc

es
s 

I  
O

bs
er

vi
ng

 P
la

ce
  I

  E
va

lu
at

in
g 

Pl
ac

e 
 I 

 M
ak

in
g 

a 
Pl

ac
e

Bringing it Together: The Illustrative Masterplan

The Illustrative Masterplan should demonstrate density, 
intensity and urban grain, and should be informed 
by a reasonable degree of testing of the capacity of 
development areas to accommodate housing at different 
scales and densities. Any studies that result from this 
testing can be used in the Design and Access Statement 
to demonstrate intent and form a bridge to the design code 
stage. To the side is an example of an Illustrative Masterplan 
which brings together the Framework layers to show: 

• Development areas
• Intensity and use 
• Movement
• Open space 
• Green infrastructure 
• Relationship to context
• Water and drainage

The Illustrative Masterplan supports a contextual approach to the detailed design of 
the first phase based on the Observing - Evaluating - Making process. 

Phase 1 initial layout 

The Illustrative Masterplan above supports the Detailed Masterplan 
of the first phase, shown left.

P
age 148



69

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
oc

es
s 

I  
O

bs
er

vi
ng

 P
la

ce
  I

  E
va

lu
at

in
g 

Pl
ac

e 
 I 

 M
ak

in
g 

a 
Pl

ac
e

Making a Place: Frameworks - Checklist

Vision

Land Use

Landscape

Movement

Urban Design

Illustrative Masterplan

Applicants are encouraged to illustrate the outputs 
imaginatively, using the best media for the nature of the 
information gathered. This checklist should be considered 
a starting point and is not prescriptive.

Su
pp

or
tin

g 
ill

us
tr

at
io

ns

Ph
ot

og
ra

ph
s

3D
 M

od
el

 a
nd

 b
ird

’s 
ey

e 
vi

ew
s

Se
ct

io
ns

Su
rv

ey
s

Pr
ec

ed
en

t S
tu

di
es

 a
nd

 S
ca

le
 C

om
pa

ris
on

s

Vi
si

on
 p

la
n 

(C
on

ce
pt

 m
as

te
rp

la
n)

La
nd

 U
se

 F
ra

m
ew

or
k 

Pl
an

La
nd

sc
ap

e 
Fr

am
ew

or
k 

Pl
an

M
ov

em
en

t F
ra

m
ew

or
k 

Pl
an

U
rb

an
 D

es
ig

n 
Fr

am
ew

or
k 

Pl
an

Ill
us

tr
at

iv
e 

M
as

te
rp

la
n

W
ho

le
-s

ite
 s

ec
tio

ns

W
rit

te
n 

na
rr

at
iv

e

La
nd

 u
se

 b
ud

ge
t

Su
pp

or
tin

g 
St

ra
te

gi
es

Pe
rs

pe
ct

iv
e 

Ill
us

tr
at

io
ns

Key Outputs Supplementary Information

P
age 149



Making a Place: Spatial Typologies

The arrangement of complementary buildings around 
human-scale public spaces generates an effect greater 
than the sum of its parts, and is key to the character of 
St Alban’s distinct town centre.

P
age 150



71

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
oc

es
s 

I  
O

bs
er

vi
ng

 P
la

ce
  I

  E
va

lu
at

in
g 

Pl
ac

e 
 I 

 M
ak

in
g 

a 
Pl

ac
e

Introduction to ‘Making a Place’: Spatial Typologies
Contemporary versions of the contextual spatial typologies identified in Observing Place can be utilised within a 
masterplan - on their own or in combination - to create distinctive neighbourhoods.

This report provides guidance on the four spatial typologies 
based on those identified in Observing Place. These spatial 
typologies are:

• The Green, and The Ham / Worth
• The Hoe
• The Stead / Sted
• The Bourne / End

These spatial typologies are not exhaustive, design teams can 
identify further spatial typologies through an assessment of 
historic built form and landscape. 

Design Principles

The Key Design Principles will apply to these spatial typologies, 
supported by specific principles for each spatial typology 
which are set out on the following pages.

Neighbourhoods Spatial Typologies

Masterplan

Detail

P
age 151



72

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
oc

es
s 

I  
O

bs
er

vi
ng

 P
la

ce
  I

  E
va

lu
at

in
g 

Pl
ac

e 
 I 

 M
ak

in
g 

a 
Pl

ac
e

Contemporary Spatial Typologies: The Green and The Ham / Worth
The Green is set on high ground, with built form configured around a public green space. The Ham / Worth is a 
structured courtyard typologies, like farmsteads or almshouses, forming architectural ‘set pieces’ in the landscape.

Design Principles - Buildings density 30-50 dph

Design Principles - Parking 

01

02

03

05

07

08

09

10

11

12

13

14

15

Primary route aligns with the ‘green’, forming 
the principle frontage

Landscaped courtyards and shared surface 
courtyards and mews

Informal landscaped spaces

Linear green strategic landscape

Design Principles - Public Realm and Landscape

Design Principles - Streets 

On-plot parking: tandem in courtyards, flats 
over garages, townhouses over garages, to 
dwelling frontages, integrated with landscape  
-supports the fine grain and human scale.

Terraced housing configured to form 
structured courtyards

Semi-detached housing with on-plot parking 
fronting informal landscape
Courtyard typology forms continuous frontage

Ham / Worth Formal courtyard of housing

Housing arranged to form gatehouses at 
important townscape junctions

Mews spaces and courtyards form 
belvedere’s to landscape

Secondary routes run perpendicular to 
primary route forming housing blocks

Garden walls to public realm not fences

04 Public route to edge of settlement

06 Informal parking in landscape, parking in 
secure courts and set into shared surface 

Design Principles - Public Realm, Landscape and Parking

Sketch plan of the green © Proctor & Matthews Architects

Public route to edge 
of settlement

Shared surface 
housing courtyard 
with doorstep play

Secure, walled parking courts serving 
housing and apartments allow the majority of 
landscaped spaces to be free of parking.

Private landscape 
courtyard to 
apartment building

Shared surface 
mews

Informal landscaped 
space with parking

Linear village green
containing structured 
play spaces

Terraced housing 
designed with on-
plot parking

Courtyard house 
typologies 
support on-plot 
tandem parking

01

03

0204

02

06

05

05

05

Shared surface mews 
containing parking 
provides permeability 
across urban grain

06

P
age 152



73

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
oc

es
s 

I  
O

bs
er

vi
ng

 P
la

ce
  I

  E
va

lu
at

in
g 

Pl
ac

e 
 I 

 M
ak

in
g 

a 
Pl

ac
e

Design Principles - Streets and Buildings

Contemporary Spatial Typologies: The Green and The Ham / Worth

Cartoon of Green and Ham / Worth © 
Proctor & Matthews Architects

Terraced housing configured to 
form a structured courtyard

Garden walls to edge 
conditions not fences

Semi-detached housing 
with on-plot parking 
fronting informal landscape

Courtyard house 
typology forms 
continuous frontage

Ham / Worth 
Formal courtyard of 
housing

Housing arranged to 
form gatehouses at 
important townscape 
junctions

Mews spaces and courtyards 
form belvedere’s to landscape

Primary street 
frontage along 
edge of Green

Secondary routes 
run perpendicular 
to primary route, 
to form housing 
clusters

10

11

12

13

14
07

08

09

15

Continuous defined edge 
to the landscape

Landscaped communal 
courtyard

1108 14

10

‘Gatehouse’ buildings at key locations and to landscape edge

10

06

Typologies with integrated 
parking spaces

Parking integrated with 
landscaping

13 12

P
age 153



74

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
oc

es
s 

I  
O

bs
er

vi
ng

 P
la

ce
  I

  E
va

lu
at

in
g 

Pl
ac

e 
 I 

 M
ak

in
g 

a 
Pl

ac
e

Contemporary Spatial Typologies: The Hoe
The contemporary Hoe typology can be applied to smaller neighbourhoods set on a slope or across a varied topography. The structure and 
grain used in this typology should respond to the existing land form and celebrate views towards and across the surrounding landscape. 

Pedestrian priority shared surface mews 
streets terrace down across the contours

Sketch Plan of The Hoe © Proctor & Matthews Architects

Design Principles - Buildings density 30-40 dph

Design Principles - Parking 

01

02

03

04

05

06

07

08

09

10

11

12

13

Primary streets configured along contours

Public realm to give priority to pedestrians and 
to support the permeable street network that 
steps down the contours

Vehicle routes follow the contour lines

Series of permeable pedestrian routes 
arranged to support shared space 
courtyards between housing blocks

Design Principles - Public Realm and Landscape

Design Principles - Streets 

Lower densities allow both terraced and semi-
detached housing to support on-plot parking
Some on street parking provided, carefully 
designed to support both residential and 
visitor requirements

Pedestrian mews provide opportunities for 
special typologies (taller houses or apartments) 
to be used as townscape markers
Level changes within gardens allow for 
economic retaining structures
Gardens walls - rather than fences - help 
support the urban structure

Built form supports distant views

Built form predominantly linear terraces set 
along contours to support the street structure

Design Principles - Public Realm, Landscape and Parking

Roof forms create a strong silhouette in 
the landscape

Vehicular movement 
structured along contours

Permeable pedestrian 
routes provide communal 
landscape, doorstop play 
and views

Landscape designed to give 
priority to pedestrians

Shared surfaces give priority to pedestrians and 
form courtyards / community spaces

Housing typologies support 
on-plot parking to avoid car 
dominated streets

01

02

01

04

07

P
age 154



75

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
oc

es
s 

I  
O

bs
er

vi
ng

 P
la

ce
  I

  E
va

lu
at

in
g 

Pl
ac

e 
 I 

 M
ak

in
g 

a 
Pl

ac
e

Contemporary Spatial Typologies: The Hoe

Design Principles - Streets and Buildings

Sketch Cartoon of The Hoe © Proctor & Matthews Architects

Level changes are 
resolved in gardens

11
Gardens are walled rather 
than fenced, to create a 
sense of urban realm

Primary streets follow 
contour lines

Pedestrian priority 
mews step through 
the urban form to give 
permeability

Special typologies used as 
townscape markers

Built form supports distant 
views

Housing typologies 
arranged as linear terraces 
to reinforce street structure

Roof forms create a strong 
silhouette in the landscape

12

06

07

10

13

08

09

01

Permeable pedestrian routes with communal landscape 
and doorstop play

Garden walls create a 
sense of urban realm

Linear terraced long houses

01

0812

13 10

Townscape marker 
located at a key junction

Built form supports 
distant views

P
age 155



76

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
oc

es
s 

I  
O

bs
er

vi
ng

 P
la

ce
  I

  E
va

lu
at

in
g 

Pl
ac

e 
 I 

 M
ak

in
g 

a 
Pl

ac
e

Contemporary Spatial Typologies: The Stead / Sted
The Stead / Sted applies to larger neighbourhoods on the slopes, with a higher density towards the centre where a ‘market 
square’ for public space forms the focal point. There should be a diverse mix of residential and non-residential uses, with 
the majority of commercial uses located along the main street and around the market square. 

Design Principles - Public Realm, Landscape and Parking

Design Principles - Buildings density 40-70 dph

Design Principles - Parking 

01

02

03

04

05

06

08

09

10

11

12

Neighbourhood layout is focussed around 
the principle mixed-use high street and often 
follows contours

Public market square forms focal point of the 
urban structure and wider neighbourhood
Formal courtyard buildings enclose private 
and semi private gardens including productive 
landscapes (allotments, raised beds or orchards)

Principle high street of neighbourhood is 
mixed use, with a shared surface environment 
with structural hard and soft landscaping 

Design Principles - Public Realm and Landscape

Design Principles - Streets 

Higher densities and greater proportion of 
apartments require a mix of parking solutions 
including: on-plot parking, enclosed courtyard 
parking, undercroft parking and carefully 
designed on-street in defined pockets of 5-6 

2 to 3 storey terraced housing along the 
secondary streets and mews
Public buildings in pivotal locations act as marker 
buildings, enlivening the principle public spaces
Standard housing typologies are augmented at 
points of townscape importance
Principal frontage buildings to high street form 
portals / arches over secondary routes to help 
create coherent frontage

3 to 4 storey mixed use apartment buildings are 
parallel to high street to give spatial coherence

Secondary mews and streets run perpendicular 
providing pedestrian and cyclist access to the 
high street
Some secondary streets do not provide 
vehicular access to the high street but end in 
shared surface spaces with integrated parking

l

07

Principal high street Public ‘market square’ Undercroft parking 

A limited amount of 
secure mid block 
parking supports 
shared surface public 
realm

Rear courtyard parking 
for apartment building 
with commercial space 
at ground floor

On-street parking for 
visitors integrated into 
public realm landscape

Terraced typologies 
with on-plot parking

Mews spaces 
support some on 
street resident 
parking

Formal housing 
courtyards 
enclose a 
productive garden

01 02

04

Sketch Plan of The Stead / Sted © Proctor & Matthews Architects

03

13 Gardens walls support the urban structure

04

04

04 04

04

04

P
age 156



77

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
oc

es
s 

I  
O

bs
er

vi
ng

 P
la

ce
  I

  E
va

lu
at

in
g 

Pl
ac

e 
 I 

 M
ak

in
g 

a 
Pl

ac
e

Contemporary Spatial Typologies: The Stead / Sted

Design Principles - Streets and Buildings

Sketch Cartoon of The Stead / Sted © Proctor & Matthews Architects

05

06

12

Predominantly 3 to 
4 storey mixed use 
apartment typologies 
form strong frontage 
to high street with 
commercial space at 
ground floor

Higher density 
courtyard 
block provides 
a good model 
for housing, 
including 
sheltered and 
supporting 
housing

Standard 
housing 
typologies 
are given 
augmented 
at points of 
townscape 
importance 

Public building forms focus to ‘market 
square ‘and townscape marker

Built form over connecting 
routes to define thresholds 
and to support frontage to 
high street

08 10

Secondary streets and 
mews set perpendicular 
to high street support 
walkable neighbourhood

Wall preferred to a fence 
to form the public realm 
boundary

Mews streets supported 
by 2 or 3 storey terraced 
housing

09

10

11

The principal 
mixed-use high 
street forms 
the focus to the 
neighbourhood 
and is often 
set along 
the contours 

1312

High density courtyard block

10

Built form over connecting route

Articulation at point of 
townscape importance

11

Secondary streets support 
a walkable neighbourhood

4 storey apartments form 
strong frontage to high street

06 09 08

10

Townscape marker

P
age 157



78

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
oc

es
s 

I  
O

bs
er

vi
ng

 P
la

ce
  I

  E
va

lu
at

in
g 

Pl
ac

e 
 I 

 M
ak

in
g 

a 
Pl

ac
e

Contemporary Spatial Typologies: The Bourne / End
The valley floor bourne / end spatial typology applies to smaller neighbourhoods. The neighbourhood grain should be linear and follow the  
contours with very close links to the surrounding landscape setting. The neighbourhood is likely to be mostly residential, possibly with a 
community or mixed-use building in a central location.

Design Principles - Public Realm, Landscape and Parking

Design Principles - Buildings density 25-35 dph

Design Principles - Parking 

01

02

03

04

05

06

07

08

09

10

11

12

Streets and lanes set perpendicular to the valley 
floor landscape are not through-routes for 
vehicles 

The valley floor landscape comprises a 
biodiverse parkland with water features; streams 
/SuDs holding ponds and rills / rain gardens / 
wetland meadows and recreational spaces
Valley floor landscape connects to the wider 
pedestrian and cycle network
Shared surface mews and lanes and shared 
productive landscapes e.g. allotments
The threshold between the built form and 
landscape edge is clearly defined - see 13 below

Lanes and mews spaces provide access 
to housing blocks and lead to the principle 
street network and the meandering valley 
floor landscape

Design Principles - Public Realm and Landscape

Design Principles - Streets 

Greater on-plot parking provision for larger 
homes and terraced houses

On-street parking for visitors and residents 
integrated into the street and shared surfaces

Edge house typologies are designed with side 
gardens to form a structured urban edge
Some apartment buildings act as townscape 
markers and gateway buildings

Mix of low density dwellings that includes 
terraced housing

Mews streets support parking for terraced 
houses and access to the edge typologies

13 Gardens walls support the urban structure

On -plot parking for 
semi-detached housing

Lanes and 
mews spaces 
give access to 
the principal 
street network 
and the 
meandering 
valley floor 
landscape.
-Ramps and 
steps lift 
housing above 
flood zone / high 
water table

Shared surface lanes provide 
quieter child friendly addresses

Rain gardens 
form part 
of lanes’ 
landscape

Allotment 
gardens 
included within 
the urban 
structure

Recreational 
spaces

Valley floor 
biodiverse 
parkland with 
sustainable 
water features

Valley floor landscape 
connects to the wider 
pedestrian and cycle 
network

Broad parkland valley floor 
landscape

04
06

02

04

02

0202

01

03

05 Clear built form / landscape 
edge threshold

On-street 
parking within 
the street

07

Sketch Cartoon of The  Broune / End © Proctor & Matthews Architects

P
age 158



79

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
oc

es
s 

I  
O

bs
er

vi
ng

 P
la

ce
  I

  E
va

lu
at

in
g 

Pl
ac

e 
 I 

 M
ak

in
g 

a 
Pl

ac
e

Contemporary Spatial Typologies: The Bourne / End

Design Principles - Streets and Buildings

Two storey terraced housing 
arranged in linear form to 
support lanes
-semi-detached housing and 
terraced housing vary the 
housing productStreets and lanes set 

perpendicular to the 
valley floor landscape and 
are not through vehicle 
roads

Gardens walls, not 
fences onto public 
realm

Special edge house 
typologies form coherent 
built form edge to landscape

11

Taller corner gatehouses at the 
threshold of the settlement and the 
landscape

Mews streets form 
street address to edge 
houses

1209

10

08

13

04

11

Garden walls define the 
urban realm

Recreational spaces and 
landscape streets

10

13

Built form engages with the edge 
to landscape

Communal landscaped 
courtyard space

Mix of semi-detached and 
terraced housing within mews

08

02

11

Sketch Cartoon of The  Broune / End © Proctor & Matthews Architects

P
age 159



80

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
oc

es
s 

I  
O

bs
er

vi
ng

 P
la

ce
  I

  E
va

lu
at

in
g 

Pl
ac

e 
 I 

 M
ak

in
g 

a 
Pl

ac
e

Contemporary Spatial Typologies: Example - Structured Rural Housing
The predominant spatial typology for Phase 1 of Mountfield Park, Canterbury, Kent, consisting of 140 
homes is created in response to an analysis of local, historic and county-wide typological forms.

Building on the typological narrative of shelter and 
organisation established by the orchard and hops field 
references, this residential spatial typology is informed by 
the local contextual precedents of courtyard farms and 
rural institutions.

The proposed residential spatial typologies are configured 
as a series of Courts made up of inter-connected 
‘courtyard houses’ with an orchard landscape focus at the 
heart of each grouping, and separated by shelterbelts of 
trees proposed for the areas between each court. 

-  Community Spatial Typologies
- “Courtyard Dwellings”
- “Edge” and “Central Orchards”
-  Phased Neighbourhood Clusters  with Strong Identity
-  Perimeter Village Garden Wall 

Sketch © Proctor & Matthews Architects

P
age 160



81

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
oc

es
s 

I  
O

bs
er

vi
ng

 P
la

ce
  I

  E
va

lu
at

in
g 

Pl
ac

e 
 I 

 M
ak

in
g 

a 
Pl

ac
e

Contemporary Spatial Typologies: Example - Structured Rural Housing
The proposed spatial typology is arranged within the Phase 1A masterplan for Mountfield Park, which in turn 
relates to the wider framework. Materiality and detailing refer to the local Kent context.

The architectural form and language proposed for all 
buildings is based on a contemporary exploration and 
interpretation of local vernacular precedents.

Each residential group is conceived as a composition of 
three principal components: a perimeter ‘Village’ Garden 
Wall, Courtyard dwellings and a Central Neighbourhood 
Cluster Orchard.

The ‘Village’ Garden Wall defines the external perimeter of 
each cluster and unites each family dwelling type to form a 
coherent court form. 

A red brick wall forms the outer edge of all dwellings and 
courtyard gardens and incorporates gables, chimneys 
and perforated brickwork bonded panels. This echoes 
the enclosing walls of typical Kent village streetscapes, 
and provides a distinctive profile and silhouette to each 
residential cluster.

© Proctor & Matthews Architects

P
age 161



82

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
oc

es
s 

I  
O

bs
er

vi
ng

 P
la

ce
  I

  E
va

lu
at

in
g 

Pl
ac

e 
 I 

 M
ak

in
g 

a 
Pl

ac
e

Spatial Typology Design

Su
pp

or
tin

g 
sk

et
ch

es
 a

nd
 d

ia
gr

am
s

Ill
us

tr
at

io
ns

 o
f p

ro
po

se
d 

bu
ilt

 e
nv

iro
nm

en
t

M
od

el

Su
pp

or
tin

g 
re

po
rt

s 
(if

 a
pp

lic
ab

le
)

Si
te

 la
yo

ut

La
nd

sc
ap

e 
dr

aw
in

g

Pl
an

s, 
se

ct
io

ns
 a

nd
 k

ey
 e

le
va

tio
ns

3d
 im

ag
es

 / 
CG

Is

M
at

er
ia

l a
nd

 c
ol

ou
r p

al
et

te

En
vi

ro
nm

en
ta

l s
tr

at
eg

y

Required Outputs Supplementary Information

Making a Place: Spatial Typologies - Checklist

Applicants are encouraged to illustrate the outputs 
imaginatively, using the best media for the nature of the 
information gathered. This checklist should be considered 
a starting point and is not prescriptive.

P
age 162



83

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
oc

es
s 

I  
O

bs
er

vi
ng

 P
la

ce
  I

  E
va

lu
at

in
g 

Pl
ac

e 
 I 

 M
ak

in
g 

a 
Pl

ac
e

Making a Place: Additional Resources

Additional Resources

Distinctively Local
HTA Design, Pollard Thomas Edwards, PRP and 
Proctor and Matthews Architects 

The Ten Primary Characteristics of Places Where 
People Want to Live
RIBA

The Housing Design Handbook
Levitt Bernstein

Urban Design Compendium
Llewelyn Jones

Urban Design Compendium 2 
Llewelyn Jones

The Plot
Jonathan Tarbatt

Garden City Principles
TCPA

Shaping Neighbourhoods
Hugh Barton

The Smart Growth Manual
Duany, Speck and Lydon

The Case for Space
RIBA

101 Things I Learned in Urban Design School
Matthew Frederick and Vikas Mehta

Public Places Urban Spaces
Matthew Carmona

CABE Guidance

The Design Companion for Planning and 
Placemaking
Urban Design London

Manual for Streets
Department for Transport

Manual for Streets 2
The Chartered Institution for Highways and Transport

Great Streets
Allan B Jacobs

Cities for People
Jan Gehl

Life Between Buildings
Jan Gehl

P
age 163

https://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20110118095748/http://www.cabe.org.uk/publications


Dacorum Strategic Design Guide
Part 2: Design Principles
Supplementary Planning Document
January 2021

P
age 164



This document was developed collaboratively by  

Dacorum Borough Council, 

St Albans City & District Council, 

HertsIQ,

Proctor & Matthews Architects, and

David Lock Associates.

P
age 165



Contents
Introduction 4

The Dacorum Design Principles
How to Use This Guide 

1  A Distinctive Place 6
1.1 Build a Narrative of Place to Inform Designs
1.2 Understand and Interpret Local Development  
 Patterns
1.3 Be Historically Inspired, Design for the Future

2  A Compact Place 8
2.1 Create Walkable Neighbourhoods  with   
 Identifiable Centres 
2.2 Include A Rich Mix of Uses
2.3 Make Efficient Use of Land
2.4 Use a Hierarchy of Density and Scale

3  A Place for All 10
3.1 Provide Housing and Facilities for Different Ages
3.2 Integrate Different Housing Tenures
3.3 Ensure All Places are Accessible to Everyone
3.4 Integrate Play

4  A Connected Place 12
4.1 Be Physically Connected
4.2 Be Socially Connected
4.3 Be Visually Connected
4.4 Be Economically Connected
4.5 Be Naturally Connected
4.6 Be Historically Connected
4.7 Be Sustainably Connected

5  Great Streets and Public Spaces 15
5.1 Create a Legible, Navigable, Memorable Place
5.2 Create a Clear, Flexible Hierarchy of Streets
5.3 Create Opportunities for Interaction
5.4 Create Safe, Overlooked Spaces
5.5 Create Good Frontages
5.6 Enclose and Scale Streets and Spaces   
 Proportionately
5.7 Introduce Trees and Planting
5.8 Create Spaces with Comfortable    
 Microclimates
5.9 Use High Quality Materials
5.10 Reduce Car Dominance
5.11 Integrate Car Parking
5.12 Ensure Servicing is Discreet

6  Great Homes 20
6.1 Housing Fit for the 21st Century and Beyond
6.2 Offer Privacy and External Amenity
6.3 Create Clear Points of Entry from the Street
6.4 Maximise Space and Daylight
6.5 Storage and Utilities
6.6 Discreet Waste Storage
6.7 Discreet Utilities

7  Active and Healthy 23
7.1 Create Attractive Safe and Usable Walking and   
 Cycling Routes
7.2 Incorporate Cycle Parking
7.3 Give Prominence to Health
7.4 Enhance Access to Sport
7.5 Incorporate Food Production
7.6 Mitigate the Effects of Pollution

8  Facing the Climate Crisis 26
8.1 Certify Sustainability 
8.2 Enhance Biodiversity and Habitats 
8.3 Drain Places Naturally
8.4 Conserve Water
8.6 Maximise Natural Heating and Ventilation
8.5 Conserve Energy and Reduce Carbon Emissions
8.7 Create Opportunities for Energy Production
8.8 Be Resilient to Climate Change and Extreme Weather

9  Flexible and Adaptable 30
9.1 Create Space for Future Utilities
9.2 Facilitate Future Adaptation of the Built Environment 
9.3 Anticipate Changes in Mobility

10  For the Long Term  32
10.1 Deliver on the Vision
10.2 Be Proactive with Stewardship
10.3 Make Maintenance Easy
10.4 Build a Community from the Start
10.5 Secure Quality at the Planning Stage

Design Principles

P
age 166



4

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
in

ci
pl

es
  I

  I
nt

ro
du

ct
io

n

The Dacorum Design Principles
This document is the second part of the Dacorum Strategic Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document 
(SPD), which outlines Dacorum’s strategic design expectations and a design process which should be used to 
achieve these through new development of all scales. 

Design Principles

The guidance establishes design principles that the authorities 
will expect adherence to by designers for all scales and 
types of development. The principles are ambitious and set 
a high standard for new development, so that it contributes 
to sustainable growth and continues Dacorum’s tradition of 
distinctive, attractive and successful places.

Application of the Guidance

This guidance applies to development of all scales. Larger-
scale proposals provide the opportunity to meet the Dacorum 
design principles through the creation of new places, spaces 
and streets, whilst smaller applications will be expected to 
demonstrate that they contribute towards and support the 
principles for high quality urban design.

Relationship with Part 1 Design Process

The principles are supported by the design process outlined 
in Part 1 of the Dacorum Strategic Design Guide, which helps 
to ensure that principles are met in a way which reflects and 
responds to the local context.
 

Relationship with Part 3 Employment Uses 
Guidance

Additional design principles apply to development proposals 
for Business (B1), General Industrial (B2) and Storage and 
Districution (B8) uses. Please refer to the Dacorum Strategic 
Design Guide Part 3 Employment Uses Guidance.

National Design Guide Principles

Government has recently published the National Design 
Guide which helps to inform development proposals and 
their assessment by local planning authorities. The Dacorum 
Strategic Design Guidance is consistent with the National 
Design Guide’s aspirations and principles for creating 
beautiful, enduring and successful places, but provides further 
local detail for designers. Both documents should be read in 
conjunction and underpin Dacorum’s approach to delivering 
on paragraph 130 of the National Planning Policy Framework.

P
age 167



5

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
in

ci
pl

es
  I

 In
tr

od
uc

tio
n

Key 

Design Principle Categories Example

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

 

  

  

 

 

 

 

 

Ad ditional Guidanc e 
• Living  St reets: C reating Walk-able Cities, A Blueprint  
for Change

Design principles are 
grouped into themed 
categories

A Distinctive Place

A Compact Place

A Place for All

A Connected Place

With Great Streets and Spaces

With Great Homes

Active and Healthy

Facing the Climate Crisis

Flexible and Adaptable

For the Long Term

Title for each design 
principle

Design aim, offering an 
explanation as to why the 
principle is important

Photo example 
of successful 
implementation of the 
principle

What is expected in 
designs and will be 
examined during the 
application assessment 
process

Supporting studies, 
standards, policies or 
guidance for the principle

2. A Compact Place

2.1 

Designs should demonstrate:

2.1.1 Walkable neighbourhoods that are  
compact and with a recognisable centre. A centre 
may be comprised of a mixed use local centre or a 
higher order district centre, or a community asset 
such as a primary school, community centre or 
public park. 

2.1.2 Walkable distances to amenities 
such as  schools, community facilities, parks 
and public  transport.

Design Aim
Compact, walkable neighbourhoods are the building 
blocks of inclusive, distinctive and successful places. 
They make efficient use of land, provide easy and 
environmentally-friendly access to everyday facilities, 
and help to build a community.

Additional Guidance 
• Living Streets: Creating Walk-able Cities, A Blueprint 
for Change

Create Walkable Neighbourhoods   
with Identifiable Centres 

How to Use This Guide

Guidance Structure

Design principles are arranged under 10 categories, each 
of which links strategic aims to a checklist of practical, 
measurable principles which designers can implement and 
planning officers can assess. 

Principle of ‘Comply or Justify’

The Strategic Design Guide is to be used following a principle 
of ‘Comply or Justify’. Deviation from the principles and 
design processes set out will only be permitted with robust 
and evidence-based justification for doing so. In such cases, 
developers and their design teams must demonstrate that 
their proposals will deliver the very highest quality design that 
aligns with the aims of each Design Principle theme. Proposals 
that do not comply with these principles and fail to provide 
compelling justification, including evidence and options 
analysis, will be refused.

P
age 168



6

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
in

ci
pl

es
  I

  A
 D

is
tin

ct
iv

e 
Pl

ac
e

Build a Narrative of Place to Inform 
Designs

Understand and Interpret Local 
Development Patterns

1. A Distinctive Place

Overview

The pre-existing context of a site should inform 
future design, ensuring the form and character of the 
new place reflects a locally derived narrative about 
placemaking.  Putting lessons from the local context 
into practice should be achieved through good 
modern design and innovation not in a tokenistic or 
cynical way, or through pastiche.

Design explorations that are informed by a sites wider 
economic, social, historical and physical contexts lead 
to the creation of a strong ‘Narrative of Place’. Taken 
from the perspective of the resident or visitor, each 
new neighbourhood should unfold through a sequence 
of consciously curated spaces and design details that 
link a site back to its wider urban and / or rural context.

1.1 1.2 

Designs should demonstrate:

1.1.1 A clear narrative of place that underpins and 
rationalises design decisions.

1.1.2 Use of the Observing, Evaluating and Making 
a Place design process outlined in this Part 1 of this 
Guidance, alongside any place-specific visions or 
strategies produced by the Authorities, if existing.

Designs should demonstrate:

1.2.1 How local spatial typologies (including but 
not limited to those outlined in this guidance) have 
been interpreted and applied.

1.2.2 How local landscape (including but not 
limited to field patterns, tree species or hedgerows) 
has been interpreted and applied.

Design Aim
To employ the Design Process set out in this guidance 
(Part 1) to build a place narrative as a starting point for 
exemplar design which responds to the local context.

Design Aim
To draw on local historic development patterns in the 
design of new places and to continue traditions which 
reinforce local distinctiveness.

Additional Guidance 
• Landscape Character Areas:
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/
recycling-waste-and-environment/landscape/
landscape-character-assessment.aspx 

Horsted Park, Kent. Proctor & Matthews Architects. Photo: Tim Crocker

Abode, Cambridge. Proctor & Matthews Architects. Photo: Tim Crocker Accordia, Cambridge. Feilden Clegg Bradley. Photo: Tim Crocker

Additional Guidance 
• Spatial visions or design strategies produced by 
the Authorities for site and/or its wider context 

P
age 169



7

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
in

ci
pl

es
  I

  A
 D

is
tin

ct
iv

e 
Pl

ac
e

Be Historically Inspired, Design for 
the Future

1.3 

Additional Guidance 
• Distinctively Local, Proctor and Matthews 
Architects 
• Identity and Place: Where do Houses Live? 

Designs should demonstrate:

1.3.1     Application of a palette of local patterns, 
street forms, soft and hard landscaping, vernacular 
building forms, materials and textures applied to meet 
contemporary design challenges.

Design Aim
To use and innovate with local patterns, street forms, soft 
and hard landscaping, vernacular building forms, materials 
and textures so that places reflect the district’s character.

Additional Guidance 
• Distinctively Local, Proctor and Matthews Architects 
• Identity and Place: Where do Houses Live? , Proctor 
and Matthews Architects
• Canal and River Trust: Great Waterside Places guidance

mead:
A Meadow, a piece 
of low ground near 
a river

Valley 
Floor

Slopes

High 
Ground

bourne / end:
On a river or stream 
or watercourse

stead / sted:
A ‘place’

hoe:
The slope of a hill

green:
Small, nucleated 
village clustered 
around commons

worth:
Enclosed farmstead

ham:
A sense of 
enclosure, a place 
fenced in

High 
Street

Local Spatial Typologies
Refer to Part 1 Design Process for further detail on how to observe and interpret local development patterns.

Concept cartoon of patterns of built form © Proctor & Matthews Architects

Courtyard Housing, Barking. Patel Taylor. Photo: © Patel Taylor

P
age 170

https://issuu.com/proctorandmatthewsarchitects/docs/final_file_
http://distinctively-local.co.uk/storage/app/media/Distinctively-Local-Fnal-Report.pdf
https://issuu.com/proctorandmatthewsarchitects/docs/final_file_


8

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
in

ci
pl

es
  I

 A
 C

om
pa

ct
 P

la
ce

Designs should demonstrate:

2.2.1 A mix of complementary uses, which accord 
with site-specific policies, that provide for the social, 
economic and leisure needs of existing and new 
residents and visitors. 

2.2.2 Adequate provision of land for business 
and infrastructure including transport, utilities, 
community and green infrastructure, which as a 
minimum achieves/complies with the required space 
standards for each type of infrastructure.

2.2.3 Co-location of different uses to maximise 
public realm activity throughout the daytime and 
evening to provide opportunities for diverse social 
interactions, especially along strategic routes and at 
key nodes.

2.2.4 Measures to minimise adverse impacts 
from co-location of uses, such as the use of 
landscape buffers for industrial buildings or separate 
service access for large-footprint retail units.

2. A Compact Place 2.1 2.2 Include A Rich Mix of Uses

Designs should demonstrate:

2.1.1 Neighbourhoods that are compact and with 
a recognisable centre. A centre may be comprised 
of a mixed-use local centre or a higher order district 
centre, or a community asset such as a primary 
school, community centre or public park.

2.1.2 Walkable distances to amenities such 
as schools, community facilities, parks and public 
transport.

2.1.3 Create low traffic neighbourhoods (LTNs).

Design Aim
To create compact, walkable neighbourhoods as the 
building blocks of successful communities, with easy and 
environmentally friendly access to everyday facilities.

Design Aim
To achieve a mix of complementary uses to enhance life 
for existing and new residents, and to create an active and 
vibrant neighbourhoods rather than dormitory housing 
estates.

Additional Guidance 
• Living Streets: Creating Walk-able Cities, A Blueprint 
for Change
• Living Streets: A Guide to Low Traffic Neighbourhoods
• TCPA guidance

Overview

Future neighbourhoods will frequently need to be built 
at higher densities than existing nearby settlements, 
owing to national policy imperatives for sustainable 
development and efficient use of land.

Create Walkable Neighbourhoods   
with Identifiable Centres 

Market Place, St Albans

Eddington Square, Cambridge

P
age 171



9

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
in

ci
pl

es
  I

  A
 C

om
pa

ct
 P

la
ce

Design Aim
To use all land efficiently and effectively and ensure no 
ambiguous spaces are created.

Design Aim
To embed place hierarchies based on the inter-play 
between density, accessibility, function and scale to create 
active, memorable places and legible neighbourhoods. 

2.3 Make Efficient Use of Land 2.4      Use a Hierarchy of Density and Scale

Designs should demonstrate:

2.4.1 A clear spatial hierarchy that will direct the 
detailed design of each neighbourhood, including 
the design, height, bulk, massing and configuration 
of buildings, the width and capacity of streets, the 
scale and function of spaces and the landscape 
character.

2.4.2 A spatial hierarchy that locates higher 
residential densities, facilities and employment 
closest to neighbourhood centres, accessible 
transport corridors and to existing settlements. 

Designs should demonstrate:

2.3.1 Street layouts which lead to efficient 
development parcels. 

2.3.2 No unused or undefined areas of land 
without a clear purpose or ownership. 

2.3.3 Use of land for multiple purposes where 
possible, such as shared sports facilities, or 
residential units above ground floor retail, services or 
facilities.

Fishpool Street, St Albans Abode, Cambridge. Proctor & Matthews Architects. Photo: Tim Crocker

P
age 172



10

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
in

ci
pl

es
  I

  A
 P

la
ce

 fo
r A

ll

Provide Housing and Facilities for 
Different Ages

3. A Place for All 3.1 3.2 Integrate Different Housing Tenures

Designs should demonstrate:

3.2.1 A range of tenures, dwelling sizes and 
housing typologies which reflects the housing need 
set out in the relevant Local Plan and SHMA.

3.2.2 Affordable dwellings distributed across the 
development, with affordable dwellings available 
across housing typologies and dwelling sizes 
proposed in the development.

3.2.3 Tenure blind design, with no discernible 
difference in appearance or construction quality 
between affordable and market dwellings, and, where 
possible, mixed tenures within buildings avoiding 
separate entrances and open spaces.

Designs should demonstrate:

3.1.1 Accommodation suitable for older people 
close to local centres and facilities.

3.1.2 Residential accommodation providing 
different levels of care for older people.

3.1.3 Intergenerational living opportunities within 
residential areas.

3.1.4 Provision of social and community facilities 
that bring together all ages, such as co-located 
nurseries and residential care homes.

Design Aim
To achieve integrated and inclusive neighbourhoods that 
can accommodate people in homes that meet their needs 
and care requirements, enabling them to remain within their 
community at each stage of their lives.

Design Aim
To provide housing for all socio-economic groups as a vital 
part of creating mixed, integrated neighbourhoods and 
facilitating social cohesion. 

Additional Guidance 
• RIBA  - Designing for an Ageing Population
• RIBA  - Age-Friendly Housing: Future design for 
older people

Overview

Buildings, streets and spaces should be welcoming 
and should meet the needs and wants of people. The 
guidance demonstrates how new developments can 
be welcoming to and meet the needs of all people.

Park House, Harpenden. RCKA. Photo: RCKa / Jakob Spriestersbach Abode, Cambridge. Proctor & Matthews Architects. Photo: Tim Crocker

Steepleton, Tetbury. Proctor & Matthews Architects. Photo: Tim Crocker

P
age 173



11

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
in

ci
pl

es
  I

 A
 P

la
ce

 fo
r A

ll

Ensure All Places are Accessible 
to Everyone

3.3 

Design Aim
To design buildings, streets and public spaces for a 
wide range of users, including those with visual, hearing, 
movement and other impairments, through to people 
with pushchairs, carrying shopping or performing other 
everyday activities, to ensure everyone can live and get 
around easily. 

Design Aim
To integrate play throughout new places, creating fun and 
interesting focal points and meeting places for a wide 
range of age groups.

Additional Guidance 
• Play England: Design for Play, Fields in Trust: 
Guidance for Outdoor Sport and Play

Additional Guidance 
• DfT: Inclusive Mobility, Roads in Hertfordshire: A 
Design Guide, 
• CABE: Sight Line, Designing Better Streets for 
People with Low Vision
•Sign Design Society: Sign Design Guide

3.4      Integrate Play

Designs should demonstrate:

3.4.1 Exciting multi-sensory play spaces for children 
and young people of all ages which are well integrated 
within the urban realm or the open space network and 
located where they can be overlooked.

3.4.2 Shade and benches within play areas to provide 
comfort.

3.4.3 Inclusion of play opportunities in the public 
realm beyond formal play areas, by the provision of 
features that are of interest to children, teenagers 
and young people and by making the most of green 
infrastructure for natural play opportunities, in particular 
along the routes to school and recreational facilities.

Designs should demonstrate:

3.3.1 Public realm that is accessible for those with 
mobility impairments, with clear and direct routes 
between places and step free alternatives where 
local topography or level changes may present 
impediments to movement.

3.3.2  Tactile surfaces to delineate space for those 
with visual impairments.

3.3.3 Regular street crossings with clear sight 
lines on busier streets, to help those with hearing 
difficulties.

3.3.4 Safe and comfortable frequent places to stop 
and rest in the public realm.

3.3.5 Clear wayfinding to help those with dementia 
or learning difficulties.

3.3.6 Accessible and step free buildings and public 
spaces throughout, including homes, commercial 
buildings, public facilities and all other uses.

Polnoon, Eaglesham. Proctor & Matthews Architects. Photo: Dapple

P
age 174



12

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
in

ci
pl

es
  I

  A
 C

on
ne

ct
ed

 P
la

ce

Be Physically Connected4. A Connected Place 4.1 4.2 Be Socially Connected

Designs should demonstrate:

4.2.1 The extent and scale of new services and 
facilities to meet the needs of new development.

4.2.2 New community facitilies located in the 
densest part of the development, also considering 
walking, public transport links where they can be 
easily accessed and used by both existing and new 
residents.

4.2.3 Where preferable and justifiable in planning 
terms, improvements to the quality and capacity of 
existing facilities in nearby neighbourhoods.

4.2.4  Locations where temporary uses could be 
provided to support the development of community 
and place during the phased build-out of the site.

Designs should demonstrate:

4.1.1 Clear, frequent and direct links between 
new and existing places, achieved where possible 
by extending existing routes to achieve seamless 
integration.

Design Aim
To ensure a high degree of connectivity between and 
throughout neighbourhoods, reflective of the historic 
pattern of urban settlements within the districts.

Design Aim
To achieve functional integration between new and existing 
communities through the provision of new facilities, or 
by enhancing the existing facilities present in adjacent 
neighbourhoods.

Overview

New development needs to be spatially and 
functionally integrated with existing urban areas. 

The Enterprise Centre in Priors Hall, CorbyGoldsmith Street, Norwich. Mikhail Riches. Photo: Tim Crocker 

Northstowe Town Park. CGI: Allies and Morrison for Homes England

P
age 175



13

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
in

ci
pl

es
  I

  A
 C

on
ne

ct
ed

 P
la

ce

Be Visually Connected4.3 

Design Aim
To visually connect places in order to improve legibility and 
enhance local character and distinctiveness.

Design Aim
To accommodate changing work patterns, such as home 
working and flexible hours, and create the opportunity to 
integrate economic activity with residential areas, creating 
vibrant places, and opportunities for local employment and 
flexible work patterns.

Design Aim
To enhance opportunities for new and existing residents 
to access the natural environment, to promote health 
and well-being, and enjoyment of the green character of 
Dacorum and St Albans.

4.4 Be Economically Connected 4.5 Be Naturally Connected

Designs should demonstrate:

4.4.1 Integration of local economic activity, 
community enterprise and job creation through 
provision of office, retail or workshop spaces of 
different sizes and costs within the neighbourhoods 
and shared office spaces/hubs.

4.4.2 The potential for live-work units.

4.4.3 Provision of Fibre to Home to multiple 
providers for all dwellings, and fibre-optic 
infrastructure to business and community spaces.

Designs should demonstrate:

4.5.1 Safe, direct and attractive walking 
and cycling routes to nearby open spaces and 
landscapes, conveniently located for all residents 
and visitors.

4.5.2 A connected network of green and blue 
infrastructure to bring nature into the urban realm in 
an accessible way so that it is integrated seamlessly 
into residents’ and employees’ everyday journeys and 
activities. 

Designs should demonstrate:

4.3.1  A carefully considered approach to the 
location and alignment of views and vistas to achieve 
visual links between places and spaces and to the 
surrounding landscape,

4.3.2 Deliberate placement of townscape 
markers, and the careful integration of any landscape 
and historic features, at key nodes within the 
movement network. 

4.3.3 A roof-scape and silhouette which 
responds to the topography and is based on local 
spatial typologies.

4.3.4 Any mitigation measures aimed at reducing 
the visual impacts of new development on sensitive 
receptors (such as listed buildings) .

Additional Guidance 
• Green Infrastructure by Design, Natural England: 
Green Infrastructure Guidance
• Hertfordshire Strategic Green Infrastructure Plan, 
• UK Green Building Council: Demystifying Green 
Infrastructure

The Enterprise Centre, AlconburyMountfield Park, Canterbury. Proctor & Matthews Architects Derwenthorpe, York. Richard Partington. Photo: Tim Crocker 

P
age 176



14

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
in

ci
pl

es
  I

  A
 C

on
ne

ct
ed

 P
la

ce

Be Historically Connected4.6 

Design Aim
To enrich the narrative of place through the integration, 
renovation and reuse of existing heritage assets.

Design Aim
To maximise the number of journeys beyond the 
neighbourhood which are made by sustainable travel 
modes. 

4.7 Be Sustainably Connected

Designs should demonstrate:

4.7.1 Adherence to local travel plans and 
transport strategies so that developments actively 
contribute towards achieving the aims of local travel 
plans and transport strategies.

4.7.2 Principal or primary streets designed for 
public transport access, functioning as part of the 
wider transport strategy, with bus stops located 
within neighbourhood centres and within a 400m 
walking distance/ 5-minute walk from all homes and 
workplaces.

4.7.3 Transport corridors which provide direct 
routes, prioritise public transport and minimise 
journey times.

4.7.4 Extension of existing strategic cycling 
networks to the new place.

4.7.5 Walking and cycling routes to neighbourhood 
centres, employment areas and places of interest 
beyond the site boundary that are safe and more 
convenient than vehicle routes and provide accessible 
routes through areas of hilly topography.

4.7.6 Future proofing in anticipation of changes 
in transport, such as on-demand minibuses, 
autonomous public transport and integrated 
transport systems.

Designs should demonstrate:

4.6.1 Where appropriate, innovative uses for 
existing heritage assets, including farm buildings 
and farm houses, such as community facilities, 
cafes or meeting places, which meet the needs 
of a wide range of different user groups. Where 
innovative uses/re-purposing is not appropriate, 
active measures should be taken to enhance the 
accessibility (visual/physical) of heritage assets.
 
4.6.2 Suitable settings (either built or landscape) 
for existing listed buildings and other identified 
heritage assets to avoid negative visual impact on 
the asset.

Dollman Farm, Houlton, Rugby

P
age 177



15

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
in

ci
pl

es
  I

  G
re

at
 S

tr
ee

ts
 a

nd
 P

ub
lic

 S
pa

ce
s

Create a Legible, Navigable, 
Memorable Place

Create a Clear, Flexible Hierarchy of 
Streets

5. Great Streets and 
Public Spaces

5.1 5.2 

Designs should demonstrate:

5.2.1 A clear set of principles to define primary, 
secondary and tertiary streets in a way that reflects 
their relative importance and intended use, and 
responds to the identified local spatial typologies. 

5.2.2 Primary streets that connect 
neighbourhoods, promote and encourage 
sustainable and active travel, deliver good quality 
hard and soft landscape solutions to create a 
pleasant pedestrian environment and integrate car 
parking opportunities where appropriate. 

5.2.3 Secondary streets that permeate 
neighbourhoods, with footpaths on each side and a 
variety of formal and informal street planting. Their 
design should require slow traffic speeds.

5.2.4 Tertiary streets to provide access to homes 
which can include lanes, mews and shared surfaces. 
Their design should require very slow traffic speeds.

5.2.5 For all street types, carriageways with the 
minimum width possible and with clear pedestrian 
priority. 

Designs should demonstrate:

5.1.1 A rich and well-articulated townscape 
that utilises townscape markers, thresholds and 
boundaries to enhance legibility and wayfinding with 
larger scale and height along strategic routes or 
within local centres.

5.1.2 A connected grid of streets and routes 
which respect desire lines and minimises the use 
of cul-de-sacs and counter-intuitive changes in 
direction.

5.1.3 Locations requiring a bespoke architectural 
design approach as part of the legibility and 
orientation strategy.

5.1.4 Neighbourhoods that are characterised by 
a rich variety of streets, lanes, parks, mews, squares 
and civic spaces to enhance urban diversity and 
allow for a range of uses.

Design Aim
To make it easy for all users to find their way around a place 
to encourage walking, facilitate the discovery of locally 
accessible services, and the creation of distinctive and 
memorable public spaces for meeting, socialising and 
business.

Design Aim
To ensure the structure and function of a place is reflected 
though a hierarchy of streets and spaces, from primary 
streets and civic squares down to quiet residential streets 
and pocket parks. 

Overview

Public spaces, including streets, squares, open spaces 
and focal points, determine the character of an area 
and its identity. Successful public spaces are well-
used by a range of people, facilitated by designs which 
promote a sense of safety, comfort and pedestrian 
priority.

Additional Guidance 
• Urban Design Compendium

Additional Guidance 
• Roads in Hertfordshire: A Design Guide
• TfL: Streetscape Guidance 
• Urban Design Compendium

Greenwich Millennium Village, Greenwich. Proctor & Matthews

P
age 178



16

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
in

ci
pl

es
  I

  G
re

at
 S

tr
ee

ts
 a

nd
 P

ub
lic

 S
pa

ce
s

Create Opportunities for 
Interaction

5.3 

Design Aim
To facilitate social interaction through creating great 
streets and spaces, which help build social ties and 
inclusivity, with the knock-on impacts of improving mental 
health and reducing social isolation.

Design Aim
To generate a sense of safety in the urban realm by ensuring 
public realm is visible and is strengthened by passive 
surveillance from homes and businesses.

Design Aim
To create a memorable place with an interesting and 
enjoyable street-level experience for pedestrians, using 
high quality, varied frontages which are responsive to local 
patterns and traditions.

5.4 Create Safe, Overlooked Spaces 5.5 Create Good Frontages

Designs should demonstrate:

5.4.1 Active frontages to areas of public realm, with 
entrances and windows or active ground floor uses 
positioned to enable overlooking. Where buildings 
cannot achieve an active frontage for justifiable 
reasons, buildings on the opposite side of the street 
should enable natural surveillance.

5.4.2 Street lighting that is appropriate to the 
street and public realm character and function.

5.4.3 Building typologies that address corners 
effectively, offering good overlooking on both sides.

Designs should demonstrate:

5.5.1 High streets or retail and commercial 
streets and spaces with a high frequency of building 
entrances.

5.5.2 Activity inside buildings containing 
commercial or retail  uses at ground floor that is 
visible from the public realm. 

5.5.3 Residential layouts where the design of 
car parking and front boundary treatment does not 
undermine the street frontage.

5.5.4 Consistent frontage principles on high 
streets or short parades of shops to reduce visual 
clutter. As a general principle, high streets should 
have a consistent building line and strong continuity 
of built form to reinforce their position in a spatial 
hierarchy.

5.5.5 Communal entrances to apartment 
buildings should be directly from the street.

Designs should demonstrate:

5.3.1 Opportunities for social interaction and 
meeting, sitting and business ‘spill-out’ space in the 
public realm.

5.3.2 Entrances and front gardens located so as 
to facilitate interaction between neighbours.

5.3.3 Shared workspaces for meetings and 
collaboration between the users of different 
commercial units, to be provided either within the 
individual units or as part of the wider employment 
area. 

5.3.4 A public realm that incorporates the smart 
use of internet and outside areas for working with Wi-
Fi connections. 

Additional Guidance 
• Manual for Streets, Manual for Streets 2
• Secured by Design
• Urban Design Compendium

Additional Guidance 
• St Albans City and District: Shopfronts and 
Advertisements

Dujardin Mews, Enfield. KCA & MLA. Photo: Jim Stephenson St Andrews, Bromley by Bow. Maccreanor Lavington. Photo: Tim Crocker

P
age 179



17

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
in

ci
pl

es
  I

  G
re

at
 S

tr
ee

ts
 a

nd
 P

ub
lic

 S
pa

ce
s

Enclose and Scale Streets and 
Spaces Proportionately

Introduce Street Trees and 
Planting

Create Spaces with Comfortable 
Microclimates

5.6 5.7 5.8 

Design Aim
To create streets and spaces that are human in scale 
through careful consideration of proportion and enclosure. 
Reference should also be made to local examples of best 
practice.

Design Aim
To use street trees to provide shade and reduce heat in 
summer, improve environmental quality, slow or capture 
surface water run off, provide visual variety and interest and 
to reinforce green infrastructure networks and to connect 
green spaces.

Design Aim
To design comfortable outdoor spaces that protect against 
excessive sun, re-radiated heat and do not create cold, 
windy or gusty environments, in order to significantly 
extend the usable period of outdoor public spaces for all 
users.

Designs should demonstrate:

5.7.1  A planting strategy which optimises the 
use of locally distinctive tree and plant species, and 
delivers benefits for shade, drainage, air quality and 
biodiversity.

5.7.2  Advanced planting strategies including 
climate-proof species to future-proof the 
development, so that landscape can mature ahead 
of the arrival of the new community.

5.7.3 Use of trees appropriately sized for the 
scale of new development, including semi-mature 
trees where necessary.

Designs should demonstrate:

5.8.1 Public spaces that use solar exposure for 
warmth and are protected against cold winter winds.

5.8.2  Public spaces and streets that provide 
adequate shade in the summer and do not overheat 
through re-radiated heat from buildings.

5.8.3 Building frontages with retractable 
canopies or other means of providing shade, where 
they are exposed to the summer sun, to maximise 
usable outdoor space.

Designs should demonstrate:

5.6.1 Streets and public spaces which are 
enclosed and of dimensions informed by successful 
street case studies, drawn from locally and further 
afield.

5.6.2 Continuous building lines along streets and 
spaces where this is supported by the identified local 
spatial typology, for example along high streets.

Additional Guidance 
• Urban Design Compendium

Additional Guidance 
• Trees and Design Action Group: Trees in the Townscape
• Trees and Design Action Group: Trees in Hard 
Landscapes

Clock House Gardens, Welwyn Garden City Elwick Road, Ashford. Turkington Martin Accordia, Cambridge. Grant Associates. Photo: Tim Crocker

P
age 180



18

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
in

ci
pl

es
  I

  G
re

at
 S

tr
ee

ts
 a

nd
 P

ub
lic

 S
pa

ce
s

5.9 Use High Quality Materials

Design Aim
To enhance civic pride, improve the appearance of a place 
over the long-term, reduce maintenance requirements 
and improve wayfinding using high quality, long-lasting 
materials. 

Design Aim
To design places which prioritise people, active and public 
transport and, lastly, private vehicle users.

Design Aim
To integrate parking in order to minimise its impact on 
public spaces, creating a visually attractive and functional 
environment for people. 

5.10 Reduce Car Dominance 5.11 Integrate Car Parking

Designs should demonstrate:

5.10.1  Prioritisation of pedestrian and cyclist 
needs before those of vehicles. 

5.10.2  Traffic calming measures that are integral 
to the streets design rather than an after-thought. 
Reliance on speed bumps, cushions and similar 
mechanisms is strong discouraged.

5.10.3 A palette of materials and landscape 
design which produces attractive and safe 
environments for using and moving around public 
spaces and streets as a pedestrian.

Designs should demonstrate:

5.11.1 An imaginative use of layout, materials 
and planting to integrate parking into the fabric of a 
neighbourhood with minimal visual and functional 
impact.

5.11.2 The use of on-street parking and 
minimal use of rear parking courts. Rear access 
to properties via parking on mews lanes will be 
permissible where there is no vehicle access to 
the front. In such instances, flats over garages 
(FOGs) should be built to provide passive safety 
surveillance and activity.

5.11.3 Shared space surfaces and Home Zone 
design principles in tertiary streets.

5.11.4 Use of landscaping to minimise the 
visual impact of surface car parks, where they are 
necessary, and where possible the integration of 
surface car parks into blocks to reduce their impact 
on the public realm.

5.11.5 Ensure that public realm isn’t dominated by 
cars parked on footways.

Designs should demonstrate:

5.9.1 Use of materials that are high quality, long-
lasting and low in maintenance and sustainable.

5.9.2 Street surface materials that reduce visual 
dominance of carriageways, and clearly delineate 
use of space such as parking, footpaths, crossings, 
edges and spaces to meet or rest.

Additional Guidance 
• Manual for Streets, Hertfordshire Building Futures 
Toolkit

Additional Guidance 
• Manual for Streets
• CycleNation: Making Space for Cycling
• TfL: Healthy Streets, Living Streets

Additional Guidance 
• English Partnerships: Car Parking, What Works 
Where?
• IHIE: Home Zone Design Guidelines

Wildernesse Mews, Sevenoaks. Morris+Company Abode, Cambridge. Proctor & Matthews Architects. Photo: Tim Crocker

P
age 181



19

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
in

ci
pl

es
  I

 G
re

at
 S

tr
ee

ts
 a

nd
 P

ub
lic

 S
pa

ce
s

Ensure Servicing is Discreet5.12 

Design Aim
To ensure servicing for commercial, retail or catering units 
does not dominate the street or frontages. 

Designs should demonstrate:

5.12.1 Service lanes and yards which are integral 
to the layout of the block and sufficiently discreet to 
avoid a negative impact on neighbourhood amenity. 
Hours of servicing may be limited by planning 
condition.

5.12.2 Discreet accommodation of commercial 
bins, service equipment and service entrances 
so that they do not dominate the streetscape or 
compromise the principle of active frontages and 
overlooked streets.

5.12.3 Provision of loading bays in neighbourhood 
centres to ensure small service vehicles can unload 
and deliver to local shops and businesses without 
blocking the street.

Fenman House, Camden. Maccreanor Lavington. Photo: Tim Crocker

P
age 182



20

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
in

ci
pl

es
  I

  G
re

at
 H

om
es

Housing Fit for the 21st Century 
and Beyond

6. Great Homes 6.1 6.2 Offer Privacy and External Amenity

Designs should demonstrate:

6.2.1 A range of outdoor amenity space that 
is appropriate to the typology and density, relates 
directly to the living environment and offers 
opportunities for extended seasonal use.

6.2.2 Apartment balcony space of a minimum of 
5m2 per 1 bed dwelling and 7m2 per 2-bed dwelling for 
all apartments. Principal balcony space should generally 
be no less than 2 meters deep.

6.2.3 Arrangement of dwellings and amenity 
spaces to carefully consider privacy.

Designs should demonstrate:

6.1.1 Neighbourhoods with a wide variety of 
dwelling sizes responding to the spatial typologies. 
Homes should cater to contemporary household 
types, including single person households as well as 
small and large families, sharers, older people and 
downsizers.

6.1.2 Internal layouts to cater for contemporary 
living preferences including integrated kitchen/
family rooms, home-working space, dedicated utility 
spaces and good levels of storage.

6.1.3 Homes that are digitally connected, 
integrate sustainable technologies and are future 
proofed to anticipate the potential for emerging 
technologies, such as electric car charging.

Design Aim
To deliver homes that meet the changing needs and 
demographics of society and contribute to socially mixed 
and integrated neighbourhoods.

Design Aim
To enable residents of areas of higher and lower density 
alike to enjoy high quality private space and access to the 
outdoors at home, to promote personal space, contact 
with nature, and respite from busy lifestyles.

Overview

The homes we build over the coming decades need 
to drive a change in residential architecture and move 
towards locally distinctive, contemporary housing 
which meets the needs of residents whilst responding 
to the characteristics of a place. Additionally, these 
homes need to surpass those of recent times to 
achieve far greater levels of sustainability in their 
construction and operation.

Additional Guidance 
• CABE: Privacy in New Build Housing

Moray Mews, Enfield. Peter Barber. Photo: Morley von Sternberg

Woodside Square, Pollard Thomas Edwards. Photo: © Morley von Sternberg

P
age 183



21

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
in

ci
pl

es
  I

 G
re

at
 H

om
es

Create Clear Points of Entry from 
the Street

6.3 

Design Aim
To design homes which which positively address the street.

Design Aim
To maximise opportunities to bring sun and daylight into 
the homes, including the circulation space, to create a 
sense of spaciousness in all homes.

Design Aim
To provide good amounts of storage for all homes to 
meet short, medium and long term storage needs that 
are generous and usable and to ensure spaces including 
balconies and garages do not need to be used for storage.

6.4 Maximise Space and Daylight 6.5 Storage and Utilities

Designs should demonstrate:

6.4.1 Good space planning with enough space 
and rooms sized for the number of occupants.

6.4.3 Dwellings of adequate size to support 
lifetime use. This may be achieved by meeting the 
national minimum space standards and exceeding 
them for family-sized dwellings.

6.4.4 Generous fenestration and large areas of 
glazing to allow for naturally well-lit homes and a 
seamless connection between living and external 
amenity spaces, whilst remaining appropriate to 
the typology and residential comfort. Glazing to all 
habitable rooms should be not less than 20% of the 
internal floor area of the room.

6.4.5 Apartments that are dual aspect wherever 
possible.

Designs should demonstrate:

6.5.1 Adequate storage is provided throughout 
the home: kitchens that maximise storage 
opportunities; bedrooms that allow for the easy 
installation of fitted wardrobes, an alternative 
furniture layout and access around all sides of the 
bed; general storage cupboards that provide usable 
shelving, and lofts that are designed to allow long 
term storage. Built-in storage provision should as 
a minimum comply with the areas set out in the 
Nationally Described Space Standards.

6.5.2  Separate utility rooms for 4 and 5-bedroom 
homes.

Designs should demonstrate:

6.3.1  Building entrances positioned to be visible 
from the street, create active frontages and a clear 
address. Ground floor apartments should have their 
own street address.

6.3.2  Importance given to entrances and provision 
of adequate threshold space to dwellings, appropriate 
to the typology.

6.3.3  Landscape and privacy strips as an integral 
part of the design and not as an afterthought.

6.3.4  Short thresholds with private space 
delineated from the public realm by an appropriate and 
attractive boundary material.

6.3.5       Shared access to apartments provided on the 
principal frontage.

Additional Guidance 
• Ipsos MORI / RIBA - The Way We Live Now
https://www.ipsos.com/sites/default/files/
publication/1970-01/sri-riba-the-way-we-live-now-
may-2012.pdf

Portobello Square. Kensington. PRP. Photo: PRP Terrace of the Future. HTA Design LLP

P
age 184



22

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
in

ci
pl

es
  I

  G
re

at
 H

om
es

6.6 Discreet Waste Storage 6.7 Discreet Utilities

Designs should demonstrate:

6.6.1  Discreet domestic bin storage areas, which 
meet local authority waste guidance.

6.6.2 Innovative solutions for waste in higher-
density areas or where tracking for waste disposal 
vehicles to all homes would compromise the 
intended character of a space or street. These may 
include underground waste systems. 

Designs should demonstrate:

6.7.1 Outdoor utility/meter boxes that are 
integrated into the dwelling design and are not visible 
on the principal elevation.

6.7.2 Flues and service risers should not appear on 
principal façades.

Design Aim
To successfully integrate bin storage and ensure waste 
management systems are easy to use to ensure refuse 
vehicle access does not adversely affect the design of the 
built environment.

Design Aim
To successfully integrate utilities to ensure they do not 
adversely affect the design of the built environment.

Dujardin Mews, Enfield. KCA & MLA. Photo: Jim Stephenson William Street Mews, London. AHMM. Photo: Rob Parrish

P
age 185



23

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
in

ci
pl

es
  I

  A
ct

iv
e 

an
d 

H
ea

lth
y

Create Attractive Safe and Usable 
Walking and Cycling Routes

7. Active and Healthy 7.1 7.2 Incorporate Cycle Parking

Designs should demonstrate:

7.2.1 Convenient bicycle storage at all dwellings, 
with apartment buildings having ground-floor, secure 
storage areas, and all houses having secure cycle 
parking space with convenient access, to a level of 
provision which meets Local authority standards.

7.2.2 Secure bicycle and scooter parking at all 
employment locations, such as secure bike lockers, 
and at schools. 

7.2.3 Cycle stands near retail or community 
facilities, and at public transport stops and benefiting 
from natural surveillance.

Designs should demonstrate:

7.1.1 A comprehensive walking and cycling 
network throughout the development, overlooked 
by active frontages and well-lit to ensure passive 
surveillance and feelings of safety. 

7.1.2 Cycling routes and safe off-road routes 
between homes and key destinations - schools, 
employment, neighbourhood centres, and links to 
the existing cycle network.

7.1.3 Cycle lanes that are physically segregated 
by kerb or upstand on primary streets where traffic 
speeds or volumes are high.

7.1.4 Cyclist priority at junctions with side-roads, 
reinforced using materials and level changes.

7.1.5 At busy or controlled junctions, 
incorporation of Cyclops safety camera junction 
design principles to continue the cycling route.

Design Aim
To deliver attractive walking and cycle routes which protect 
cyclists from traffic, provide direct connections and pass 
through high-quality spaces.

Design Aim
To provide convenient and secure cycle parking at home, 
at nodes and destinations and as a key feature of all public 
transport infrastructure in order to facilitate multi-modal 
trips. 

Overview

All places should support healthy communities through 
the integration of open space, good access to sports 
and community facilities, prioritisation of active travel 
and reduction of air pollution, and well-planned, 
contemporary healthcare facilities.

Additional Guidance 
• CycleNation: Making Space for Cycling
• London Cycling Design Standards - Chapter 8

Additional Guidance 
• Public Health England - Spatial Planning for Health
• Manual for Streets
• CycleNation: Making Space for Cycling
• TfGM: CYCLOPS - Creating Protected Junctions
• TfL: London Cycling Design Standards

Park Gym. Karavan landscape architecture. Photo: Alex Giacomin

Cycle stands in Hemel Hempstead Town Centre. Photo: DBC

P
age 186



24

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
in

ci
pl

es
  I

  A
ct

iv
e 

an
d 

H
ea

lth
y

Give Prominence to Health7.3 

Design Aim
To ensure that trends relating to population and life 
expectancy are acknowledged in the planning and design 
of new communities, and that adequate provision is made 
for modern healthcare at the earliest possible point in the 
development. 

Design Aim
To offer easy access to sporting facilities, as well as gyms 
and free informal sport provision, to sporting facilities, 
gyms and spaces which can support free informal sport, to 
make participation in sports convenient and appealing.

Design Aim
To provide community food infrastructure, through the 
provision of and access to growing spaces.

7.4 Enhance Access to Sport 7.5 Incorporate Food Production

Designs should demonstrate:

7.4.1 Adherence to the local authority’s open 
space standards and Fields in Trust standards for 
the provision and location of formal open space 
including sports pitches, and adherence to the 
principles of Sport England’s Active Design.

7.4.2 Easy, safe and convenient access to 
sports facilities and opportunities for more informal 
exercise as part of the public realm.

7.4.3 Indoor and outdoor sports facilities 
commensurate with the scale of development and local 
need. Designs should be robust and durable whilst 
making provision for a range of sports.   

7.4.4 Parks should meet Green Flag standards.

7.4.5 Dedicated cycle lanes / routes and secure 
cycle storage, as well as showers provided in 
workspace buildings to encourage people to safely 
and easily cycle to work. 

Designs should demonstrate:

7.5.1 Apartment buildings that explore 
opportunities for shared amenity spaces as well as 
private amenity space. This might include elements 
of productive landscapes, such as allotments 
and opportunities for food growing in communal 
gardens. This is particularly important for homes 
which are Age-Restricted or designed for Later 
Living. Designs should be robust and durable whilst 
making provision for a range of sports.   

7.5.2 Public realm spaces that incorporate 
opportunities for food production or orchards.

Designs should demonstrate:

7.3.1 That adequate land in the right location has 
been identified and safeguarded for the provision of 
necessary healthcare facilities.

7.3.2 Incorporation of the principles of the NHS 
England’s Healthy New Towns initiative and Putting 
Health into Place.

7.3.3 Provision of space suited to formal and 
informal community-oriented well-being events, 
such as ‘Parkrun’.

Additional Guidance 
• NHS England: Healthy New Towns
• NHS England: Putting Health into Place
• UK Green Building Council: Health and Wellbeing in 
Homes

Additional Guidance 
• Fields in Trust: Guidance for Outdoor Sport and Play
• Green Flag Award - Raising the Standard, The Green 
Flag Award Guidance Manual
• Sports England: Active Design Principles,

Incredible Edible, Salford. Photo: Incredible Edible Network

Gadebridge Park. Photo: DBC

P
age 187



25

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
in

ci
pl

es
  I

  A
ct

iv
e 

an
d 

H
ea

lth
y

Design Aim
To offer mitigation measure to air and noise pollution to 
make spaces more healthy and appealing.

7.6 Mitigate the Effects of Pollution

Designs should demonstrate:

7.6.1  Improving air quality, which includes 
reducing exposure to nitrogen oxide, particulate 
matter and other pollutants, through reduced car 
dependency, use of Green Infrastructure for screening 
and street design and the resulting impact on air flow.

7.6.2 Reduced exposure to excessive noise 
through the siting of buildings, mitigation measures 
on the façade and and use of Green Infrastructure for 
screening.

Additional Guidance 
• NICE - Air pollution: outdoor air quality and health - 
Quality statement 2: Planning applications

P
age 188



26

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
in

ci
pl

es
  I

  F
ac

in
g 

th
e 

Cl
im

at
e 

Cr
is

is

Certify Sustainability 8. Facing the Climate 
Crisis

8.1 8.2 Enhance Biodiversity and Habitats 

Designs should demonstrate:

8.2.1 Delivery of biodiversity net gain,  as measured 
by DEFRA’s assessment methodology, in accordance 
with Local Plan policy. A mitigation hierarchy should be 
used: ‘avoid, minimise, restore and offset.

8.2.2 Retention of mature trees, hedgerows and 
substantial net gains in tree cover, using UK sourced 
and locally-significant native species, to meet the local 
authority standards.

8.2.3 Retention and enhancement of valuable green 
infrastructure assets, such as wildlife corridors and 
wetlands.

8.2.4 The inclusion of green and blue infrastructure, 
to include SuDs and the creation of a variety of 
connected habitat types.

8.2.5 Retention of grassland on highway verges 
and the sowing of wildflowers to create meadows.

Designs should demonstrate:

8.1.1 BREEAM Standards Design certificates of a 
minimum of ‘Excellent’ for non-residential buildings.

8.1.2  Achievement of BRE’s Home Quality Mark 
Five Star and other relevant Local Plan targets for all 
residential buildings.

8.1.3 Route toward achieving zero-carbon homes in 
accordance with Local Plan policy. This may be achieved 
through certification such as Passivhaus or appropriate 
carbon offsetting.

8.1.4 ‘WELL Building’ standards for all commercial 
buildings.

Design Aim
To make it clear that homes and workplaces have been 
designed and assessed to meet specific sustainability 
standards.

Design Aim
To enhance biodiversity to ensure it is protected for the 
future and becomes a valuable asset for residents.

Overview

Resilience to climate change should inform every 
stage of the design and development process, with 
an emphasis on capturing opportunities for habitat 
creation, water conservation and green energy 
production.

Additional Guidance 
• UK Green Building Council: Biodiversity and the Built 
Environment

Additional Guidance 
• BREEAM: Technical Manual
• BRE: Home Quality Mark ONE Manual (England)
• UK Green Building Council: Zero Carbon Non-
Domestic Buildings
• Mayor of London - Design for a Circular Economy 
– Primer
•  Passivhaus Trust

Beaulieau Park, Chelmsford. Photo: © Morley von Sternberg

P
age 189



27

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
in

ci
pl

es
  I

  F
ac

in
g 

th
e 

Cl
im

at
e 

Cr
is

is

Drain Places Naturally8.3 

Design Aim
To maximise opportunities for natural drainage at all project 
stages, from masterplanning through to detailed design 
to ensure the development and local watercourses are 
protected in the event of extreme rainfall.   

Designs should demonstrate:

8.3.1 Landscape and urban form accommodating 
Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) to achieve 
greenfield run off rates, while contributing to 
increased biodiversity and improving the water 
quality of surface water run off. 

8.3.2  SuDS infrastructure to provide multiple 
benefits, aiming to incorporate the management 
of water quantity, improvements in water quality, 
amenity provision and increased biodiversity, 
including a consideration of biodiversity net gain.

8.3.3 SuDS measures should be designed at or 
near the surface and located with discharge routes 
following the SuDs hierarchy.  Infrastructure may be 
located in informal or semi-natural areas of open 
space, parks and amenity green spaces (using, for 
example, measures such as swales or attenuation 
ponds), as well as in built up areas (using, for example, 
measures such as rills, rain gardens and green walls 
and roofs). 

8.3.4 Designs should demonstrate a sub-
catchment approach utilising source control 
methods where possible (using, for example, 
permeable surface materials to facilitate sustainable 
surface water drainage at source). 
 

8.3.6 Minimal reliance on solutions requiring 
extensive and ongoing maintenance. Ensure SuDs 
and soft landscape maintenance plans are co-
beneficial in order to minimise both current and 
future risk of SuDS failing due to lack of maintenance.

8.3.7  Drainage must be able to perform under 
extreme rainfall events and meet national non-
statutory technical standards with an appropriate 
uplift for climate change in line with the latest 
national climate change models.

8.3.8. SuDS should demonstrate an appropriate 
management and treatment train to assist in 
meeting water quality objectives under the EU water 
framework directive.

8.3.9  Drainage able to perform under extreme 
rainfall events predicted under 2050 climate models.

Additional Guidance 
• Ciria: The SuDS Manual
• TfL: SuDS in London
• Urban Design London: Designing Rain Gardens, A 
Practical Guide
• HCC Local Flood Risk Management Strategy 2019-
2029

Elvetham Heath, Fleet, Hampshire. Photo: © Hydro International Bridget Joyce Square. Community SuDS Park & Robert Bray Associates

P
age 190



28

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
in

ci
pl

es
  I

  F
ac

in
g 

th
e 

Cl
im

at
e 

Cr
is

is

Maximise Natural Heating and 
Ventilation

8.5 

Design Aim
To heat and cool buildings by natural means.

Designs should demonstrate:

8.5.1 Building orientation and internal layouts 
designed to maximise solar gain.

8.5.2 Dual-aspect dwellings with good passive 
ventilation.

8.5.3 An appropriate mitigation strategy to avoid 
summertime overheating under future forecast 
climate scenarios. Specifically, layouts, glazing, 
shading and façade treatment.

8.5.4 Internal service designs and ventilation 
strategies should take account of the anticipated 
local climate to 2050 and beyond.

Additional Guidance 
• UK Green Building Council: Sustainable Innovation 
Manual

Conserve Energy and Reduce 
Carbon Emissions

8.6 

Design Aim
To make low-carbon building techniques and locally 
sourced sustainable materials the norm for all development 
in order to reduce energy use and embodied carbon 
emissions. To deliver carbon neutral where possible.

Designs should demonstrate:

8.6.1 Innovative proposals such as carbon-
neutral parks or on-site energy generation.

8.6.2 LED street lighting throughout.

8.6.3 Discrete on-street electric car charging points,  
especially in neighbourhood centres, to a quantum 
that meet local authority requirements.

8.6.4 Smart meters installed in all homes.

8.6.5 Use of Modern Methods of Construction 
(MMC).

8.6.6 Source low carbon and  locally sourced 
materials for construction with 25% of materials to 
be recycled.

8.6.7 Reducing the development’s use of 
resources across its life cycle, including during the 
construction phase. Low-carbon and recycling 
targets should be included in development 
contracts.

Additional Guidance 
• UK Green Building Council: Sustainable Innovation 
Manual and Zero Carbon Non-Domestic Buildings

Design Aim
To maximise water efficiency, in order for the development 
to be more environmentally sustainable, while providing 
lower cost benefits to residents.

8.4 Conserve Water

Designs should demonstrate:

8.4.1 That BREEAM credits for water efficiency in 
non-residential buildings will be maximised.

8.4.2 That maximum rainwater and grey water 
recycling has been incorporated in homes and the 
public realm.

8.4.3 That water saving devices such as water 
efficient white goods, dual flush toilets and water 
efficient shower heads are used throughout.

Langport, Somerset. Langport, Somerset. 

P
age 191



29

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
in

ci
pl

es
  I

  F
ac

in
g 

th
e 

Cl
im

at
e 

Cr
is

is

Create Opportunities for Energy 
Production

Be Resilient to Climate Change 
and Extreme Weather

8.7 8.8 

Design Aim
To secure opportunities for carbon-free energy production 
within developments to meet on-site needs insofar as 
possible.

Design Aim
To ensure that built form and green infrastructure are able to 
withstand adverse weather and high temperatures arising due 
to climate change. 

Designs should demonstrate:

8.7.1 Installation of solar panels and battery 
storage in homes and commercial buildings. These 
should be integral to the design with consideration to 
orientation, sunlight and shading. Any buildings that 
do not have solar panels integrated should be future 
proofed to enable future installation of panels.

8.7.2 For large developments, incorporation of 
sustainable district heating and power networks (CHP) 
where this is an appropriate solution, and community 
energy schemes.

Designs should demonstrate:

8.8.1 Trees and soft landscape species should 
be climate resilient. 

8.8.2 Use of green infrastructure to mitigate the 
Urban Heat Island Effect and in creating shade.

8.8.3 Buildings should be weather tight and robust 
enough to withstand anticipated extremes  of weather.

Additional Guidance 
• Mayor of London: District Heating Manual for 
London
• Carbon Trust: Combined heat and power for 
buildings

Additional Guidance 
• Innovate UK (Technology Strategy Board): Design 
for Future Climate Change
• Hertfordshire Building Futures Toolkit
• TCPA guidance - Planning for Climate Change

Abode, Cambridge. Proctor & Matthews Architects. Photo: Tim Crocker

P
age 192



30

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
in

ci
pl

es
  I

  F
le

xi
bl

e 
an

d 
A

da
pt

ab
le

Create Space for Future Utilities Facilitate Future Adaptation of the Built 
Environment 

9. Flexible and 
Adaptable

9.1 9.2 

Designs should demonstrate:

9.2.1 Plot sizes and shapes that enable 
alternative uses or typologies in the future, ideally 
right-angled and with suitable minimum frontage 
widths. 

9.2.2 Building typologies that permit uses 
to be changed over time, such as incorporating 
convertible ground floors in mixed-use centres and 
employment areas.

9.2.3 Future adaptability of specialist 
accommodation so that it may be converted to 
general residential accommodation.

9.2.4 Public realm that is adaptable to temporary 
uses and future changes, with the minimum amount 
of street ‘clutter’ and the maximum amount of 
amenity. 

Designs should demonstrate:

9.1.1 Under-pavement or under-verge channels 
with routing to all homes and buildings which can 
incorporate future digital or other infrastructure.

9.1.2 Space provision for potential future 
installation of 5G technology in street furniture.

Design Aim
To ensure that utilities infrastructure is designed and 
located to enable future changes to be accommodated

Design Aim
To design buildings and streets with future change in mind. 
so that they may be adapted to meet the demands of 
future change. 

Overview

Buildings and spaces need to be designed and 
constructed with adaptability in mind and anticipating 
social, economic and technological trends.. Over the 
longer term this will save resources and materials and 
will avoid disruption to urban life.  

Additional Guidance 
• Urban Design Compendium
• MHCLG: Lifetime Neighbourhoods
• CABE: What Home Buyers Want

Ryle Yard, NW Cambridge. Maccreanor Lavington. Photo: David Grandorge

P
age 193



31

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
in

ci
pl

es
  I

  F
le

xi
bl

e 
an

d 
A

da
pt

ab
le

Anticipate Changes in Mobility9.3 

Designs should demonstrate:

9.3.1 Dedicated spaces for vehicle sharing or car 
clubs near to dwellings.

9.3.2 Streets that can accommodate future 
changes in transport, for example the reduction 
of private vehicle use, advances in autonomous 
vehicles and increased cycling.

9.3.3 Car parks and car parking spaces for 
housing that are designed to adapt to alternative 
uses in the longer term.

Design Aim
To consider flexible designs that do not ‘lock in’ current 
modes such as private cars, and provide space for future 
shared or autonomous mobility options.

Additional Guidance 
• TfL: Healthy Streets, Carplus: Car Club Parking 
Guidance
• Hertfordshire Local Transport Plan (4)

Van Gogh Walk, Lambeth. Photo: Archie Bashford

P
age 194



32

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
in

ci
pl

es
  I

  F
or

 th
e 

Lo
ng

 T
er

m

10.1 Deliver on the Vision10. For the Long Term 10.2 Be Proactive with Stewardship

Designs should demonstrate:

10.1.1 Retention of the original design team or 
provision for a design guardian to assess ongoing 
delivery proposals against the vision.

10.1.2 Engagement with and responsiveness to a 
Design Review Panel, Dacorum’s Community Review 
Panel and other stakeholders to deliver better 
designs.

Designs should demonstrate:

10.2.1 A strategy and action plan for the 
management of community assets in perpetuity.

10.2.2 Mechanisms to allow community 
involvement in decisions affecting the maintenance 
and management of community assets. 

Design Aim
To ensure compliance and consistency with the approved 
vision for a development throughout the delivery process.

Design Aim
To provide certainty about the management, maintenance 
and funding of community assets. Hertfordshire has 
pioneering examples of how this can be done successfully 
through the original Garden Cities, and later with the New 
Towns. 

Additional Guidance 
• CABE: Protecting Design Quality in Planning
• CABE: How to do a Design Review

Additional Guidance 
• TCPA: Garden Village Principles
• TCPA: Long Term Stewardship Practical Guide
• UK Green Building Council: Role of local leadership 
in creating sustainable homes

Overview

The long-term sustainability of a place requires 
proactive stewardship by, and on behalf of, the 
community. Good places are designed and 
constructed with an eye to ease of management and 
maintenance, with quality and robust detailing and 
materials that minimise the potential for damage and 
replacement. A good place has a clear approach to 
phasing that supports placemaking from the very 
start.

Milton Keynes’ Parks Trust

New Ground co-housing, High Barnet

Masterplanning workshop with key stakeholders for a site. Photo: DBC

P
age 195



33

D
es

ig
n 

Pr
in

ci
pl

es
  I

  F
or

 th
e 

Lo
ng

 T
er

m

Make Maintenance Easy10.3 

Designs should demonstrate:

10.3.1 Use of materials that are high quality, long-
lasting and low in maintenance.

10.3.2 Choice of planting that minimises long-term 
maintenance requirements.

10.3.3 Spaces and use of street furniture that 
facilitate long-term upkeep.

Design Aim
To ensure a high standard of maintenance is possible at all 
times in order to contribute to place quality and local civic 
pride. 

Design Aim
To help new communities get started through a variety 
of techniques in order for new communities to establish 
themselves well before the scheme is fully built-out.

10.4 Build a Community from the Start

Designs should demonstrate:

10.4.1 Early activation projects with community 
involvement. This may include the appointment of 
a community team to lead this process, following 
examples of best practice from other strategic sites 
within the UK.

10.4.2 The early provision of community meeting 
places, on a temporary basis if necessary, to begin 
to generate a community-based activities.

10.4.3 Engage with existing nearby communities 
from the start of the process, through a robust 
and comprehensive community engagement 
programme as part of the Masterplanning process.

Additional Guidance 
• LLDC: Building Community, An Action Plan for 
Building Community in a New Estate

Design Aim
To ensure a high standard of design is taken forward from 
planning stage to delivery.

10.5 Secure Quality at the Planning   
 Stage

Designs should demonstrate:

10.5.1 At the planning stage, applicants should
submit 1:20 bay studies (including part elevation 
and associated sections) of typical elevations. 
These should indicate the proposed materials and 
intended details of key elements of the façades 
including:
• copings;
• windows heads and cills;
• the ground level;
• detail of cladding; 
• proposed materials;
• location of meter cupboards and similar; and an
• outline specification for building materials

10.5.2 At the planning stage, applicants should
submit 1:20 details of key hard and soft landscape 
features. These should indicate the proposed 
materials and intended details of key elements  
including:
• indicative planting plans;
• proposed paving materials and edging;
• street furniture and built planters;
• boundary conditions;
• green roofs or walls if relevant; and an
• outline specification for hard and soft 

landscaping.

Beaulieu Park, Chelmsford Milton Keynes’ Parks Trust

P
age 196



Dacorum Strategic Design Guide
Part 3: Employment Uses Guidance
Supplementary Planning Document 
January 2021

P
age 197



This document was developed collaboratively by  

Dacorum Borough Council, 

St Albans City & District Council, 

HertsIQ,

Proctor & Matthews Architects, and

David Lock Associates.

P
age 198



6  Employment Design Principles  

6 E1. A Healthy Place to Work and Socialise

10 E2. A Multi-Functional, Natural Environment

14 E3. A Sustainable Built Environment

18 E4. A Well Connected, Integrated Place
20 E5. A Pedestrian Focused Place

22 Example in a Wider Framework

23  Building Typologies  

23 Building Typologies - Industrial and Offices
24 Small Industrial Units
25 Large Industrial Units
26 Industrial Units: Best Practice Examples
28 Small Office Units
29 Large Office Units
30 Office Units: Best Practice Examples

ContentsContents
4  Introduction 

4 Employment Uses Guidance
5 How to Use This Guide

Employment Area Guidance

P
age 199



4

Em
pl

oy
m

en
t U

se
s 

 G
ui

da
nc

e 
 I 

 In
tr

od
uc

tio
n

Relationship with Part 2 Design Principles

The Dacorum Strategic Design Guide Part 2 defines the 
strategic design principles which are to be applied across 
sites of all scales and which should underpin design at all 
stages, from site-wide masterplanning to the design of 
blocks, buildings and streets. Proposals for employment 
uses will be expected to demonstrate how they adhere to 
all general Design Principles which are relevant in addition 
to the Employment Design Principles contained within this 
document.

Clusters DetailNeighbourhoods

Masterplan

Industrial / 

Office Typologies
Employment 

Areas

Details

Employment Uses Guidance

Employment Uses Guidance

This document provides guidance to secure contemporary 
employment development which adheres to best practice 
environmental sustainability measures, offers a diverse 
and flexible range of high quality commercial spaces 
for different businesses, and coherent, attractive public 
spaces and streets which encourage healthy working 
lifestyles and social interaction. 

The guidance has been developed in collaboration 
with Hertfordshire Innovation Quarter and will be used 
to promote the highest possible design quality for the 
Enterprize Zone.

Application of the Guidance

The design guidance in this document applies to any 
applications for Business (B1), General industrial (B2) and 
Storage or distribution (B8) uses in excess of 1,000 m2 
GIA.

Relationship with Part 1 Design Process 

Design for employment uses should follow the design 
process set out in the Dacorum Strategic Design Guide 
Part 1. For large sites, employment areas should be 
designed as part of an overall masterplan framework as 
illustrated to the right.

This document is the third part of the Dacorum Strategic Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) outlining 
Dacorum’s expectations for high quality design. This document provides detailed guidance on the design of employment uses.

Maylands Business Centre, Hemel Hempstead. Photo: DBC

P
age 200



5

Em
pl

oy
m

en
t U

se
s 

 G
ui

da
nc

e 
 I 

 In
tr

od
uc

tio
n

How to Use This Guide

Guidance Structure

Employment Design Principles
The first section of this document addresses design 
principles that apply to any employment area regardless 
of its size or use classes.  These design principles are 
illustrated with case studies demonstrating best practice 
examples. 

These design principles are bespoke to employment areas, 
and should be applied in addition to the general Design 
Principles set out in Part 2 of the Dacorum Strategic Design 
Guide.

Building Typologies 
The second section provides design solutions, tailored to 
large and small business and industrial units, which address 
commonly-encountered challenges of parking, servicing 
and relationship to the public realm and ensure that these 
units can meet the employment design principles. Design 
solutions are also illustrated with best practice examples.

Principle of ‘Comply or Justify’

The Strategic Design Guide is to be used following 
a principle of ‘Comply or Justify’. Deviation from the 
principles and design processes set out will only be 
permitted with robust and evidence-based justification for 
doing so. In such cases, developers and their design teams 
must demonstrate that their proposals will deliver the very 
highest quality design that aligns with the aims of each 
Design Principle theme. Proposals that do not comply with 
these principles and fail to provide compelling justification, 
including evidence and options analysis, will be refused.

Key 

E1.2 Placemaking

Designs should demonstrate:

E1.1.1 A range of mixed-use spaces such as 

cafés, restaurants or informal seating areas to...

Key 

Design Principle Categories Example

 

  

  

 

 

 

 

Title for each design 
principle 

E1. A Healthy Place to 
Work and Socialise

E2. A Multi-Functional, 
Natural Environment

E3. A Sustainable Built 
Environment

E4. A Well Connected, 
Integrated Place

E5. A Pedestrian 
Focused Place

What is expected in 
designs and will be 
examined during the 
application assessment 
process

Supporting studies, 
standards, policies or 
guidance for the principle

Additional Guidance 
• Living Streets: Creating Walk-able Cities, A Blueprint 
for Change

Best practice examples 
for each design principle 
theme

Healthy Social Community

Case Study: Here East, LondonStrategic Design Guide 
Part 2 Design Principles

Building Typologies

• Key successful design attributes

• Best practice case study examples

Small Industrial Units
Large Industrial Units
Small Office Units
Large Office Units

P
age 201



6

Em
pl

oy
m

en
t U

se
s 

 G
ui

da
nc

e 
 I 

 E
m

pl
oy

m
en

t D
es

ig
n 

Pr
in

ci
pl

es
  I

 B
ui

ld
in

g 
Ty

po
lo

gi
es

E1. A Healthy Place to Work and Socialise

E1.1 Placemaking

Designs should demonstrate:

E1.1.1 A range of mixed-use spaces such as cafés, 
restaurants or informal seating areas to strengthen the 
connection between the employment area and adjacent 
residential areas. 

E1.1.2 Shared workspaces for meetings and 
collaboration between the users of different commercial 
units, to be provided either within the individual units or 
as part of the wider employment area.  

E1.1.3 Community focused social hubs at the heart of 
schemes to invite the community in.

E1.1.4 A public realm that incorporates the smart 
use of internet and outside areas for working with Wi-Fi 
connections.

E1.2 Health and Well-being

Designs should demonstrate:

E1.2.1 ‘WELL Building’ standards for all commercial 
buildings.

E1.2.2 A comprehensive network of safe and attractive 
connections to surrounding pedestrian and cycle routes, 
public transport and key destinations beyond the site. 

E1.2.3 Opportunities for informal exercise and physical 
activities such as petanque, table tennis or fitness stations, 
to be provided as part of any indoor communal facilities 
and in the public realm.

E1.2.4 Formal sport courts located within the public 
realm to encourage social interaction between the 
different users of the commercial areas, as well as adjacent 
residents.

E1.2.5 That amenity impacts to nearby residents 
and other uses and users have been mitigated and/or 
minimised. These may include noise, vibration, fumes, 
visual and lighting impacts.

E1.2.6 Consultation with the appropriate stakeholders 
and any necessary measures for health and safety 

Overview

Employment areas should be enjoyable and pleasant 
places for people to work, in order to attract 
businesses and their staff. There should be a focus on 
placemaking and also on health and well-being.

Designers should create varied and engaging sites, 
that also serve local residents by providing facilities 
and open space/public space, which thereby 
encourage interaction between the new employees.

Additional Guidance:
https://www.wellcertified.com/certification/v2/

P
age 202



7

Em
pl

oy
m

en
t U

se
s 

 G
ui

da
nc

e 
 I 

 E
m

pl
oy

m
en

t D
es

ig
n 

Pr
in

ci
pl

es
  I

 B
ui

ld
in

g 
Ty

po
lo

gi
es

Best Practice Examples: A Healthy Place to Work and Socialise

Healthy Social Community
Case Study: Here East, London

Facing the Queen Elizabeth Olympic Park is ‘The Gantry’ - a 
gridded structure of bespoke sheds home to independent 
artists, designers and craftspeople. 

Creative businesses based in Hackney and neighbourhoods 
nearby can occupy spaces in Here East, making it a valuable 
part of the local community. 

At the centre of the scheme is the yard, a flexible space that 
can accommodate an outdoor cinema, public markets and a 
public events space for the local community. 

At the centre of the scheme, at one end of the yard, is the 
auditorium, which is used for talks, screenings, exhibitions 
and cultural events for the local community. 

A strong link has also been created with the community of 
nearby Hackney Wick. Encouraging independent bakers, 
brewers and restaurants into units adjacent to the canal, has 
created an area of social exchange.

Existing 

Hackney Wick 

Community

New Residential Developments

Area of social exchange along the canal 
between the new restaurants and the 
existing community opposite

New auditorium at the centre of the 
scheme holds talks and cultural events 
for the local community

The ‘Olympic’ Park facing façade has a 
number of modular artist studios for the 
community to use.

3

321

1

2

Here  East, Stratford. Hawkins\Brown. Photo: Jason Hawkes

Photo: Rory GardinerPhoto: Rory Gardiner Photo: Rory Gardiner

P
age 203



8

Em
pl

oy
m

en
t U

se
s 

 G
ui

da
nc

e 
 I 

 E
m

pl
oy

m
en

t D
es

ig
n 

Pr
in

ci
pl

es
  I

 B
ui

ld
in

g 
Ty

po
lo

gi
es

Community Activation
Case Study: Chiswick Park, London

Chiswick Park’s office buildings all front onto its central 
landscaped area, meaning its users actively engage with the 
public realm and those who share it. 

The buildings towards the centre of the scheme are set back 
in a way that allows the public realm to be contained on all 
sides by active building frontages. 

A central square sits at the heart of the landscaped area, 
with tiered seating around the outer edge. A number of 
events are hosted at this central square, encouraging 
the engagement and investment of the Park’s users in its 
community. 

Chiswick Park central square hosting pop up events Plan showing the buildings set around the central square

Key:

Central square

Active frontages that 
face the square

Best Practice Examples: A Healthy Place to Work and Socialise

Photo: Chiswick Park Enjoy-Work

P
age 204



9

Em
pl

oy
m

en
t U

se
s 

 G
ui

da
nc

e 
 I 

 E
m

pl
oy

m
en

t D
es

ig
n 

Pr
in

ci
pl

es
  I

 B
ui

ld
in

g 
Ty

po
lo

gi
es

Shared Social Spaces
Case Study: Cambridge Science Park

The Bradfield Centre is a co-working space and acts as the 
central hub for Cambridge Science Park. It has an outdoor 
lakeside pavilion which sits in-between the two arms of 
public realm. This pavilion has tiered seating and Wi-Fi to 
encourage working outside as well as a cross-fertilisation of 
ideas between workers. 

Lakeside pavilion with outdoor tiered seating The Bradfield Centre (red) sits at the heart of the public realm

Key:

Key social hub

View across public 
realm corridors

Best Practice Examples: A Healthy Place to Work and Socialise

WELL Certification
Case Study: Green Park, Reading

Green Park is registered to pursue WELL Certification 
through the International WELL Building Institute. 400 and 
450 Longwater Avenue will be the first buildings to achieve 
this certification. The seven concepts of WELL are air, light, 
nourishment, comfort, mind, fitness and water. 

Bradfield Centre. Photo: Stace LLP

P
age 205



10

Em
pl

oy
m

en
t U

se
s 

 G
ui

da
nc

e 
 I 

 E
m

pl
oy

m
en

t D
es

ig
n 

Pr
in

ci
pl

es
  I

 B
ui

ld
in

g 
Ty

po
lo

gi
es

E2. A Multi-Functional, Natural Environment

E2.1 Environmental Sustainability

Designs should demonstrate:

E2.1.1 A strategy for integrated Sustainable Drainage 
Systems (SuDS) and green roofs with the aim of achieving 
green field run off rates, while contributing to increased 
biodiversity and improving water quality of surface water 
run-off. 

E2.1.2 Surface and rainwater harvesting for both 
individual units and the public realm.  The harvested 
water could be re-used within buildings and for the 
irrigation of the landscaped areas. 

E2.1.3 That the landscape and building strategy 
enhances the air quality and reduces pollution levels 
across the site, and adequate arrangements are made for 
the management of waste and emissions and control of all 
forms of pollution.
 
E2.1.4 Innovative forms of green architecture that 
incorporate food production thereby reducing ‘food miles’ 
and reducing packaged waste. Methods could include 
rooftop gardens and vertical gardens, or orchards could 
be incorporated into the public realm.

E2.2 Biodiversity

Designs should demonstrate:

E2.2.1 The retention and enhancement of areas of the 
site that have a high ecological value, and the creation of 
additional ecological value. 

E2.2.2 A landscape strategy that encourages the use of 
suitable local plant species that support and enhance the 
biodiversity of the site whilst also being climate change 
tolerant.

E2.2.3 SuDS can provide areas of increased biodiversity, 
such as by the incorporation of wetland plant species.

E2.2.4 Implementation of bird boxes, bee hives, bug 
hotels.

E2.2.5 Low maintenance planting design, such as wild 
flower verges. Grass lawns should generally be avoided as 
high-maintenance and low-biodiversity solutions.

E2.2.6 A substantial increase in tree coverage, including 
regular street tree planting,  planting to car parks and 
dense vegetation buffers, to create pollution barriers.

Overview

Sustainable and innovative blue and green infrastructure 
can help tackle climate change while also increasing 
the variety of spaces within a development, thereby 
improving the area as a place. 

The new employment areas should be places that are 
sustainable and inspire and encourage residents and 
businesses to contribute towards the success of places 

in environmental terms. 

P
age 206



11

Em
pl

oy
m

en
t U

se
s 

 G
ui

da
nc

e 
 I 

 E
m

pl
oy

m
en

t D
es

ig
n 

Pr
in

ci
pl

es
  I

 B
ui

ld
in

g 
Ty

po
lo

gi
es

Best Practice Examples: A Multi-Functional, Natural Environment

Sustainable Urban Drainage System
Case Study: Chiswick Park, London

Water run off is completely contained within the site, and the 
lakes and waterfall at the centre of the scheme are displayed 
as visible elements of the sustainable urban drainage 
system.  

Rooftop run-off drains into the lake and the lower lake has 
been designed to fill up during times of increased run-off. 

Office units are all focused around the lakes. Pedestrian 
routes run parallel with the length of the lakes and at the 
centre, a bridge cuts across this, joining the two sides.

Local example of sustainable drainage paving in Dacorum Plan showing landscape, permeability and public routes centred around the lakes

Key:

Lower lake, designed 
to fill in periods of high 
rainfall

Key pedestrian route 
along the lakeside

Secondary pedestrian 
route along lakeside

Photo: DBC

P
age 207



12

Em
pl

oy
m

en
t U

se
s 

 G
ui

da
nc

e 
 I 

 E
m

pl
oy

m
en

t D
es

ig
n 

Pr
in

ci
pl

es
  I

 B
ui

ld
in

g 
Ty

po
lo

gi
es

Creation of Multi-Purpose Habitats
Case Study: Cambridge Science Park

A central, protected zone of landscape includes three large 
lakes and wetland shrubbery to help absorb rainwater and 
manage the risk of flooding.

Ecological value has been added to the park in the form of 
summer flowering perennials and ornamental grasses to 
support and nurture the local population of bees.

Summer flowering perennials and ornamental grasses within 
the Cambridge Science Park support local bees

Protected, central green landscape with lakes at Cambridge Science Park

Key:

Protected Landscape 
Zone

Best Practice Examples: A Multi-Functional, Natural Environment

Photo: CSA Environmental

P
age 208



13

Em
pl

oy
m

en
t U

se
s 

 G
ui

da
nc

e 
 I 

 E
m

pl
oy

m
en

t D
es

ig
n 

Pr
in

ci
pl

es
  I

 B
ui

ld
in

g 
Ty

po
lo

gi
es

A Productive and Sustainable Landscape Corridor
Case Study: Green Park, Reading

All of the office units are organised around the central, linear 
corridor of public realm. A network of footpaths run along 
Green Park’s landscape corridor, giving public access to 
the range of habitats on site. Within this landscape corridor 
there is a herb / vegetable garden producing foods such 
as courgettes, tomatoes, chillies and various herbs that are 
then used at the park. 

Habitat Creation and Enhancement
Case Study: Green Park, Reading

An area that was previously poor quality agricultural land has 
been enhanced, to support a wide range of natural habitats. 
Numerous bird hides have been set up along the landscape 
corridor to encourage people to interact with wildlife in the 
new landscape provided.

Rainwater Management
Case Study: Green Park, Reading

The central lake feature, Longwater Lake, acts as a flood 
relief channel for the area whilst also providing vital 
biodiversity to the development. To future proof Green Park 
and reduce flood risk, the development is on platforms set 
above the 1 in 200 annual probability level.

Key:

Key Pedestrian Route

Secondary  
Pedestrian Route

Herb Garden

Best Practice Examples: A Multi-Functional, Natural Environment

Photo: Place Design PlanningPhoto: Paul Grudy, Place Design Planning

P
age 209



14

Em
pl

oy
m

en
t U

se
s 

 G
ui

da
nc

e 
 I 

 E
m

pl
oy

m
en

t D
es

ig
n 

Pr
in

ci
pl

es
  I

 B
ui

ld
in

g 
Ty

po
lo

gi
es

E3. A Sustainable Built Environment

E3.2 Efficient Use of Resources

Designs should demonstrate:

E3.2.1 Reducing vehicular emissions from 
material transport by using local materials and local 
manufacturers. 

E3.2.2 Enabling circular economies of use, recovery 
and re-use with waste or materials recycling facilities.

E3.2.3 Create a built environment that supports free-
cycle events, repair shops and swap shops, to make it 
easier to exchange goods and reuse products. 

E3.2.4 Create a built environment that supports 
sustainable waste methods that would reduce the 
number of waste collections that vehicles make. 

E3.1 Energy Efficiency

Designs should demonstrate:

E3.1.1 Innovative strategies for energy generation 
such as buildings orientated to maximise opportunities 
for solar energy.

E3.1.2 Reducing the development’s use of resources 
across its life cycle, including during the construction 
phase. Low-carbon and recycling targets should be 
included in development contracts.

E3.1.3 Prioritising low-carbon solutions and offering 
high levels of insulation, energy saving measures, natural 
ventilation and use of renewable energy.  

E3.1.4 BREEAM Standards Design certificates of a 
minimum level of ‘Very Good’ for buildings below 1000 
square metres and specifying a minimum BREEAM level 
of ‘Excellent’ for each non-residential building of 1000 
square metres and above.

E3.1.5 Route toward achieving zero-carbon buildings. 
This may be achieved through certification such as 
Passivhaus or appropriate carbon offsetting. 
 

Overview

From the outset of the design and planning process, a 
clean and green energy hierarchy should be adopted 
to ensure the buildings created provide its users with 
high quality and sustainable working conditions. 

Integrating sustainable and innovative ‘smart 
initiatives’ at the forefront of the design, will not only 
attract people to work in the area but also to contribute 
and invest in its vision. 

Additional Guidance: 
https://www.breeam.com/discover/technical-standards/
communities/

P
age 210



15

Em
pl

oy
m

en
t U

se
s 

 G
ui

da
nc

e 
 I 

 E
m

pl
oy

m
en

t D
es

ig
n 

Pr
in

ci
pl

es
  I

 B
ui

ld
in

g 
Ty

po
lo

gi
es

Best Practice Examples: A Sustainable Built Environment

Energy Generation Through PV Panels
Case Study: Gelsenkirchen Science Park, Germany

The Gelsenkirchen Science Park in Germany features a 
300-metre-long glazed building with a series of office 
tracts protruding off of it. On the roof of the building is a 
solar power plant featuring a Photovoltaic system which 
generates sustainable and renewable energy.

Reduced Energy Consumption Through Innovation
Case Study: Gelsenkirchen Science Park, Germany

The tilted west-facing wall of glass is designed to maximise 
solar gain. To limit solar overheating, there is external 
shading mounted on electric motors as well as sheets of 
glass mounted on larger electric motors, all powered by the 
solar PV power plant on the roof. 

By having the sheets of glass set on motors, the entire 300 
metre arcade can be naturally ventilated by air that has 
undergone evaporative cooling having passed over the 
artificial lake to the west of the façade. 

Roof mounted PVs, Gelsenkirchen Science Park, Kiessler + 
Partners Architects.

Tilted and interactive glass façade at the Gelsenkirchen Science Park, with PV Solar Plant on the Roof

Photo: kiessler architekten gmbh Photo: kiessler architekten gmbhP
age 211



16

Em
pl

oy
m

en
t U

se
s 

 G
ui

da
nc

e 
 I 

 E
m

pl
oy

m
en

t D
es

ig
n 

Pr
in

ci
pl

es
  I

 B
ui

ld
in

g 
Ty

po
lo

gi
es

Sustainable Energy Generation
Case Study: Green Park, Reading

At 125m tall, the 2MW state-of-the-art electricity turbine 
produces electricity which feeds straight into the National 
Grid. About 70% of energy generated gets used in a two 
square mile radius around the turbine. The wind turbine 
also has a visitor centre that can be visited by schools and 
groups, promoting and educating on sustainable energy.

Reduced Energy Consumption 
Case Study: Green Park, Reading

Building design at Green Park incorporates horizontal 
louvres on the southern façade to reduce heat gain from 
sunlight and its associated energy consumption.

Wind turbine viewed from the landscape corridorHorizontal louvres at 300 Longwater Avenue

Best Practice Examples: A Sustainable Built Environment

BREEAM Excellent Certification Through Innovation
Case Study: Here East, London

The architects delivered optimised solar control through the 
envelope whilst maximising views and daylight, by creating a 
ceramic frit to the glass generated by parametric data.

There are also solar PV panels (red on the image below) on 
the roofs of two of the buildings, providing the site with up to 
10% site wide renewable energy. 

Aerial diagram (top) and innovative façade (bottom)

Place Design Planning. Photo: Paul GrudyLongwater Avenue, GreenPark. NHA. Photo: Martin CharlesHere East, Stratford. Hawkins\Brown. Photo: Rory Gardiner / GG Archard

P
age 212



17

Em
pl

oy
m

en
t U

se
s 

 G
ui

da
nc

e 
 I 

 E
m

pl
oy

m
en

t D
es

ig
n 

Pr
in

ci
pl

es
  I

 B
ui

ld
in

g 
Ty

po
lo

gi
es

An On-Site Wormery
Case Study: Chiswick Park, London

An on-site wormery houses 100,000 worms, capable of 
breaking down 50kg of food waste per day, thereby reducing 
the number of collections by emission producing vehicles.

Reduced Energy Consumption 
Case Study: Chiswick Park, London

Fully glazed façades maximise views and daylight and are 
managed through the use of retractable fabric blinds on the 
east and west elevations. These blinds operate automatically 
via roof mounted light sensors. 

In addition, fixed external sunshades in the form of a canopy 
of louvres at roof level help shade the building 

surfaces as well as the external spaces directly outside 
of the buildings, meaning people can work outside more 
comfortably without the risk of glare and direct sunlight. 

A displacement heating and cooling system, along with 
extensive natural ventilation, significantly reduces the need 
for air conditioning. 

Solar shading at Chiswick Park

Best Practice Examples: A Sustainable Built Environment

Photo: Chiswick Park Enjoy-Work Photo: Grant Smith, Courtesy of Rogers Stirk Harbour + PartnersP
age 213



18

Em
pl

oy
m

en
t U

se
s 

 G
ui

da
nc

e 
 I 

 E
m

pl
oy

m
en

t D
es

ig
n 

Pr
in

ci
pl

es
  I

 B
ui

ld
in

g 
Ty

po
lo

gi
es

E4. A Well Connected, Integrated Place

E4.1 Connectivity

Designs should demonstrate:

E4.1.1 That the employment area should be physically 
and visually integrated with the existing natural and 
built environment.  

E4.1.2 The employment area should be easily 
accessible for all modes of transport, with good 
connectivity to nearby places, neighbourhoods and 
mainline rail stations. There should be public transport 
stops in strategic locations and in close proximity to 
major buildings or ‘hot spots’. 

 

E4.2 Smart Mobility

Designs should demonstrate:

E4.2.1 Rapid charging points in key areas with 
provision of designated Electric Vehicle parking bays in 
accordance with Dacorum’s Parking SPD standards.

E4.2.2 Measures that give priority to sustainable 
transport modes such as electric bikes, electric taxi 
services and park and ride schemes into the area. 

E4.2.3 Provision of last-mile solutions such as bike 
sharing services with dedicated bike stations or short 
shuttle bus services from stations.

E4.2.4 Dedicated cycle lanes / routes and secure 
cycle storage, as well as showers provided in workspace 
buildings to encourage people to safely and easily cycle 
to work. 

E4.2.5   Digital infrastructure that allows for the use of 
smart mobility applications.
 

Overview

Sustainability cannot be strengthened significantly 
without a substantial part of the transport system 
moving to ‘green mobility’. This means travelling by 
foot, bike or any form of sustainable public transport. 
These forms of transport are beneficial not only to 
the environment, but also to the economy through 
reduced resource consumption. P

age 214



19

Em
pl

oy
m

en
t U

se
s 

 G
ui

da
nc

e 
 I 

 E
m

pl
oy

m
en

t D
es

ig
n 

Pr
in

ci
pl

es
  I

 B
ui

ld
in

g 
Ty

po
lo

gi
es

Best Practice Examples: A Well Connected, Integrated Place

Connections with the Existing Community
Case Study: Here East, London

Here East is well connected to the existing and new 
residential communities in the area. Bridges link the existing 
Hackney Wick community to the canal side shops at Here 
East. Cycle routes also link Here East to the new residential 
developments to the east of the Queen Elizabeth Park. 
A free 5 minute shuttle bus runs from Stratford Station to 
Here East.  

Cycling / pedestrian routes (top). Local example of shuttle 
buses at Maylands business park (bottom. Photo: DBC)

Plan showing the transport links to adjacent areas

Key:

Pedestrian / cycle 
route 

Bus route 

Bus stop

Shuttle bus stop

Train stations

Electric charging 
point

Cycle stations

Here  East, Stratford. Hawkins\Brown. Photo: CG ArchardP
age 215



20

Em
pl

oy
m

en
t U

se
s 

 G
ui

da
nc

e 
 I 

 E
m

pl
oy

m
en

t D
es

ig
n 

Pr
in

ci
pl

es
  I

 B
ui

ld
in

g 
Ty

po
lo

gi
es

E5. A Pedestrian Focused Place

E5.1 Access and Circulation

Designs should demonstrate:

E5.1.1 Wherever practicable all main vehicular 
circulation and servicing access should be discretely 
located at the rear of the buildings and kept separate 
from the pedestrian and cycle network.

E5.1.2 Vehicular access and circulation should be 
located away from the main entrances and screened by 
landscape with the aim to provide a safe and tranquil 
environment for employees and visitors alike.

E5.1.3 HGV access should be located close to the 
building whilst at a safe distance from any pedestrian or 
cycle routes.

E5.1.4 Shared servicing access and service yards 
can be utilised in order to minimise the impact on the 
building frontages and the public realm. 

 

E5.2 Parking 

Designs should demonstrate:

E5.2.1 Parking that has a minimal visual impact on 
the proposed townscape and landscape environment. 
In order to achieve this parking ought to be concealed 
either under the units or at the back of the units hidden 
by walls, screens or landscape.

E5.2.2 Smaller numbers of parking spaces could be 
arranged into dedicated parking areas that are screened 
within the landscape and thus less visually intrusive in 
the public realm.

E5.2.3 Adequate numbers of safe sheltered cycle 
parking including electric charging points need to be 
provided for both employees and visitors. Cycle parking 
should be designed in prominent locations close to 
building entrances to prioritize cycling over vehicular 
movement

E5.2.4 Car barns can be implemented in order to 
ensure the majority of the public realm is vehicle free 
and of a pedestrian focus. 

 

Overview

Designs should create a pedestrian focused place by 
taking into account changing transportation habits and 
planning for these accordingly. See E8 Smart Mobility.

However at the outset of the design process, 
consideration should also be given to the strategic 
positioning of vehicular circulation and access, 
servicing and parking, so that it does not dominate the 
street and the public realm. 

P
age 216



21

Em
pl

oy
m

en
t U

se
s 

 G
ui

da
nc

e 
 I 

 E
m

pl
oy

m
en

t D
es

ig
n 

Pr
in

ci
pl

es
  I

 B
ui

ld
in

g 
Ty

po
lo

gi
es

Best Practice Examples: A Pedestrian Focused Place

Concealed Parking
Case Study: Chiswick Park, London

Designed for pedestrian priority (75 percent of those working 
at Chiswick Park arrive on foot, by bicycle, bus or train), all 
vehicular activity is routed around the edge of the site, to 
screened car parks or under-crofts beneath the buildings. 
These undercroft spaces are neither open to, nor visible 
from, the front elevations.

Parking concealed underneath the buildings Plan showing the parking arrangement within the scheme

Key:

On Plot

Under-croft

Chiswick Park, Hounslow. Rogers Stirk Harbour & Partners

P
age 217



22

Em
pl

oy
m

en
t U

se
s 

 G
ui

da
nc

e 
 I 

 E
m

pl
oy

m
en

t D
es

ig
n 

Pr
in

ci
pl

es
  I

 B
ui

ld
in

g 
Ty

po
lo

gi
es

Employment

Mountfield Park contains 10,000 square metres of business 
space, and provides the potential for over 3,700 jobs with the 
aim of becoming a major business focus within east Kent.

The employment area is set within high-quality strategic 
landscape and has convenient access to high quality public 
transport and local shops. 

Flexible, modern and affordable business space will ensure 
Mountfield Park meets a range of needs, from small start-ups 
to expanding companies and regional HQ’s.

Mountfield Park

Employment Area: Example in a Wider Framework - Mountfield Park

1

1

These employment / commercial zones are strategically 
located within the framework. An example of this is shown 
above (labelled 1), whereby commercial units are integrated 
within a residential area.

Residential

Local Centre

Primary School

Park and Ride

Community Hub / 

Employment Areas

Community Pavilion

Reserve for hospital and 

commercial uses

Landscape

P
age 218



23

Em
pl

oy
m

en
t U

se
s 

G
ui

da
nc

e 
 I 

Em
pl

oy
m

en
t D

es
ig

n 
Pr

in
ci

pl
es

 I 
Bu

ild
in

g 
Ty

po
lo

gi
es

Small Office Unit

Smaller office buildings hosting a few companies (or 
even one). Typically these units have some sort of shared 
circulation / amenity space for the companies to use. 

Large Office Unit

Larger office buildings hosting multiple companies, often 
with dedicated floors and multiple shared facilities to use. 
These units often need dedicated space for servicing.

Small Industrial Unit

Typically consist ‘light industrial’ uses. These are small to 
medium sized operations requiring less space and power. 

Large Industrial Unit

Typically consist of ‘general industrial’ uses. Normally 
medium to large scale batch production and assembly of 
components requiring more space and power. 

Building Typologies: Industrial and Offices

Supplementary Information

Supporting sketches and diagrams demonstrating the  
principles have been addressed
Supporting reports (if applicable)

Key Outputs

Site layout
Landscape drawing
Plans, sections and key elevations
Material and colour palette
Environmental strategy
Illustrations of proposed built environment
3d images / CGIs

P
age 219



24

Em
pl

oy
m

en
t U

se
s 

 G
ui

da
nc

e 
 I 

Em
pl

oy
m

en
t D

es
ig

n 
Pr

in
ci

pl
es

 I 
Bu

ild
in

g 
Ty

po
lo

gi
es

to adjacent residential 
neighbourhood

to adjacent residential 
neighbourhood

This diagram shows how green spaces form a focal point 
and are activated by organising the units around them. The 
built form provides an active frontage onto the landscaped 
spaces, which favour pedestrian activity.

This diagram demonstrates how parking and servicing can 
be strategically concealed to help reduce the visual impact 
of it on the public realm. The smaller industrial units typically 
require smaller vehicles for deliveries and so the servicing 
can be concealed within the cluster of units. 

A Strategic Approach to Parking An Integrated and Activated Public Realm 

Small Industrial Units

On Plot Parking

Undercroft Parking

Servicing

P
age 220



25

Em
pl

oy
m

en
t U

se
s 

G
ui

da
nc

e 
 I 

Em
pl

oy
m

en
t D

es
ig

n 
Pr

in
ci

pl
es

 I 
Bu

ild
in

g 
Ty

po
lo

gi
es

The public realm is pedestrian focused here and free of the 
large HGV’s that are servicing the units. The amenity space 
/ social hub fronts onto the landscape in order to encourage 
engagement of the new working community with the public 
realm.

The diagram above provides an indicative example of how 
adequate space can be provided within the yard for HGC turning 
as well as vehicle bays. The roller shutter doors for deliveries have 
been designed with the height of vehicles in mind, and there 
is also a smooth surface for external movements provided just 
outside of the shutter door.

Dedicated loading and servicing space should be provided 
without causing much negative visual impact on the 
environment. Parking and servicing routes are discreetly 
located at the rear of the building, away from the primary 
pedestrian route and amenity space at the front. 

A Clear Distinction of Street Types A Strategic Approach to Servicing An Integrated and Activated Public Realm 

On Plot Parking

Dedicated Service Area

Social Hub

Large Industrial Units

15m

4m

12m12m

P
age 221



26

Em
pl

oy
m

en
t U

se
s 

 G
ui

da
nc

e 
 I 

Em
pl

oy
m

en
t D

es
ig

n 
Pr

in
ci

pl
es

 I 
Bu

ild
in

g 
Ty

po
lo

gi
es

Industrial Units: Best Practice Examples

Example layout of Portal Mill Factory in Melksham showing 
clearly visible main entrance pavilion that faces the public 
realm

Example layout showing the social hub at the centre of the 
building, connecting the work space and public realm

Example layout showing servicing and parking at the rear 
of the unit

Entrance facing the public realm Entrance area with social hub area on the ground floor at 
Maylands Business Centre

Large, open workspace for manufacturing, assembling and 
storage served from the rear of the unit

Interface with Public Realm Parking and ServicingInterface with Public Realm (continued)

Photo: DBC Photo: DBC

P
age 222



27

Em
pl

oy
m

en
t U

se
s 

G
ui

da
nc

e 
 I 

Em
pl

oy
m

en
t D

es
ig

n 
Pr

in
ci

pl
es

 I 
Bu

ild
in

g 
Ty

po
lo

gi
es

Example layout of Tweedbank, Scottish Borders, showing 
servicing yards located at the back of the unit, concealed 
by walls, and the main entrance facing the public realm

Example layout of Kaap Noord in Amsterdam showing an 
active frontage facing the public realm with the servicing 
concealed within the unit’s court

Parking and servicing is located within the unit’s servicing 
court and on top of one of the roofs to the east

Example showing attractive frontage facing the public 
realm with concealed servicing yard located at the back

Entrance space facing the public realmLarge concealed servicing yard located off the main street

Parking and Servicing (Continued) Active Frontage and Interface with 
Public Realm

Active Frontage and Interface with 
Public Realm (continued)

Kaap-Noord, Amsterdam. Vasco da Silva Architects & Planners Kaap-Noord, Amsterdam. Vasco da Silva Architects & Planners

P
age 223



28

Em
pl

oy
m

en
t U

se
s 

 G
ui

da
nc

e 
 I 

Em
pl

oy
m

en
t D

es
ig

n 
Pr

in
ci

pl
es

 I 
Bu

ild
in

g 
Ty

po
lo

gi
es

The diagram above demonstrates how a series of 
landscaped public realm spaces are used to link the 
development together, as well as connect it to adjacent 
neighbourhoods. The social spaces of the office units 
open onto landscaped spaces, in order to promote informal 
exercise and to foster interaction between workers and 
visitors alike. 

The diagram above shows how office accommodation 
can be arranged to create opportunities for collaboration 
and interaction between the users. A central hub space 
(labelled 1) accommodating shared facilities sits between 
flexible, shared workspaces that offer a blend of letting 
options. 

Smaller office units would not typically need large amounts 
of space for servicing and parking. The cartoon above shows 
how a shared surface could provide space for both parking 
and servicing. These areas are concealed within landscaped 
swathes of trees to minimise their visual impact. 

An Integrated and Activated Public Realm 

On Plot Parking

Shared Surface 

Small Office Units

A Flexible and Adaptable Building A Strategic Approach to Parking 

1

P
age 224



29

Em
pl

oy
m

en
t U

se
s 

G
ui

da
nc

e 
 I 

Em
pl

oy
m

en
t D

es
ig

n 
Pr

in
ci

pl
es

 I 
Bu

ild
in

g 
Ty

po
lo

gi
es

Large Office Units

A Flexible and Adaptable Building A Strategic Approach to Parking 

A clear focus has been shown in this diagram to organise the 
units around activated public spaces with a pedestrian focus 
to circulation within the public realm. As the parking has 
been concealed away to the edges, there is more space to 
incorporate areas of increased natural biodiversity between 
the office units. 

The diagram above demonstrates how a number of different 
uses can be stacked together within the same building 
and provide opportunities for collaboration between users. 
Parking and servicing is at the lower ground level, light 
industrial spaces at ground floor level and a mixed use, social 
atrium space links all the levels.

Larger office units typically need more space for parking as 
well as dedicated servicing areas. The cartoon above shows 
how parking can be concealed underneath the office units, 
whilst guest parking can be strategically clustered behind the 
units and between swathes of trees to minimise visual impact 
on the public realm. 

An Integrated and Activated Public Realm 

On Plot Parking

Undercroft Parking

P
age 225



30

Em
pl

oy
m

en
t U

se
s 

 G
ui

da
nc

e 
 I 

Em
pl

oy
m

en
t D

es
ig

n 
Pr

in
ci

pl
es

 I 
Bu

ild
in

g 
Ty

po
lo

gi
es

Office Units: Best Practice Examples

Light industrial uses are at the ground level with office units 
located above

This means the frontage can be pedestrian focused and 
vehicle free

Building Arrangement

Buildings like Kaap Noord are flexible in their use of space, 
mixing different sized office spaces (red) with light industrial 
uses (white)

Smaller office units can strategically conceal parking and 
servicing at the back of larger its and within undercrofts, as 
seen at Chiswick Park

As a result, the public realm can be parking free and 
pedestrian focused

A parking barn is used at Here East, meaning the rest of the 
development can be parking free

Parking and Servicing Parking and Servicing (continued)

Chiswick Park, Hounslow. Rogers Stirk Harbour + Partners. Photo: Grant Smith Kaap-Noord, Amsterdam. Vasco da Silva Architects & PlannersHere  East, Stratford. Hawkins\Brown. Photo: Jason Hawkes

P
age 226



31

Em
pl

oy
m

en
t U

se
s 

G
ui

da
nc

e 
 I 

Em
pl

oy
m

en
t D

es
ig

n 
Pr

in
ci

pl
es

 I 
Bu

ild
in

g 
Ty

po
lo

gi
esInterface with Public Realm

Example showing shared external pavilion / bar to 
encourage interaction between staff and visitors 

At Cambridge Science Park, shared internal facilities (red) 
are located close to external facilities (red) to encourage 
engagement with the public realm

Office units face inwards onto the public realm corridor

Clear focus around a central landscape corridor at Green 
Park, Reading

Interface with Public Realm (continued)

Photo: Place Design PlanningBradfield Centre. Photo: Stace LLP

P
age 227



Draft Dacorum Strategic Design 
Guide Supplementary Planning 
Document Consultation             
Report of Responses
January 2021

Page 228

swilson
Cross-Out



0 

Contents 
1 Introduction: Draft Dacorum Strategic Design Guide Supplementary Planning 

Document Consultation .............................................................................................. 1 

2 Making representations ........................................................................................... 1 

3 Publicity ................................................................................................................... 2 

4 Notification .............................................................................................................. 2 

5 Public inspection of documents ............................................................................... 3 

6 Overview of Responses .......................................................................................... 3 

Level of Response .................................................................................................. 3 

Method of Response ............................................................................................... 3 

What you told us ..................................................................................................... 3 

7 Detailed Analysis ..................................................................................................... 5 

8 Next Steps ............................................................................................................... 6 

9 Report List of Abbreviations .................................................................................... 6 

Appendix 1 – Number and type of notifications issued ............................................... 7 

Appendix 2 ................................................................................................................. 8 

1) Hemel Hempstead Gazette Newspaper Consultation Public Notice ................... 8 

2) Consultee notification letter – postal ................................................................. 10 

3) Consultation portal consultee notification – agent/client ................................... 12 

4) Consultation portal consultee notification email ................................................ 14 

Appendix 3 - Draft Dacorum Strategic Design Guide SPD Consultation Comments 

Form ......................................................................................................................... 16 

Appendix 4 - Key points raised by statutory consultees, Town/Parish Councils, other 

Councils and statutory bodies and other contributors in response to each question 

and officer response ................................................................................................. 22 

Appendix 5 - Full text of responses by Consultee and questions in question number 

order ....................................................................................................................... 105 

Page 229



1 
 

 

1 Introduction: Draft Dacorum Strategic Design Guide Supplementary Planning 

Document Consultation 

 
1.1 The purpose of the Draft Dacorum Strategic Design Guide Supplementary 

Planning Document (SPD) is to improve the quality of the design of new 
homes, estates and employment use buildings in the borough. It outlines 
Dacorum’s design expectations for high quality, inclusive and sustainable 
places that reflect and respond to Dacorum’s local character, and a three-
stage design process to achieve these. The Guide sets out strategic design 
principles for developers to follow when preparing their plans for new 
development, which are to be applied across sites of all scales and which 
should underpin design at all stages - from site-wide masterplanning to the 
design of blocks, buildings and streets. A separate section focuses on 
employment use buildings, such as offices and industrial units. The approach 
aims to create distinctive, attractive and successful places to live and work 
that are adaptable for the future.  

 
1.2 The consultation sought views and opinion on: 

 the key characteristics of Dacorum and Hertfordshire; 

 the design principles;  

 the design guidance for employment buildings and areas. 
 
1.3 The public consultation on the Draft Dacorum Strategic Design Guide SPD 

took place for period of over 6 weeks from 3rd July to the 16th August 2020. 
This is two weeks longer than the time period stipulated in the Statement of 
Community involvement (SCI), and gave residents additional time to engage 
in the process as the consultation took place partly over the school summer 
holiday and while COVID-19 restrictions were in place. (The first national 
COVID-19 lockdown ended on 4th July when the Health Protection 
(Coronavirus, Restrictions) (No. 2) (England) Regulations 2020 came into 
force).  

 
1.4 The full consultation document can be found here: 

https://www.dacorum.gov.uk/home/planning-development/planning-strategic-
planning/supplementary-planning-documents-(spds)  

 

2 Making representations  

 
2.1 Feedback on the Draft Dacorum Strategic Design Guide SPD was invited in a 

range of formats: 
 

 The Council’s consultation portal hosted the Draft Dacorum Strategic Design 
Guide SPD (set out in three parts) and the accompanying comments form, 
which explained which part of the document each of the four questions related 
to. Access to the consultation was via a hyperlink on the DBC Current 
Consultation and Strategic Planning web-pages. The notification email 
included a link to the consultation portal and Strategic Planning web-page. 

Page 230

https://www.dacorum.gov.uk/home/planning-development/planning-strategic-planning/supplementary-planning-documents-(spds)
https://www.dacorum.gov.uk/home/planning-development/planning-strategic-planning/supplementary-planning-documents-(spds)


2 
 

These links were also included in the postal notifications and the Public Notice 
printed in the Hemel Hempstead Gazette newspaper and Online Hemel 
Today. The comments form on the portal provided the option of answering 
yes or no to the questions with the opportunity to provide detailed comments 
on every question. In addition a further opportunity to add more comments 
was available on question 4.  

 

 A downloadable version of the comments form which could be completed and 
returned electronically or be printed and returned by mail or email (Appendix 
3). 

 

 By email 
 

 By letter 
 

3 Publicity 

 
3.1 The Draft Dacorum Strategic Design Guide SPD consultation was carried out 

in accordance with the minimum requirements set out in the Council’s adopted 
Statement of Community Involvement (SCI). 

 
3.2 The consultation was publicised in the bi-annual printed and monthly 

electronic versions of Dacorum Digest, the Council’s primary documents for 
communicating with local residents and businesses.  

 
3.3 The six week consultation was advertised in the local press on 1st July 2020.  
 
 

4 Notification 

 
4.1 The Draft Dacorum Strategic Design Guide SPD consultation was carried out 

in accordance with the minimum requirements set out in the Council’s adopted 
SCI. 

 
4.2 The Council sent a notification email to all Town and Parish Councils in 

Dacorum to inform them that the consultation on the Draft Dacorum Strategic 
Design Guide SPD was taking place. All Dacorum Borough Council elected 
members and Hertfordshire County Council elected members for the Dacorum 
Borough area were also informed of the consultation by email. 

 
4.3 Statutory consultees were notified of the consultation by email or post. 

Notifications were sent to all contacts (including, but not limited to, individuals, 
businesses, interest groups and resident organisations) held on the Council’s 
Strategic Planning Consultation Database (comprising contacts who have 
previously registered an interest in Dacorum’s local plan and associated 
documents) either by email or by postal letter where no email address was 
recorded. Data on the number and type of notifications sent can be found in 
Appendix 1. 

Page 231



3 
 

 
4.4 Example copies of each type of notification sent are included in Appendix 2, 

alongside publicity notices. 
 

5 Public inspection of documents 

 
5.1 Government guidance during this period (Coronavirus (COVID-19) Planning 

Update published on 13 May 2020 and Written Ministerial Statement) 
encouraged planning authorities to continue with their services as normally as 
possible and to use virtual platforms and digital media to enable the planning 
system to function.    

  
5.2 Throughout the period of the consultation deposit points were not open for 

general public access. In order to provide a public inspection of the 
documents, members of the public were able to make arrangements to view a 
copy at the Forum, the Borough Council office in Hemel Hempstead. This was 
advertised via the public notice, on the notification email and letters, and via 
the Council website.  

 

6 Overview of Responses 

 

Level of Response 

 
6.1 The Draft Dacorum Strategic Design Guide SPD consultation comments form 

contained four questions, there were a total of 61 responses from 59 
consultees.  

 

Method of Response 

 
6.2 Responses were made in a number of ways – some consultees directly 

responded into our consultation portal, other responses were received as 
letters, or completed comments forms were returned in the post, or by email.  

 

What you told us 

 
High Level Overview 
 
6.3 From the consultation responses it is possible to identify some common 

themes which have been set out below. It is important to note that the 
following section does not in any way indicate a ranking of issues. 
Furthermore, if an issue is not listed below it should not be interpreted that the 
Council has dismissed it from consideration. The detailed responses are 
summarised and discussed in Appendix 4.  

 
Theme:  
 
Climate Change - Respondents thought climate change was an important matter for 
the Draft Dacorum Strategic Design Guide SPD with comments submitted on how 

Page 232



4 
 

this was addressed. Some thought the energy standards used were too high and the 
low carbon energy generation design principles unrealistic. Others thought that they 
were not ambitious enough and that microgeneration technology was needed on all 
new-homes. Concerns were also raised at how adverse weather will impact natural 
resources such as trees and the Borough’s chalk streams.  
 
Officer Comment: 
 
The Draft Dacorum Strategic Design Guide SPD reflects standards and 
requirements that will be introduced through the new Dacorum Local Plan and takes 
into account the Council’s approach to climate change and emerging national 
guidance. The standards and requirements within the new Dacorum Local Plan will 
be viability tested through its preparation. More specialist guidance will be developed 
on climate change as needed.  
 
Theme:  
 
A number of respondents raised concern about the length of the document and also 
that the complexity of the language used may make it difficult for people without a 
technical background in housing, planning or development to access. 
 
Officer Comment: 
 
The Draft Dacorum Strategic Design Guide SPD requires an appropriate level of 
technical information for developers and officers to follow as part of the planning 
application process to ensure standards are met. Officers will consider further how 
its navigation and use can be made more accessible.  
 
Theme: 
 
COVID-19 - Respondents noted that COVID-19 is not mentioned in the Draft 
Dacorum Strategic Design Guide SPD and asked if its impact had been considered 
and whether the document should be updated to take into account future needs and 
the design of employment areas, workspace and homes. 
 
Officer Comment:  
 
The full impact of COVID-19 will not be known for sometime. The Draft Dacorum 
Strategic Design Guide SPD encourages flexibility in design to enable development 
to adapt to changing work patterns and lifestyles, such as home working and 
workspace within neighbourhood centres. It also sets principles for access to the 
natural environment and amenity facilities for health and wellbeing.  
 
Theme: 
 
Transport – Several respondents thought more emphasis should be given to walking 
and cycling routes both during the design process and in the design principles, and 
that these should be priority transport routes within new development and connect to 
wider networks beyond (if possible on land beyond the developers control). 

Page 233



5 
 

Alongside this was a desire to reduce reliance on private cars and encourage the 
use of electric vehicles through more charging points.  
 
Officer comment: 
 
The design process and principles will be amended to give more prominence to 
walking and cycling and to improve sustainable transport connectivity. The standards 
for the provision of electric vehicle charging points are set out in the Council’s 
Parking Standards SPD.  
 
 

7 Detailed Analysis 

 
7.1 The responses received were individually reviewed and collated within 

summary tables that were produced for each question.  This detailed analysis 
can be found in Appendix 4 and includes common themes raised by multiple 
respondents.  Where several members of the public gave a similar response, 
this was summarised and included once within the table. Responses from a 
specific group or statutory consultee were summarised individually, 
irrespective of whether similar comments had been received and previously 
noted. 

 
7.2 An officer response has been provided against each issue raised. This also 

identifies where the Draft Dacorum Strategic Design Guide SPD has been 
revised as a result of the consultation comments received. 

 
7.3 The summary tables for each question are organised as follows 
 
For responses supporting the question 

 Number of responses submitted and the percentage of respondents 
supporting and not supporting the question (if applicable) 

 Table summary of responses from statutory consultees, identified 
organisations and members of the public alongside an officer response  

 List of statutory consultees supporting the question 

 List of other groups supporting the question 
 
For responses not supporting the question 

 Number of responses submitted and the percentage of respondents 
supporting and not supporting the question (if applicable) 

 Table summary of responses from statutory consultees, identified 
organisations and members of the public alongside an officer response 

 List of statutory consultees not supporting the question 

 List of other groups not supporting the question 
 
7.4 In addition to the summary tables, Appendix 5 contains the full text each 

respondent submitted for each question answered.  
 
 

Page 234



6 
 

8 Next Steps 

 
8.1 The detailed responses below in Appendix 4 set out the actions that will be 

taken in response to individual comments, points and issues.   
 
8.2 This Report of Responses to the consultation and the updated Draft Dacorum 

Strategic Design Guide SPD will be reported to the Council’s Cabinet 
committee for approval to adopt and the adoption (regulation 14) procedure 
will be completed in accordance with the Statement of Community 
Involvement.  

 

9 Report List of Abbreviations  

 
DBC Dacorum Borough Council 
SCI  Statement of Community Involvement 
SPD  Supplementary Planning Document 
 
  

Page 235



Appendix 1

Page 236



7 
 

 
 

Appendix 1 – Number and type of notifications issued 

 
Total consultation notifications issued: 

 8064 
 
Method of notification:  

 Email 5750 

 Postal letters 2314  
  
Notifications were sent to the four consultee categories listed in the SCI that are 
registered on the Council’s Strategic Planning Consultation Database as follows:  

 Statutory / Specific Consultees  

 General Consultees 

 Other Consultees 

 Wider Community Consultees 
 
In addition courtesy emails to inform the recipients that the consultation was taking 
place were sent to the following: 

 Dacorum Borough Council’s elected members 

 Hertfordshire County Council elected members for the Dacorum Borough area 

 The Council’s senior management team and other selected officers 
 
 
 
  

Page 237



Appendix 2

Page 238



8 
 

 
 

Appendix 2 

 

1) Hemel Hempstead Gazette Newspaper Consultation Public Notice 
 

 

 

 

Page 239



9 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 240



10 
 

2) Consultee notification letter – postal  
 

 

Page 241



11 
 

 

 

 

Page 242



12 
 

3) Consultation portal consultee notification – agent/client 

 

 
 
 

Page 243



13 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 244



14 
 

4) Consultation portal consultee notification email 

 

 
  

Page 245



15 
 

 

 

Page 246



Appendix 3

Page 247



16 
 

Appendix 3 - Draft Dacorum Strategic Design Guide SPD Consultation 

Comments Form 
 

  

Page 248



17 
 

 
 

  

Page 249



18 
 

 
 

 

Page 250



19 
 

 
 

 

Page 251



20 
 

 
 

Page 252



21 
 

 

 

Page 253



Appendix 4

Page 254



22 
 

Appendix 4 - Key points raised by statutory consultees, Town/Parish Councils, 

other Councils and statutory bodies and other contributors in response to 

each question and officer response 

Page 255



23 
 

 

Question Number 1 SUPPORTING 

Question Text: Do you consider that the documents have identified the key characteristics of Dacorum and its wider 
Hertfordshire context? Y/N 

Key points raised in representations Officer response 

1. Sports England (SE) 
 

1 Traditional field drainage patterns such as ditches 
are missing from Design Process Water. 

 
2 Wind should be included within the Exposure 

section. 
 

3 Suggestion that figure ground studies should be 
used relating to Urban Grain on page 33. 

 
4 The Vision, although thorough and grounded in 

understanding, should also include the 
aspirational opportunity to innovate such as that 
of Taunton Garden Town. 

 

1. Traditional field drainage patterns, such as ditches, are to be 
included within the SPD in Part 1, page 15. 
 
 
 

2. The Exposure section within the SPD only concerns built form 
and not elements such as wind. 
 

3. Figure ground studies will be included as an example of ‘studies 
of local urban patterns’.  
 

4. The ‘aspirational’ and innovative’ elements of the Vision are 
reflected within the design principles. The Vision text used 
includes the adjectives ‘ambitious’ and ‘distinctive’.  

General points raised  

5 One consultee suggested that Historic Landfills 
should be included within both ‘Other Legacies’ 
on Page 20 and ‘Observing: Land Use’ on Page 
31 given that the LPA will have to consult with the 
Environment Agency on any planning application 
relating to a site within 250 metres of a landfill, 
past landfill site, or site earmarked for landfill in 
the future. 

 

5. Historic Landfills are outside the scope of this guidance. The 
content of the Strategic Design Guide relates solely to those 
elements that can inform the design of new developments, 
rather than seeking to identify all site constraints. 

P
age 256



24 
 

Question Number 1 SUPPORTING 

Question Text: Do you consider that the documents have identified the key characteristics of Dacorum and its wider 
Hertfordshire context? Y/N 

Key points raised in representations Officer response 

6 One consultee requested that the SPD stress the 
importance of chalk streams and the 
opportunities for habitats enhancement on a 
landscape scale through Nature Recovery 
Networks. 

 
7 Edges and Beyond – If development is to be 

proposed in the AONB or Green Belt it is 
important that greater care is taken with 
settlement edges to incorporate them as far as 
possible into the surrounding landscape and 
landforms.  

 
8 Landscape and Visual Impact Assessments 

should be used to assess potential impacts and 
inform settlement design. 

 
9 The guide should be more definite that ancient 

woodland will be protected from development. 

6. The Strategic Design Guide refers to chalk streams in both the 
topography and geology, and water sections. It is felt that these 
references alone are sufficient to meet what is required by the 
SPD. 

 
 

7. The Council acknowledges this comment and will consider it 
going forward.  

 
 
 
 
 

8. The Council acknowledges this comment, however it is outside 
the scope of the Strategic Design Guide to make this 
recommendation. 

 
9. The protection of ancient woodland is a planning policy issue 

and is outside the scope of the Strategic Design Guide. 
 

Statutory Supporting  

1. Nash Mills Parish Council 

Other Groups Supporting 

1. Herts & Middlesex Wildlife Trust  

2. Sport England 

3. Canal and River Trust 

P
age 257



25 
 

4. Hallam Land Management 

5. Dacorum Environmental Forum Waste Group 

6. The Chiltern Society 

7. Sports England 

8. LQ Estates 

 

Question Number 1 NOT SUPPORTING 

Question Text: Do you consider that the documents have identified the key characteristics of Dacorum and its wider 
Hertfordshire context? Y/N 

Key points raised in representations Officer response 

1. Berkhamsted Town Council 
 

10 BTC argue that the SPD does not recognise the 
notion of urban sprawl that development in the 
area leads to. They stress that it must make 
developers consider the impact upon the pre-
existing town. 

 
11 BTC argue that there is insufficient attention 

given to linkages with adjacent counties. Given 
Dacorum’s status as a commuter community, its 
linkage with Bucks and London is much stronger 
than that of Hertfordshire in general.  

 
 

12 With regard to the Borough’s chalklands and their 
low-water table, BTC note that the SPD should 
reflect the urgency with which this matter should 
be addressed.  

   

 
 

10. The Strategic Design Guide addresses urban sprawl in 
Part 1, page 28. 

 
 
 
 

11. These points are beyond the scope of the Strategic 
Design Guide. 

 
 
 
 
 

12. The Council acknowledges this comment and will 
consider it going forward.  
 

P
age 258



26 
 

Question Number 1 NOT SUPPORTING 

Question Text: Do you consider that the documents have identified the key characteristics of Dacorum and its wider 
Hertfordshire context? Y/N 

Key points raised in representations Officer response 

2. Dacorum Heritage Trust 
 

13 The chalk streams are not represented as a 
characteristic within the SPD. They underlay the 
entire area. The soil is largely alkaline, not “less 
acidic”.  

 
14 Clarify what is meant by “Sudden Features”. 

 
 

15 Chalk streams themselves ought to be included 
as important aquatic ecosystems. 

 
 
 

16 Both the rivers and wildlife need to be included 
under the Landscape Framework. 

 

 
 
13. The Strategic Design Guide refers to chalk streams in 

both the topography and geology, and water sections. 
These references are considered sufficient to meet what 
is required by the SPD. 

 
14. The ‘sudden features’ bullet point on page 13 of 

‘Observing: Topography and Geology’ will be removed. 
 

15. The guidance within the Strategic Design Guide does not 
seek to provide a comprehensive list of all environmental 
factors that will be affected by/influence development. 
However, chalk streams are referred to within the SPD. 
 

16. The Landscape Framework does include both water and 
wildlife - refer to the ‘consider’ box in Part 1, page 62. 

 

General points raised  

17 One consultee felt as though some of the 
Borough’s environmental characteristics, such as 
bat and Roman Snail habitats, were missing. 

 
 
 

18 Another felt as though the references made on 
Page 39 were not relevant to Hertfordshire. 

 

17. The guidance within the Strategic Design Guide does not 
seek to provide a comprehensive list of all environmental 
factors that will be affected by/influence development. 
However, bats are included under ‘Species Action Plans’ 
in Part 1, page 18.  
 

18. All of the examples given are from Hertfordshire. 
 

P
age 259



27 
 

Question Number 1 NOT SUPPORTING 

Question Text: Do you consider that the documents have identified the key characteristics of Dacorum and its wider 
Hertfordshire context? Y/N 

Key points raised in representations Officer response 

19 Some consultees described the document length 
and the language used as “inaccessible”.  

 

19. The Council acknowledges this comment and will 
consider it going forward.   
 

20 One consultee noted that the SPD was not 
specific enough about Dacorum and read like a 
general document about design. 

 

20. The Strategic Design Guide was prepared to provide 
guidance for both Dacorum Borough Council and St 
Albans City & District Council and as such includes 
examples and references for both geographical areas. 
 

21 One consultee argued that the SPD mentioned 
national-level planning policies but did not 
describe what they were, in particular the 
document does not outline statistical or evidential 
basis on the quantities of housing required. 

 

21. Housing quantities and the associated evidence base is 
a Local Plan matter and outside the scope of the 
Strategic Design Guide. National-level policies are linked 
for reference. 

22 Another consultee asked whether the SPD could 
be more clear on what “neighbouring housing” it 
requires developers to consider when planning 
property. They argue properties immediately 
neighbouring the site should be focused upon 
more than buildings “streets away”. 

 

22. This issue is beyond the scope of the Strategic Design 
Guide and would be considered within the development 
process. 

23 Some consultees suggested that one 
characteristic, namely the views of the Gade 
Valley, have failed to be identified within the SPD 
and will be spoilt by the Hemel Garden 
Communities project. 

 

23. The Gade Valley will be added into Part 1, page 14.  

P
age 260



28 
 

24 One consultee questioned why historic Rights of 
Way were not considered as key characteristics 
and argued that their inclusion would resolve 
current issues and identify where improvements 
can be made for cyclists, walkers and horse 
riders. 

 
The consultee suggested that this should be 
considered within the Site Context section on 
Page 27. A bullet point for “what is missing” 
would allow for additional opportunities to be 
fulfilled, such as Right of Way. 

 
25 The ‘Understand Box’ should also include non-

motorised vulnerable users (NMU) so that future 
needs will be sought. 

 
26 Rights of way should be considered within the 

sport and leisure facilities on Page 56 and again 
on 59 where only walking and cycling are 
considered under the ‘Movement’ section. 

 
27 Another example to include within the ‘What to 

Observe’ section should be examples of best 
practice for new community design, such as 
those in Cambridgeshire where attempts have 
been made to soften the boundaries between 
urban and rural with creating strong off-road 
connections between them as well across the 
development, in particular bridleways. 

 

24. Rights of Way are referred to within the Strategic Design 
Guide in Part 1, page 27, and also within Part 2.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

25. Non-motorised vulnerable users would be considered as 
part of the ‘pedestrian networks’ and ‘public rights of 
way’ in Part 1, page 27.  
 

26. The Strategic Design Guide’s guidance on Rights of way 
will be expanded to refer to all non-motorised users. 
 
 
 

27. The ‘What to Observe’ section is referring to the existing 
context. Images of examples of good design are given in 
Part 2.   
 

 
 
 

P
age 261



29 
 

Question Number 1 NOT SUPPORTING 

Question Text: Do you consider that the documents have identified the key characteristics of Dacorum and its wider 
Hertfordshire context? Y/N 

Key points raised in representations Officer response 

28 The SPD must define what is meant by 
‘sustainability’ on Page 5. 

 
29 On the same page, the reference to land 

‘formerly’ in the Greenbelt is presumptions and 
inaccurate. It should read as “currently in the 
Greenbelt. 

 

28. A definition for ‘sustainability’ will be added.  
 

29. To avoid any ambiguity and future-proof the document, 
the reference to the Green Belt will be removed from 
Page 5. 

Specific textual additions to consider  P
age 262



30 
 

30 Page 5 – add that there needs to be sustainable 
mixed-use environments. 

 
31 Page 16 – needs to add that green infrastructure 

corridors could be used to encourage use of 
sustainable transport. 
 

32 Page 26 – needs to link connectivity to key LTP4 
policies and supporting strategies.  
 

33 Page 27 – needs to be more specific when 
referring to sustainable modes of transport.  
 
 
 

34 Context: Left Hand Box (Understand) Bullet Point 
1 – needs to read: ‘Pedestrian and cycle 
networks surrounding the site.’  
 

35 Left Hand Box (Understand) Bullet Point 3 – 
needs to read: ‘Public transport networks 
(including bus and rail networks).’  
 

36 Right Hand Box (Examples of What to Observe) 
Bullet Point 1 – needs to read: ‘Public Rights of 
Way, National Cycle Networks and Public 
Transport Networks.’  
 

37 Site Context: Left Hand Box (Understand) Bullet 
Point 1 – needs to read: ‘Links and connections 
to wider pedestrian, cycle and public transport 
networks.’  

30. Mixed-use environments are already included on page 3. 
 
 

31. Green Infrastructure Corridors fall outside the scope of 
Part 1 and are covered instead in Part 2, Design 
Principles. 
 

32. These references will be added and will replace the 
existing ones. 

 
33. ‘Sustainable modes of transport’ does not appear in the 

document. The modes of transport specified are: 
pedestrian, cycle, public transport. 
 
 

34. The document text will be updated to reflect this 
comment. 
 
 

35. The Council considers that it is not necessary to clarify 
the meaning with additional text. 

 
 

36. Public transport is covered within the ‘Understand’ box in 
Part 1, page 27, therefore no change is needed. 
 

 
 

37. The document text will be updated to reflect this 
comment.  
 
 

P
age 263



31 
 

 
38 Right Hand Box (Examples of What to Observe) 

Bullet Point 1 – needs to read: ‘Walking, cycling 
and public transport networks.’ Outputs:  
 

39 Right Hand Box (Supplementary Information) line 
two needs to read: ‘Walking and cycling times 
studies. 
 

40 Need to add a paragraph after bullet points that 
emphasize the need to consider the connectivity 
of nearby facilities and amenities in order to 
reduce the need to travel by car. 
 

41 Amenity Capacity - Paragraph 2 – need to 
highlight that the development of new or 
enhanced amenities offers the opportunity to 
improve provision for existing residents reducing 
the need to travel. 

 
42 Edges - Paragraph 3 – should emphasize that 

Transport Infrastructure edges are important in 
that they provide good connectivity to the 
surrounding area. 
 

43 Left Hand Box (Understand) Bullet Point 4 – 
needs to read: ‘Amenity provision and capacity 
and how connected they are to the surrounding 
area.’ 
 

 
38. These elements are already covered, therefore no 

change is needed. 
 
 

39. These studies are not required at this stage of the design 
process. 

 
 

40. The document text will be updated to reflect this 
comment. 

 
 

 
41.  The benefits to existing residents are already outlined 

on this page, therefore no further text is needed.  
 
 
 
 

42. The importance of transport infrastructure edges is 
already discussed in Part 1, page 28.  
 
 

43. The clarification of intent is not required, as the box itself 
relates to the wider context of a site (i.e. surrounding 
area). Connectivity is specifically addressed separately 
on pages 26-27. 

 
 
 

P
age 264



32 
 

44 Right Hand Box (Examples of What to Observe) 
need to add another bullet point that reads: 
‘Walking and cycling routes.’ 
 

45 Wider Context - Consideration should also be 
given to the current desires to mask the front of 
development or set back from existing streets 
(typically with a vegetation strip then small 
service type road) , and the balance of an active 
frontage with passive surveillance over hard, 
impermeable fronts that give noting back to those 
travelling along the street. 

 
46 Site Context - Left Hand Box (Understand) Bullet 

Point 5 – needs to read: ‘Effect and influence of 
edges on the site providing good connectivity to 
the surrounding area.’ 
 

47 Right Hand Box (Examples of What to Observe) 
Bullet Point 3 – needs to read: ‘Walking and 
cycling routes to provide good connectivity.’ 
 

48 Outputs - Left Hand Box (Key Outputs) need to 
add bullet point that reads: ‘Connectivity to 
nearby facilities and amenities.’ 

 
49 Context: Land Use Page 30. Education and 

Sports Facilities Paragraph 1 – need to add that 
as school sites and sports facilities often 
contribute to landscape edges, they can help with 
reducing the need to travel by car. Possible 
inclusion of utility or leisure transport in the 

44. Public transport is covered within the ‘Understand’ box in 
Part 1, page 27, therefore no further text is needed. 
 
 

45. This level of detail is beyond the scope of the Strategic 
Design Guide.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

46. The suggested text is too narrow in its focus and does 
not encompass the broader meaning of ‘effect and 
influence of edges on the site’, therefore no change is 
needed. 
 

47. The example relates solely to observing the existing 
context, therefore no change is needed.  
 
 

48. The Key Outputs relate solely to existing context, 
therefore no change is needed. 
 
  

49. The suggested text falls outside the scope of what is 
required within this section. 
 
 
 
 

P
age 265



33 
 

natural environment, rural and rights of way links 
offer excellent and attractive journey options for 
walking and cycling, and should be protected and 
enhanced, notably where existing infrastructure 
causes severance. 
 

50 Observing Place: Example Page 44. The street 
profile presented is neither to a standard we 
would support, nor a design that would align with 
LTP4, notably having in effect two ‘roads’ and a 
total of 5 lanes of vehicles (parked or moving), no 
cycling provision and sub standard footpaths that 
do not meet minimum standards. This should be 
removed; we can provide examples of 
good/adoptable profiles if required. 
 

51 Connectivity and Places to Connect to Page 45 
Need to emphasize that it is important to 
demonstrate the sustainability of the site and the 
need to reduce travel by cars. Illustrating 
Strengths, Opportunities and Structuring 
Elements Pages 51 and 52. 
 

52 The Vision Page 58. Paragraph 2 – need to 
highlight that an important consideration is how 
connected a site is to the surrounding area. 
 

53 Paragraph 4 – need to highlight that an important 
consideration is access by all modes of transport. 

 
54 Relating the Vision to the Frameworks Page 59. 

Movement Bottom Left Hand Box, Bullet Point 3 – 

 
 
 
 
 
 

50. The illustration provides an example of a study drawn to 
understand the existing context. This needs to be 
understood to identify improvements when retrofitting or 
designing new streets. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

51. This addition is not appropriate for this part of the 
document. However the importance of reducing the need 
to travel by car is covered in Part 2 Design Principles, 
and the contextual baseline for designs which reduce the 
need to travel by car is detailed in Part 1 Design Process 
page 27. 
 

52. The document text will be updated to reflect this 
comment. 
 
 

53. This will be addressed through point 52. 
 
 

54. The document text will be updated to reflect this 
comment. 

P
age 266



34 
 

needs to read: ‘Consideration to walking, cycling 
and public transport routes.’ 
 

55 Land Use Framework Page 60. Consider Bullet 
Point 6 – need to highlight the importance of 
sustainable movement networks. Landscape 
Framework Page 62. 
 

56 Consider Bullet Point 5 – need to highlight that 
the promotion for active travel such as walking, 
and cycling will contribute to healthy lifestyles. 
Movement Framework Page 64. 
 

57 Paragraph 1 – need to highlight new places 
should be connected, by sustainable modes of 
transport such as walking and cycling, with 
existing settlements. Inclusion of a hierarchy 
aligned to HCCs LTP (and manual for streets) 
would be highly beneficial Statement that a street 
doesn’t necessarily include vehicle access 
Designed for all users and uses including as a 
place. Inclusion of highways adjacent to sites in 
master planning design process 
 

58 Para 5.7 Street furniture, signs, columns etc. and 
trees should be placed in positions to ensure the 
footway width is maintained at all time (there may 
be opportunity here to also ensure utility service 
boxes are not placed on footpaths etc. 

 
59 Movement and Place Paragraph 1 need to 

emphasize how this contributes to placemaking. 

 
 
 

55. Within the document text ‘transport provision’ will be 
replaced with ‘sustainable movement’. 
 
 
 

56. This point is covered in the introductory section on page 
64, therefore additional text is not considered necessary. 
 
 
 

57. This point is covered within Part 2, Design Principles, 
therefore additional text is not considered necessary. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
58. These elements fall outside the scope of the Strategic 

Design Guide. 
 
 
 
 

59. This point is already covered within this section, 
therefore additional text is not considered necessary. 

P
age 267



35 
 

 
60 Movement Paragraph 1: need to highlight that 

movement needs to include pedestrian, cycle and 
public transport movements. 
 

61 Movement Framework: Example Page 
65.Additional Resources - it is noted that roads in 
hertfordshire: design guide is currently in the 
process of being reviewed and updated   
 

62 Urban design framework page 66 paragraph 1 - 
need to emphasize how this contributes to 
placemaking. 
 

63 Page 17 "Site Context Examples of What to 
Observe" at "grasslands" add "especially species 
rich grassland". This Natural England information 
could be added as a reference (Whilst identifying 
whether grassland is alkaline or neutral is 
necessary, it isn't sufficient.) 
 

64 Page 26 "Public Transport" photo and words. 2nd 
sentence re connectivity to railheads at least 
needs "highly" before "desirable" and "is 
essential" is preferred. 
 

65 Under Ecology, I would point out that Tring Park, 
High Scrubs etc woodland contains 
comparatively little beech, and is predominantly 
mixed deciduous woodland. Ash is more 
significant and is referenced in local place names 
 

 
60. The document text will be updated to reflect this 

comment. 
 

 
61. The Council notes this comment. 

 
 
 
 

62. This point is already covered within this section of the 
Strategic Design Guide.  
 
 

63. The document text will be updated to reflect this 
comment. 

 
 
 
 
 

64. The document text will be updated to reflect this 
comment. 
 
 
 

65. The document text will be updated to reflect this 
comment. 

 
 
 
 

P
age 268



36 
 

66 There appears to be no mention of 
straightforward brick and flint, which is a 
frequently encountered combination, but only of 
flint and stone chequerwork, which is something 
usually encountered in only church architecture 
and would be unduly expensive to recommend to 
developers. 

 
67 Local brick covers a wider colour range than just 

orange/red, extending to brown and purple 
according to its position in the kiln. In general the 
orange shade is not to be encouraged as it is 
more susceptible to frost. 
 

68 I was disappointed that the guidance failed to 
emphasise the special character of 19th/20th 
century Estate housing, which is a prominent 
feature of Tring and surrounding villages, and 
also of Aldbury and Ashridge. 
 
I would mention the 56 houses in Tring (Miswell 
Lane and elsewhere) which Lord Rothschild built 
between 1909 and 1913 and handed over to 
Tring Urban District Council. While they are 
deliberately differentiated from his own Estate 
houses, they accord very well with them and with 
neighbouring properties and do not stand out as 
obvious social housing. 
 

69 We are concerned that the Guide’s sweeping 
critique of modern developments and apparent 

66. This treatment is considered in Part 1, page 36 (box 2), 
therefore additional text is not considered necessary. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

67. The document text will be updated to reflect this 
comment. 
 
 
 
 

68. The Council acknowledges this comment, however 
unfortunately it is not possible for the Strategic Design 
Guide to be fully comprehensive of all characteristics. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

69. The Strategic Design Guide includes references to both 
Hemel Hempstead and New Towns. Contemporary best 
practice is included in Parts 2 and 3. 

P
age 269



37 
 

reliance on historical building patterns is 
unhelpful. 
 
It is recommended that the Guide identify the 
most successful and sustainable examples of 
twentieth century popular places to live and also 
include those as references for future 
developments. 
 

70 It is unclear whether stakeholders, including the 
local community, were involved in development of 
this Design Guide alongside SADC and Herts IQ. 
 
 

71 An explanation on street types and how they 
deliver a well-designed place would be beneficial. 
 

72 All of the example images feature contemporary 
designed homes which may not necessarily 
reflect the local vernacular or be preferred by the 
local community. This selection of images should 
be revised to include examples of homes of a 
traditional design and appearance which 
research has shown continue to be very popular. 

 
73 Page 8 (How to use this guide) contains a 

diagram that provide a broad overview of the 
planning process for strategic sites. This differs 
from the same diagram that was displayed on 
page 8 of the SADC Strategic Site Design 
Principles document and could result in conflicts 
with the cross boundary applications. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

70. The Strategic Design Guide was prepared in accordance 
with the Council’s Statement of Community Involvement 
(SCI). Part 2 Design Principles sets out engagement at 
site delivery. 
 

71. An explanation is provided in Part 2, Design Principles, 
therefore additional text is not considered necessary. 

 
72. The images included within the document are intended 

to encourage innovation and higher design aspirations. 
Their selection does not preclude ‘more traditional’ 
house types. 
 
 
 

 
73. The Council acknowledges this comment. A bespoke 

approach will be developed for cross-boundary sites 
(Hemel Garden Communities). 
 
 
 
 

P
age 270



38 
 

Question Number 1 NOT SUPPORTING 

Question Text: Do you consider that the documents have identified the key characteristics of Dacorum and its wider 
Hertfordshire context? Y/N 

Key points raised in representations Officer response 

 
74 Page 42 (Spatial typologies) refers to ‘hoe 

typology’ with development parallel to the 
topography and roads/pavements perpendicular 
with the contours. It is likely that these 
roads/pavements will exceed Hertfordshire 
County Council (HCC) slope angles and will be 
non-compliant with highways standards. 
 

75 Each of the five sketches on pages 42-43 
represent houses as long thin narrow wide 
frontages – this will not deliver a density of 40dph 
as the density of properties cannot be delivered 
through wide frontage property. 
 

76 The planning process includes reference to 
Design Review Panels and Design Code(s). It 
should be clarified that these elements will not 
apply in all instances and the SPD should define 
which sites will be subject to design codes, for 
example strategic allocations, and define the type 
of applications that would be expected to be 
subject to the Design Review Panel. 

 
 

 
74. The typologies referred to are diagrammatic and are not 

intended to be prescriptive. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

75. The typologies referred to are diagrammatic and are not 
intended to be prescriptive. 

 
 
 
 

76. The decision on which sites will be subject to design 
codes will be determined by the Local Plan / 
Development Management process. This page of the 
Strategic Design Guide will be amended to show both 
the Citizens Review Panel and Design Review Panel as 
optional. 

 

Statutory not Supporting 

P
age 271



39 
 

1. Berkhamsted Town Council 

Other Groups not supporting 

1. W Lamb Ltd. 

2. The Hertfordshire Society 

3. Dacorum Heritage Trust 

 

P
age 272



40 
 

Question Number 2 SUPPORTING 

Question Text: Do you consider that the detailed design principles (as set out under each of the 10 broad categories) 
will be effective in securing high quality development? 

Number of responses 61, Y – 21%, N – 48%, No response – 31% 

Key points raised in representations Officer response 

P
age 273



41 
 

Canal and River Trust 
 

1. CRT questioned why The Grand Union Canal is not 
shown on the Green Infrastructure map on page 16. 

 
 
 
 
 

2. The canal corridor should therefore not be 
considered as a barrier to connectivity and proposed 
developments should seek to unlock the full potential 
of the canal corridor in their design and layout. 

 
3. The addition of a specific section within the SPD 

outlining the principles of quality design. CRT are 
currently producing ‘Great Waterside Places’ which 
will detail specific design principles to be included in 
the final draft of the SPD. 

 
4. Developments should be required to include well 

designed connections to existing networks, such as 
the towpath, to promote connectivity and sustainable 
travel.  

 
5. Developments need to consider the visual impacts of 

parking areas and parking on access roads on the 
canal’s outward perspective. 

 
6. Proposals must aim to avoid creating direct views of 

the developments ‘back of house’ from the canals 

 
 

1. The Green Infrastructure map is not intended to be a 
comprehensive record of all green infrastructure within 
the Borough. Rather, it is a high level map that 
illustrates the variety of landscape types. The Grand 
Union Canal is highlighted on the Water Infrastructure 
map in Part 1, page 14. 
 

2. The canal corridor is considered an asset and 
attraction, rather than a barrier. Setting out design 
principles for the canal is beyond the scope of the 
Strategic Design Guide. 
 

3. The additions suggested are beyond the scope of the 
Strategic Design Guide. The Canal and River Trust’s 
guidance will be included within the ‘Additional 
Guidance’ list in Part 2, page 7. 

 
 

4. Principle 4.1.1 outlines ‘clear, frequent and direct links 
between new and existing places’, and 4.7 refers to 
sustainable travel. 

 
 

5. Principle 4.3.4 addresses ‘reducing the visual impacts 
of new development’.  

 
 

6. To be addressed by including the Canal and River 
Trust’s guidance within the ‘Additional Guidance’ list in 
Part 2, page 7.  

P
age 274



42 
 

outward perspective which heavily degrades the 
canals credentials as a green corridor. 

 
7. Vehicles can be visually buffered from the canal 

through clever design and use of landscaping. 
 
 

8. The Trust do not promote the provision of car 
parking or access roads adjacent to the canal unless 
suitable screening is provided. 
 

9. Developments should therefore be required to 
carefully consider the choice of boundary treatment 
along both sides of the canal corridor. 
 

10. Consideration must be given to the impacts of 
lighting on the natural environment. CRT recommend 
that any external lighting is angled downward and no 
flood lighting should be used to show consideration 
for bats. 
 

11. Development should overlook the towpath or canal 
to give a perception of public safety. 
 

12. Developments should be required to include signage 
to highlight connections to the canal the case of 
development adjacent or connected to the canal 
corridor this should include appropriate wayfinding 
to/on or from the towpath as well as to destinations 
along it. 
All wayfinding on or adjacent to the towpath should 
be agreed first with the CRT. 

 
 
 

7. To be addressed by including the Canal and River 
Trust’s guidance within the ‘Additional Guidance’ list in 
Part 2, page 7.  

 
8. To be addressed by including the Canal and River 

Trust’s guidance within the ‘Additional Guidance’ list in 
Part 2, page 7.  

 
9. To be addressed by including the Canal and River 

Trust’s guidance within the ‘Additional Guidance’ list in 
Part 2, page 7.  

 
10. To be addressed by including the Canal and River 

Trust’s guidance within the ‘Additional Guidance’ list in 
Part 2, page 7. 

 
 
 

11. Principle 5.4 ‘Safe, Overlooked Spaces’ will be 
expanded to include all public spaces. 

 
12. To be addressed by including the Canal and River 

Trust’s guidance within the ‘Additional Guidance’ list in 
Part 2, page 7.  

 
 
 
 
 

P
age 275



43 
 

 
13. It needs to be ensured that any planting proposed 

includes native species and is appropriate for the 
waterside setting. 

 
14. Any planting needs to be set back sufficiently from 

the canal corridor to allow for future growth and 
ensure it does not adversely impact on the stability of 
the canal infrastructure or affect safe navigation of 
the waterway. 

 
15. Section 7 on Health and Wellbeing – CRT promote 

the use of the canal for this purpose. This section 
does not mention the need to link walking and 
cycling routes into existing provision to ensure it can 
cope with increased housing. 

 
16. An audit of provision, and the impact of development 

on should be carried out, with mitigation put in place 
beyond the site boundary as necessary. 

 
 
 
 

17. Section 9 – there is potential for the canal to accept 
surface water discharges from sites and this should 
be referenced. 

 
18. It should however be noted that the drainage 

methods of new developments can have significant 
impacts on the structural integrity, water quality and 
the biodiversity of waterways and the Trust is not a 

 
13. Principle 8.2.2 refers to ‘locally-significant native 

species’. 
 
 

14. To be addressed by including the Canal and River 
Trust’s guidance within the ‘Additional Guidance’ list in 
Part 2, page 7. 

 
 
 

15. The proposed additional text is already covered within 
Design Principles Category 4, ‘A Connected Place’. 

 
 
 
 

16. The requirement to carry out an audit provision of 
facilities and infrastructure is covered in Part 1. 
Mitigation would be identified on a site-by-site basis 
through the Development Management process. Local 
Plan policies will secure mitigation via planning 
obligations and legal mechanisms. 

 
17. This point is beyond the scope of the Strategic Design 

Guide. 
 
 

18. This point is beyond the scope of the Strategic Design 
Guide. 

 
 

P
age 276



44 
 

Question Number 2 SUPPORTING 

Question Text: Do you consider that the detailed design principles (as set out under each of the 10 broad categories) 
will be effective in securing high quality development? 

Number of responses 61, Y – 21%, N – 48%, No response – 31% 

Key points raised in representations Officer response 

land drainage authority and therefore any proposed 
discharges are not granted. 

 
19. The Trust also wish to highlight the potential of the 

canal for heating & cooling for district heating 
network or individual schemes and reference to this 
potential for the canal to contribute to low carbon 
technologies should be included.   

 

 
 
 

19. This level of detail is beyond the scope of the Strategic 
Design Guide. 

 

Grove Fields Residents Association (GFRA) 
 

20. The GFRA lack confidence that developers and 
landowners will abide to the principles and that DBC 
will enforce them. 

 

 
 

20. The Design Principles categories and outcomes are 
set out in emerging new Local Plan policy to aid 
enforcement.  

P
age 277



45 
 

Question Number 2 SUPPORTING 

Question Text: Do you consider that the detailed design principles (as set out under each of the 10 broad categories) 
will be effective in securing high quality development? 

Number of responses 61, Y – 21%, N – 48%, No response – 31% 

Key points raised in representations Officer response 

Chiltern Society 
 

21. The Society would like to see more emphasis placed 
on connecting habitats through green and blue 
infrastructure. These measures must be incorporated 
into Masterplans, with all the necessary surveys 
undertaken prior to any planning permission being 
issued. 

 
22. The SPD should include a section relating to 

reducing abstraction of water from local 
watercourses, managing habitats in sustainable 
drainage systems, and reducing the risk of increased 
pollution to local watercourses. 

 

 
 

21. The document text will be updated to reflect this 
comment. 

 
 
 
 
 

22. This level of detail is beyond the scope of the Strategic 
Design Guide. 
 

Homes England 
 

23. Policy should be written within the context of the 
government's aim for local planning authorities to be 
looking to future proof or at least reference future 
targets within the context of national planning policy 
in the NPPF and PPG.   

 

 
 

23. This context is a matter for the development of Local 
Plan policy and is beyond the scope of the Strategic 
Design Guide.  

 

P
age 278



46 
 

The Crown Estate 
 

24. Principle 4.2.3 goes beyond the remit of what would 
be expected as part of a planning application. It 
should be removed, or the intent clarified. 
 

25. Principle 6.3.2 suggests adequate threshold space 
for dwellings. If this is applied rigidly then Mews 
streets and frontages that directly address the 
pavements will not be supported. Notably, properties 
with direct access to the street is a characteristic of 
some of Dacorum’s Conservation Areas. 
 

26. Principle 6.6.3 (numbering should be 6.7.1) please 
note that some statutory authorities require access 
and therefore internal utility boxes may be resisted, 
although this could potentially be overcome by smart 
metering. 
 

27. Principle 7.4.4 this paragraphs suggests that parks 
should meet Green Flag standards but does not 
provide a quality threshold.  
 

28. Principle 8.1.1 The requirement for BREEAM 
Excellent for buildings over 1,000 sq m is onerous 
and should be set at Very Good, with an aspiration 
for Excellent. 
 

29. Principle 8.7.2 The requirement for mandated district 
heating and power networks may not be appropriate 
and its feasibility should be investigated. Energy 

 
 

24. Principle 4.2.3 is applicable only ‘where justifiable in 
planning terms’ and therefore would not be applied to 
all developments. 

 
25. The inclusion of the text ‘appropriate to the typology’ 

within Principle 6.3.2 allows for a degree of flexibility. 
 
 
 
 
 

26. The document text will be updated to reflect this 
comment.  

 
 
 
 

27. The quality threshold is the level required to achieve 
the Green Flag standard.  

 
 

28. The standards within the Strategic Design Guide will 
reflect emerging new Local Plan policy.  

 
 
 

29. The document text will be updated to reflect this 
comment. 

 
 

P
age 279



47 
 

Question Number 2 SUPPORTING 

Question Text: Do you consider that the detailed design principles (as set out under each of the 10 broad categories) 
will be effective in securing high quality development? 

Number of responses 61, Y – 21%, N – 48%, No response – 31% 

Key points raised in representations Officer response 

networks are only effective at the scale and density of 
East Hemel and NWHH if:  

 There is a source of waste heat to be exploited 
centrally and distributed;  

 And there is a mix of uses with simultaneous 
heating/cooling demands that facilitate energy 
sharing in denser locations (e.g. district centres).  
 

30. Principle 10.5.1 clarification of the intent – planning 
stage should read ‘reserved matters stage’ 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

30. The precise stages and deliverables would be 
confirmed through a Planning Performance 
Agreement. 

P
age 280



48 
 

Harrow Estates 
 

31. Page 6 - Whilst innovative and modern designs should 
be encouraged it should also be recognised that homes 
with a traditional design and appearance continue to be 
very popular with many people. The text should be 
amended to: “Putting lessons from the local context into 
practice should be achieved through reflecting the 
character of existing buildings in the immediate locality 
(as suggested in the National Design Guide).  

 
32. Page 15 - HE agree. However, we note that this detailed 

guidance appears to conflict with the “Contemporary 
Spatial Typologies” set out in Part 1.  

 
33. HE support the principles for creating great streets. 

However, the imagery should be revised to present a 
more balanced mix of contemporary and traditional 
architectural styles. 

 
34. Page 18 - HE support the principles for creating great 

streets. However, the imagery should be revised to 
present a more balanced mix of contemporary and 
traditional architectural styles. 

 
35. Page 20 - Whilst the principles for creating great homes 

the imagery should be balanced with more examples of 
traditional architectural styles which many people 
continue to have a preference for when choosing a new 
home. 

 

 
 

31. This intent is set out in the Strategic Design Guide, 
therefore no change is needed.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

32. The Council does not consider there is a conflict with 
Part 1.  

 
 

33. The images used within the Strategic Design Guide 
show contemporary and successful street attributes 
that can be achieved with a number of different 
architectural styles 

 
34. The images used within the Strategic Design Guide 

show contemporary and successful street attributes 
that can be achieved with a number of different 
architectural styles. 

 
35. The guidance within the Strategic Design Guide is not 

prescriptive on architectural style. 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 281



49 
 

Question Number 2 SUPPORTING 

Question Text: Do you consider that the detailed design principles (as set out under each of the 10 broad categories) 
will be effective in securing high quality development? 

Number of responses 61, Y – 21%, N – 48%, No response – 31% 

Key points raised in representations Officer response 

36. Page 26 – The requirements in Section 8 go beyond 
what is currently and will be required through the Future 
Homes Standard implemented through the Building 
Regulations. The text should be revised to make it clear 
that these additional exemplary standards are 
encouraged but are not mandatory.  

 
37. We support the aspiration for high sustainability 

standards for new buildings, however the BREEAM 
targets set out in 8.1.1 must be subject to technical and 
commercial viability to ensure that specific sustainability 
opportunities, and any constraints relating to each 
particular site and development proposal, are 
appropriately accounted for.  

 
38. 8.1.2 seeks certification of all new dwellings to the 

BRE’s Home Quality Mark Five Star rating. While we 
support measures to ensure that homes are built to the 
highest quality, a requirement for five star certification 
for all new homes is unrealistic and unlikely to be 
achieved. 

 

36. The Strategic Design Guide is underpinned by the 
principle of ‘comply or justify’, therefore no change is 
needed. 

 
 
 
 
 

37. The ‘comply or justify’ principle that underpins the 
Strategic Design Guide would apply to the 
sustainability standards of new developments.  

 
 
 
 
 

38. The ‘comply or justify’ principle that underpins the 
Strategic Design Guide would apply to this 
requirement. 
 

P
age 282



50 
 

LQ Estates 
 

39. The detail within Section 5 should be agreed with the 
Local Highways Authority, including the Adoption Team, 
to ensure that proposals will be acceptable in highways 
terms and meet adoptable standards.  

 
40. Section 7 - Incorporating food production on all sites is 

unlikely to be feasible.  
 

 
41. Allotments - Whilst provision of allotments is appropriate 

on some sites, on others an off-site contribution towards 
allotment provision is more appropriate and the SPD 
should reflect this option. 

 
42. Section 8 – The sustainability standards may not be 

viable for all sites and the SPD should reflect this.  
 
 

43. It should be clarified that SuDS form part of the on-site 
open space provision.  

 
44. The contents of this section also needs to be agreed 

with the Lead Local Flood Authority.  
 

45. It should be clarified what is considered to be a ‘large’ 
development. This should also be amended to reflect 
that this will not be feasible/viable for all developments 

 
 

 
 

39. The Strategic Design Guide does not affect this 
process. 

 
 
 

40. The ‘comply or justify’ principle that underpins the 

Strategic Design Guide would apply to this 

requirement.  

 

41. The ‘comply or justify’ principle that underpins the 

Strategic Design Guide provides flexibility. 

 
 

42. The ‘comply or justify’ principle that underpins the 
Strategic Design Guide would apply to the 
sustainability standards of new developments.  
 

43. The types of open space that from part of on-site 
provision is determined by planning policy. 

 
44. The Strategic Design Guide does not affect this 

process. 
 

45. The ‘comply or justify’ principle that underpins the 
Strategic Design Guide would apply to the size of the 
development. The decision on whether this principle 
should be applied will be determined on a site-by-site 
basis. The requirements within the Strategic Design 
Guide reflect emerging new Local Plan policy. 

 

P
age 283



51 
 

Question Number 2 SUPPORTING 

Question Text: Do you consider that the detailed design principles (as set out under each of the 10 broad categories) 
will be effective in securing high quality development? 

Number of responses 61, Y – 21%, N – 48%, No response – 31% 

Key points raised in representations Officer response 

46. Section 10 - Paragraph 10.5 sets out what should be 
submitted in order to secure quality at the planning 
stage. The elements listed at 10.5.1 and 10.5.2 are 
detailed matters and should not be required at outline 
planning stage. The SPD should make this clear. 

 

46. The application of this principle is to be determined as 
part of pre-application process on a site-by-site basis. 

 

Statutory Supporting  

N/A 

Other Groups Supporting 

1. Sport England 

2. Canal and River Trust 

3. Grove Fields Residents Association 

4. Wendover arm Trust 

5. Chiltern Society 

6. Homes England 

7. The Crown Estate 

8. Harrow Estates 

9. LQ Estates 

P
age 284



52 
 

Question Number 2 NOT SUPPORTING 

Question Text: Do you consider that the detailed design principles (as set out under each of the 10 broad categories) 
will be effective in securing high quality development? 

Key points raised in representations Officer response 

Herts & Middlesex Wildlife Trust (HMWT) 
 

47. The NPPF requirement for development to deliver 
biodiversity net gain by reference to the Defra 
biodiversity metric should be more explicitly stated. 
8.2 needs to be edited so that it reads: ‘Development 
must deliver measurable biodiversity net gain, by 
utilising the DEFRA biodiversity metric, preferably on-
site or as part of enhancement and expansion of nearby 
natural habitats. A mitigation hierarchy should be used: 
‘avoid, minimise, restore and offset'. 
 

 
 

47. The document text will be updated to reflect this 
comment.  

 

P
age 285



53 
 

Berkhamsted Town Council (BTC) 
 

48. BTC are concerned that the SPD is too focussed on 
large scale developments and lacks sufficient guidance 
for mid-scale developments that will not be able to 
accommodate the ‘grand designs’ set out in the 
document.  

 
49. BTC argue that the document reads as though the 

natural and environmental impact of development reads 
like an afterthought. The guidance is ‘business as usual’ 
and is not proactive enough; it remains a ‘do what you 
can to minimise detrimental impact’ approach.  

 
Section 7.6 on air pollution is vague and sparse. 
Developers should be required to evidence the base 
line pollution levels and demonstrate precise 
proposals for how they will manage air flow and 
minimise pollution. 

 
50. Carbon neutrality is treated as an ‘optional extra’ within 

the SPD. 
 

51. Similarly, the adverse weather section is also vague. 
Phrases such as “trees and soft landscapes should be 
climate resilient” are inadequate given the effects of 
climate change that are, at this point, inevitable.  

 
52. Proposals should demonstrate the impact of soft 

landscaping and trees and their ability to control flood 
management, air quality, mental health, and 
attractiveness, not just climate. 

 
 

48. The Council acknowledges this comment and is 
producing further guidance for smaller scale 
development. However, there remains scope for all 
development to contribute to the Strategic Design Guide 
principles. 

 
49. The requirements for air pollution form part of planning 

policy and are beyond the scope of the Strategic Design 
Guide.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

50. The route towards net zero carbon is set out in the 
emerging new Local Plan policy. 

 
51. The Council acknowledges this comment and will 

consider it further in future development guidance.  
 
 
 

52. Flood management and drainage is covered in Principle 
5.7. 

 
 

P
age 286



54 
 

Question Number 2 NOT SUPPORTING 

Question Text: Do you consider that the detailed design principles (as set out under each of the 10 broad categories) 
will be effective in securing high quality development? 

Key points raised in representations Officer response 

 
53. Cycle routes are discussed but current provision is not 

remotely acceptable.  
 
 

54. No mention of community-based utilities provision such 
as community energy schemes or waste management 
facilities. How about encouraging local food waste 
reprocessing into energy? 

 
55. More emphasis should be given throughout the 

document on incorporating local vegetation (green 
corridors, trees, hedgerows, ponds etc., within the 
design). 

 
56. The Town Council are delighted to see references to 

reducing dependency on cars, although aspiration 
needs to be backed up with specific commitments in 
terms of (for example) targets for cars per household 
ratios. 

 

 
53. The Council acknowledges this comment, however it is 

outside of the scope of the Strategic Design Guide. 
 
 

54. The document text will be updated to reflect this 
comment.  

 
 
 

55. These elements are included within Principles 5.7.1, and 
8.2, therefore no change is needed. 

 
 
 

56. These points are beyond the scope of the Strategic 
Design Guide. 

P
age 287



55 
 

Question Number 2 NOT SUPPORTING 

Question Text: Do you consider that the detailed design principles (as set out under each of the 10 broad categories) 
will be effective in securing high quality development? 

Key points raised in representations Officer response 

Nash Mills Parish Council 
 

57. A reduction in reliance on cars is unlikely given the poor 
provision of train services and a lack of alternative local 
transport. 

 
58. Whilst the document mentions a minimum size for 

balconies there does not seem to be a minimum internal 
space requirement noted.  

 
59. More detail in 7.3 is needed, particularly on how DBC 

will ensure delivery of this proposal and how our 
overstretched services will be futureproofed. 

 
60. The potential to encourage an increase in electric car 

use is not mentioned but would also be relevant under 
this heading. 

 
61. 8.3 Drain Places Naturally. The image used within the 

section does not seem appropriate.  
 

 
 

57. Current transport provision is beyond of the scope of the 
Strategic Design Guide. 

 
 

58. Principle 6.4 refers to the national space standards. 
 
 
 

59. These issues are beyond the scope of the Strategic 
Design Guide.  
 

 
60. Electric car use is promoted in Principles 8.6.3 and 6.1. 

 
 
 

61. The images used within Principle 8.3 illustrate well-
designed SuDS infrastructure. 

P
age 288



56 
 

Question Number 2 NOT SUPPORTING 

Question Text: Do you consider that the detailed design principles (as set out under each of the 10 broad categories) 
will be effective in securing high quality development? 

Key points raised in representations Officer response 

Dacorum Environmental Forum Waste Group 
 

62. 8.1.3 Route toward achieving zero-carbon homes. This 
may be achieved through certification such as 
Passivhaus or appropriate carbon offsetting. 

 
8.1.4 These targets are not sufficiently ambitious, or 
easy to relate to carbon reduction. 

 
A more specific and ambitious standard akin to 
Germany's KfW-40-Standard is called for to replace 
BREEAM. 

 
 

 
 

62. The route towards net zero carbon is set out in the 
emerging new Local Plan policy. The standards 
referenced within 8.1 are widely used and recognised in 
the UK.  

P
age 289



57 
 

W Lamb Ltd (WLL) 
 

63. WLL would recommend delaying adoption of the 
Strategic Design Guide until after the NMDC has been 
published and digested and should then be fully 
reflected in the strategic guide, to avoid becoming out of 
date and irrelevant. 

 
 

 
64. 2.1.2 Whilst walking distances to such facilities are 

certainly a desired feature of any development, it is not 
to say that an application should be refused if not within 
walking distance. 

 
 

65. 2.1.3 Whilst an acceptable overall principle this is highly 
ambiguous. What does ‘low’ traffic mean? Who has the 
final say on what ‘low’ levels of traffic are? 

 
66. Sections 3.3.3 and 3.3.4 use language such as ‘regular 

street crossings’ and ‘frequent places to stop’. Such 
language is ambiguous and it is unclear what is meant 
by ‘regular’ and ‘frequent’ and yet an application could 
be refused if it is not deemed to meet with these 
requirements. 

 
67. 4.7.2 - Flexibility needs to be added in to this 

requirement to prevent applications being refused 
unnecessarily. 

 
 

 
 

63. The equivalent national document to the Strategic 
Design Guide is the National Design Guide, published in 
October 2019. Design codes are beyond the scope of 
the Strategic Design Guide. Future strategic planning 
work will reflect the contents of the National Model 
Design Code. 

 
 

64. The Strategic Design Guide sets out factors to be 
considered as part of the Development Management 
decision process. It does not specify grounds for refusal. 
However, development that is not ‘walkable’ is unlikely 
to be supported. 

 
65. The established concept ‘low traffic’ is explained within 

the guidance documents referenced under ‘Additional 
Guidance’.  
 

66. It is beyond the scope of the Strategic Design Guide to 
set out standards for these elements. The application of 
these principles is dependent on site context and the 
Guide is to be used collaboratively with Development 
Management officers and applicants to agree such 
matters. 

 
67. The ‘comply or justify’ principle that underpins the 

Strategic Design Guide provides flexibility.  
 
 

P
age 290



58 
 

68. 4.7.4 and 4.7.5 require the extension of existing walking 
and cycling routes to connect with networks outside of 
the site. This may not be possible to provide outside of 
land controlled by the Applicant or highway authority. 

 
69. 4.7.6 requires proposals to ‘future proof in anticipation of 

changes in transport’. This is not an acceptable or 
appropriate requirement to make. For example, should 
proposals be future proofing against transport changes 
that are in the immediate pipeline, or should they be 
future proofing against transport changes which have 
not been publically announced. How far will an 
application have to go in terms of demonstrating ‘future-
proofing’ for it to be considered acceptable? 

 
70. Section 5 is overly prescriptive and does not allow for 

sufficient flexibility with regards to design. 
 
 

71. 5.1.2 seeks to prevent the use of any cul-de-sacs. In 
many instances, the use of cul-de-sacs may be an 
appropriate response to the local character or may be a 
good response to site constraints. 

 
72. 5.11.1 sets out that developments should integrate 

parking into the streetscene with ‘minimal’ visual impact. 
However 5.11.2 goes onto to state that on-street parking 
would be encouraged. As such the use of on-street 
parking is likely to impact the visual streetscene. 

 
73. 6.1.2 states that internal layout should reflect 

contemporary living preferences with integrated 

68. Designs are expected to demonstrate provision of 
routes within the site that connect with networks outside 
of the site. The principle of comply or justify takes into 
account potential constraints on this. 

 
69. The requirements are set out in the emerging new Local 

Plan policy. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

70. Design Principles Category 5’s content reflects what is 
considered to be best practice design. The ‘comply or 
justify’ principle that underpins the Strategic Design 
Guide provides flexibility. 
 

71. The ‘comply or justify’ principle that underpins the 
Strategic Design Guide provides flexibility. 

 
 
 

72. Principle 5.11.1 provides guidance on layout, materials 
and planting irrespective of parking location and 
therefore is not in conflict with Principle 5.11.2. 

 
 
 

P
age 291



59 
 

kitchen/family rooms. This is one type of preference, 
other future residents may demonstrate a desire for 
separate rooms. It is not the role of a Design Guide to 
set ‘living preferences’. 

 
74. 6.1.3 requires homes to have electric car charging 

points. Such a requirement comes at considerable 
financial cost to developers and should be rooted in 
planning policy.  

 
75. 6.4.3 calls for family-sized dwellings to exceed sizes set 

out in the national minimum space standards. It should 
not the role of a Design Guide to seek standards which 
exceed national guidance. 

 
76. 7.1.2 requires developments to provide off-road cycle 

routes between homes and key destinations. This may 
not be possible to provide outside of land controlled by 
the Applicant or highway authority. 

 
77. 7.1.3 requires developments to provide physically 

segregated cycle lanes on primary streets. This may not 
be suitable for every site due to perhaps physical 
constraints which may make it impossible to provide 
adjacent to primary streets. 

 
78. 7.2.1 should be reworded to provide greater flexibility, 

with convenient bicycle storage provided in safe and 
secure storage areas across a range of locations, from 
shared ground floor areas, through to smaller internal 
stores on different levels, or appropriate storage within 

73. The ‘comply or justify’ principle that underpins the 
Strategic Design Guide provides flexibility. 

 
 
 

74. The requirements are set out in the emerging new Local 
Plan policy.  

 
 
 

75. The role of the Strategic Design Guide is to set locally 
specific standards.  

 
 
 

76. This generally applies to the extent of routes within a 
site. Connections should be provided to routes outside 
of the site. 

 
 

77. The ‘comply or justify’ principle that underpins the 
Strategic Design Guide provides flexibility. 

 
 
 
 

78. The ‘comply or justify’ principle that underpins the 
Strategic Design Guide provides flexibility. 
 

 
 
 

P
age 292



60 
 

Question Number 2 NOT SUPPORTING 

Question Text: Do you consider that the detailed design principles (as set out under each of the 10 broad categories) 
will be effective in securing high quality development? 

Key points raised in representations Officer response 

apartments that can be utilised for general storage for 
non-cycle owners. 

 
79. 7.5.1. It is too onerous to request that every site 

improves air quality and this should be reworded so to 
encourage improvements where possible. 

 
80. 7.5.2. It is not reasonable or suitable for every site to 

cater for food production and orchards. The wording of 
this section requires amending to encourage the 
exploration of opportunities for food production. 

 
81. This section seeks compliance with BREEAM ‘Very 

Good’ or ‘Excellent’ for non-residential buildings and 
BRE’s Home Quality Mark Five Star for all residential 
buildings. Unless this is clearly set out in policy it should 
not be included in the Design Guide 

 

 
 
 

79. The guidance outlines how sites should contribute, such 
as by incorporating green infrastructure and using 
design to reduce car dependency. 

 
80. The ‘comply or justify’ principle that underpins the 

Strategic Design Guide provides flexibility. 
 
 
 

81. The standards within the Strategic Design Guide will 
reflect the emerging new Local Plan policy.  

 
 
 

P
age 293



61 
 

The Hertfordshire Society 
 

82. The design guide currently lacks robust standards that 
promote suitable space for flexible home working as well 
as better internal space standards that include: 

 Cross ventilation to ensure dwellings are both 
cooler and can reduce the spread of infection 

 Private outside space including balconies for all 
flats. 

 
83. The guidelines for the amount of open green space 

required in new developments are felt to be inadequate. 
 

84. An explicit objective has to be low-car environments; the 
space demands of car ownership frustrate space 
standards for sustainable movement, green space as 
well as internal building spaces. 

 
 
 

85. Existing sustainable travel corridors should be defined 
and then incorporated as the basis for integrated 
sustainable land use and travel planning. 

 
86. Providing everyone with adequate space to move and 

live should be part of greater resilience in physical 
planning. Standard 2m wide or less footways for 
instance do not allow this. 

 
87. Walking and cycling require greater priority in road 

design, space allocation and more extensive public 
rights of way networks in existing urban areas. 

 
 

82. These suggestions are covered under Principles 8.5 
(ventilation), 6.4.3 (space), 6.2.1 (outdoor space) and 
6.1.2 (home-working). 

 
 
 
 
 

83. The requirements for the provision of open space in new 
developments is set out in planning policy.   

 
84. Low traffic neighbourhoods are referred to in Principle 

2.1.3. Principle 5.10 outlines aims to reduce car 
dominance and prioritise pedestrians and cyclists. 
Parking standards are beyond the scope of the Strategic 
Design Guide and are covered under a separate SPD. 

 
 

85. This intent is captured within the Strategic Design 
Guide. 

 
 

86. This level of detail is beyond the scope of the Strategic 
Design Guide. Under ‘Additional Guidance’ reference is 
made to Roads in Hertfordshire: A Design Guide.  

 
 

87. This intent is captured within the Strategic Design 
Guide. 

 

P
age 294



62 
 

 
88. Existing and future neighbourhoods need to be at 

densities which support sustainability but without 
compromising minimum standards of open space, 
internal space standards or space for sustainable 
movement. 

 
89. The terms ‘walkable’ and ‘low traffic’ are not defined. 

 
 
 
 

90. Sustainable development is not car dependency – this 
should be made explicit and some measure of it agreed 

 
 

91. 6.2.2 - The requirement for balconies should apply for all 
apartments. 

 
92. Page 23. Surely ‘all places’ not just ‘new’ places? 

 
 

93. 8.1.3 – what does ‘route towards’ mean exactly? 
 
 

94. 8.2.2 – Delete ‘wherever possible’ as we must not 
import trees. 

 
 

95. 8.4.2 – ‘maximum’ is meaningless in this context. There 
seems to be denial about local water issues and the 
likelihood that new development will have a serious 

 
88. The Council acknowledges this comment, which is 

supported in the Strategic Design Guide.  
 
 
 
 

89. The established concept ‘low traffic’ is explained within 
the guidance documents referenced under ‘Additional 
Guidance’. ‘Walkable’ is to be determined on a site-by-
site basis and with reference to guidance. 

 
90. Defining targets for a reduction in car dependency is 

outside of the scope of the Strategic Design Guide. 
 
 

91. The document text will be updated to reflect this 
comment. 

 
92. The document text will be updated to reflect this 

comment. 
 

93. The document text will be updated to clarify ‘route 
towards’. 

 
94. The document text will be updated to reflect this 

comment. 
 
 

95. The Strategic Design Guide deals with SuDS 
extensively under Principle 8.3.  

 

P
age 295



63 
 

Question Number 2 NOT SUPPORTING 

Question Text: Do you consider that the detailed design principles (as set out under each of the 10 broad categories) 
will be effective in securing high quality development? 

Key points raised in representations Officer response 

impact on chalk streams. A whole section devoted to 
SUDS, community-wide rainwater harvesting and 
storage is needed. 

 
96. Page 31 – the potential for e-bikes, cargo bikes and e 

scooters and providing for them has been overlooked. 
 
 
 

97. 10.2 – Long term stewardship is critical but this section 
needs strengthening and is simply too vague. 

 

 
 
 
 

96. The Strategic Design Guide does not seek to provide a 
fully comprehensive list for future developments. In 
terms of urban design, e-bikes have similar 
requirements to bikes. 

 
97. The Council acknowledges this comment and will 

consider it as part of forthcoming stewardship guidance. 

3. Dacorum Heritage Trust 
 

98. 4.5 – As well as people, ecology also needs connectivity 
via blue and green infrastructure. E.g. New built areas 
need to ensure that they do not cut off natural pathways 
for both aquatic and terrestrial fauna. 

 
99. Section 6 should consider home-working giving the 

ongoing COVID-19 pandemic. 
 

100. 8.3 should include permeable hard standing. SuDS are 
mentioned but not provision for their maintenance. 

 
 

98. These elements are covered in Principle 8.2.3. 
 
 
 
 

99. This suggestion is already included within the Strategic 
Design Guide. 

 
100. Both permeable hard standing and provision for the 

maintenance of SuDS are included in Principle 8.3. 
 

P
age 296



64 
 

St William Homes LLP 
 

101. St William question whether there is sufficient clarity 
regarding the application of the Design Principles to 
smaller and medium sized sites. 

 
102. The Draft SPD is overly focused on ensuring that 

development is in keeping with the character and built 
form of the surrounding area. 

 
The Draft SPD should also recognise that new 
development can accentuate the sense of place, 
streetscape and quality of the surrounding built 
environment and should not seek to stifle architectural 
ambition or high quality design. 

 
The Draft SPD acknowledges the diversity of the 
Borough’s built environment but fails to promote this 
sense of diversity in new development, instead focusing 
on new development replicating existing. 

 
The Council should ensure that Design Principle 1.3 is 
expanded upon to ensure that architectural ambition can 
be explored whilst simultaneously respecting the 
district’s character. 

 
103. Design Principle 1 fails to fully consider circumstances 

where the existing built environment is of a poor quality. 
 
 
 
 

 
 

101. There is scope for development of all scales to 
contribute to achievement of the Strategic Design Guide 
principles. Dacorum Design Principles (page 4) explains 
how the Strategic Design Guide should be applied to 
development of all scales. Dacorum will be producing 
further guidance specifically aimed at issues relating to 
smaller and medium sized sites. 

 
102. The Strategic Design Guide does encourage high 

quality contemporary architecture and incorporates 
flexibility to enable this. This should always be achieved 
in a way that complements the surrounding context. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

103. As well as responding to the local context within its 
design, development must also meet all of the design 
principles that ensure high quality. Response to context 
is not limited to the built environment, refer to Part 1, 
Design Process. 

 

P
age 297



65 
 

104. The Land Use Framework guidance is clearly only 
applicable to developments of a certain size. 
 

 
105. Design Principle 2.2 should clarify that a mix of land 

uses may not always be possible or appropriate; 
reference should be made to the Site Allocation. 

 
106. It may not always be possible to provide 

“Intergenerational living opportunities” within a specific 
development site. It should be clarified that this Design 
Principle should be applied at a neighbourhood level, 
rather than a site specific level. 

 
107. Design Principle 3.4 should recognise that it may not be 

possible or appropriate to provide “Exciting multi-
sensory play spaces for children and young people of all 
ages” across all developments. 

 
108. DP 4.2 should recognise that it would not be appropriate 

to provide retail and office uses on all sites, especially 
where there is a more pressing need for the delivery of 
new homes. 

 
109. Design Principle 4.5.2 should clarify that blue 

infrastructure is not required on every site, but rather at 
neighbourhood level. 

 
110. Design Principle 7.4 - the provision of indoor and 

outdoor sports facilities should be commensurate with 
the size of the development and consider the viability of 
providing such facilities. 

104. The document will be updated to clarify in the 
introduction to this chapter that this applies to larger 
scale developments.  

 
105. The document text will be updated to include ‘According 

to Local Plan policies’.   
 
 

106. The Council considers that homes should be accessible 
to all. The ‘comply or justify’ principle that underpins the 
Strategic Design Guide provides flexibility.  

 
 
 

107. The ‘comply or justify’ principle that underpins the 
Strategic Design Guide provides flexibility. 

 
 
 

108. The ‘comply or justify’ principle that underpins the 
Strategic Design Guide provides flexibility. 

 
 
 

109. The document text will be updated to reflect this 
comment. 

 
 

110. The document text will be updated to reflect this 
comment. 

 
 

P
age 298



66 
 

Question Number 2 NOT SUPPORTING 

Question Text: Do you consider that the detailed design principles (as set out under each of the 10 broad categories) 
will be effective in securing high quality development? 

Key points raised in representations Officer response 

 
111. Design Principle 7.5.2 – This should only occur where 

appropriate and where there is an evidenced demand.   
 

 
111. This is implicit in the wording that states ‘excessive 

noise’. 
 

P
age 299



67 
 

Tring Town Council 
 

112. Unlike Part 3, Part 2 is not strong on renewable energy 
given the very strong emphasis on design layout of 
housing needing to reflect the traditional layout. 
 

113. The layouts shown in the section on Spatial Typologies 
often mitigate against effective renewable energy via 
solar PV and solar thermal on about half the houses and 
in some cases may well mitigate against Passivhaus 
standard, where spacing between adjacent rows is very 
important. 

 
114. Para 5.2.5 - Consider omitting "all", because what about 

bus access, waste/recycling truck access, emergency 
vehicle access. 

 
115. Para 5.11.5 exacerbates the above by providing for cars 

parking on the pavement.  
 

116. Para 5.2.5 is also incompatible with para 5.11.2 and the 
use of on-street parking, unless on-street parking is 
allowed only in bays. 

 
117. Para 5.11.4. Car park surfaces should also be to SUDs 

standard 
 

118. Charging facilities should be provided to encourage 
adoption of electric local delivery vehicles and buses. 

 
119. Para 8.7.1 What's discussed here is expressed more 

clearly in Part 3 para E.05.1. Orientation of houses to 

 
 

112. The Council acknowledges this comment and will 
consider it further. 

 
 

113. The layouts shown in Spatial Typologies are indicative 
only. 

 
 
 
 
 

114. The document text includes ‘minimum width possible’, to 
provide for access for these type of uses where 
required. 

 
115. Principle 5.11.5 does not encourage the provision of 

parking on the pavement. 
 

116. Principle 5.2.5 considers carriageway width, which is a 
separate issue to that of parking bays dealt with under 
Principle 5.11.2. 

 
117. The guidance within Principle 8.3.4 applies here. 

 
 

118. Charging points are already included within the Strategic 
Design Guide, in Principles 6.1.3 and 8.6.3.  

 
119. The document text will be updated to reflect this 

comment. 

P
age 300



68 
 

Question Number 2 NOT SUPPORTING 

Question Text: Do you consider that the detailed design principles (as set out under each of the 10 broad categories) 
will be effective in securing high quality development? 

Key points raised in representations Officer response 

achieve what's proposed here needs stating, plus 
specific distances from other buildings to avoid roof 
shadowing (which significantly reduces the performance 
of roof mounted solar PV) 

 
120. Adaptation should surely apply both ways e.g. houses to 

make them easily adaptable for staying in as occupants 
become disabled/unsteady on feet/difficulty with stairs. 

 

 
 
 
 
 

120. This comment is addressed in Principle 6.4.3. 

General points raised  P
age 301



69 
 

Climate Emergency 
 

121. Multiple consultees raise the point that all new homes 
should have solar panels installed given this is much 
cheaper than retrofitting. 

 
122. Landscaping, tree-planting and enhancing biodiversity 

and habitats need to be prioritised in mitigating the 
effects of pollution and offsetting climate change. 

 
123. Multiple responses suggested that local building 

materials should be prioritised. 
 
 

124. 8.6 should mention the opportunistic extraction of 
minerals for use on site prior to non-mineral 
development.  

 
125. 8.6.3 Sorry, this is NOT the thing to do. You can only get 

the slow charging from a street light, it's unreliable and 
you could have the circuit feeding multiple lights all 
going out at the same time. Street lights are not metered 
and power use is estimated - HCC would end up 
supplying a few people free electricity with the added 
cost of frequent blackouts. Far better to facilitate home 
charging supplemented by fast chargers in car parks. 

 
 
 

 
 

121. Solar panel installation is considered under Principle 
8.7. 

 
 

122. These elements are included within the Strategic Design 
Guide. 
 

 
123. Principle 8.6.6 refers to ‘source low carbon and locally 

sourced materials for construction with 25% of materials 
to be recycled’.  

 
124. This level of detail is beyond the scope of the Strategic 

Design Guide. 
 
 

125. The document text will be updated to reflect this 
comment. 

Car Parking 
 

 
 

P
age 302



70 
 

Question Number 2 NOT SUPPORTING 

Question Text: Do you consider that the detailed design principles (as set out under each of the 10 broad categories) 
will be effective in securing high quality development? 

Key points raised in representations Officer response 

126. There should probably be greater recognition of the fact 
that even people with a garage rarely use it nowadays to 
house their vehicle/s. What can be done to encourage a 
return to the use of garages for vehicle storage? Better 
sizing - and provision of integral electric car charging 
points? 

 
127. 5.10.2 should take into account modern traffic calming 

measures like low profile speed tables across most of 
the road (apart from cycle channels at edges). Tring 
example - the speed cushions in Grove Road (30 mph 
max) do work but have given rise over the years to 
many complaints, but the new speed tables in the 
Christchurch Road (20 mph max) have been well 
accepted with (after a year) no complaints at all and are 
also effective as reminders. 

 

126. Guidance on storage is outlined under Principle 6.5. The 
provision of better internal storage aims to address the 
concern raised within the comment.  

 
 
 
 

127. This level of detail is beyond the scope of the Strategic 
Design Guide. 

P
age 303



71 
 

Question Number 2 NOT SUPPORTING 

Question Text: Do you consider that the detailed design principles (as set out under each of the 10 broad categories) 
will be effective in securing high quality development? 

Key points raised in representations Officer response 

Housing 
 

128. The design principles by necessity reflect an evolution of 
design over several centuries which is reflected in 
buildings constructed from materials used at that 
particular time. This cannot be effectively replicated by 
modern developers building new constructions from 
latest materials to 21st Century standards and 
regulations. Any resulting development will not therefore 
be "sympathetic".  

 
129. One consultee raised concerns as to the amount of high 

density development which will be permitted. 
 

130. Housing development is not just about the broader 
setting of a property as per the document. It is about the 
quality and design of the property itself and its relative 
proximity to other dwellings.  

 
131. "Storage" needs to ensure garages are wide enough for 

people to be able to comfortably get in and out of cars in 
the garage - or the garage WILL end up being a store 
shed as per usual! 

 
 

132. 6.7 "Utilities" 6.6.3 (sic) meters are moving to become 
"smart" and capable of being read remotely. 

 

 
 

128. This concern is addressed by Part 2 Design Principles 
Category 1, A Distinctive Place. It should be noted that 
to be sympathetic, a design does not need to replicate 
historical design. 

 
 
 
 

 
129. The density of development forms part of planning 

policy and is beyond the scope of the Strategic Design 
Guide. 

 
130. This level of detail is beyond the scope of the Strategic 

Design Guide, the Council will consider this further in 
future development guidance.  

 
131. This level of detail is beyond the scope of the Strategic 

Design Guide.  
 
 

 
 

132. The Council acknowledges this comment. 

P
age 304



72 
 

Transport 
 

133. (4.7) Sustainably Connected - could be expanded by 
reference to cycle parking and e-bike charging at 
appropriate points along main bus routes (for multi-
mode journeys e.g. cycle to get bus to station) and also 
by reference to taxi park/pick up points with EV top up 
facilities - but good to see 4.7.6 envisages pod access 
(if that ever happens). 

 
134. 5.10 Reduce car dominance needs amplifying. Speed 

limits of 20 mph are needed for all residential areas and 
past schools. Estates need to be built with increased 
power supplies. Public charging points for cars and e-
bikes need to be provided in at least 50% of public car 
parks and enough electrical capacity for homes to be 
able to instal home chargers for cars and e-bikes. 

 
135. 5.10.2 should take into account modern traffic calming 

measures like low profile speed tables across most of 
the road (apart from cycle channels at edges). Tring 
example - the speed cushions in Grove Road (30 mph 
max) do work but have given rise over the years to 
many complaints, but the new speed tables in the 
Christchurch Road (20 mph max) have been well 
accepted with (after a year) no complaints at all and are 
also effective as reminders. 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

133. Cycle parking is covered within Principle 7.2. Additional 
detail is to be provided in transport strategies/guidance. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

134. These comments are beyond the scope of the Strategic 
Design guide.  

 
 

 
 

 
 

135. This level of detail is beyond the scope of the Strategic 
Design Guide.  

P
age 305



73 
 

Lighting 
 

136. One consultee noted there was little reference to lighting 
within the SPD and made a number of suggestions to be 
considered for addition: 

 
Chapter 3 (3.3.7) - "adequate lighting to complement the 
way-finding strategy at night-time and to provide the 
required sense of safety and comfort, particularly to rest 
areas". 
 
Chapter 3 (3.4.4) - "A considered lighting strategy that 
goes beyond minimum statutory street lighting levels 
and includes layers of landscape, accent and kinetic 
lighting. Luminaires of suitable type ad colour 
appearance to be adopted to distinguish play areas and 
make them comfortable and inviting" 
 
Chapter 4 (4.3.5) - "A lighting strategy with a hierarchy 
of adequate luminaires types, illuminance levels and 
colour appearances to complement the design aim of 
improving legibility and enhancing local character and 
distinctiveness." 
 
Chapter 5 (5.4.2) – Make reference to landscape, 
accent, façade, and ambient lighting so that such 
aspects are considered by developers. 
 
Chapter 7 – Make reference to a considered lighting 
strategy as key to fulfil the vision of safe walking, cycling 
routes, play areas, and a consideration for light 
pollution. 

 
 

136. The Council acknowledges these comments and will 
consider them further comments as part of future 
development guidance. Reference to ‘well-lit’ streets 
and public spaces will be added to the Strategic Design 
Guide. 

P
age 306



74 
 

Question Number 2 NOT SUPPORTING 

Question Text: Do you consider that the detailed design principles (as set out under each of the 10 broad categories) 
will be effective in securing high quality development? 

Key points raised in representations Officer response 

 
Chapter 8 8.6.2 - "LED street lighting throughout" 
 
Chapter 8 - Automatic presence detection with a change 
in intensity can be more desirable than keeping lighting 
on all night or turning it off overall (as this would prevent 
safe pedestrian circulation at night as well as potentially 
making crime and theft easier)  

 
Chapter 8 - Light pollution, the colour appearance of 
light sources and again the control of intensity should 
also be considered in relation to biodiversity and 
protection of wildlife. 
 
Chapter 9 and 10 – A consideration for the multiple 
technological uses of lighting poles. An integrated 
approach should be considered as preferable to 
installing different technologies on multiple separate 
poles or retrofitting them on a pole that did not have 
allowance for them in the first place. 

 
 

P
age 307



75 
 

Gardens 
 

137. More comment should be made on minimum garden 
size for units and consistency in streets. Reference is 
made, but greater clarity will help avoid disputes. 

 
 

 
 

137. The Council acknowledges this comment and will consider 
it further within future development guidance. 

Food Production 
 

138. "Food Production". Sorry, whoever wrote that has never 
tried to grow vegetables. It's REALLY difficult and the 
season is short. Plus you need lots of space. Not 
practical. 

 

 
 

138. Food production in public realm spaces has been shown to 
offer health and wellbeing and environmental benefits, and 
represents best practice in new development. 

Enforcement 
 

139. Because this is a ‘guide’ some consultees felt 
concerned that developers will ignore it in favour of 
profit, risking damage to the character of the local area. 

 

 
 

139. The Design Process and Principles are referenced in the 
emerging new Local Plan policy to aid enforcement. 

Flexibility 
 

140.One consultee expressed concern regarding the SPD’s 
scope for flexibility. How do you ensure that these 
principles will be flexible with changing standard? E.g. 
move from gas boilers to heat pumps later this 
decade? 

 

 
 

140. The ‘comply or justify’ principle that underpins the Strategic 
Design Guide provides this flexibility. 

P
age 308



76 
 

Comments on the text itself 
 

141.Too long and difficult to engage with. 
 
 
 

142.There are loads of examples of 'little boxes' that are 
uniform and probably not in keeping with the 
neighbourhood and landscape they are placed in. Page 
6 is one such example.  

 
 

 
 

141. The Council acknowledges this comment and will consider 

it going forward.  

 

142. The examples included were selected by the appointed 
consultant based on their expert knowledge of schemes, 
and represent UK best practice in contextual design. 

 

Statutory not Supporting 

1. Berkhamsted Town Council 

2. Nash Mills Parish Council 

3. Tring Town Council 

Other Groups not supporting 

1. Herts & Middlesex Wildlife Trust 

2. Dacorum Environmental Forum Waste Group 

3. W. Lamb Ltd 

4. The Hertfordshire Society 

5. Dacorum Heritage Trust 

P
age 309



77 
 

Question Number 3 SUPPORTING 

Question Text: Do you consider that the guidance on designing employment buildings and areas will meet the future 
needs of Dacorum? 

Number of responses 61, Y – 33%, N – 28%, No response – 39% 

Key points raised in representations Officer response 

Canal and River Trust (CRT) 
 

77 CRT support the Employment Design Guide but 
recommend that some design elements are made to 
protect canals and waterways. Namely:  
 

 Shed type developments are not built close to edge of 
canals or towpaths. 

 Security fencing to be set back with landscaping that is 
accessible from both sides. 

 Employment uses to provide access to towpath if 
possible. 

 Security lighting should not light towpath or waterspace. 
 

1. To be addressed by including the Canal and River 
Trust’s guidance ‘Great Waterside Places’ within the 
‘Additional Guidance’ list in Part 2, page 7.  

Tring Town Council 
 

78 E.06.3 should include “repair shops”. 
 

79 E.07.2 should include “public transport links to 
nearest mainline rail station”. 

80 E.08.1 electrical parking bays should be at “all 
employment units”. 

 

 
 

2. The document text will be updated to reflect this 
comment. 

3. The document text will be updated to reflect this 
comment. 

4. This provision is a matter for the Council’s Parking 
Standards Supplementary Planning Document, this 
reference will be added to the document text. 

General points raised  

P
age 310



78 
 

Question Number 3 SUPPORTING 

Question Text: Do you consider that the guidance on designing employment buildings and areas will meet the future 
needs of Dacorum? 

Number of responses 61, Y – 33%, N – 28%, No response – 39% 

Key points raised in representations Officer response 

5. One consultee in support of the SPD suggested that 
DBC should explore higher density development to 
reduce pressure on surrounding green space. 
 

5. This comment is beyond the scope of the Strategic 
Design Guide. 

 

Statutory Supporting  

1. Tring Town Council 

Other Groups Supporting 

9. Herts & Middlesex Wildlife Trust  

10. Sport England  

11. Canal and River Trust  

12. Grove Fields Resident Association 

13. Wendover Arm Trust 

Question Number 3 NOT SUPPORTING 

Question Text: Do you consider that the guidance on designing employment buildings and areas will meet the future 
needs of Dacorum? 

Key points raised in representations Officer response 

Berkhamsted Town Council (BTC) 
 

14. The design priorities need to be clearer. Enhancing the 
natural environment, achieving zero carbon, and 
avoiding air, noise, and water pollution should be 
prioritised before external designs. 

 

 
 

6. The design priorities listed are explored within Part 2, 
Design Principles, which are applicable to employment 
areas.  

P
age 311



79 
 

Question Number 3 NOT SUPPORTING 

Question Text: Do you consider that the guidance on designing employment buildings and areas will meet the future 
needs of Dacorum? 

Key points raised in representations Officer response 

Nash Mills Parish Council (NMPC) 
 

15. Questions surrounding the viability of employment land 
given the current COVID-19 situation and the potential 
long-term implications of home-working. Could these 
proposed employment buildings be easily changed to 
residential, for example?  
 

16. Encouraging people to cycle to work will require a wider 
cycle network across Dacorum – one that is more 
accessible and safe. 

 

 
 

7. The Council recognises that buildings are, and should 
remain, flexible. However, a change to residential use 
undermines the policy objectives of employment areas. 

 
 
 

8. The Council acknowledges the comment. Hertfordshire 
County Council is responsible for the Borough wide cycle 
network.  
 

The Hertfordshire Society (THS) 
 

9. THS does not agree with separate design guides for 
employment and residential land. A mixed-use design 
guide should be the central focus, particularly given the 
seismic shifts of the Covid-19 pandemic. 

 
 

10. The provisions outlined in E.03.3 require quantification 
or reference to environmental standards. 

 
 
 

11. THS query whether harvesting rainwater should be 
integrated into water-using functions within a site. 

 

 
 
9. The Strategic Design Guide includes mixed use, and 

general design principles which apply to both residential 
and employment areas. However, it is important to note 
that employment units do have specific design needs 
that require additional guidance.  

 
10. These types of provisions would be assessed and 

quantified on a site by site basis. The setting of 
environmental standards is a matter for Local Plan 
policy. 

 
11. The Council acknowledge this comment. This type of 

measure would be assessed in detail for each site prior 
to implementation. 

P
age 312



80 
 

Question Number 3 NOT SUPPORTING 

Question Text: Do you consider that the guidance on designing employment buildings and areas will meet the future 
needs of Dacorum? 

Key points raised in representations Officer response 

General points raised  

Existing Employment Land 
 

12. A number of consultees noted that there are already a 
number of unused office spaces within the Borough and 
questioned the need for more to be built.  

 

 
 

12. It is not within the scope of the Strategic Design Guide to 
allocate land for development. 

Enforcement 
 

13. Because this is a ‘guide’ some consultees felt 
concerned that developers will ignore it in favour of 
profit, risking damage to the character of the local area. 

 

 
 

13. The Design Process and Principles are referenced in 
emerging new Local Plan policy to aid enforcement. 

Impact of Covid-19  
 

14. Multiple consultees raised the issue of the ongoing 
pandemic and questioned whether elements of the SPD 
may need to be updated or rethought.  

 

 
14. The Council acknowledges this comment, however the 

full impact of COVID-19 will not be known for sometime, 
and at present there insufficient evidence to rethink the 
Strategic Design Guide. 

P
age 313



81 
 

Question Number 3 NOT SUPPORTING 

Question Text: Do you consider that the guidance on designing employment buildings and areas will meet the future 
needs of Dacorum? 

Key points raised in representations Officer response 

Climate Crisis 
 

15. When referring to electric vehicles, two consultee felt 
that installing charging points in “key areas” was too 
vague. Instead the consultees suggested that they 
should be installed at every new employment facility. 

 
16. The use of thermal mass and computer controlled 

ventilation could also be included to avoid need for air 
conditioning. 

 
17. The Crown Estate raised concerns about the use of 

green roofs on commercial buildings as they would 
compromise viability. 

 

 
 

15. This provision is a matter for the Council’s Parking 
Standards Supplementary Planning Document, this 
reference will be added to the document text. 

 
 

16. This level of detail is beyond the scope of the Strategic 
Design Guide. The Council acknowledge this comment 
and will consider it within future development guidance.  

 
17. The ‘comply or justify’ principle that underpins the 

Strategic Design Guide provides this flexibility.  
 

Infrastructure 
 

18. Not enough consideration is given to footpath access. 
 
 

19. General concerns about transport infrastructure to 
support the new employment land were raised by 
multiple consultees. 

 

 
 

18. The Part 2 Design Principles on pedestrian prioritisation 
are applicable to employment uses. 

 
19. These elements are beyond the scope of the Strategic 

Design Guide and would be considered by the 
Infrastructure Delivery Plan and Development 
Management process.  

 

P
age 314



82 
 

General comments on the text itself 
 

20. Page 20 – presumably supposed to say ‘car bans’? 
 

21. Paragraph E.06.3 should include “repair shops”. 
 
 

22. Paragraph E.07.2 should include “public transport links 
to nearest mainline railway station.” 

 
 

23. E.01.1 needs to include sustainable connects between 
employment and residential land.  

 
 

24. E.02.2 needs to emphasize pedestrian, cycle and public 
transport routes. 

 
25. Pages 24, 25, 28 and 29 – guidance needs to be linked 

to standards provided in Roads in Hertfordshire: Design 
Guide.  

 
26. Page 4 diagram is unclear as to what applicants should 

achieve. 
 
 

27. E.02.4 – sports provision is not embedded in the LEHH 
because of physical constraints as concentration of 
people is prohibited. 

 
28. Page 24 diagrams are not representative of modern 

industrial units. 

 
 

20. ‘Car barns’ are a particular type of parking solution. 
 

21. The document text will be updated to reflect this 
comment.  
 

22. The document text will be updated to reflect this 
comment.  
 

 
23. This is included in A Well Connected, Integrated Place 

(p18) 
 
 

24. The document text will be updated to include public 
transport routes. 
 

25. This reference is included in Part 2 Design Principles 
which is applicable to employment uses.  

 
 

26. The diagram on page 4 illustrates the scope of Part 3: 
Employment Uses and is not intended to set out what 
should be delivered/achieved. 

 
27. The Strategic Design Guide is not site specific and does 

not replace an assessment of individual sites and their 
constraints. 

 
28. These are included as diagrammatic representations and 

should only be considered as such. 

P
age 315



83 
 

Question Number 3 NOT SUPPORTING 

Question Text: Do you consider that the guidance on designing employment buildings and areas will meet the future 
needs of Dacorum? 

Key points raised in representations Officer response 

 
29. Page 25 a strategic approach to servicing contains 

prescriptive dimensions that are wrong, suggesting that 
service yards would operate on a 27m depth and are 
enclosed. This is incorrect. 

 
30. Page 25, Reference to social hubs is potentially 

misleading: Buildings are required to function to the end 
user operations and so the guidance should not be 
limiting how each unit can be set out. 

 
31. Page 26 (Industrial Units): best practice examples. 

Examples used are overly bespoke, and not 
representational of best practice within large industrial 
units. 

 
32. Page 27 (Parking and Servicing) Parking on roofs is not 

considered good practice. Whilst it is possible, it should 
not be within the design toolkit, and is more aligned to 
an urban location where space is tight. 
 

 
29. The document text will be updated to be less specific in 

order to emphasise that this is indicative only. 
 
 
 

30. The ‘comply or justify’ principle that underpins the 
Strategic Design Guide provides flexibility.  

 
 
 

31. The ‘Best practice’ examples in Part 3 are intended to be 
aspirational and inspire creative solutions. 

 
 
 

32. The Council considers parking on roofs may be 
appropriate in some settings. 

 

Statutory not Supporting 

1. Berkhamsted Town Council 

2. Nash Mills Parish Council 

Other Groups not supporting 

1. The Hertfordshire Society 

P
age 316



84 
 

 

P
age 317



85 
 

Question Number 4  

Question Text: Overall, do you have any other comments regarding the Draft Dacorum Strategic Design Guide SPD? Y/N 

Key points raised in representations Officer response 

P
age 318



86 
 

Deputy Town Clerk of Berkhamsted Town Council 
 

1. The “pre-existing context of a site” should include pre-
existing topography and landscape to determine scale, 
shape and design of development.  

 
2. Co-location of industry and residential must take into 

consideration the issue of poor air quality. 
 
 
3. How are retirement villages and housing for elderly people 

incorporated within the aspiration for intergenerational 
living? 

 
4. The SPD must clarify the balance between visual 

connection and distinct identity of separate settlements. 
 
 
5. The SPD needs to set out a solution for connectivity issues 

between ‘hilly areas’. 
 
 
 
6. An increase in ‘street trees’ is welcomed but it does 

contradict DBC’s current (unofficial) moratorium on street 
trees.  

 
7. SPD should consider the prohibition of paving over gardens.  
 
 
8. SPD should consider neighbourhood parking areas rather 

than individual parking spaces. 

 
 

1. These elements are already included within Part 1 of the 
Strategic Design Guide.  
 
 

2. This is covered by Part 2: Design Principle 2.2.4 which 
includes ‘minimise adverse impacts from co-location of 
uses’. 
  

3. This is covered by Part 2: Design Principles 3.1.1 and 3.1.2 
which include housing for elderly and location. The Strategic 
Design Guide does not encourage retirement villages. 

 
4. In the Strategic Design Guide, visual connection refers to 

legibility within settlement and to landscape. It does not refer 
to visual connection between discrete settlements.  
 

5. This is beyond the scope of the Strategic Design Guide and 
is for designers to achieve. The document text has been 
updated to include reference to overcoming topography in 
active travel routes in Design Principle 4.7.5 

 
6. Management policy for trees along the highway is set by 

Hertfordshire County Council. 
 
 

7. This comment is beyond the scope of the Strategic Design 
Guide. 
 

8. This provision is a matter for the Council’s Parking 
Standards Supplementary Planning Document. 

P
age 319



87 
 

Question Number 4  

Question Text: Overall, do you have any other comments regarding the Draft Dacorum Strategic Design Guide SPD? Y/N 

Key points raised in representations Officer response 

 
9. SPD fails to mention storage for bikes. 

 
 

10. With regards to Climate Crisis, the SPD should take into 
consideration previous comments regarding paving over 
gardens. This section also does not mention the ground 
itself as a carbon store, nor mention of preservation of 
wetlands as essential habitat. Again, this section should 
also mention wildlife corridors.  

 
11. What is DBC’s industrial and economic strategy in response 

to climate change and adverse weather? Policy should be 
based on this. 

 
12. Post-Covid19 

In relation to ongoing issues surrounding the pandemic, 
should the SPD prioritise the use of shared office and co-
working spaces? 

 
13. How will the guidelines set out within the SPD be enforced? 

 
9. Cycle storage is covered through Part 2: Design Principle 

7.2. 
 

10. Wildlife corridors are addressed through Part 2: Design 
Principle 8.2.3. The document text has been updated to 
include reference to wetlands in 8.2. 
 
 
 
 

11. This is beyond the scope of the Strategic Design Guide. 
 
 
 

12. Flexibility in design to accommodate changing work patterns 
is included in Part 2: Design Principle 6.1.3 which includes 
home working and Part 3: Employment Uses Principle 6.1.3.  
 
 

13. The Design Process and Principles are referenced in 
emerging new Local Plan policy to aid enforcement. The 
relationship between the Strategic Design Guide and 
planning process is set out in Part 1: Design Process page 
8.  
 

P
age 320



88 
 

Question Number 4  

Question Text: Overall, do you have any other comments regarding the Draft Dacorum Strategic Design Guide SPD? Y/N 

Key points raised in representations Officer response 

Sport England (SE) 
 

14. Supportive of the SPD. SE offer their support with regard to 
advocating co-location of land uses. Suggestion that 
‘walking and cycling’ to areas of open space should be 
included as one of the ‘matters to consider’.  

 
15. SE request that their Active Design Principles are listed in 

the SPD’s ‘Additional Resources’.  
 

16. The ‘comply or justify’ approach is welcomed however there 
is concern as to how the Council will assess compliance in 
the absence of a systematic approach to their expectations 
at the planning stage. SE suggest including a pre-populated 
checklist as part of the submitted Design and Access 
Statement that requires developers to discuss their 
compliance or justification.  

 

 
 

14. This point is covered through the inclusion of Connectivity in 
Part 1: Design Process checklist for ‘Evaluating Place’, page 
53.  

 
 

15. The document text will be updated to reflect this comment. 
 

 
16. The Strategic Design Guide provides a checklist to be used 

by case officers to assess compliance at the pre-application 
stage. 

Canal and River Trust (CRT) 
 

17. CRT raised concern surrounding the impact upon local 
canal and waterway corridors. They suggest that design 
codes should include an assessment of the visual impact 
from the canal corridor and set out clear design principles 
that limit any adverse visual impact.  

 

 
 

17. Visual impact is considered extensively in Part 1: Design 
Process, ‘Observing: Visual Exposure, Enclosure and 
Shelter, page 23. 

P
age 321



89 
 

Question Number 4  

Question Text: Overall, do you have any other comments regarding the Draft Dacorum Strategic Design Guide SPD? Y/N 

Key points raised in representations Officer response 

Grove Fields Resident Association 
 

18. Concern raised regarding potential development of 
greenbelt land on Grove Road. Suggestion that a 
‘community park’ would be a better use of this space.  
 

19. Concern raised about the economic potential for any new 
commercial premises built as part of a development given 
that other local facilities have closed. 
 

20. Concerns about vehicular entrances and exits onto Grove 
Road and Bulbourne Road also raised. 

 

 
 

18. This point is beyond the scope of the Strategic Design 
Guide.  

 
 

19. This point is beyond the scope of the Strategic Design 
Guide. 

 
 

20. This point is beyond the scope of the Strategic Design 
Guide. 

P
age 322



90 
 

Nash Mills Parish Council 
 

21. In reference to landscape edges, are there any standards 
(e.g spatial standards, number of trees) for edges between 
residential developments and major roads? 
 

22. Accommodating potential future changes in lifestyle and 
movement patterns should not minimise current parking 
requirements.  
 

23. Was the draft parking strategy from last year adopted? 
 
 

24. Can it be clarified what is meant by prioritising people first 
and private car users second? 
 
 

25. Cars dominating the public footway can only be addressed if 
developments have sufficient parking provision.  
 

26. Maximising space. There is no internal space requirement 
noted. 
 

27. Should the SPD also include specification to ensure that 
garden space is commensurate with the number of 
inhabitants?  
 

28. Cyclist safety provisions on major roads such as the A414 
are lacking. 
 

29. Potential to encourage use of electric cars is not mentioned 
specifically.  

 
 

21. Edges and trees are to be considered per application on a 
site-by-site basis.  

 
 

22. This is within the scope of the Car Parking Supplementary 
Planning Document and not the Strategic Design Guide. 

 
 

23. The Council adopted the Parking Standards Supplementary 
Planning Document in November 2020.  

 
24. As stated in Principle 7.1, the aim is ‘to deliver attractive 

cycle and walking routes which protect cyclists and 
pedestrians from traffic’. 

 
25. This is within the scope of the Car Parking Supplementary 

Planning Document and not the Strategic Design Guide  
 

26. Principle 6.4.3 refers to national minimum space standards. 
 
 

27. Setting standards for garden space is beyond the scope of 
the Strategic Design Guide.  

 
 

28. The Council acknowledges this comment. 
 
 

29. Part 2 Design Principles 8.6.3 and 6.1.3 explicitly mention 
electric vehicle charging. 

P
age 323



91 
 

Question Number 4  

Question Text: Overall, do you have any other comments regarding the Draft Dacorum Strategic Design Guide SPD? Y/N 

Key points raised in representations Officer response 

 
30. Does the SPD only apply to larger developments?  

 
 
 

 
31. Limited consideration of impact of increased population 

growth upon the current infrastructure, namely school 
places. 

 
32. Mixed-use developments are well intentioned. But 

community and commercial facilities are often removed in 
later iterations of plans. Will this SPD ensure that this cannot 
happen in future? 

 
33. Will the LPA be able to reject developments if it fails the 

meet the criteria set out in this SPD? 
 

 
30. Part 1, Design Process, page 6 states: ‘This guide outlines 

Dacorum’s strategic design expectations and a design 
process which should be used to achieve these through new 
development of all scales’. 

 
31. Infrastructure and land use considerations are made within 

Part 1, Design Process. Further specificity would be 
expected with each individual application. 

 
32. Development Management processes (outlined in Part 1, 

Design Process, page 8), are in place to enforce policy and 
the Design Process and Principles are set out in emerging 
new Local Plan policy. 

 
33. The guide is underpinned by the ‘comply or justify’ principle 

which would be used to assess applications. 

P
age 324



92 
 

Question Number 4  

Question Text: Overall, do you have any other comments regarding the Draft Dacorum Strategic Design Guide SPD? Y/N 

Key points raised in representations Officer response 

Wendover Arm Trust (WAT) 
 

34. In welcoming the SPD’s reference to the Grand Union 
Canal, WAT would like to see a similar reference to the 
Wendover and Aylesbury Canals which run through the 
borough.  
 

35. Similarly, when referring to the historic significance and 
legacy of the area, WAT suggest that specific reference 
should be made to Dacorum’s canal heritage.   
 

36. Increasing biodiversity and enhancing green spaces to 
promote health and wellbeing can be achieved through 
restoration of the canals, something which WAT have 
already begun to do with the Wendover Canal.  

 

 
 

34. The document text will be updated to reflect this comment.  
 
 
 
 

35. The document text will be updated to reflect this comment. 
 
 
 

36. This comment is too site specific for the Strategic Design 
Guide. The Strategic Design Guide refers to both ‘Green 
and blue’ infrastructure with respect to biodiversity, which 
includes water features. 

 
 

P
age 325



93 
 

Hallam Land Management (HLM) 
 

37. HLM raise an issue with the SPD’s reference to family-sized 
dwellings in 6.4.2: “Typically these houses already meet the 
minimum GIA sizes in NDSS and we can see no justification 
for seeking to exceed the standard.  Affordability of housing 
in Dacorum will not be helped by making family houses 
larger, more expensive to build and more expensive to 
purchase.” 
 

38. Paragraph 6.5.1 indicates that built-in storage provision 
should comply with the areas set out in the NDSS.  Our 
comments in respect to Para 6.4.3 apply and increasing 
built-in storage will necessitate an increase in dwelling 
floorspace which will make homes more expensive to 
purchase.  Reference to NDSS should be removed. 
 

39. Paragraph 6.6.4 requires that flues and service risers should 
not appear on principal façades.  In some cases this will 
simply not be possible- one example being mid-terrace 
homes.  The aim to reduce flues and service risers on key 
elevations is supported but the wording needs to be more 
flexible to allow for instances where this is not possible.  We 
suggest the wording be amended to state “flues and service 
risers should generally be avoided on principal façades”. 
 

40. Paragraph 8.1.3 places an onus on applicants to 
demonstrate the route toward achieving zero-carbon homes 
in their proposals.  This guidance does not accord with the 
provisions of the Deregulation Act 2015 which requires that 
local planning authorities should not set any additional local 

 
 

37. Exceeding national minimum space standards for family-
sized dwellings is included as a suggestion and is not 
compulsory. 

 
 
 
 
 

38. The Council has decided to follow the Nationally Described 
Space Standards. 

 
 
 
 
 

39. The ‘comply or justify’ principle that underpins the Strategic 
Design Guide provides flexibility.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

40. The Strategic Design Guide adds further guidance to the 
energy and carbon emission standards set by local planning 
policy. 
 
 
 

P
age 326



94 

Question Number 4 

Question Text: Overall, do you have any other comments regarding the Draft Dacorum Strategic Design Guide SPD? Y/N 

Key points raised in representations Officer response 

technical standards or requirements relating to construction 
or performance of new dwellings. 

41. What is a “bay study” ref in 10.5.1?

42. The requirement of 1:20 drawings at planning stage is
“excessive”. Is this a typographical error that should be
1:200?

41. The study referred to is a type of elevation drawing.

42. This is not an error, the intended scale is 1:20.

Dacorum Environmental Forum Waste Group (DEF) 

43. To prevent guidelines being circumvented by developers
DEF recommend using language like “must” instead of
“should”.

43. It is the role of the Local Plan to establish the ‘musts’. The
Strategic Design Guide follows a ‘comply or justify’ principle.

Chiltern Society (CS) 

44. Suggestion that the design guide is used to ‘masterplan’
sites that are to be put forward for the Local Plan. It should
be part of the decision process and not an ‘afterthought’.

45. Suggestion that there should be some consultation with the
wider community on the ‘visioning process’.

46. CS would like to see the DBC Design Guide cross
referenced with the now published Chilterns AONB Design
Guide.

44. The purpose of the Strategic Design Guide is to fulfil this
role.

45. This is included in Part 2, Design Principle 10.4.

46. This document is referenced as an additional resource in
Part 1, Design Process, page 36.

P
age 327



95 
 

Question Number 4  

Question Text: Overall, do you have any other comments regarding the Draft Dacorum Strategic Design Guide SPD? Y/N 

Key points raised in representations Officer response 

 The Hertfordshire Society (THS) 
 

47. The SPD presumes allocations within the greenbelt before 
the Local Plan has been adopted. These areas for growth, 
THS argue, cannot be supported by sustainable transport 
corridors or infrastructure.  
 

48. The SPD fails to offer a sustainable human well-being 
strategy that addresses the climate crisis. 
 

49. THS argue the SPD focuses too much on the edge of 
settlement greenbelt sites, more needs to be done, for 
example, to retrofit existing towns and places. 
 

50. SPD lacks priority design objectives. This results in visions 
for development not matching the build reality on the 
ground.  

 

 
 

47. Each application will be determined against appropriate 
standards to ensure sustainability through the Local Plan 
process. The Strategic Design Guide applies to all 
development including brownfield. 
 

48. A wellbeing strategy is not within the scope of the Strategic 
Design Guide. 
 

49. The Strategic Design Guide applies to all development 
including brownfield. 
 
 

50. All of the design objectives are important. Visions are to be 
developed as part of the masterplanning process for each 
site. 

P
age 328



96 
 

Question Number 4  

Question Text: Overall, do you have any other comments regarding the Draft Dacorum Strategic Design Guide SPD? Y/N 

Key points raised in representations Officer response 

Homes England (HE) 
 

51. HE suggest that the SPD’s language may be a little too 
advanced for those who do not have background in planning 
or development. Where changing the language isn’t 
possible, HE suggest using hyperlinks within the SPD so 
that more unusual words (e.g. co-axial field patterns) can be 
looked up more quickly. 
 

52. Another query regarding whether the SPD applies to small 
sites. If it does it would be useful to see a worked example 
of a small site with the framework information applied to 
simpler plans.  
 

53. Again, some examples would complement the SPD well. 
E.g. an access statement that was deemed poor, the types 
of plans in the appendix etc.  

 

 
 

52. The Council acknowledges the comment and will consider it 
further. 

 
 
 
 
 

53. The Strategic Design Guide applies to sites of all scales. It is 
beyond the scope of the Guide to provide a worked 
example. 

 
 

54. This suggestion is beyond the scope of the Strategic Design 
Guide. 

P
age 329



97 
 

Question Number 4  

Question Text: Overall, do you have any other comments regarding the Draft Dacorum Strategic Design Guide SPD? Y/N 

Key points raised in representations Officer response 

Dacorum Heritage Trust (DHT) 
 

55. DHT felt as though the SPD could do more to address 
climate change and the impact upon local chalk streams 
which are of international importance.  

 
56. The SPD should address: 

 The impact of increased winter rainfall and how this will 
be dealt with (SUDs, green rooves etc), 

 Permeable hardstanding, 

 Increase sewage effluent from new development, 

 Water efficient white goods, water butts, showers, and 
low flush toilets, 

 Garden space which is being increasingly reduced on 
new-build development sites, 

 Removal of weirs and sluices in chalk streams and, 

 The re-wilding of river systems. 
 

 
 

55. The Council acknowledges this comment and will consider it 
further. The current Biodiversity Action Plan for Hertfordshire 
is a county level document. 

 
56. Increased rainfall is addressed in Part 2, Design Principles 

8.3.7 and 8.3.9. SuDS is covered in several parts of the 
Guide, most notably in Principle 8.3, green roofs in Principle 
10.5.2, permeable hardstanding in Principle 8.3.4.  
 
Interior aspects (water and sewage), garden size, chalk 
streams and rewilding are beyond the scope of the Strategic 
Design Guide.  

P
age 330



98 
 

Question Number 4  

Question Text: Overall, do you have any other comments regarding the Draft Dacorum Strategic Design Guide SPD? Y/N 

Key points raised in representations Officer response 

Tring Town Council 
 

57. SPD has not gone far enough in considering how modern 
trends are blurring the distinction between residence, leisure 
and work.  

 
58. The impact of Covid-19 must be considered. 

 
 
 
 

59. Building methods, standards, and infrastructure should not 
be considered in isolation as they are an integral part of 
achieving good design.  

 
60. SPD should do more to encourage the use of local 

materials.  
 

 
 

57. The items raised are covered within Part 2, Design 
Principles Categories 6 and 10.[CC1] 

 
 

58. Part 2, Design Principles include aspects applicable to 
changes in work patterns and lifestyles arising from COVID-
19, including home working, access to green space and 
active travel.  

 
59. The Council acknowledges this comment. 

 
 
 

60. Sourcing local materials is explicitly referred to in Part 2, 
Design Principle 8.6.6. 

St. William Homes LLP (SWH) 
 

61. Parts 1, 2, and 3 are too long and could be condensed. Too 
much space is dedicated to context and examples. 

 

 
 
61. The Council acknowledges this comment. 

 
 

Thames Water (TW) 
 

62. The SPD could include text encouraging developers to 
contact TW to discuss drainage requirements for their 
development. 

 
 

62. The document text has been updated to reflect this 
comment (Part 1, Design Process, page 56). 

P
age 331



99 
 

Question Number 4  

Question Text: Overall, do you have any other comments regarding the Draft Dacorum Strategic Design Guide SPD? Y/N 

Key points raised in representations Officer response 

The Crown Estate (TCE) 
 

63. Although a joined up approach between DBC, HGC and 
SADC is described in Part 1 it is not evident throughout the 
guidance.  

 
64. The bespoke approach to LEHH is not included within the 

SPD and TCE suggest that it should be to provide 
consistency across the development. 

 

 
 

63. The Guide was developed jointly by DBC and SADC to 
address this need.  

 
 

64. The document text will be updated to include reference to 
Hemel Garden Communities’ Spatial Vision. 

Harrow Estates (HE) 
 

65. The guide goes beyond what is currently required by Future 
Homes Standard. Text should be revised so that these 
additional standards are described as ‘encouraged’ and not 
‘mandatory’.  

 

 
 

65. The ‘comply or justify’ principle that underpins the Strategic 
Design Guide provides flexibility.   

LQ Estates (LQE) 
 

66. LQE raise concerns about the SPD’s lack of flexibility. 
Different sites, they argue, will require different approaches 
and this should be formally recognised within the SPD.  

 
 

66. The ‘comply or justify’ principle that underpins the document 
provides flexibility. 

P
age 332



100 
 

Question Number 4  

Question Text: Overall, do you have any other comments regarding the Draft Dacorum Strategic Design Guide SPD? Y/N 

Key points raised in representations Officer response 

W. Lamb Ltd 
 

67. Some of the design codes would have significant 
implications on viability but there is no mention of this as 
being a valid point for justification.  

 

 
 

67.  The Council does not consider that delivering good design 
necessary leads to increased costs. Furthermore, those 
aspects of the Design Code which are to be implemented 
immediately (through the Cores Strategy) are not 
considered to add significant additional costs. Those 
requirements which will not be fully implemented until the 
new Local Plan is adopted will be viability tested through its 
preparation. 

General points raised  

Comply or Justify 
 

69. Multiple responses to the SPD raised concerns surrounding 
the adoption of the ‘comply or justify’ approach.  

 
70. One response highlighted that the proposed guidelines are 

not specific enough to make sure that developers comply or 
justify. Another raised that the SPD’s use of language was 
too vague to enforce this approach. For example, the use of 
language such as “should” ought to be replaced with “must”.  

 
71. One consultee questioned who would decide whether the 

justification was adequate and using what standards? 
 

 
 

69. The Council acknowledges this comment. 
 
 

70. It is the role of the Local Plan to establish the ‘musts’. The 
Strategic Design Guide follows a ‘comply or justify’ principle. 

 
 
 
 

71. The justification will be considered as part of the 
Development Management process.  
 

P
age 333



101 
 

Question Number 4  

Question Text: Overall, do you have any other comments regarding the Draft Dacorum Strategic Design Guide SPD? Y/N 

Key points raised in representations Officer response 

Infrastructure 
 

72. Some specific concerns surrounding the accessibility of 
Tring train station, its cycle links, inadequate bus timetable 
and expensive and over-subscribed car park were 
mentioned. 

 
73. With the aspiration to reduce car usage in the coming 

decades, it was noted that there will be an increased 
reliance upon public transport. One consultee noted that a 
specific route linking the stations and Maylands would be 
particularly useful for both public transport and cycling 
lanes.  

 

 
 

72. The Council acknowledges this comment. Whilst the points 
are beyond the scope of the Strategic Design Guide, Part 1 
Design Processes does include infrastructure and land use 
considerations. 

 
73. The Council acknowledges this comment, however it is 

beyond the scope of the Strategic Design Guide.  
 

Biodiversity 
 

74. Two consultees mentioned that the SPD’s current method to 
measure the biodiversity of wetland is insufficient. They 
suggest a standard measure of biodiversity should be the 
definition of more than five species within 1m². 

 

 
 

74. The Council acknowledges this comment, however it is 
beyond the scope of the Strategic Design Guide. 
 

P
age 334



102 
 

Question Number 4  

Question Text: Overall, do you have any other comments regarding the Draft Dacorum Strategic Design Guide SPD? Y/N 

Key points raised in representations Officer response 

Car Parking 
 

75. Much concern was raised about the current standards for 
car parking in the Borough and the possibility that more 
housing will exacerbate the issue. 

 
76. Two consultees raised concerns over the SPD’s decision to 

base road widths on the ability to park cars on pavements. 
They argued that this sort of parking was illegal, dangerous 
and exclusionary.  

 

 
 

75. This provision is a matter for the Council’s Car Parking 
Standards Supplementary Planning Document.  

 
 

76. This is not the case, the Strategic Design Guide does not 
encourage parking on pavements. 

Climate Emergency / Net-Zero Carbon 
 

77. Some consultees noted that the SPD does not currently 
recognise that technology already exists to achieve zero-
carbon housing.  

 

 
 

77. This is not the case; as an example, Passivhaus is one 
technology referred to in the guidance. The guidance 
establishes that applicants should meet the Local Plan 
policy targets for achieving net zero carbon. 

Mix of Housing 
 

78. Another consultee questioned why the Council are not 
encouraging the use of old buildings on brown field sites. 
They argued that new developments risked increasing 
traffic, overlooking neighbours and damaging habitats. 

 

 
 

78. Land for development is allocated by the Local Plan and not 
by the Strategic Design Guide. 

P
age 335



103 
 

Question Number 4  

Question Text: Overall, do you have any other comments regarding the Draft Dacorum Strategic Design Guide SPD? Y/N 

Key points raised in representations Officer response 

Impact of COVID-19 Pandemic 
 

79. Multiple consultees noted that the SPD did not mention the 
ongoing pandemic. Some questioned whether the SPD was 
already out of date and needed to reconsider some aspects 
regarding employment land and mixed-use.  

 

 
 

79. Part 2, Design Principles include aspects applicable to 
changes in work patterns and lifestyles arising from COVID-
19, including home working, access to green space and 
active travel. 

Comments about the text itself 
 

80. Multiple consultees suggested that the SPD could be 
condensed.  

 
 
 

81. One consultee noted there were some general errors 
including a missing graph and some missing policies. 

 
82. A number of consultees suggested that the language used 

within the SPD was too complex for those who do not have 
a background in housing, planning or development.  

 
 

80. The Council acknowledges this comment and will consider it 

further.  

 
 
 

81. The document will be reviewed and numbering corrected. 
 
 

82. The Council acknowledges this comment and will consider it 
further. 
 

 

Statutory Comment 

1. Berkhamsted Town Council 

2. Tring Town Council 

3. Nash Mills Parish Council 

 

Other Comments 

P
age 336



104 
 

1. Sport England 

2. Canal and River Trust 

3. Grove Fields Resident Association 

4. Wendover Arm Trust 

5. Hallam Land Management 

6. Dacorum Environmental Forum Waste Group 

7. Chiltern Society 

8. The Hertfordshire Society 

9. Homes England 

10. Dacorum Heritage Trust 

11. Thames Water 

12. St. William Homes LLP 

13. The Crown Estate 

14. Harrow Estates 

15. LQ Estates 

16. W. Lamb Ltd 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

P
age 337



Appendix 5

Page 338



105 

Appendix 5 - Full text of responses by Consultee and questions in question 

number order 

Page 339



Draft Strategic Design Guide

DSDG1ID

1144221Person ID

Miss Penelope AllsopFull Name

Organisation Details

Person ID

Full Name

Position

Company / Organisation

NoQuestion 1 - Part 1: Design Process - Do you consider that
the documents have identified the key characteristics of
Dacorum and its wider Hertfordshire context?
* Yes
* No

Your talking about a town, Chipperfield is a village and should
remain that way, we have over 30 new properties being built in

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the key
characteristics. our little village, all along one road which we don’t have the

infrastructure to cope with...

Include files

NoQuestion 2 - Part 2: Design Principles - Do you consider that
the detailed design principles (as set out under each of the
10 broad categories) will be effective in securing high quality
development?
* Yes
* No

we are a village...If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the draft detailed
design principles.

Include files

NoQuestion 3 - Part 3: Employment Uses Guidance - Do you
consider that the guidance on designing employment
buildings and areas will meet the future needs of Dacorum?
* Yes
* No

there are loads of empty office blocks... why are you building
more?

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the guidance on
designing employment buildings and areas.

Include files

NoQuestion 4 - General Comments - Overall, do you have any
other comments regarding the Draft Strategic DesignGuide
SPD?
* Yes
* No

If yes, please provide you comments along with any
supporting information you may have.

Include files

DSDG2ID

1148988Person ID

Mr Alan ChurchFull Name

Organisation Details

Person ID

Full Name

1

Page 340



Position

Company / Organisation

YesQuestion 1 - Part 1: Design Process - Do you consider that
the documents have identified the key characteristics of
Dacorum and its wider Hertfordshire context?
* Yes
* No

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the key
characteristics.

Include files

NoQuestion 2 - Part 2: Design Principles - Do you consider that
the detailed design principles (as set out under each of the
10 broad categories) will be effective in securing high quality
development?
* Yes
* No

The design principles by necessity reflect an evolution of design
over several centuries which is reflected in buildings constructed

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the draft detailed
design principles. from materials used at that particular time. This cannot be

effectively replicated by modern developers building new
constructions from latest materials to 21st Century standards
and regulations. Any resulting development will not therefore be
"sympathetic".

Include files

NoQuestion 3 - Part 3: Employment Uses Guidance - Do you
consider that the guidance on designing employment
buildings and areas will meet the future needs of Dacorum?
* Yes
* No

Developers will by necessity be driven by the need to make a
profit; this will override aesthetic concerns about constructing

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the guidance on
designing employment buildings and areas. buildings which maintain the historic character of the local

environment.

Include files

NoQuestion 4 - General Comments - Overall, do you have any
other comments regarding the Draft Strategic DesignGuide
SPD?
* Yes
* No

If yes, please provide you comments along with any
supporting information you may have.

Include files

DSDG3ID

1158506Person ID

Meenakshi JefferysFull Name

Organisation Details

Person ID

Full Name

Position

Company / Organisation

YesQuestion 1 - Part 1: Design Process - Do you consider that
the documents have identified the key characteristics of
Dacorum and its wider Hertfordshire context?
* Yes

2

Page 341



* No

In view of the pandemic it Should include more cycle paths as
more outdoor spaces For exercise.

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the key
characteristics. buildings should be carbon neutral and low energy consumption,

with opportunity for electric cars to be charged.

Include files

YesQuestion 2 - Part 2: Design Principles - Do you consider that
the detailed design principles (as set out under each of the
10 broad categories) will be effective in securing high quality
development?
* Yes
* No

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the draft detailed
design principles.

Include files

NoQuestion 3 - Part 3: Employment Uses Guidance - Do you
consider that the guidance on designing employment
buildings and areas will meet the future needs of Dacorum?
* Yes
* No

I am not sure. With Brexit and the pandemic we may have less
immigration and shrinking population as well as more people
working from home.

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the guidance on
designing employment buildings and areas.

Include files

Question 4 - General Comments - Overall, do you have any
other comments regarding the Draft Strategic DesignGuide
SPD?
* Yes
* No

Need to think more of how we will all be living in the future.If yes, please provide you comments along with any
supporting information you may have.

Include files

DSDG4ID

1207345Person ID

Mr Matt DoddsFull Name

HMWTOrganisation Details

Person ID

Full Name

Position

Company / Organisation

YesQuestion 1 - Part 1: Design Process - Do you consider that
the documents have identified the key characteristics of
Dacorum and its wider Hertfordshire context?
* Yes
* No

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the key
characteristics.

Include files

NoQuestion 2 - Part 2: Design Principles - Do you consider that
the detailed design principles (as set out under each of the
10 broad categories) will be effective in securing high quality
development?

3

Page 342



* Yes
* No

The requirement for the NPPF requirement for development to
deliver biodiversity net gain by reference to the Defra biodiversity

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the draft detailed
design principles. metric should be more explicitly stated. Currently the guidelines

state:
'8.2 Enhance biodiversity and Habitats
All opportunities for biodiversity net gain, as measured by
DEFRA’s assessment methodology, have been maximised,
preferably on-site or as part of enhancement and expansion of
nearby natural habitats. A mitigation hierarchy should be used:
‘avoid, minimise, restore and offset.'
This should be changed to:
Development must deliver measurable biodiversity net gain, by
utilising the DEFRA biodiversity metric, preferably on-site or as
part of enhancement and expansion of nearby natural habitats.
A mitigation hierarchy should be used: ‘avoid, minimise, restore
and offset'.

Include files

YesQuestion 3 - Part 3: Employment Uses Guidance - Do you
consider that the guidance on designing employment
buildings and areas will meet the future needs of Dacorum?
* Yes
* No

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the guidance on
designing employment buildings and areas.

Include files

Question 4 - General Comments - Overall, do you have any
other comments regarding the Draft Strategic DesignGuide
SPD?
* Yes
* No

If yes, please provide you comments along with any
supporting information you may have.

Include files

DSDG5ID

1207069Person ID

Mr Gary StanleyFull Name

Organisation Details

Person ID

Full Name

Position

Company / Organisation

YesQuestion 1 - Part 1: Design Process - Do you consider that
the documents have identified the key characteristics of
Dacorum and its wider Hertfordshire context?
* Yes
* No

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the key
characteristics.

Include files

YesQuestion 2 - Part 2: Design Principles - Do you consider that
the detailed design principles (as set out under each of the

4

Page 343



10 broad categories) will be effective in securing high quality
development?
* Yes
* No

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the draft detailed
design principles.

Include files

YesQuestion 3 - Part 3: Employment Uses Guidance - Do you
consider that the guidance on designing employment
buildings and areas will meet the future needs of Dacorum?
* Yes
* No

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the guidance on
designing employment buildings and areas.

Include files

NoQuestion 4 - General Comments - Overall, do you have any
other comments regarding the Draft Strategic DesignGuide
SPD?
* Yes
* No

If yes, please provide you comments along with any
supporting information you may have.

Include files

DSDG6ID

211327Person ID

Ms Sara LenoFull Name

Organisation Details

Person ID

Full Name

Position

Company / Organisation

YesQuestion 1 - Part 1: Design Process - Do you consider that
the documents have identified the key characteristics of
Dacorum and its wider Hertfordshire context?
* Yes
* No

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the key
characteristics.

Include files

NoQuestion 2 - Part 2: Design Principles - Do you consider that
the detailed design principles (as set out under each of the
10 broad categories) will be effective in securing high quality
development?
* Yes
* No

I have concerns as to the level of high density which will be
permitted.

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the draft detailed
design principles.

Include files

YesQuestion 3 - Part 3: Employment Uses Guidance - Do you
consider that the guidance on designing employment
buildings and areas will meet the future needs of Dacorum?

5

Page 344



* Yes
* No

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the guidance on
designing employment buildings and areas.

Include files

YesQuestion 4 - General Comments - Overall, do you have any
other comments regarding the Draft Strategic DesignGuide
SPD?
* Yes
* No

I am very concerned with the principle of "Comply or justify". All
developers should comply. Words like "robust" and "compelling"
are used, but who is to determine the criteria for assessing this?

If yes, please provide you comments along with any
supporting information you may have.

Include files

DSDG7ID

1248980Person ID

Mr Giles ClarkFull Name

Organisation Details

Person ID

Full Name

Position

Company / Organisation

YesQuestion 1 - Part 1: Design Process - Do you consider that
the documents have identified the key characteristics of
Dacorum and its wider Hertfordshire context?
* Yes
* No

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the key
characteristics.

Include files

YesQuestion 2 - Part 2: Design Principles - Do you consider that
the detailed design principles (as set out under each of the
10 broad categories) will be effective in securing high quality
development?
* Yes
* No

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the draft detailed
design principles.

Include files

YesQuestion 3 - Part 3: Employment Uses Guidance - Do you
consider that the guidance on designing employment
buildings and areas will meet the future needs of Dacorum?
* Yes
* No

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the guidance on
designing employment buildings and areas.

Include files

NoQuestion 4 - General Comments - Overall, do you have any
other comments regarding the Draft Strategic DesignGuide
SPD?
* Yes

6

Page 345



* No

If yes, please provide you comments along with any
supporting information you may have.

Include files

DSDG8ID

1230147Person ID

Mr Roberto SerraFull Name

Organisation Details

Person ID

Full Name

Position

Company / Organisation

YesQuestion 1 - Part 1: Design Process - Do you consider that
the documents have identified the key characteristics of
Dacorum and its wider Hertfordshire context?
* Yes
* No

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the key
characteristics.

Include files

NoQuestion 2 - Part 2: Design Principles - Do you consider that
the detailed design principles (as set out under each of the
10 broad categories) will be effective in securing high quality
development?
* Yes
* No

I believe that the design principles are very good overall, but as
a lighting expert I have suggestions for a few additions to be

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the draft detailed
design principles. considered. In general there is very little reference to lighting

and as a matter of fact lighting is essential in ensuring that the
overall vision set out in the documents is achieved when daylight
is not available.
The design guide would benefit from specific mentioning of broad
lighting guidelines in a few sections. I mention below some of
them:
- Chapter 3: "A place for all"
3.3 "Ensure all places are accessible to everyone". Without
adequate lighting, objectives such as clear wayfinding, safe and
comfortable rest areas, etc. may be difficult to achieve in the
dark hours. A simple street lighting strategy is likely to be
inadequate, as it provides flat illumination without emphasizing
or providing adequate feeling of safety and comfort. I would add
a point to the design objectives:
3.3.7: "adequate lighting to complement the way-finding strategy
at night-time and to provide the required sense of safety and
comfort, particularly to rest areas".
3.4 "Integrate Play". Lighting is key to provide an inviting,
comfortable and beautiful setting and to emphasize focal points,
features and sensory experiences. I would add a point to the
design objectives:
3.4.4: "A considered lighting strategy that goes beyond minimum
statutory street lighting levels and includes layers of landscape,
accent and kinetic lighting. Luminaires of suitable type ad colour
appearance to be adopted to distinguish play areas and make
them comfortable and inviting"
- Chapter 4: "A connected place"

7

Page 346



4.3 "Be Visually Connected" . I would add a point to the design
objectives:
4.3.5 "A lighting strategy with a hierarchy of adequate luminaires
types, illuminance levels and colour appearances to
complement the design aim of improving legibility and enhancing
local character and distinctiveness. "
- Chapter 5: Great Streets and Public Spaces
Lighting is mentioned only in 5.4.2 with reference to Street
Lighting. I believe it would be beneficial making reference also
to landscape, accent, facade and ambient lighting to trigger the
designers to consider such aspects as necessary and
complementary to fulfill the vision of great streets and public
spaces (spaces with poor or non considered lighting are hardly
great). This could be mentioned in the general overview or
possibly to chapters 5.1, 5.5 and 5.7.
- Chapter 6. Great Homes
Lighting in homes has been simplistically stuck for too long to
the provision of recessed fixed downlights arranged in grids,
complemented by a few decorative pendants or wall lights. A
vision for great homes need to include a dedicated section on
lighting (6.8) to call for a well considered lighting strategy that
goes beyond that.
Important aspects to be considered and that could be mentioned
include: the colour appearance of the light sources; well
considered positioning and aiming of luminaires to enhance
vertical surfaces rather than only horizontal ones; if downlights
are adopted for accent lighting, these to be directional and with
good glare control; the adoption of other types of luminaires and
light effects such as linear LEDs integrated in furniture and slots
for indirect lighting; variability of the light intensity (use of dimmers
and lighting controls); the adoption of specific adequate lighting
solutions for people with special needs (care homes, etc.).
- Chapter 7. Active and Healthy
Again, it would be beneficial mentioning a considered lighting
strategy as key to fulfill the vision of: safe walking and cycling
routes; safe and welcoming activity and play areas; consideration
to light pollution.
- Chapter 8. Facing the Climate Crisis
8.6.2 "LED street lighting throughout" - while LED lighting is
generally more energy efficient than other light sources, the
statement should be expanded to be more comprehensive and
prevent designers and developers to just get away with providing
some form of LED street lighting. I would suggest making
reference not only to street lighting but to good quality LED
lighting in general, with adequate glare control and optics and
also to the way lighting is controlled in intensity. Automatic
presence detection with a change in intensity can be more
desirable than keeping lighting on all night or turning it off overall
(as this would prevent safe pedestrian circulation at night as well
as potentially making crime and theft easier)
Light pollution, the colour appearance of light sources and again
the control of intensity should also be considered in relation to
biodiversity and protection of wildlife.
Chapters 9 and 10: lighting poles can host multiple technologies
such as wi-fi or bluetooth hotspots, security cameras, a variety
of sensors to gather information on the surrounding environment
(air quality, traffic, etc.). An integrated approach should be
considered as preferable to installing different technologies on
multiple separate poles or retrofitting them on a pole that did not
have allowance for them in the first place.

Include files

8

Page 347



YesQuestion 3 - Part 3: Employment Uses Guidance - Do you
consider that the guidance on designing employment
buildings and areas will meet the future needs of Dacorum?
* Yes
* No

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the guidance on
designing employment buildings and areas.

Include files

NoQuestion 4 - General Comments - Overall, do you have any
other comments regarding the Draft Strategic DesignGuide
SPD?
* Yes
* No

If yes, please provide you comments along with any
supporting information you may have.

Include files

DSDG9ID

490893Person ID

Mrs christine kavanaghFull Name

Organisation Details

Person ID

Full Name

Position

Company / Organisation

YesQuestion 1 - Part 1: Design Process - Do you consider that
the documents have identified the key characteristics of
Dacorum and its wider Hertfordshire context?
* Yes
* No

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the key
characteristics.

Include files

YesQuestion 2 - Part 2: Design Principles - Do you consider that
the detailed design principles (as set out under each of the
10 broad categories) will be effective in securing high quality
development?
* Yes
* No

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the draft detailed
design principles.

Include files

YesQuestion 3 - Part 3: Employment Uses Guidance - Do you
consider that the guidance on designing employment
buildings and areas will meet the future needs of Dacorum?
* Yes
* No

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the guidance on
designing employment buildings and areas.

Include files

9

Page 348



YesQuestion 4 - General Comments - Overall, do you have any
other comments regarding the Draft Strategic DesignGuide
SPD?
* Yes
* No

Every effort must be made to invest in safe cycle paths which
enable cyclists to use dedicated cycle paths away from traffic.

If yes, please provide you comments along with any
supporting information you may have.

The A4147 between St. Albans and Leverstock Green would be
a suitable site for such a cycle path and would provide an
important cycling corridor for commuters and leisure cyclists
travelling between St. Albans and Hemel Hempstead.

Include files

DSDG10ID

1142469Person ID

Mrs Eileen ReeceFull Name

Organisation Details

Person ID

Full Name

Position

Company / Organisation

NoQuestion 1 - Part 1: Design Process - Do you consider that
the documents have identified the key characteristics of
Dacorum and its wider Hertfordshire context?
* Yes
* No

What about infrastructure: schools, doctors surgeries for instanceIf no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the key
characteristics.

Include files

Question 2 - Part 2: Design Principles - Do you consider that
the detailed design principles (as set out under each of the
10 broad categories) will be effective in securing high quality
development?
* Yes
* No

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the draft detailed
design principles.

Include files

Question 3 - Part 3: Employment Uses Guidance - Do you
consider that the guidance on designing employment
buildings and areas will meet the future needs of Dacorum?
* Yes
* No

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the guidance on
designing employment buildings and areas.

Include files

YesQuestion 4 - General Comments - Overall, do you have any
other comments regarding the Draft Strategic DesignGuide
SPD?
* Yes
* No

What about infrastructure: schools, doctors surgeries for instanceIf yes, please provide you comments along with any
supporting information you may have.

10

Page 349



Include files

DSDG11ID

1144632Person ID

Mr Douglas CousinsFull Name

Organisation Details

Person ID

Full Name

Position

Company / Organisation

YesQuestion 1 - Part 1: Design Process - Do you consider that
the documents have identified the key characteristics of
Dacorum and its wider Hertfordshire context?
* Yes
* No

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the key
characteristics.

Include files

YesQuestion 2 - Part 2: Design Principles - Do you consider that
the detailed design principles (as set out under each of the
10 broad categories) will be effective in securing high quality
development?
* Yes
* No

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the draft detailed
design principles.

Include files

YesQuestion 3 - Part 3: Employment Uses Guidance - Do you
consider that the guidance on designing employment
buildings and areas will meet the future needs of Dacorum?
* Yes
* No

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the guidance on
designing employment buildings and areas.

Include files

NoQuestion 4 - General Comments - Overall, do you have any
other comments regarding the Draft Strategic DesignGuide
SPD?
* Yes
* No

If yes, please provide you comments along with any
supporting information you may have.

Include files

DSDG12ID

1145350Person ID

Mr Edward MurrayFull Name

Organisation Details

Person ID

Full Name

Position

Company / Organisation

11

Page 350



NoQuestion 1 - Part 1: Design Process - Do you consider that
the documents have identified the key characteristics of
Dacorum and its wider Hertfordshire context?
* Yes
* No

I would like to have seen more comment on enforcement where
planning has been agreed and then overstepped/exceeded by

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the key
characteristics. owners. Further I would like to have seen some comment on

improving and ensuring notifications to neighbours during the
planning processes.
Having been the victim of not being in receipt of a planning
request by a neighbour, I feel the safeguards are not sufficient
for neighbours.

Include files

NoQuestion 2 - Part 2: Design Principles - Do you consider that
the detailed design principles (as set out under each of the
10 broad categories) will be effective in securing high quality
development?
* Yes
* No

Whilst, I am particularly pleased to see comment on 6.2.3 with
regard to the importance of privacy, 6.5.2 the need for utility

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the draft detailed
design principles. rooms on larger houses - perhaps, more comment should be

made on minimum garden size for units and consistency in
streets. Reference is made, but greater clarity will help avoid
disputes.

Include files

YesQuestion 3 - Part 3: Employment Uses Guidance - Do you
consider that the guidance on designing employment
buildings and areas will meet the future needs of Dacorum?
* Yes
* No

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the guidance on
designing employment buildings and areas.

Include files

Question 4 - General Comments - Overall, do you have any
other comments regarding the Draft Strategic DesignGuide
SPD?
* Yes
* No

If yes, please provide you comments along with any
supporting information you may have.

Include files

DSDG13ID

398662Person ID

Mr Andrew RayFull Name

Organisation Details

Person ID

Full Name

Position

Company / Organisation

12

Page 351



YesQuestion 1 - Part 1: Design Process - Do you consider that
the documents have identified the key characteristics of
Dacorum and its wider Hertfordshire context?
* Yes
* No

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the key
characteristics.

Include files

NoQuestion 2 - Part 2: Design Principles - Do you consider that
the detailed design principles (as set out under each of the
10 broad categories) will be effective in securing high quality
development?
* Yes
* No

Housing development is not just about the broader setting of a
property as per the document. It is about the quality and design

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the draft detailed
design principles. of the property itself and its relative proximity to other dwellings.

Nobody wants to live in an egg box, but if only egg boxes are
available. then people have to live in them - there is no other
choice, and that is the real issue in this region.

Include files

YesQuestion 3 - Part 3: Employment Uses Guidance - Do you
consider that the guidance on designing employment
buildings and areas will meet the future needs of Dacorum?
* Yes
* No

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the guidance on
designing employment buildings and areas.

Include files

YesQuestion 4 - General Comments - Overall, do you have any
other comments regarding the Draft Strategic DesignGuide
SPD?
* Yes
* No

If the dwellings themselves are small, badly designed and not
fit for their intended purpose, then no amount of aesthetic siting

If yes, please provide you comments along with any
supporting information you may have.

and quality design to fit in will make the people who have to live
in them have a good quality of life.

Include files

DSDG14ID

1145481Person ID

Mr Brian KazerFull Name

Organisation Details

Person ID

Full Name

Position

Company / Organisation

YesQuestion 1 - Part 1: Design Process - Do you consider that
the documents have identified the key characteristics of
Dacorum and its wider Hertfordshire context?
* Yes
* No

13

Page 352



If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the key
characteristics.

Include files

NoQuestion 2 - Part 2: Design Principles - Do you consider that
the detailed design principles (as set out under each of the
10 broad categories) will be effective in securing high quality
development?
* Yes
* No

It depends on what is meant by "high quality". It will result in
development of traditional design. What is less clear is (a) how

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the draft detailed
design principles. it will enable building of carbon neutral houses in the face of the

Climate Emergency (b) how it will enable use of renewable
energy. Regarding (b), for example several of the layouts
illustrated in the section on Spatial Typologies, based on historic
examples, are not conducive to optimum use of rooftop solar PV
or solar thermal, as the majority of house roofs are likely to have
a sub-optimal direction for optimum use of these technologies.

Include files

NoQuestion 3 - Part 3: Employment Uses Guidance - Do you
consider that the guidance on designing employment
buildings and areas will meet the future needs of Dacorum?
* Yes
* No

In the main, yes, except for the following pointsIf no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the guidance on
designing employment buildings and areas.

(a) Part 3 para E.08.1, re the future of vehicles which are free
of fossil fuels. The proposed installation of EV charging points
at "key areas" (which is a vague term), is inadequate, when EV
charging points should be installed at every new employment
facility, especially given the Govt timescale for phasing out fossil
fuel cars.
(b) Part 3 para E.06.3 Add "repair shops"
(c) Part 3 E.07.2 Add "public transport links to nearest mainline
railway station"

Include files

YesQuestion 4 - General Comments - Overall, do you have any
other comments regarding the Draft Strategic DesignGuide
SPD?
* Yes
* No

Part 1 Page 17 "Site context of examples of what to observe".
Re grassland, in addition to identifying whether alkaline or

If yes, please provide you comments along with any
supporting information you may have.

neutral/acidic, it's important re biodiversity to identify grassland
that is species rich (more than 5 species within 1 square metre)
Part 1 Page 26 "Public Transport" photo and words. Strengthen
"Connectivity to railheads is desirable" by inserting, as aminimum
"highly" before "desirable"

Part 2 para 5.11.5 Strong concern about apparent proposal to
base road widths on ability to park on pavements. Such parking
is not only illegal, but is also dangerous especially for Mums with
buggies/toddlers; disabled people, elderly people unsteady on
feet, all of whom are likely to have to step out into the road when
pavements blocked by parking. This para also needs
reconsidering in light of practical implications of para 5.2.5 which
proposes roads to "minimum width possible" Access of buses?
Emergency vehicles? On-road parking?

Include files

14

Page 353



DSDG15ID

1249336Person ID

Miss Charlene ScottFull Name

Organisation Details

Person ID

Full Name

Position

Company / Organisation

NoQuestion 1 - Part 1: Design Process - Do you consider that
the documents have identified the key characteristics of
Dacorum and its wider Hertfordshire context?
* Yes
* No

There are some key environmental issues missing. Portions from
building , bats habits not being looked into properly, Roman
snails and their habits

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the key
characteristics.

Include files

YesQuestion 2 - Part 2: Design Principles - Do you consider that
the detailed design principles (as set out under each of the
10 broad categories) will be effective in securing high quality
development?
* Yes
* No

A good selection of structures.If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the draft detailed
design principles.

Include files

NoQuestion 3 - Part 3: Employment Uses Guidance - Do you
consider that the guidance on designing employment
buildings and areas will meet the future needs of Dacorum?
* Yes
* No

Since Covid working from home is more frequent so should we
not encourage this instead of building office which may stay
vacant for a long time

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the guidance on
designing employment buildings and areas.

Include files

YesQuestion 4 - General Comments - Overall, do you have any
other comments regarding the Draft Strategic DesignGuide
SPD?
* Yes
* No

Some areas may greatly effect locals with more traffic,
overlooking exsisting properties and damage to natural habitats!

If yes, please provide you comments along with any
supporting information you may have.

would not making use of old buildings instead of building new
be a more cost effect route?

Include files

DSDG16ID

1249466Person ID

Mr Lawrence StromskiFull Name

Organisation Details

Person ID

15

Page 354



Full Name

Position

Company / Organisation

NoQuestion 1 - Part 1: Design Process - Do you consider that
the documents have identified the key characteristics of
Dacorum and its wider Hertfordshire context?
* Yes
* No

It's great to showcase exceptional design from around the
country, as the lovely pictures adequately do, but it is quite
another thing to enforce good design which is lacking.
the hemel hempstead station gateway project is a classic
example - land sold off cheep to the developers with minimal

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the key
characteristics.

critera. only a few cycle shelters were really considered, but very
little was done to reduce car dominace.
When designing new areas, the entire area infrastructure needs
to be considered, e.g. the No. 500 bus for the gateway project
and thought needs to be given in how the development would
finance or otherwise benefit the local infrastructure.

Include files

NoQuestion 2 - Part 2: Design Principles - Do you consider that
the detailed design principles (as set out under each of the
10 broad categories) will be effective in securing high quality
development?
* Yes
* No

When consdering criteria like the hemel hempstead station
re-development - a commercial nirvana filled with chain coffee

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the draft detailed
design principles. shops will not satisfy any eco credentials, as milk will be trucked

from all over the country as cheeply as possible but in an
unsustainable way. Careful thought needs to be given to local
supplies, local resources to minimise environmental impact. The
old Code 6 standard should be a starting point for new
developments, not a top target.

Include files

NoQuestion 3 - Part 3: Employment Uses Guidance - Do you
consider that the guidance on designing employment
buildings and areas will meet the future needs of Dacorum?
* Yes
* No

As with the residential, its nice to showcase the best of design
from across the uk, but it is completely different to enforce it and

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the guidance on
designing employment buildings and areas. make it happen. Where is the intergrated design in the hemel

hempstead industrial area or the kings langley industrial area?
Not enough consideration is given to good footpath access and
local busses. Land seems to be sold off cheeply and permission
given easily for new businesses to quickly generate jobs. So
which will take priority, good design and planning or quick jobs?

Include files

YesQuestion 4 - General Comments - Overall, do you have any
other comments regarding the Draft Strategic DesignGuide
SPD?
* Yes
* No

Overall, the three documents can be shorter and much better.
There is far too much waffle e.g. pages 21 and 22 of document

If yes, please provide you comments along with any
supporting information you may have.

1. what does a graph indicating rural, urban, exposure and
enclosure even mean? what is the force and effect of such a

16

Page 355



diagram except to state the blindingly obvious and the completely
un-changable?

Include files

DSDG17ID

221857Person ID

Mr George BullFull Name

Organisation Details

Person ID

Full Name

Position

Company / Organisation

YesQuestion 1 - Part 1: Design Process - Do you consider that
the documents have identified the key characteristics of
Dacorum and its wider Hertfordshire context?
* Yes
* No

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the key
characteristics.

Include files

NoQuestion 2 - Part 2: Design Principles - Do you consider that
the detailed design principles (as set out under each of the
10 broad categories) will be effective in securing high quality
development?
* Yes
* No

The draft detailed design principles should be amended to make
it clear how they will enable the construction of carbon-neutral

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the draft detailed
design principles. dwellings in response to the climate emergency. Further

amendments are required to specify exactly how the design
principles will support the use of renewable energy. There seems
to have been a casual disregard for this. For example, some of
the design layouts feature house roofs which are not aligned in
a direction to make optimum use of solar PV or solar thermal
panels.

Include files

NoQuestion 3 - Part 3: Employment Uses Guidance - Do you
consider that the guidance on designing employment
buildings and areas will meet the future needs of Dacorum?
* Yes
* No

Two changes are required. First, the proposal (Part 3, paragraph
E.08.1) to install EV charging points at key areas is inadequate.

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the guidance on
designing employment buildings and areas. As we are looking at a future where vehicles do not use fossil

fuels, EV charging points should be installed at all new
employment buildings. Dacorum's timescale for this must at the
very least meet the government's timescale.
Second, as Dacorum is served by mainline and suburban
trains, Part 3, paragraph E.07.2 should be extended to add public
transport links to the nearest mainline railway station.

Include files

YesQuestion 4 - General Comments - Overall, do you have any
other comments regarding the Draft Strategic DesignGuide
SPD?
* Yes
* No

17

Page 356



In "Site context of examples of what to observe" (Part 1, page
17) the identification of soil type and therefore ecological

If yes, please provide you comments along with any
supporting information you may have.

assemblage as either alkaline or neutral/acidic is inadequate.
With biodiversity under threat, it is crucially important to identify
grassland that is species-rich. The definition of more than five
species within one square metre would be a good starting point.
In Part 2 paragraph 5 the approach to parking seems to be
dangerously muddled.
On the one hand, para 5.2.5 proposes that roads should have
the minimum width possible. Surely there should be adequate
provision for emergency vehicles and public transport? On-road
parking is also an issue. There is a compelling case for insisting
that developments of buildings to accommodate more than one
family can only be constructed if adequate off-road (possibly
underground) parking is provided.
On the other hand, para 5.11.5 seems to base road widths on
the ability to park vehicles on pavements. Such parking forces
pedestrians to walk along the road. This exposes the elderly,
the disabled and parents with young children to particular risks.
This is illegal and therefore cannot be included in the Strategic
Design Guide.

Include files

DSDG18ID

772477Person ID

Mr. Roy WarrenFull Name

Planning ManagerOrganisation Details
Sport England

Person ID

Full Name

Position

Company / Organisation

YesQuestion 1 - Part 1: Design Process - Do you consider that
the documents have identified the key characteristics of
Dacorum and its wider Hertfordshire context?
* Yes
* No

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the key
characteristics.

Include files

YesQuestion 2 - Part 2: Design Principles - Do you consider that
the detailed design principles (as set out under each of the
10 broad categories) will be effective in securing high quality
development?
* Yes
* No

See comments below on how the detailed design principles could
be enhanced.

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the draft detailed
design principles.

Include files

YesQuestion 3 - Part 3: Employment Uses Guidance - Do you
consider that the guidance on designing employment
buildings and areas will meet the future needs of Dacorum?
* Yes
* No

18

Page 357



See comments below on how the detailed design principles could
be enhanced.

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the guidance on
designing employment buildings and areas.

Include files

YesQuestion 4 - General Comments - Overall, do you have any
other comments regarding the Draft Strategic DesignGuide
SPD?
* Yes
* No

Part 1 – Design ProcessIf yes, please provide you comments along with any
supporting information you may have. Land Use Framework

Support is offered for advocating the co-location of land uses as
this can also encourage physical activity if it allows users to make
only one linked trip to an area for multiple reasons. Linked trips
reduce the need to travel and allowmore time for people to linger
and be socially interactive, whilst also creating variety and vitality
in local centres. Co-location of community facilities is one of
Sport England’s Active Design principles.

Support is also offered for signposting to Sport England’s Active
Design principles on page 61. However, it is requested that
Active Design is listed in the list of ‘Additional Resources’ on
page 89 as well for consistency.
Landscape Framework
The list of matters to consider in relation to the Landscape
Framework does not explicitly include the creation of a network
of multi-functional open space. As well as other benefits,
co-locating a mix of sport and recreation activities together
provides the opportunity for a number of activity choices to be
made at the same location thereby increasing the opportunities
for physical activity to take place and also encouraging
walking/cycling to the open space. It is therefore requested, that
the list of matters to consider includes creating a network of
multi-functional open space which is one of Sport England’s
Active Design principles.

Part 2 – Design Principles
Principle of Comply or Justify
The principle of the ‘comply or justify’ approach is welcomed as
this offers potential to ensure that developers fully consider the
design principles in the guide when preparing planning
applications and clarifies the weight that the Council will give to
the principles when determining applications.
However, concern is raised about how the Council will
consistently and efficiently assess whether a development
proposal has complied with the principles in the guide in practice
in the absence of the SPD setting out a systematic approach to
how it will expect developers to demonstrate that they have
complied with the principles. If the Council has to go through
and subjectively assess a scheme to consider how it has
complied with all of the design principles in the guidance this will
be a resource intensive process and will introduce the potential
for the Council to misinterpret a developer’s approach to
complying with a principle. Unless the Council can consistently
and efficiently assess whether a proposal has complied with all
of the principles, it is likely to also prove difficult to make a robust
case to require a developer to justify why they have not met the
principles.
To address these concerns, it is requested that the SPD
introduces a more systematic approach to support the Council

19

Page 358



to assess compliance against the principles. For example,
developers could be required as part of a Design and Access
Statement for instance to complete a pre-populated checklist
(provided by the Council) which would require the developer to
explain how the proposal has complied with each of the design
principles in the SPD and where they have not, to justify why the
principle is not applicable or why they have taken an alternative
approach. The introduction of such a process would help ensure
that a developer fully considers and addresses each of the design
principles before submitting a planning application. It would also
allow the Council to efficiently consider how the developer has
considered the principles and would reduce potential
misinterpretations. The completion of such a checklist could be
an application validation requirement. The same comments
would apply to the Part 3 – Employment Uses Guidance.

A Compact Place

Support is offered for the principles in sections 2.1 and 2.2 such
as walkable distances to amenities, compact neighbourhoods
and co-location of different uses as they would be consistent
with Sport England’s Active Design principles covering ‘Walkable
Communities’ and ‘Co-location of Community Facilities’. The
application of these principles would increase opportunities for
physical activity.

In view of the alignment between the principles in these sections
and Active Design which provides detailed guidance and case
studies, it is requested that Active Design is signposted to in the
list of ‘Additional Guidance’.

A Place for All

Support is offered for the principles in sections 3.3 and 3.4 such
as safe and comfortable places to stop and clear wayfinding as
they would be consistent with Sport England’s Active Design
principles covering ‘Activity for All’ and ‘High Quality Streets and
Spaces’. The application of these principles would increase
opportunities for physical activity.

It is requested that consideration be given to including some
additional principles relating to accounting for the specific needs
of vulnerable pedestrians where shared surfaces occur (e.g.
conflicts between cyclists and vulnerable pedestrians on shared
footpaths/cyclepaths) and providing supporting facilities such as
generous levels seating along key routes and public spaces.

In view of the alignment between the principles in these sections
and Active Design which provides detailed guidance and case
studies, it is requested that Active Design is signposted to in the
list of ‘Additional Guidance’.

A Connected Place
Support is offered for the principles in sections 4.1, 4.2 and 4.5
such as clear, frequent and direct links between existing and
new places and a connected network of green and blue
infrastructure as these would be consistent with Sport England’s
Active Design principles covering ‘Connected Walking and
Cycling Routes’, ‘Co-location of Community Facilities’ and
‘Network of Multi-Functional Open Space’. The application of
these principles would increase opportunities for physical activity.

20

Page 359



It is requested that the principle in 4.1.1 clarifies that the links
between new and existing places should apply to the countryside
beyond a development as well as existing urban areas as it is
often interpreted that the links should be focused around the
existing urban area rather than considering access to the
countryside for leisure which offers physical activity opportunities.

It is also requested that an additional principle is added to section
4.2 to demonstrate that the dual use of community facilities has
been considered where applicable e.g. sports facilities on new
school sites can also be used as community sports facilities. As
well as efficiently providing facilities for meeting the needs of
new development, dual use can encourage social connection
between different groups within the community e.g. promotion
of school-sports club links.

In view of the alignment between the principles in these sections
and Active Design which provides detailed guidance and case
studies, it is requested that Active Design is signposted to in the
list of ‘Additional Guidance’.

Great Streets and Public Spaces
Support is offered for the principles in section 5.3 as creating
opportunities for interaction would be consistent with Sport
England’s Active Design principles covering ‘Activity for All’ and
‘High Quality Streets and Spaces’. The application of these
principles would increase opportunities for physical activity.

It is also requested that an additional principle is added to section
5.3 to demonstrate that any new civic spaces are designed for
community events and pop-up activities. As well as offering
benefits in terms of providing a focal point for community events
if they are appropriately designed, civic spaces can be a focus
for physical activity and encourage people to walk/cycle to them
as a destination.

In view of the alignment between the principles in this section
and Active Design which provides detailed guidance and case
studies, it is requested that Active Design is signposted to in the
list of ‘Additional Guidance’.

Active and Healthy
Support is offered for the whole of section 7, especially principles
7.1-7.4 as these sections recognises the contribution that design
can play in creating active and healthy communities and would
be would be consistent with many of Sport England’s Active
Design principles. The specific reference to adherence to the
Active Design principles in 7.4.1 is particularly welcomed.

It is requested that an additional principle is added to section 7.1
relating to integrating the walking and cycling network into the
network of green infrastructure in order to encourage
walking/cycling to open spaces and to use open spaces for active
travel to onward destinations.

To support the implementation of the principles in section 7.3,
Hertfordshire County Council’s Health and Well-being Planning
guidance
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/health-in-herts/healthy-places/the-role-of-public-health-in-planning.aspx

21

Page 360



should be signposted to in the ‘Additional Guidance’ section.
This guidance which is currently being updated provides specific
advice on how developments can be designed to improve health
and well-being. Sport England is working with the County Council
on the current review of the guidance to align it with our Active
Design guidance.

To support the implementation of adherence to Sport England’s
Active Design principles in 7.4.1, it is requested that this section
advises developers to complete the checklist in the Active Design
guidance and submit it as part of a planning application to
demonstrate how Active Design has been considered and
addressed in the development.

It is requested that the wording of the Design Aim for section 7.4
is reviewed as the current wording is repetitive and does not
make sense. The following suggested wording would be more
appropriate:

To offer easy access to sporting facilities, as well as gyms and
free informal sport provision, to sporting facilities, gyms and
spaces which can support free informal sport, in order to make
participation in sports convenient and appealing.

In relation to section 7.4.1, adherence to open space standard
and Fields in Trust standards for sports pitches is not appropriate
in Dacorum Borough. Sport England does not support the use
of standards for sports facilities and the approach to quantifying
outdoor sports provision in new development is set out in the
Council’s recent Playing Pitch Strategy which forms part of the
emerging Local Plan’s evidence base. The approach in the
Playing Pitch Strategy is not based on local standards or FIT
standards. It is therefore requested that reference to these
standards is replaced with adherence to advice in the authority’s
Playing Pitch Strategy.

It is requested that the principle in 7.4.3 is extended to include
specific reference to the design of indoor and outdoor sports
facilities according with the relevant Sport England and sports
national governing body design guidance as this would help
ensure that the designs are fit for purpose and of a suitable
quality that will meet the needs of the community. Reference is
also requested to be made to Sport England’s design

In view of the alignment between the principles in this section
and Active Design which provides detailed guidance and case
studies, it is requested that Active Design is signposted to in the
list of ‘Additional Guidance’. Reference should also be made to
Sport England’s sports facility design guidance
https://www.sportengland.org/how-we-can-help/facilities-and-planning/design-and-cost-guidance
in view of the comments made on 7.4.3.

For the Long Term
Support is offered for the principles in sections 10.2, 10.3 and
10.4 as creating a strategy and a management plan for
community assets, early activation projects and engagement
with the existing community would be consistent with Sport
England’s Active Design principles covering ‘Management,
Maintenance, Monitoring and Evaluation and ‘Activity Promotion
and Local Champions’. The application of these principles would
increase opportunities for physical activity.

22

Page 361



It is requested that an additional principle is added to section
10.4 relating to establishing programmes of monitoring and
evaluation to help to measure the success of an
initiative, new facility or development in terms of the benefits
longer term e.g. monitoring and evaluating whether the design
interventions intended to improve health and well-being have
been effective in practice.

In view of the alignment between the principles in this section
and Active Design which provides detailed guidance and case
studies, it is requested that Active Design is signposted to in the
list of ‘Additional Guidance’.

Part 3 – Employment Uses Principles
Employment Design Principles: A Healthy Place to Work and
Socialise
Support is offered for the principles in section E.02 as a network
of connections to pedestrian/cycle routes and key destinations
and creating opportunities for informal exercise/physical activity
would be consistent with Sport England’s Active Design principles
covering ‘Active Buildings’ and ‘Connected Walking and Cycle
Routes’. The application of these principles would increase
opportunities for physical activity.

It is requested that an additional principle is added to section
E.02 relating to providing suitable support facilities at workplaces
to encourage cycling such as showers, changing rooms and
lockers. This would complement principle E.10.3 on cycle
parking.

In view of the alignment between the principles in this section
and Active Design which provides detailed guidance and case
studies, it is requested that Active Design is signposted to in the
list of ‘Additional Guidance’.

Include files

DSDG19ID

1249784Person ID

Mr Simon HeathFull Name

Organisation Details

Person ID

Full Name

Position

Company / Organisation

NoQuestion 1 - Part 1: Design Process - Do you consider that
the documents have identified the key characteristics of
Dacorum and its wider Hertfordshire context?
* Yes
* No

Its hard to say - the documents are too long and overly
complicated - a simple summary with key points would support
the plain english approach to help many understand more easily

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the key
characteristics.

Include files

NoQuestion 2 - Part 2: Design Principles - Do you consider that
the detailed design principles (as set out under each of the

23

Page 362



10 broad categories) will be effective in securing high quality
development?
* Yes
* No

Looking at the categories, it doesnt appear that recent
developments have followed a number of these principles

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the draft detailed
design principles.

Include files

YesQuestion 3 - Part 3: Employment Uses Guidance - Do you
consider that the guidance on designing employment
buildings and areas will meet the future needs of Dacorum?
* Yes
* No

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the guidance on
designing employment buildings and areas.

Include files

YesQuestion 4 - General Comments - Overall, do you have any
other comments regarding the Draft Strategic DesignGuide
SPD?
* Yes
* No

Where in the strategic guide and plan are key services covered?
Building continues at a significant rate and there are no doctors,

If yes, please provide you comments along with any
supporting information you may have.

dentists, school needs and road/path improvements covered
sufficiently in the plan - and again recent developments in
Berkhamsted have occurred without any increase in local
services

Include files

DSDG20ID

1224840Person ID

Deputy Town ClerkFull Name

Deputy Town ClerkOrganisation Details
Berkhamsted Town Council

Person ID

Full Name

Position

Company / Organisation

NoQuestion 1 - Part 1: Design Process - Do you consider that
the documents have identified the key characteristics of
Dacorum and its wider Hertfordshire context?
* Yes
* No

The documents give a good description of much of the
inheritance of the area (natural habitat, ecology, topography and

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the key
characteristics. buildings heritage, etc.,). Much of the environmental landscape

and constraints are bequeathed by nature, but the urban and
industrial environment has been created by man in recent history
- and can therefore be erased, maintained or enhanced. This
document should allow for the possibility that much of the latter,
urban and industrial constraints, could and should be removed
or altered: just because something is old does not mean it is
good, although heritage buildings should not be torn downwithout
sufficient justification.
There is insufficient attention given to the linkages with adjacent
counties and what that implies: for example, Dacorum, being
largely a commuter community at the western extremity of Herts

24

Page 363



has more affinity and connection to Bucks and London that to
(say) Hertfordshire.
It would be appropriate for greater consideration to the natural
constraints to be given. The chalklands in Dacorum already have
a worrying low-water table, which is an issue of national
importance and should be at the forefront of considerations and
not merely just a mention in a weighty document.
The Town Council’s opinion is that the document does not
recognise the reality that much development today is bolted onto
existing townships, ultimately leading to urban sprawl. Developers
should consider the impact of the totality of the pre-existing town,
plus the new development with the necessary infrastructure to
make a coherent whole.

Include files

NoQuestion 2 - Part 2: Design Principles - Do you consider that
the detailed design principles (as set out under each of the
10 broad categories) will be effective in securing high quality
development?
* Yes
* No

The document is too long, and could be onerous for people to
engage with. Furthermore, it lacks specific standards and clarity

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the draft detailed
design principles. on new developments. It also has some material failings, which

are outlined below:
• The documents read like a set of guidance for very large

new developments/new towns. However, in practice, the
reality is likely to be a situation whereby lots of mid-scale
(a few hundred house) developments are bolted onto
existing communities. These developments individually will
of themselves not be of sufficient scale to accommodate
all of the grand designs set out in the document, nor will
they warrant investments in existing community amenities.
The consideration of future developments and with their
impacts on the pre-existing societies considerations of
community, amenity, connectivity, mixed purpose etc., is
crucial. These guidelines should be used to create an
overall plan within which sub-developments are tendered.

• The document is heavily weighted towards the traditional
considerations of living design, building layout, good
homes, distinctiveness, compactness, street scenes, etc.,
before getting onto environmental, health and carbon
issues. This very much reads like business as usual (with
more imagination admittedly), with nature being considered
as an afterthought. What this means is maximise homes,
make them look really pretty, be congruent with heritage
and within that context do what you can to minimise the
detrimental impact this has on the environment, climate
and health. This line of reasoning needs to be exactly
reversed. Design homes and communities that maximise
conservation, that maximise green spaces and
communities, that maximise the opportunities for safe and
healthy mobility and then within that context be as
consistent with the pre-existing heritage and pre-existing
notions of what is pretty as possible. The scope of the
document means that it is all things to all people; tendering
developers can never comply with all of these ideals and
so what they really need to know, in addition to this, is what
the big priorities are (as detailed in sections 4, 7 and 8).

• Section 7.6 on Air Pollution is particularly sparse and
makes only vague references to reducing car dependency
and including green screening. The adverse effects of air
pollution are well documented. We know that around

25

Page 364



50,000 premature deaths occur every year due to air
pollution and that Covid-19 has had a particular impact in
areas of poor air quality. Developers should be required
to evidence the base line pollution levels and demonstrate
precise proposals for how they will manage air flow and
minimise pollution. Similarly, on Climate Change (e.g.
Section 8.6), carbon neutrality is treated as an optional
extra: “deliver carbon neutrality where possible”. Given
that these guidance documents are presented on a “comply
or justify” basis then carbon neutrality (or better) should
be the normal expectation. Being resilient to climate
change and extreme weather (section 8.8) is equally
vague. It is beyond any doubt that further extreme weather
and temperature increases will occur (even if the entire
world went carbon neutral today) and so hand-wavy
phrases such as: “Trees and soft landscapes should be
climate resilient” are inadequate. There are so many
attested benefits to the inclusion of trees and vegetation
within living spaces beyond climate change (including
managing flooding, air quality, mental health and
attractiveness) that the expectation should be: “Extensive
use of trees and soft landscapes should be incorporated
so as to …”. Proposals should demonstrate the impact
that the landscaping designs will have to control all of these
risks, not just climate.

• Several references are made to walking and cycling routes.
(Sections 2.1, Section 4, Section 5.10), however the current
style of provision is not remotely acceptable in a world
where people seek to increase the usage and pleasure
derived from these activities. Currently, taking Berkhamsted
as a typical example, as the town has grown the historic
footpaths have been maintained in such a way that they
are narrow dark corridors bounded on each side by 6 feet
high fences and/or encroaching hedges. They are
unpleasant, forbidding and scary. Too narrow for two
people to walk and talk. Unsurprisingly people are
disinclined to use them. To date there are no dedicated
cycle routes in Berkhamsted.

• Connectivity to the rural amenities (but also the existing
urban communities). One of the more encouraging lines
in the document reads: "Provide safe, direct and attractive
walking and cycling routes to nearby open spaces and
landscapes conveniently located for all residents and
visitors" (Section 4.5.1). The mental and physical health
benefits of this are only just becoming accepted in the
mainstream, but this is crucial and has massive indirect
benefits (financial and otherwise) for the wider economy
and society. This needs to be considered in conjunction
with how new developments interface with existing
communities and there may be knock on alterations to the
existing infrastructure to facilitate this. Do include access
to and from existing urban communities in this.

• It is vital to think of developing communities of people who
feel proud to live there. And people who will come together
to socialise and care for each other (as we have seen in
the recent Covid-19 situation).

• There is no mention of community-based utilities provision
such as community energy schemes or wastemanagement
facilities. How about encouraging local food waste
reprocessing into energy? Local heating/cooling distribution
networks, for example (section 8.7). More emphasis should
be given throughout the document on incorporating local
vegetation (green corridors, trees, hedgerows, ponds etc.,
within the design). As a society and as planners it should
be considered that integrating the human world more into
the natural world may take up more space overall versus
maximising density in concrete jungles. The Town Council

26

Page 365



are delighted to see references to reducing dependency
on cars, although aspiration needs to be backed up with
specific commitments in terms of (for example) targets for
cars per household ratios.

Include files

NoQuestion 3 - Part 3: Employment Uses Guidance - Do you
consider that the guidance on designing employment
buildings and areas will meet the future needs of Dacorum?
* Yes
* No

The Town Council very much welcome the intention to create
industrial/business locations integral to the living spaces. It is

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the guidance on
designing employment buildings and areas. also pleased with the guidance on attractive designs which

include green spaces, focal points and areas for recreation and
socialisation, although these need to be given greater
prominence in the guidance.
Developers should move away from the notion that business
parks are ugly, out of the way minimalist places hidden from
view, or places where people spend the minimum amount of
time and just go there to earn their living and get out as fast as
possible. People can spend more than half of their waking hours
at work and therefore these work spaces should be designed to
be pleasant and joyful places to be.
As per the residential design however, it is important to make
the priorities much clearer and enhancing the natural
inheritance/environment, zero carbon and avoidance of noise,
air and water pollution should come first and the external designs
fit into that paradigm rather than the reverse.

Include files

YesQuestion 4 - General Comments - Overall, do you have any
other comments regarding the Draft Strategic DesignGuide
SPD?
* Yes
* No

This document has a wide scope and the design principles
include many details which the Town Council support, for
example the provision of safe and useable cycling routes.

If yes, please provide you comments along with any
supporting information you may have.

If only the developments over the last thirty years were informed
by the broad sentiments expressed in these documents, then
we would have begun with a much more community based,
attractive, green urban inheritance.
This document is very welcome, there are many good aspects
to it but in order to deliver on the priorities of the future it needs
to be clearer on what matters most.

Include files

DSDG21ID

1145998Person ID

Mrs Pauline HughesFull Name

Organisation Details

Person ID

Full Name

Position

Company / Organisation

YesQuestion 1 - Part 1: Design Process - Do you consider that
the documents have identified the key characteristics of
Dacorum and its wider Hertfordshire context?

27

Page 366



* Yes
* No

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the key
characteristics.

Include files

YesQuestion 2 - Part 2: Design Principles - Do you consider that
the detailed design principles (as set out under each of the
10 broad categories) will be effective in securing high quality
development?
* Yes
* No

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the draft detailed
design principles.

Include files

YesQuestion 3 - Part 3: Employment Uses Guidance - Do you
consider that the guidance on designing employment
buildings and areas will meet the future needs of Dacorum?
* Yes
* No

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the guidance on
designing employment buildings and areas.

Include files

YesQuestion 4 - General Comments - Overall, do you have any
other comments regarding the Draft Strategic DesignGuide
SPD?
* Yes
* No

The basics, based on past experience with developers:If yes, please provide you comments along with any
supporting information you may have. No new Tower Blocks that overshadow nice green areas, protect

the nice parts.
Stricter reviews of Transport Implications provided by developers
as they are biased and done by people who do not know or care
about HH and its road issues.
Most important : Build houses for families. Children do not do
well in flats except as last resort.
No future slums and confined teeagers.

Include files

DSDG22ID

1249858Person ID

Mrs Jillian LuffFull Name

Organisation Details

Person ID

Full Name

Position

Company / Organisation

YesQuestion 1 - Part 1: Design Process - Do you consider that
the documents have identified the key characteristics of
Dacorum and its wider Hertfordshire context?
* Yes

28

Page 367



* No

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the key
characteristics.

Include files

YesQuestion 2 - Part 2: Design Principles - Do you consider that
the detailed design principles (as set out under each of the
10 broad categories) will be effective in securing high quality
development?
* Yes
* No

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the draft detailed
design principles.

Include files

YesQuestion 3 - Part 3: Employment Uses Guidance - Do you
consider that the guidance on designing employment
buildings and areas will meet the future needs of Dacorum?
* Yes
* No

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the guidance on
designing employment buildings and areas.

Include files

YesQuestion 4 - General Comments - Overall, do you have any
other comments regarding the Draft Strategic DesignGuide
SPD?
* Yes
* No

Comprehensive consideration of multiple aspects necessary for
good planning. I hope these will be followed if the plan is passed.

If yes, please provide you comments along with any
supporting information you may have.

I notice reference to Additional Resources on page 24 – 'Making
Space for Cycling'. For multiple reasons it is imperative that
time and effort at the planning stage and subsequently funding
is provided for this crucial aspect of the planning process.

Include files

DSDG23ID

1224840Person ID

Deputy Town ClerkFull Name

Deputy Town ClerkOrganisation Details
Berkhamsted Town Council

Person ID

Full Name

Position

Company / Organisation

NoQuestion 1 - Part 1: Design Process - Do you consider that
the documents have identified the key characteristics of
Dacorum and its wider Hertfordshire context?
* Yes
* No

The documents give a good description of much of the
inheritance of the area (natural habitat, ecology, topography and

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the key
characteristics. buildings heritage, etc.,). Much of the environmental landscape

and constraints are bequeathed by nature, but the urban and
industrial environment has been created by man in recent history
- and can therefore be erased, maintained or enhanced. This

29

Page 368



document should allow for the possibility that much of the latter,
urban and industrial constraints, could and should be removed
or altered: just because something is old does not mean it is
good, although heritage buildings should not be torn downwithout
sufficient justification.
There is insufficient attention given to the linkages with adjacent
counties and what that implies: for example, Dacorum, being
largely a commuter community at the western extremity of Herts
has more affinity and connection to Bucks and London that to
(say) Hertfordshire.
It would be appropriate for greater consideration to the natural
constraints to be given. The chalklands in Dacorum already have
a worrying low-water table, which is an issue of national
importance and should be at the forefront of considerations and
not merely just a mention in a weighty document.
The Town Council’s opinion is that the document does not
recognise the reality that much development today is bolted onto
existing townships, ultimately leading to urban sprawl. Developers
should consider the impact of the totality of the pre-existing town,
plus the new development with the necessary infrastructure to
make a coherent whole.

Include files

NoQuestion 2 - Part 2: Design Principles - Do you consider that
the detailed design principles (as set out under each of the
10 broad categories) will be effective in securing high quality
development?
* Yes
* No

The document is too long, and could be onerous for people to
engage with. Furthermore, it lacks specific standards and clarity

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the draft detailed
design principles. on new developments. It also has some material failings, which

are outlined below:
• The documents read like a set of guidance for very large

new developments/new towns. However, in practice, the
reality is likely to be a situation whereby lots of mid-scale
(a few hundred house) developments are bolted onto
existing communities. These developments individually will
of themselves not be of sufficient scale to accommodate
all of the grand designs set out in the document, nor will
they warrant investments in existing community amenities.
The consideration of future developments and with their
impacts on the pre-existing societies considerations of
community, amenity, connectivity, mixed purpose etc., is
crucial. These guidelines should be used to create an
overall plan within which sub-developments are tendered.

• The document is heavily weighted towards the traditional
considerations of living design, building layout, good
homes, distinctiveness, compactness, street scenes, etc.,
before getting onto environmental, health and carbon
issues. This very much reads like business as usual (with
more imagination admittedly), with nature being considered
as an afterthought. What this means is maximise homes,
make them look really pretty, be congruent with heritage
and within that context do what you can to minimise the
detrimental impact this has on the environment, climate
and health. This line of reasoning needs to be exactly
reversed. Design homes and communities that maximise
conservation, that maximise green spaces and
communities, that maximise the opportunities for safe and
healthy mobility and then within that context be as
consistent with the pre-existing heritage and pre-existing
notions of what is pretty as possible. The scope of the

30

Page 369



document means that it is all things to all people; tendering
developers can never comply with all of these ideals and
so what they really need to know, in addition to this, is what
the big priorities are (as detailed in sections 4, 7 and 8).

• Section 7.6 on Air Pollution is particularly sparse and
makes only vague references to reducing car dependency
and including green screening. The adverse effects of air
pollution are well documented. We know that around
50,000 premature deaths occur every year due to air
pollution and that Covid-19 has had a particular impact in
areas of poor air quality. Developers should be required
to evidence the base line pollution levels and demonstrate
precise proposals for how they will manage air flow and
minimise pollution. Similarly, on Climate Change (e.g.
Section 8.6), carbon neutrality is treated as an optional
extra: “deliver carbon neutrality where possible”. Given
that these guidance documents are presented on a “comply
or justify” basis then carbon neutrality (or better) should
be the normal expectation. Being resilient to climate
change and extreme weather (section 8.8) is equally
vague. It is beyond any doubt that further extreme weather
and temperature increases will occur (even if the entire
world went carbon neutral today) and so hand-wavy
phrases such as: “Trees and soft landscapes should be
climate resilient” are inadequate. There are so many
attested benefits to the inclusion of trees and vegetation
within living spaces beyond climate change (including
managing flooding, air quality, mental health and
attractiveness) that the expectation should be: “Extensive
use of trees and soft landscapes should be incorporated
so as to …”. Proposals should demonstrate the impact
that the landscaping designs will have to control all of these
risks, not just climate.

• Several references are made to walking and cycling routes.
(Sections 2.1, Section 4, Section 5.10), however the current
style of provision is not remotely acceptable in a world
where people seek to increase the usage and pleasure
derived from these activities. Currently, taking Berkhamsted
as a typical example, as the town has grown the historic
footpaths have been maintained in such a way that they
are narrow dark corridors bounded on each side by 6 feet
high fences and/or encroaching hedges. They are
unpleasant, forbidding and scary. Too narrow for two
people to walk and talk. Unsurprisingly people are
disinclined to use them. To date there are no dedicated
cycle routes in Berkhamsted.

• Connectivity to the rural amenities (but also the existing
urban communities). One of the more encouraging lines
in the document reads: "Provide safe, direct and attractive
walking and cycling routes to nearby open spaces and
landscapes conveniently located for all residents and
visitors" (Section 4.5.1). The mental and physical health
benefits of this are only just becoming accepted in the
mainstream, but this is crucial and has massive indirect
benefits (financial and otherwise) for the wider economy
and society. This needs to be considered in conjunction
with how new developments interface with existing
communities and there may be knock on alterations to the
existing infrastructure to facilitate this. Do include access
to and from existing urban communities in this.

• It is vital to think of developing communities of people who
feel proud to live there. And people who will come together
to socialise and care for each other (as we have seen in
the recent Covid-19 situation).

• There is no mention of community-based utilities provision
such as community energy schemes or wastemanagement
facilities. How about encouraging local food waste

31

Page 370



reprocessing into energy? Local heating/cooling distribution
networks, for example (section 8.7). More emphasis should
be given throughout the document on incorporating local
vegetation (green corridors, trees, hedgerows, ponds etc.,
within the design). As a society and as planners it should
be considered that integrating the human world more into
the natural world may take up more space overall versus
maximising density in concrete jungles. The Town Council
are delighted to see references to reducing dependency
on cars, although aspiration needs to be backed up with
specific commitments in terms of (for example) targets for
cars per household ratios.

Include files

NoQuestion 3 - Part 3: Employment Uses Guidance - Do you
consider that the guidance on designing employment
buildings and areas will meet the future needs of Dacorum?
* Yes
* No

The Town Council very much welcome the intention to create
industrial/business locations integral to the living spaces. It is

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the guidance on
designing employment buildings and areas. also pleased with the guidance on attractive designs which

include green spaces, focal points and areas for recreation and
socialisation, although these need to be given greater
prominence in the guidance.
Developers should move away from the notion that business
parks are ugly, out of the way minimalist places hidden from
view, or places where people spend the minimum amount of
time and just go there to earn their living and get out as fast as
possible. People can spend more than half of their waking hours
at work and therefore these work spaces should be designed to
be pleasant and joyful places to be.
As per the residential design however, it is important to make
the priorities much clearer and enhancing the natural
inheritance/environment, zero carbon and avoidance of noise,
air and water pollution should come first and the external designs
fit into that paradigm rather than the reverse.

Include files

YesQuestion 4 - General Comments - Overall, do you have any
other comments regarding the Draft Strategic DesignGuide
SPD?
* Yes
* No

If yes, please provide you comments along with any
supporting information you may have. Section 1 – A Distinctive Place

1 As well as the ‘pre-existing context of a site’, the principles
should also consider the pre-existing topography and
landscape of a site and encourage use of natural features
in the environment and landscape to determine the shape
of development

Section 2 – A Compact Place
1 When considering co-location of industry and residential,

need to take into account and mitigate the issue of poor
air quality caused by industrial activity

2 Ref: 2.4 – when advocating density/scale – should define
a different approach when on ridgetop and/or
sensitive/unique settings.

Section 3 – A Place for All
1 Ref: 3.1 - Aspiration for intergenerational living is good but

how do ‘retirement’ villages/developments fit into this?
Section 4 – A Connected Place

32

Page 371



1 Ref: 4.3 – whilst setting out the aspiration for visual
connection, the guidelines should be mindful of the desire
and need to preserve settlement identity and separation
eg Bourne End from Berkhamsted.

2 Ref: 4.5 – re: ‘natural connection’ see my comments above
re: Section 1. This would help to ‘bring nature in’.

3 Ref: 4.7 – the paper needs to set out a solution for
connectivity in hilly areas.

Section 5- Great Streets and Public Spaces
1 Ref: 5.7 – increase in street trees is welcome for the

reasons outlined, but is at odds with current DBC
(unofficial) moratorium on street trees.

2 Ref: 5.8 – to enhance the microclimate approach in front
gardens, should consider prohibition of paving over
gardens.

3 Ref: 5.11 – include neighbourhood parking areas rather
than individual parking spaces?

Section 6 – Great Homes
1 Ref: 6.5 – no mention of storage for bikes? Essential.

Section 8 – Facing the Climate Crisis
1 Generally – This section should reflect my comments above

about use of natural features to improve biodiversity in
urban developed areas and natural drainage by not paving
over garden spaces.

2 Other general points:
1 No mention here of the earth itself as a carbon store
2 No mention of preservation and introduction of

wetlands as essential habitat
3 The need to recognise wildlife corridors and

connections and protect them should be written in to
this section.

3 Ref: 8.7 – section on energy is light on ambition
4 Ref: 8.8 – there appears to be no mention of the approach

to building on flood plains – in a section on resilience to
climate change and adverse weather….

1 What is the industrial/economic strategy for Dacorum? This
should form part of the context from which some of these
policy decisions are developed.

2 I’d like to see built environment landscaping be less
manicured and more responsive to local character and
topography and the natural state of the land.

3 Live/work spaces should be encouraged – I couldn’t spot
a reference to this anywhere…?

4 Shared office spaces and co-working spaces should be
prioritised in light of Covid and long term change in home
working. To promote working in the local community and
keeping spending in local economy.

5 Enforcement of the guidelines does not seem to be
discussed – how will this be monitored and actioned?

6 What is the delivery plan – again, no reference to how the
guidelines will be rolled out and translated into policy.

7 Would like to see the required infrastructure in place before
building commences where possible…for many reasons,
but a key one would be that future residents know they are
buying in to a particular approach eg not having a car/using
public transport.

This document has a wide scope and the design principles
include many details which the Town Council support, for
example the provision of safe and useable cycling routes.
If only the developments over the last thirty years were informed
by the broad sentiments expressed in these documents, then

33

Page 372



we would have begun with a much more community based,
attractive, green urban inheritance.
This document is very welcome, there are many good aspects
to it but in order to deliver on the priorities of the future it needs
to be clearer on what matters most.
Thank you for the opportunity to comment.

Include files

DSDG24ID

1202626Person ID

Brian WorrellFull Name

Organisation Details

Person ID

Full Name

Position

Company / Organisation

NoQuestion 1 - Part 1: Design Process - Do you consider that
the documents have identified the key characteristics of
Dacorum and its wider Hertfordshire context?
* Yes
* No

Page 6. Is this a legal/statutory document? Looks like guidance
rather than it being mandatory which means developers can get
round having to provide compliance.

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the key
characteristics.

Page 21. No mention of Rights of Way which are generally
historical. Observation will indicate where the network has
previously been and where they have been severed by past
development, and where anomalies have been created. This
will indicate where opportunities to resolve an improve the Rights
of Way Network exist and where connectivity with new routes
can substantially improve the wider network for all vulnerable
users from walkers to cyclists to horse riders to horse driven
carriages and mobility users. I always fail to understand why
such an important and historic network is rarely if ever mentioned
and integrated into developments.
Page 26. It is worth remembering that Active Travel and the
Walking and Cycling Strategy both are intended to include
equestrians and has been stated in Parliament. I refer to
examples such as:
- The Transport Minister Michael Ellis on 20th June 2019 - In
November, the Government published its response to the Cycling
and Walking Investment Strategy (CWIS): safety review call for
evidence. The response sets out a vision and a two year plan
containing 50 actions to tackle cycling, walking and horse riding
safety.
- Minister Jess Norman - House of Commons debate, 5th
November 2018 c1317, 'The more people (walkers, cyclists,
horse riders, etc.) who use Active Travel, the fitter and healthier
they will be , and the more their communities will benefit from
lower congestion and better air quality, amongst a host of other
benefits. We should be clear that the cycling and walking
strategy may have that name but is absolutely targeted at
vulnerable road users, including horse riders'.
- Chris Grayling MP Secretary of State for Transport, 16th July
2019. Department guidance makes it clear local authorities
should consult with local groups such as equestrians when
developing cycling and walking infrastructure plans.
- Minister of State (Department of Transport) Michael Ellis 23rd
July 2019. Her Majesty’s Government – this Government – are
investing vast sums in cycling, pedestrian access, equestrianism
and all forms of active travel……

34

Page 373



- Unknown reference (in the debate on Active Travel). I would
urge all local authorities to allow horse riders to use cycle trails,
routes and any other ways where it is their power to do so, and
to encourage permission or dedication to happen where it is not
in their power. Unless there are good and specific reasons not
to expressly allow horse riders to use such routes, local
authorities should take steps to accommodate them. Local
authorities should be making the most of their off-road networks
through integration of use. Multi user routes have been shown
to be readily adopted and well appreciated by local people.
Where they are done well they bolster community cohesion and
create a better understanding between users.
Horse riders are particularly vulnerable road users, and cycle
routes can provide appropriate and important opportunities to
avoid busy roads.
Page 27. Under Site Context - Examples of what to observe, a
bullet point for 'What is missing' should be added. This would
provide the opportunity to add opportunities such as improved
rights of way.
Also to assist, a note should be included somewhere that early
consultation of the Rights of Way Improvement Plan, a statutory
document, and the Definitive Modification Map Order (DMMO)
Register is essential and beneficial.
Perhaps non-motorise vulnerable users (NMU) should be added
to the Understand box and provide the opportunity for future
needs to be stated.
Page 29. Examples of What to Observe could include best
practice for new community design. Cambridgeshire have
attempted to soften the boundaries between urban and rural with
creating strong off-road connections between them as well across
the development, in particular bridleways -
seehttps://www.scambs.gov.uk/media/14166/bourn-airfield-spd-adopted-2-10-2019_part2.pdfas
one example.
Page 30. Green corridors and wildlife corridors are essential
which only serve to connect urban developments with the rural
landscape and soften the boundaries. They also provide for
leisure and education of urban dwellers about the rural
landscape.
Page 33. Again rights of way provide much of the connectivity
across an area and expansion of the network would realise a
significant gain, particularly when incorporated into green
corridors.
Page 56. The rights of way network should be added to the
middle column as part of the sport and leisure facilities.
Page 58. The focus is on urban requirements and little on the
buffer integration zone between urban and rural. I suggest this
Vision only encourages the division between urban and rural
instead of encouraging a soft transition. After all, the main users
across this buffer zone will be urban dwellers seeking refuge in
the rural landscape, not the other way round. This as it stands
will do little to educate urban dwellers about the needs of the
rural landscape upon which they are so dependant.
Page 59. Under Movement, only cycling and walking are listed.
Whilst these are very important in today's environment, that
shouldn't be at the expense of bridleways and restricted byways
for other vulnerable road users. With the significant amount of
public being poured into cycling and walking routes, it could be
seen as discrimination against other users, as the same money
could provide for all vulnerable users with little or no increased
expenditure.
Page 62. In the Consider box, bullet numbers 4, 5, 6 and 8 relate
directly to the historic Rights of Way Network and should be the
start point for any desirable community development.

35

Page 374



Page 64. In this page Consider box, bullet 7, ask how the rights
of way can be integrated. Active Travel is more than a strategy
for walking and cycling (as we have seen from my response to
Page 26) and ALL vulnerable non-motorised user must be
catered for.

Include files

NoQuestion 2 - Part 2: Design Principles - Do you consider that
the detailed design principles (as set out under each of the
10 broad categories) will be effective in securing high quality
development?
* Yes
* No

A general comment, there are loads of examples of 'little boxes'
that are uniform and probably not in keeping with the
neighbourhood and landscape they are placed in.

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the draft detailed
design principles.

Page 6 is one such example. I cannot agree that Horsted Park
is a Distinctive Place, other than it is photograph of a series of
little boxes. This is last thing we need or want from a new
community. The Derwenthorpe example of Page 13 is far better
in that it shows a mix of design and finishes which must be what
we need for a 'garden community'.
Page 18. The use of high quality materials is mandatory, both
inside and out. Paper thin internal walls have to be feature of
the past and are not acceptable. Also the external materials and
design must reflect the landscape they are in. Preferably local
materials are preferred, although I recognise that these are in
short supply in Dacorum. Only Bovingdon Bricks come to mind
and we don't all the buildings in the same finish. What is so
pleasing about villages and old towns is the mixed use of so
many materials and this should be emulated as far as possible.
Page 24. A comment on 'Enhance Access to Sport'. It is no
good just placing a 'sports pitch' or two in a development to get
the tick in the box. It is essential that the local sport and leisure
organisation(s) are consulted to ensure these facilities can be
supported by clubs.
Also remember that existing leisure routes, such as the rights of
way network, must be incorporated into new routes for
non-motorised users - walkers, cyclists, horse riders, horse
carriage drivers and mobility users.
Page 29. Absolutely a mandatory requirement these days for
solar panels (design the roofs to face south), heat pumps, electric
vehicle charging points and insulation to a high degree to be
designed in every home.

Include files

YesQuestion 3 - Part 3: Employment Uses Guidance - Do you
consider that the guidance on designing employment
buildings and areas will meet the future needs of Dacorum?
* Yes
* No

As far as I can tell, not being an expert in employment
requirements.

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the guidance on
designing employment buildings and areas.

Include files

YesQuestion 4 - General Comments - Overall, do you have any
other comments regarding the Draft Strategic DesignGuide
SPD?
* Yes
* No

36

Page 375



It must be made mandatory to prevent the mistakes of the past
and ensure high quality homes are built for all residents, not just
the well of.

If yes, please provide you comments along with any
supporting information you may have.

Include files

DSDG25ID

1249904Person ID

Mrs Christine RidleyFull Name

Organisation Details

Person ID

Full Name

Position

Company / Organisation

NoQuestion 1 - Part 1: Design Process - Do you consider that
the documents have identified the key characteristics of
Dacorum and its wider Hertfordshire context?
* Yes
* No

This document is wide ranging but rather general and could be
applied to any large development.

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the key
characteristics. However, If the documents have identified the key characteristics

of Dacorum, the present housing plans seem to ignore the
amazing views up the Gade valley north of Hemel Hempstead.
Under present plans for the Garden Community, houses will
cover at least one side of the valley almost as far the Red Lion
pub along the Leighton Buzzard Rd.
These plans do not respect the natural beauty of this landscape
and are contra to the advice in the documents: "Provision for
existing high value natural features".

Include files

NoQuestion 2 - Part 2: Design Principles - Do you consider that
the detailed design principles (as set out under each of the
10 broad categories) will be effective in securing high quality
development?
* Yes
* No

There are some excellent ideas in the design principles and if
all are taken into consideration high quality development may
well be secured.

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the draft detailed
design principles.

However, I think the plans could be evenmore ambitious in terms
of houses for the future. I would like to be assured that all the
proposed buildings will be zero carbon, - there are already some
dwellings that are zero carbon in Hemel, so this must be possible.
All new dwellings should have solar panels, unless the roof
direction is completely unsuitableand also heat pumps, and all
should have electric charging points. If the number of vehicles
per household could be limited, that would be excellent, as at
present the appearance of Hemel is ruined by all the cars and
vans cluttering the streets, and parked on the pavement etc.
It would be even better if the housing that has already been
approved in Hemel Hempstead could be built with the climate
emergency in mind. For example, the proposed houses for LA3
are not going to be zero carbon and won't even be fitted with
solar panels, yet the climate emergency is already with us.

Include files

37

Page 376



NoQuestion 3 - Part 3: Employment Uses Guidance - Do you
consider that the guidance on designing employment
buildings and areas will meet the future needs of Dacorum?
* Yes
* No

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the guidance on
designing employment buildings and areas.

There are lots of excellent ideas in these documents. However,
they do not specify the types of industry or employment which
will be carried out inside the buildings. Will there be enough
employment opportunities in Dacorum for all the people who are
going to live in the many thousands of dwellings which are
planned to be built here? Will the future bus service be reliable
enough to get people to work and back from all the different
areas in Hemel, no matter what time of day or night they work?
The present bus service is neither reliable, frequent enough nor
cheap enough to encourage Hemel residents to leave their cars
at home and use public transport instead.

Include files

NoQuestion 4 - General Comments - Overall, do you have any
other comments regarding the Draft Strategic DesignGuide
SPD?
* Yes
* No

If yes, please provide you comments along with any
supporting information you may have.

Include files

DSDG26ID

1012318Person ID

Mrs Jane HennellFull Name

Area PlannerOrganisation Details
Canal and River Trust

Person ID

Full Name

Position

Company / Organisation

YesQuestion 1 - Part 1: Design Process - Do you consider that
the documents have identified the key characteristics of
Dacorum and its wider Hertfordshire context?
* Yes
* No

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the key
characteristics.

Include files

YesQuestion 2 - Part 2: Design Principles - Do you consider that
the detailed design principles (as set out under each of the
10 broad categories) will be effective in securing high quality
development?
* Yes
* No

We are the charity who look after and bring to life 2000 miles of
canals & rivers. Our waterways contribute to the health and

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the draft detailed
design principles. wellbeing of local communities and economies, creating attractive

and connected places to live, work, volunteer and spend leisure
time. These historic, natural and cultural assets form part of the
strategic and local green-blue infrastructure network, linking
urban and rural communities as well as habitats. By caring for

38

Page 377



our waterways and promoting their use we believe we can
improve the wellbeing of our nation. The Trust is a statutory
consultee in the Development Management process.
The Grand Union Canal runs through Dacorum and in some
areas acts as the boundary between Dacorum Borough and
Three Rivers District and continues on into Buckinghamshire.
Whilst some sections of the canal fall just outside the
administrative boundary it is important that developments still
acknowledge and consider their relationship to the canal network
in these locations and that each council recognise the need for
cross boundary working when considering planning policies
which relate to the canal.
The canal network is an important part of the historic
development of the area and we are pleased to note its reference
as a historic highway. The draft document recognises the
importance of Green Infrastructure and we are surprised that
the canal is not shown on the Green infrastructure map at page
16.
However, it is positive that there is a whole chapter on water and
that the canal is recognised as a strong defining feature of the
narrative of a place and can create a strong focal point for design.
The Canal & River Trust promote all waterways as tools to be
used in place making and place shaping and contribute to the
creation of sustainable communities. We seek for any
development to relate appropriately to the waterway, minimise
the ecological impacts and optimise the benefits such a location
can generate for all parts of the community.
The waterways are significant Green Infrastructure, but they also
function as ‘Blue infrastructure’ which serves in a variety of roles,
including: an agent of or catalyst for regeneration; a contributor
to water supply and transfer, drainage and flood management;
a tourism, cultural, sport, leisure and recreation resource; a
heritage landscape, open space and ecological resource;
sustainable modes of transport; and routes for
telecommunications.
They also offer opportunities for leisure, recreation and sporting
activities as part of the ‘natural health service’ acting as ‘blue
gyms’ and supporting outdoor activity and physical and mental
health and wellbeing. We work extensively with private, public
and voluntary partners to conserve, enhance and improve our
waterways.
The canal corridor provides access across the Borough, linking
new and proposed residential areas to key employment areas,
and open space. The towpath provides an attractive, traffic free
route through the borough and there are also a number of bridges
which cross the canal further improving connectivity across the
canal and to the towpath.
We are very pleased to note the context section on water and
in particular the detail provided in the What to observe section.
We recommend a number of guiding principles for waterside
developments and individual waterways and water spaces need
to be viewed as an integral part of a wider network, and not in
isolation. The canal corridor should therefore not be considered
as a barrier to connectivity and proposed developments should
seek to unlock the full potential of the canal corridor in their
design and layout.
Water should not be treated as just a setting or backdrop for
development but as a space, leisure and commercial resource
in its own right. The ‘added value’ of the water space needs to
be fully explored. Waterways themselves should be the starting
point for consideration of the development and use of the water
and waterside land – look from the water outwards, as well as
from the land to the water.

39

Page 378



References to the good waterside design could be strengthened
by way of promoting the benefits of the canal network and clearly
setting out the principles of good canal side design practice to
designers, developers, business owners, local residents and
other stake holders and this should include a link to the advice
provided by the Canal & River Trust on our Website. here. The
Trust are currently producing further guidance on ‘Great
Waterside Places’ and details of this will be provided as soon
as possible in order that reference to it can be included within
this document..
The addition of a specific section within the SPD outlining the
principles of quality design beside the canal network is therefore
recommended. This should require developments that are
adjacent to, or connected to the waterway network to
demonstrate accordance with the following design principles;
• Promote the waterspace as treasured public amenity and

place of wellbeing though an open and engaged design
approach, providing a frontage to the waterside where
appropriate.

•
• Protect and enhance the heritage, natural environment

and landscape character of the waterways providing a
native and naturalistic buffer where appropriate.

•
• Encourage public access, sustainable vehicular-free

commuting and recreational use of the waterways

•
• Safeguard the safety and structural integrity of waterway

infrastructure and the safety of users

•
• Protect and safeguard inland waterways for water

resourcing purposes, including the need for water
management, improving water quality, managing land
drainage, and avoiding, reducing and managing flood risk.

Movement framework
We suggest that it is acknowledged that if additional use will
occur on an existing network adjacent to or leading to the site
then the quality of that network, and its ability to cope with
additional usage should be considered, as part of a movement
audit and improvements made if necessary.
Urban design Framework
The layout and design of streets is integral for the success of
the urban environment. It should however also be ensured that
developments have regard to the existing infrastructure in the
surrounding area. Developments should be required to include
well designed connections to existing networks, such as the
towpath, to promote connectivity and sustainable travel.
Developments need to consider the visual impacts of parking
areas and parking on access roads on the canal’s outward
perspective. Proposals must aim to avoid creating direct views
of the developments ‘back of house’ from the canals outward
perspective which heavily degrades the canals credentials as a
green corridor, tranquil retreat and its use as and treasured public
amenity.

40

Page 379



Back of house elements might include car parks, service areas,
such bin stores, delivery areas, sub stations etc. Vehicles can
be visually buffered from the canalthrough clever design and
use of landscaping. This might include well placed linear
hedgerows to visually buffer parked vehicles and with parking
bays set between plots or within buildings, again to hide from
view. Staggered bays with surrounding planting can also work
to soften visual impact.
Lighting –consideration must be given to the impacts of lighting
on the natural environment. The Trust advise that waterside
lighting affects how the waterway corridor is perceived,
particularly when viewed from the water, the towpath and
neighbouring land, for example waterside lighting can lead to
unnecessary glare and light pollution if it is not carefully
designed. Any external lighting should be angled downwards,
and light directed into the development site and it should not
provide flood lighting to the canal corridor to show consideration
for bats.
Section 5
The area adjacent to the canal, whether that be the towpath
benefits from being publicly accessible. The towpath should be
incorporated into the public space in more urban areas, although
this may be less appropriate in rural locations. Development
should overlook the towpath or canal to give a perception of
public safety.
Developments should be required to include signage to highlight
connections to the canal the case of development adjacent or
connected to the canal corridor this should include appropriate
wayfinding to/on or from the towpath as well as to destinations
along it. All wayfinding on or adjacent to the towpath should be
agreed first with the Canal & River Trust.
The Trust do not promote the provision of car parking or access
roads adjacent to the canal unless suitable screening is provided.
Section 6
Boundary Treatments
Boundary treatments are a key design aspect in any canal side
development and engagement with the canal should be
encouraged. Whilst robust barriers are required to prevent
vehicles accessing the waterway the provision of fences, walls
and railings to the canal boundary can have a negative visual
impact on the canal corridor. Developments should therefore be
required to carefully consider the choice of boundary treatment
along both sides of the canal corridor.
Landscaping
As identified previously there are particular considerations that
development proposed adjacent to the canal network should
take into account and landscaping is a key consideration. It needs
to be ensured that any planting proposed includes native species
and is appropriate for the waterside setting.
Any planting needs to be set back sufficiently from the canal
corridor to allow for future growth and ensure it does not
adversely impact on the stability of the canal infrastructure or
affect safe navigation of the waterway. The long-term
maintenance / management regimes for landscaped areas can
also impact on their overall design success and development
should be required to consider this and include details with any
Applications.
Section 7
The Trust promote the canal towpath for health and well-being
and its use has increased dramatically in some areas during the
Corona virus lockdown. This section does not mention the need
to link walking and cycling routes into existing provision or ensure

41

Page 380



that existing provision is fit to cope with potential increased
usage. An audit of provision, and the impact of development on
should be carried out, with mitigation put in place beyond the
site boundary as necessary, in the same way that highway
improvements might be required to facilitate additional vehicle
movement as a result of a development.
Section 9
There is the potential for the canal to accept surface water
discharges from sites and this should be referenced. It should
however be noted that the drainage methods of new
developments can have significant impacts on the structural
integrity, water quality and the biodiversity of waterways and the
Trust is not a land drainage authority and therefore any proposed
discharges are not granted as-of right and where they are granted
they will usually be subject to completion of a commercial
agreement.

The Trust also wish to highlight the potential of the canal for
heating & cooling for district heating network or individual
schemes and reference to this potential for the canal to contribute
to low carbon technologies should be included.

Include files

YesQuestion 3 - Part 3: Employment Uses Guidance - Do you
consider that the guidance on designing employment
buildings and areas will meet the future needs of Dacorum?
* Yes
* No

Employment Design GuideIf no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the guidance on
designing employment buildings and areas.

It is acknowledged that many of the principles in the preceding
parts of the guide are relevant to the design and layout of
employment buildings.
It is very important that large shed type developments are not
built close to the back edge of the canal or towpath and present
a bland unrelenting aspect to the canal as the I will have a
negative impact on the character of the waterway and contributes
to the fear of crime if the towpath is not overlooked.. This is
particularly important where there is already similar development
directly opposite. Security fencing can also present an
unattractive façade and should de set back with landscaping
(native species hedgerows) planted through. Access to both side
of this landscaping should be possible within the application site
to ensure that it does not become a maintenance liability for the
Trust or impede navigation.
Employment uses should provide an access onto the towpath if
possible, to allow a sustainable travel method to work. A new
access will require the agreement of the Canal & River Trust.
Security lighting should not light the towpath or waterspace.

Include files

YesQuestion 4 - General Comments - Overall, do you have any
other comments regarding the Draft Strategic DesignGuide
SPD?
* Yes
* No

Self-build and custom build housing is high risk development
strategy for the setting of the canal corridor. There is high

If yes, please provide you comments along with any
supporting information you may have.

potential to negatively impact upon the canal as it creates an
inconsistent visual character between plots, mixed quality design,
construction and differing boundary treatments.

42

Page 381



Design codes can address this to some extent though further
assessment of the impact of self-build and custom housebuilding
on ‘sensitive locations’ such as adjacent to the waterway corridor
should be undertaken.
Any Design codes would need to include an assessment of the
visual impacts from the canal corridor and clearly set out details
of design principles to be applied across the whole of any sites
being put forward (not just any self-build/custom build areas)
boundary treatments, materials etc would also need to be
detailed to ensure a consistent approach and limit any adverse
visual impact.
The Canal & River Trust are happy to engage further with the
LPA on the development of a specific design section relating to
the canal network or the inclusion of a link to our own guidance.
Our current advice is provided on the Canal & River Trust on
our Website. here. The Trust are currently producing further
guidance on ‘Great Waterside Places’ and details of this will be
provided as soon as possible in order that reference to it can be
included within this document.
We welcome early involvement at masterplan stage with both
Council and prospective developers. Please do not hesitate to
contact me with any queries you may have.

Include files

DSDG27ID

1143779Person ID

Ms Julia MarshallFull Name

Organisation Details

Person ID

Full Name

Position

Company / Organisation

YesQuestion 1 - Part 1: Design Process - Do you consider that
the documents have identified the key characteristics of
Dacorum and its wider Hertfordshire context?
* Yes
* No

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the key
characteristics.

Include files

YesQuestion 2 - Part 2: Design Principles - Do you consider that
the detailed design principles (as set out under each of the
10 broad categories) will be effective in securing high quality
development?
* Yes
* No

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the draft detailed
design principles.

Include files

YesQuestion 3 - Part 3: Employment Uses Guidance - Do you
consider that the guidance on designing employment
buildings and areas will meet the future needs of Dacorum?
* Yes
* No

43

Page 382



If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the guidance on
designing employment buildings and areas.

Include files

NoQuestion 4 - General Comments - Overall, do you have any
other comments regarding the Draft Strategic DesignGuide
SPD?
* Yes
* No

If yes, please provide you comments along with any
supporting information you may have.

Include files

DSDG28ID

1249989Person ID

Mr Neil BurtonFull Name

Organisation Details

Person ID

Full Name

Position

Company / Organisation

NoQuestion 1 - Part 1: Design Process - Do you consider that
the documents have identified the key characteristics of
Dacorum and its wider Hertfordshire context?
* Yes
* No

This is a complex one as the documents cover a lot of options.
Hemel/Dacorum is a mix of beautiful old housing and awful

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the key
characteristics. council housing so you could argue that anything could be in

keeping. I believe to move forwards and to raise the standard of
housing, buildings should have architectural merit and space.
The trend is to pack as many houses in and for the developer
to maximise profit. There needs to be a balance of power where
the look and feel of the area is respected first. The design guide
needs to make it very clear that you need to look at neighbouring
housing (not streets away) to decide on design specifics. The
new builds should be an improvement to the area and provide
space as well as housing.

Include files

NoQuestion 2 - Part 2: Design Principles - Do you consider that
the detailed design principles (as set out under each of the
10 broad categories) will be effective in securing high quality
development?
* Yes
* No

I believe that developers will pick and choose the cheapest
design and the one that will allow the most houses to be built on

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the draft detailed
design principles. a plot of land. I am not against developments of new estates at

all, I just see that developers tend to build the same design and
then "add a bit of flint" to satisfy the criteria. There needs to be
a strong case for proper well thought out areas and this is
especially true when building apartments. We can see from the
apartments around Hemel that little effort has gone in to design.

Include files

YesQuestion 3 - Part 3: Employment Uses Guidance - Do you
consider that the guidance on designing employment
buildings and areas will meet the future needs of Dacorum?
* Yes
44

Page 383



* No

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the guidance on
designing employment buildings and areas.

Include files

YesQuestion 4 - General Comments - Overall, do you have any
other comments regarding the Draft Strategic DesignGuide
SPD?
* Yes
* No

As stated above, the design brief should be much more succinct
and favour the community rather than the developer. I would like

If yes, please provide you comments along with any
supporting information you may have.

to see fewer flat options also, Hemel is being overrun with
flats/apartments. As an example of design rules, I have a
developer next to me that does not have enough rear garden to
suit a development (has 5m instead of 11.5m) so his
"workaround" is to stick some space on top of carports and call
that a garden. If this type of thing is allowed (hopefully will not
be) then the whole design process is too flexible in favour of
developers.

Include files

DSDG29ID

1207259Person ID

Mr Graham BrightFull Name

ChairmanOrganisation Details
Grove Fields Resident Association

Person ID

Full Name

Position

Company / Organisation

YesQuestion 1 - Part 1: Design Process - Do you consider that
the documents have identified the key characteristics of
Dacorum and its wider Hertfordshire context?
* Yes
* No

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the key
characteristics.

Include files

NoQuestion 2 - Part 2: Design Principles - Do you consider that
the detailed design principles (as set out under each of the
10 broad categories) will be effective in securing high quality
development?
* Yes
* No

We have a lack of confidence that design principles will be
followed by landowners and developers. In addition we have a

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the draft detailed
design principles. lack of confidence that when this happens the planning authority

(Dacorum) will effectively enforce the design principles to ensure
the developers take remedial action. Case in point is that the
landowner near us has installed 2.5 metre metal fencing after
Dacorum and the Planning Inspectorate refused them permission,
enforcement have visited and are aware but nothing has
changed.

Include files

45

Page 384



YesQuestion 3 - Part 3: Employment Uses Guidance - Do you
consider that the guidance on designing employment
buildings and areas will meet the future needs of Dacorum?
* Yes
* No

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the guidance on
designing employment buildings and areas.

Include files

YesQuestion 4 - General Comments - Overall, do you have any
other comments regarding the Draft Strategic DesignGuide
SPD?
* Yes
* No

There is strong emphasis on improving health and well-being,
on promoting walking and cycling, on establishing a sense of

If yes, please provide you comments along with any
supporting information you may have.

place and on promoting biodiversity. All these factors mean we
should not be developing the green belt fields on Grove Road
but instead using them as a Community Park and utilising our
natural assets.
The local plant species" (Part 3 E04 Biodiversity ) are there in
the Grove Fields and should be allowed to thrive
Reference Possible new development
Overall I got the impression that the way forward for new
developments is to create self-sufficient developments like mini
settlements. There was a lot of emphasis on building a sense of
community, on dwellings that served different purposes, on
frontages which were accessible and gave an overview of
communal green areas and neighbours, of additional shops and
employment. There was a comment that we should not be
building "dormitory towns". Two issues struck me.
1. The "public" buildings that used to exist at the New Mill end
of Grove Road have all closed: the Pheasant pub, the
hairdressers, Ayres store and the NewMill Social Centre opposite
it. So, would new enterprises, if included in a development on
Grove Fields, thrive?
2. Tring is very cohesive as a community and well- liked by its
residents. If a new development became a sort of satellite
village, is that what the town wants? Surely we want a new
development to be absorbed into the whole town.
Your phrase "sympathetic to local residents" is an important
one. Any development needs to be sympathetic to all local
residents, not just those of us bordering Grove Fields. The main
sticking points are vehicular exits/entrances onto Grove Road
and Bulbourne Road and the destuction of a "biodiversity corridor
" i.e. the surrounding hedges.

Include files

DSDG30ID

1250013Person ID

Mrs Nikki BugdenFull Name

ClerkOrganisation Details
Nash Mills Parish Council

Person ID

Full Name

Position

Company / Organisation

YesQuestion 1 - Part 1: Design Process - Do you consider that
the documents have identified the key characteristics of
Dacorum and its wider Hertfordshire context?

46

Page 385



* Yes
* No

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the key
characteristics.

Include files

NoQuestion 2 - Part 2: Design Principles - Do you consider that
the detailed design principles (as set out under each of the
10 broad categories) will be effective in securing high quality
development?
* Yes
* No

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the draft detailed
design principles.

• Possibly, please see comments below.

Include files

NoQuestion 3 - Part 3: Employment Uses Guidance - Do you
consider that the guidance on designing employment
buildings and areas will meet the future needs of Dacorum?
* Yes
* No

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the guidance on
designing employment buildings and areas.

• Possibly, please see comments below.

Include files

YesQuestion 4 - General Comments - Overall, do you have any
other comments regarding the Draft Strategic DesignGuide
SPD?
* Yes
* No

NMPC welcomes and supports the proposed document and
would like to offer some supplementary comments Part 1 –
Design Guide

If yes, please provide you comments along with any
supporting information you may have.

Page 28 – Edges

• Landscape Edges offer the opportunity to enhance access
to the districts’ high-quality open spaces and green
infrastructure for new and existing residents in the area.
They can also provide biodiversity corridors or visual
landscape buffers.

• Transport Infrastructure edges are vital for the development
of sustainable places but can also bring noise and air
pollution.

The first bullet seems to be the answer to the second one (noise
and air pollution). It would be interesting to know if there is a
standard ‘edge’ that would be put in place between housing and
major roads (e.g. potential developments next to the M1 - Hemel
Garden Communities project). Is there already a minimum
amount of space /number of trees that must exist? For the
purposes of health and wellbeing, should this be increased for
future developments as a natural filter for co2 emissions?

Page 64 – Movement Framework
It is encouraging to see mentioned on this page “flexibility to
accommodate future expansion beyond the site and changes in
lifestyle and movement patterns” and “flexibility to accommodate
electric and automated vehicles and future technology”. It should
be recognised, however, that future changes in the use of

47

Page 386



vehicles (particularly autonomous) should not be a reason to
overly-minimise immediate parking requirements.
Supporting strategies (bottom of page 64) – it mentions a few
which should be developed but does not mention a Parking
strategy which would also be relevant here. There was a new
draft strategy last year. Is this now adopted?

Part 2 – Design Principles

2.1 Create Walkable Neighbourhoods with Identifiable Centres
Having walkable facilities (e.g. commercial / social spaced) is
very well intentioned. How can we make sure that these facilities
are not removed during various iterations of development plans
before building?

3.1 Provide Housing and Facilities for Different Ages
NMPCwholeheartedly supports the proposed integration of care
homes and nurseries/intergenerational living.

4 Create Safe, Overlooked Spaces
NMPC supports the concept of passive surveillance to keep
spaces safe.

5.10 Reduce Car Dominance/5.11 Integrate Car Parking
Whilst it is admirable to aim for a reduction on car dominance,
recent developments in the Nash Mills area are evidence that
this assumption often fails in a practical sense. Even though we
are in a ‘commuter belt’ the majority of our resident’s use cars
at weekends and evenings. This is in part, but not entirely, due
to the poor provision of train services and a lack of alternative
local transport, which has a severe impact on traffic in our parish.
Our proximity to the motorway network (M1/M25) also results in
car ownership to facilitate use of this infrastructure. A huge issue
with our most recent developments has been a severe lack in
parking provision which has resulted in pushing the problem onto
neighbouring streets. Under croft parking is a good option
providing the security of users and their vehicles is adequately
addressed.
5.10 Reduce Car Dominance
The design aim to prioritise PEOPLE first and private vehicle
users last seems incongruous as the vehicle users are still
people, hence should receive equal consideration. Past local
developments prove that lack of parking provision is not
prioritising the wellbeing of people.
5.11 Integrate Car Parking
“ensure that public realm isn’t dominated by cars parked on
footway” will only be possible if sufficient parking is included.
Where restrictions are put in place in one area, it simply shifts
the problem as we’ve seen in Nash Mills.

6.4 Maximise Space and Daylight
Whilst the document mentions a minimum size for balconies
there does not seem to be aminimum internal space requirement
noted.
There does not appear to be any specification to ensure that
garden space in houses is commensurate with the number of
inhabitants and there appears to be no consideration of this.

48

Page 387



7.1 Create Attractive Safe and Usable Walking and Cycling
Routes
NMPC supports the delivery of safe cycle routes, however there
is a wider implication and DBC must ensure that the network
across Dacorum is safe and usable and supports this initiative,
linking new developments to existing neighbourhoods as well
as the town centre and industrial estate.
As part of this process NMPCwould welcome consideration and
discussion relating to the provision of options for a safe means
for cyclists to traverse the busiest routes within Dacorum such
as the A414 and the ‘link road’. These are vital routes linking
from large residential areas to the main business centre at
Maylands and therefore provide a hazard to cyclists due to the
volume of traffic on these routes. Currently provision for safety
here is lacking which may deter those willing to use alternative
methods for travelling.
Adequate lighting must be installed to keep users safe,
particularly during winter months as currently concerns re
personal security hinder many people from walking within the
parish at night. In addition, while the focus on walking / cycling
is obviously well-intentioned, the natural topography of the area
will make this hard for some.

7.3 Give Prominence to Health
This is such a major issue in Dacorum with its current population
and therefore we would expect this topic to be prioritised and to
include significantly more detail on how DBC will ensure delivery
of this proposal and how our overstretched services will be
futureproofed for the anticipated population increase.
7.5 Incorporate Food Production
This initiative is brilliant and would provide much needed access
to ‘green space’, a desire for which has been
highlighted by the recent Covid-19 crisis.
7.6 Mitigate the Effects of Pollution the focus in this section is
about reducing car dependency and the use of green
infrastructure for screening. The potential to encourage an
increase in electric car use is not mentioned but would also be
relevant under this heading (although provision of charging
options is mentioned elsewhere in the document).

8.3 Drain Places Naturally
If this is the place to bring this up, please can we comment on
the unusual choice of a photograph of a child on a scooter on a
very narrow bridge over a drain - possibly a safety matter?
8.6 Conserve Energy and Reduce Carbon Emissions
NMPC welcomes the initiative of “discrete on-street electric car
charging points” to allow those without access to
charging in their own home to still own electric cars in the future.
8.7 Create Opportunities for Energy Production
NMPC welcomes the initiative to ensure that renewable energy
is used and importantly that this energy is harnessed by adequate
battery storage.

9.3 Anticipate changes in mobility
The approach for flexible design seems sensible for the
longer-term plan and not to ‘lock in’ current modes of transport,
such as private cars. However, it would be interesting to know
more about how this might work to avoid an initial lack of parking
for current modes of transport.

49

Page 388



Part 3 (Employment Guide)

Due to the current Covid 19 crisis it may be prudent for any
document relating to the working environment to consider some
of the implications of a pandemic situation. It could be that going
forward there is a wider shift to people working from home rather
than commuting so it may be a benefit to look at the long term
use of these sites - would it be easy and cost effective to convert
these buildings into residential buildings (as has already
happened throughout Dacorum), with the infrastructure and
provision requirements that entails, does this need to be a
consideration?

E.08 Smart Mobility
As mentioned above encouraging people to cycle to work will
rely heavily on the wider cycle network across Dacorum being
safe and accessible, simply adding the network to the new
development will not enable the wider network to be sufficiently
linked in a safe and secure way.

Wider Comments

These proposals seem to relate to large-scale developments
with little consideration of smaller scale developments- do DBC
envisage that the proposals will apply across ALL development,
regardless of size?

Across Dacorum there is a vast increase in population and this
proposal seems to lack any mention of services and adequate
provision in relation to school places, indeed, as mentioned
above there is only a cursory mention of healthcare provision
and this section appears to be particularly light on detail whereas
the document has taken time to designate a minimum space
requirement for a balcony.
This proposal is looking at future growth and there appears to
have been no consideration of the provision of anything other
than the minor mention of ‘healthcare’, the lack of consideration
relating to hospital services appears to fail to address the gravity
of considering major growth within such a large town and the
subsequent necessary provision of suitable, local services.
This matter should be considered as crucial to any future proofing
of a development plan (unless there is to be an additional
supplementary document to address this very important matter).

An additional note on parking (two local examples that we see
in / near Nash Mills)

• Apsley Lock (just outside Nash Mills) – a very attractive
development, initially built with grass verges along both
sides of every road. Within a short period, many grass
verges were ruined by parked cars and, eventually, ruined
verges were replaced with concrete to make space for
parked cars. There is still a huge parking issue in this
development and the number of cars forced to park on
verges makes the development look much less attractive
that originally intended.

50

Page 389



• Nash Mills Wharf – Built with the same parking standards
but the roads in the development are privately managed,
therefore people living there do not see the issue of cars
littered around the development. The surrounding roads
bear the brunt of insufficient parking on the development.

Whilst there is a need to avoid streets littered with cars, creating
the right parking offering in new developments (rather than not
providing it and hoping people will not own cars) would be more
acceptable. Lack of decent parking provision means that cars
are parked around developments in a very unattractive manner.
Cars parked in appropriate places (dedicated spaces, driveways,
etc. are not an eye sore. It only becomes so when people are
forced to use areas that should be pedestrian / green spaces.

Mixed use of developments
In new developments, the mix of housing, commercial facilities,
social, green spaces, etc. is well intentioned. However, we have
seen examples where commercial and social elements have
been removed in later iterations of plans so that developments
become purely housing. Will these new documents protect from
this in the future (both housing and employment developments)?
Will councils and Development Management Committee be able
to use these documents to oppose planning that do not meet
the criteria?

Include files

DSDG31ID

868491Person ID

Mr Graham HoadFull Name

Organisation Details

Person ID

Full Name

Position

Company / Organisation

YesQuestion 1 - Part 1: Design Process - Do you consider that
the documents have identified the key characteristics of
Dacorum and its wider Hertfordshire context?
* Yes
* No

Tring is blessed with a marvellous hinterland. The Guide is
welcomed as a tool to promote good quality design and to
safeguard the natural and built heritage.

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the key
characteristics.

Recent examples of poor outcomes are sadly evident. The
intrusion of banal executive homes at Hastoe near Tring comes
to mind. Hopefully the Guide will lead to a more sensitive and
contextual approach to developments in the future.

Include files

NoQuestion 2 - Part 2: Design Principles - Do you consider that
the detailed design principles (as set out under each of the
10 broad categories) will be effective in securing high quality
development?
* Yes
* No

I have said no because although the design principles are fine
and I agree with a lot of what is set out, I think many small

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the draft detailed
design principles. developers, small builders and many of the public will find it too

tenuous. Non Dacorum references are confusing. Although it is

51

Page 390



said that development proposals might follow the perscriptive
guidance, I think the perscriptive elements might be even more
explicit but allowing always for creative and imaginative
alternatives. For example I find AVDC's guides straight forward
and easily understood.
The emphasis on quality is to be commended. Unfortunately I
think that needs to be matched by a commitment by central
government. The failure to implement Passive House energy
saving standards, capping Local Government budgets and
powers to build, and the impending relaxation of Planning
Controls, are measures that have not taken the right direction.
Some of us are old enough to lament the abandonment of Parker
Morris standards.
Development needs to be balanced and there needs to be more
effective controls to ensure that there are adequate schools,
surgeries, shops and employment centres within the fabric of
housing expansion. (See also Q3 below).
Apart from the issue of quality of build and the public realm, the
need to address the effects of climate change, are now real. The
value of trees and shrubs in the public realm and gardens to
provide shade, cooling, acoustic barriers, wind speedmoderation
and dust filtration is well known. But in Tring we have lost trees
in pavements due to lack of maintenance, and shrubs in front
gardens due to the making way for concrete paving. (See below
for comments on parking).
The guide’s promotion of PV panels, EV charging points and
shading is welcomed. I believe passive cooling is now an issue,
and will play an important role not only in offices (See Q3 below)
but also housing if, in the future, proliferation of domestic cassette
A/C systems is to be avoided.
The promotion of small scale children’s play areas within
residential neighbourhoods is an attractive idea. However,
experience in Basildon 50 years ago found that such features
were prone to dog owner’s misuse, resident’s objection to
children’s noise and ultimate re-appropriation as car parking
spaces. Careful design and siting would be necessary to achieve
a successful arrangement.

Include files

NoQuestion 3 - Part 3: Employment Uses Guidance - Do you
consider that the guidance on designing employment
buildings and areas will meet the future needs of Dacorum?
* Yes
* No

I have said no because although the guidance is fine, the reality
is that at the moment the policy on employment seems outside

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the guidance on
designing employment buildings and areas. of Dacorums control. Using Tring as an example, there has over

the last forty years been a oucome totally at variance to the good
intentions enbodied in the Guidance. Most of the small scale
local sites of employement within walking distance in Tring have
been converted into the more lucrative form of flats.
Nicely designed office blocks and facilities are to be applauded
but if they are all in Maylands Avenue that is not much use to
the people of Tring or other towns on the outskirts of Hemel
Hempstead. Local sites of employment have the advantage of
reducing the need for transport, car journeys and parking as well
as aiding workers with young families by reducing travel time to
work.
Promoting energy efficiency in the construction of new office
buildings is important and here the use of thermal mass and
computer controlled ventilation could be added to the techniques
that can be applied. For reference see the Network Rail HQ at

52

Page 391



MK and the Council Offices at Bury St Edmunds. The benefit
can be the reduction in the need for, or avoidance of air
conditioning. That said, the preference should always be to find
a way to reutilise an existing structure and save on embodied
CO2 demand. Lobbying the Government to reverse the
application of VAT on renovation over new build is long overdue.

Include files

YesQuestion 4 - General Comments - Overall, do you have any
other comments regarding the Draft Strategic DesignGuide
SPD?
* Yes
* No

The improvement to rail links along the Euston line can
presumably only bemade with County Council funding or through

If yes, please provide you comments along with any
supporting information you may have.

contributions fromSection 106 agreements. From the perspective
of the Tring experience; the pedestrian and cycle link to the
station is poorly maintained and un-lit, the bus service stops
early at night and car parking is expensive and at times
over-subscribed (The current Covid situation an exception).
Car parking within the town is a problem. Cars seek the
alternative of street parking to avoid car park charges or simply
because the existing short term town centre car parks are full.
The situation is about to get far, far worse once the housing in
LA5 is complete. There appears to be no strategic solution. The
opening up of TTC Market space in Brook Street is a possibility
but otherwise further car parking will be intrusive and likely to
involve walking a short distance which seems to be unpopular.
Car parking within residential areas in Tring has now become
critical. Areas of Tring resemble one big car park. Cars park on
the pavements. The relaxation of car parking standards in
residential developments has not helped. There is an average
of 2.5 cars per household in most parts of Tring but far fewer off
road parking spaces. The Chapel Meadow development was an
example from the recent past where adequate provision for
residents and visitors was made and (with one frequent
exception) there is no need for on-pavement or in-road parking.
But in other cases management interventions exacerbate the
situation. An example is at Massey Court Brook Street Tring,
where although there is provision of spaces, visitors resort to
parking on the pavement through lack of permitted access to the
empty spaces.
A strategy for the resolution of the parking dilemma needs to be
implemented but will not be achieved without realistic standards
for off street parking. Imaginative solutions involving planting,
screening and surface treatments will be necessary to avoid the
proliferation of more bland concrete paving.

Include files

DSDG32ID

1250016Person ID

Leanda RichardsonFull Name

Vice chairOrganisation Details
Wendover Arm Trust

Person ID

Full Name

Position

Company / Organisation

YesQuestion 1 - Part 1: Design Process - Do you consider that
the documents have identified the key characteristics of
Dacorum and its wider Hertfordshire context?

53

Page 392



* Yes
* No

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the key
characteristics.

Include files

YesQuestion 2 - Part 2: Design Principles - Do you consider that
the detailed design principles (as set out under each of the
10 broad categories) will be effective in securing high quality
development?
* Yes
* No

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the draft detailed
design principles.

Include files

YesQuestion 3 - Part 3: Employment Uses Guidance - Do you
consider that the guidance on designing employment
buildings and areas will meet the future needs of Dacorum?
* Yes
* No

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the guidance on
designing employment buildings and areas.

Include files

YesQuestion 4 - General Comments - Overall, do you have any
other comments regarding the Draft Strategic DesignGuide
SPD?
* Yes
* No

Wendover Arm Trust (WAT) is a registered charity which has
been established to restore and ultimately re-water theWendover

If yes, please provide you comments along with any
supporting information you may have.

ArmCanal, part of which is located in Dacorum Borough Council.
We work closely with the Canal and River Trust who own the
canal and oversee the work we undertake.

Historically WAT has focused on the canal restoration itself, but
we are increasingly interested in promoting the wider benefits
to create a desirable destination for the local community and
visitors alike. It is in this context that we are supportive of the
draft strategic design guide and particularly welcome the
references to blue and green infrastructure, biodiversity, health
and well-being, and local heritage.

We do have some specific comments as follows:

1 We note the positive and specific reference to the Grand
Union Canal, it being highlighted as a historic highway and
leisure attraction. We would like to see similar reference
made to the Wendover and Aylesbury Canals, both of
which have stretches situated within Dacorum.

2 We strongly support government policy regarding active
travel and believe the canal infrastructure and its towpaths
offer a means of achieving this. We are aware of
Buckinghamshire Council’s interest in developing theGrand
Union Canal Triangle as a footpath/cycleway along the
Aylesbury, Grand Union, andWendover Canals. We would
welcome further opportunity to promote the development
of this route through Dacorum’s Strategic Design Guide.

54

Page 393



3 We note reference to the overall importance of historic
legacy and would suggest additional and specific reference
to canal heritage in this respect. We are of the view that
any future development alongside the canals must be
designed in a way which is in keeping with its surroundings
in order to enhance the waterside frontage.

4 We support ongoing and increasing emphasis on green
infrastructure and would like to see the guidance used as
a means of promoting the canals and their surroundings
as attractive green corridors. This will help incentivise
investment in health and well wellbeing, promote
socialisation and a greater sense of outdoor community.

5 We recognise the increasing need to enhance biodiversity.
We see the restoration of Wendover Canal as a great
opportunity to achieve this through our own work and via
developers needing to uphold their own responsibilities.
This is dependent on a co-ordinated approach to
biodiversity net gain and we think there is further scope for
the design guidance to promote such opportunities

Include files

DSDG33ID

1250015Person ID

Miss Velda WongFull Name

Organisation Details

Person ID

Full Name

Position

Company / Organisation

YesQuestion 1 - Part 1: Design Process - Do you consider that
the documents have identified the key characteristics of
Dacorum and its wider Hertfordshire context?
* Yes
* No

Part 1If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the key
characteristics.

Page 20 – Under ‘Other Legacies’, Historic Landfill should be
included. There are 70 Historic Landfill sites within DBC.
Alternatively, this could be included on Page 31 under
‘Observing: Land Use’
Reasons: The Environment Agency (EA) require Local Planning
Authorities to consult with them about all applications they receive
to develop land within 250 metres of landfill sites (including any
land that has been used as a landfill site within the past 30
years or is likely to be used as one in the near future). Refer to
https://data.gov.uk/dataset/17edf94f-6de3-4034-b66b-004ebd0dd010/historic-landfill-sites
(Minerals and Waste Policy Team Comments)

Include files

Question 2 - Part 2: Design Principles - Do you consider that
the detailed design principles (as set out under each of the
10 broad categories) will be effective in securing high quality
development?
* Yes
* No

Part 2If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the draft detailed
design principles.

Page 28, section 8.6 – This section should mention the
opportunistic extraction of minerals for use on site prior to
non-mineral development. Opportunistic extraction refers to

55

Page 394



cases where preparation of the site for built development may
result in the extraction of suitable material that could be
processed and used on site as part of the development.
Opportunistic use of minerals will reduce the need to transport
sand and gravel to the site and make sustainable use of these
valuable finite resources. Refer to Adopted Minerals Local Plan
Policy 5 (Minerals Policy 5: Mineral Sterilisation).
Page 29, section 8.8 – This section should refer to the
Sustainable Hertfordshire Strategy as Additional Guidance.
(Minerals and Waste Policy Team Comments)

Include files

Question 3 - Part 3: Employment Uses Guidance - Do you
consider that the guidance on designing employment
buildings and areas will meet the future needs of Dacorum?
* Yes
* No

Part 3If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the guidance on
designing employment buildings and areas.

General comment: The county council’s Waste Site Allocations
Development Plan document identifies a number of Employment
Land Areas of Search (ELAS). It is considered that ELAS that
are predominantly used for general industry (B2) and storage
and distribution (B8) are therefore compatible with waste
management uses. DBC should be mindful of the potential for
waste management facilities to come forward in Employment
Areas throughout the remainder of the life of the adopted Waste
Local Plan.
(Minerals and Waste Policy Team Comments)

Include files

Question 4 - General Comments - Overall, do you have any
other comments regarding the Draft Strategic DesignGuide
SPD?
* Yes
* No

If yes, please provide you comments along with any
supporting information you may have.

Include files

DSDG34ID

775876Person ID

Mr Henry WallisFull Name

Organisation Details

Person ID

Full Name

Position

Company / Organisation

NoQuestion 1 - Part 1: Design Process - Do you consider that
the documents have identified the key characteristics of
Dacorum and its wider Hertfordshire context?
* Yes
* No

Very generic - nothing specific to Dacorum.Wondered why DBC
needed to produce this doc as opposed to it being a generic
Govt one.

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the key
characteristics.

Include files

NoQuestion 2 - Part 2: Design Principles - Do you consider that
the detailed design principles (as set out under each of the

56

Page 395



10 broad categories) will be effective in securing high quality
development?
* Yes
* No

As a non-planner I found a lot of the language of the principles
very unclear/vague as to what exactly they would require
*specifically".

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the draft detailed
design principles.

Based on previous experience with SPDs, the issue is that
although set out, they are not then enforced by DBC. I am
thinking of several examples during LA3 compared to the master
plan. How do we know that this will not happen with these?
What will be done to ensure that they are enforced?
How do you ensure that these principles will be flexible with
changing standard? eg move from gas boilers to heat pumps
later this decade?

Include files

Question 3 - Part 3: Employment Uses Guidance - Do you
consider that the guidance on designing employment
buildings and areas will meet the future needs of Dacorum?
* Yes
* No

No specific views other than to query the impact of more people
working from home post Covid-19 as seems to be the recognised
trend.

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the guidance on
designing employment buildings and areas.

Include files

YesQuestion 4 - General Comments - Overall, do you have any
other comments regarding the Draft Strategic DesignGuide
SPD?
* Yes
* No

disappointed that such documents put out for public consultation
contain errors. eg on effective page 1 of doc 1 there is a red

If yes, please provide you comments along with any
supporting information you may have.

box entitled "insert map of Dacorum". There are also 2 x "insert
specific policies here".
Does make one wonder what else has been missed/omitted.

Include files

DSDG35ID

1250021Person ID

Full Name

Hallam Land Management LtdOrganisation Details

1250020Person ID

Mr Jim RawlingsFull Name

Planning AssistantPosition

Roebuck Land & PlanningCompany / Organisation

YesQuestion 1 - Part 1: Design Process - Do you consider that
the documents have identified the key characteristics of
Dacorum and its wider Hertfordshire context?
* Yes
* No

The broad categories are well considered and a comprehensive
structure on which to base Part 2 of the Strategic Design Guide.

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the key
characteristics. We do have concerns in respect to the level of prescription and

feel some degree of flexibility must be allowed. Comments in
respect to this are expressed in our response to Question 4.

Include files

57

Page 396



Question 2 - Part 2: Design Principles - Do you consider that
the detailed design principles (as set out under each of the
10 broad categories) will be effective in securing high quality
development?
* Yes
* No

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the draft detailed
design principles.

Include files

Question 3 - Part 3: Employment Uses Guidance - Do you
consider that the guidance on designing employment
buildings and areas will meet the future needs of Dacorum?
* Yes
* No

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the guidance on
designing employment buildings and areas.

Include files

YesQuestion 4 - General Comments - Overall, do you have any
other comments regarding the Draft Strategic DesignGuide
SPD?
* Yes
* No

Paragraph 6.4.3 makes reference to meeting the Nationally
Described Space (NDSS) and exceeding them for family-sized

If yes, please provide you comments along with any
supporting information you may have.

dwellings. Whilst the term ‘family sized’ dwellings is not defined,
we would assume the guidance is targeting large 3 bedroom, 4
and 5 bedroom dwellings. Typically, new houses within this
category would already meet the minimum GIA sizes in NDSS
and we can see no justification for seeking to exceed the
standard. Affordability of housing in Dacorum will not be helped
by making family houses larger, more expensive to build and
more expensive to purchase. Reference to family housing
exceeding the NDSS should be removed as it will run counter
productive to more strategic housing aims of the Council.
Paragraph 6.5.1 indicates that built-in storage provision should
comply with the areas set out in the NDSS. Our comments in
respect to Para 6.4.3 apply and increasing built-in storage will
necessitate an increase in dwelling floorspace which will make
homesmore expensive to purchase. Reference to NDSS should
be removed.
Paragraph 6.6.4 requires that flues and service risers should
not appear on principal façades. In some cases this will simply
not be possible- one example being mid-terrace homes. The
aim to reduce flues and service risers on key elevations is
supported but the wording needs to be more flexible to allow for
instances where this is not possible. We suggest the wording
be amended to state “flues and service risers should generally
be avoided on principal façades”.
Paragraph 8.1.3 places an onus on applicants to demonstrate
the route toward achieving zero-carbon homes in their proposals.
This guidance does not accord with the provisions of the
Deregulation Act 2015 which requires that local planning
authorities should not set any additional local technical standards
or requirements relating to construction or performance of new
dwellings.
Section 42 of the DA 2015 introduces various ‘optional
requirements’ into the Building Act 1984 (“BA 1984”). The BA
1984 empowers the Secretary of State to make building
regulations establishing the standards which must be met by
building work.

58

Page 397



The Ministerial Statement (HCWS488) details how the various
changes should be applied by local authorities. It confirms that
the optional requirements will apply to water and access, and a
new national space standard. The statement goes on to explain:
“ local planning authorities and qualifying bodies preparing
neighbourhood plans should not set in their emerging Local
Plans, neighbourhood plans, or supplementary planning
documents, any additional local technical standards or
requirements relating to the construction, internal layout or
performance of new dwellings.“
It is also clear that planning authorities should not set policy
requirements relating to the construction, internal layout or
performance of new dwellings.
With regard to energy efficiency requirements, these should not
exceed a Code level 4 equivalent. Furthermore, in terms of
implementation, it is not possible for local authorities in England
to impose conditions on planning permissions for dwellings which
exceed a Code level 4 equivalent.
The requirement for applicants to show the route to achieving
zero-carbon dwellings (including through carbon off-setting) runs
counter to the spirit of the legislation and paragraph 8.1.3 should
be deleted.
Section 8.7 relates to creating opportunities for on-site energy
production; the aim being to secure carbon free energy
production on site. Paragraph 8.7.1 requires the Installation of
solar panels and battery storage in homes and commercial
buildings. Paragraph 8.7.2 indicates that large developments
should incorporate sustainable district heating and power
networks (CHP).
As has been stated in relation to paragraph 8.1.3, these
requirements go beyond the requirements of primary Legislation
and should be deleted.
Section 10.5 relates to ensuring quality is secured at the
planning stage. This aim is not disputed. However, the drawing
scale showing the details sought is simply excessive.
Paragraph 10.5.1 states that applicants should submit 1:20 bay
studies (including part elevation and associated sections) of
typical elevations. Whilst we have been unable to establish what
a “bay study” is, the requirement for 1:20 drawings of architectural
details is excessive at the planning stage. Conventionally,
elevation drawings are at 1:100 scale and it would be more
appropriate to seek 1:100 for elevations. Specific design details
shown on facades could be adequately shown on 1:50 drawings.
Paragraph 10.5.2 requires applicants to submit 1:20 details of
key hard and soft landscape features. We question whether this
is a typographical error. A 1:200 drawing is sufficient to show
details of landscape works. A smaller scale than this would
result in a vast number of landscape drawings (particularly for
large sites) which would be hard to read together and a waste
of paper if printed. The required scale should be changed.

Include files

DSDG36ID

1059783Person ID

Mr Ryan EmmettFull Name

Organisation Details

Person ID

Full Name

Position

Company / Organisation

59

Page 398



YesQuestion 1 - Part 1: Design Process - Do you consider that
the documents have identified the key characteristics of
Dacorum and its wider Hertfordshire context?
* Yes
* No

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the key
characteristics.

Include files

NoQuestion 2 - Part 2: Design Principles - Do you consider that
the detailed design principles (as set out under each of the
10 broad categories) will be effective in securing high quality
development?
* Yes
* No

I think they will achieve an adequate level of design quality in
new development, provided that this new design guide is properly

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the draft detailed
design principles. adhered to in the planning process and developers give sufficient

effort to follow the design principles. Often
developers/housebuilders try to wriggle out of their obligations
once they have achieved planning permission (as we all know)
and this has to stop!

Include files

YesQuestion 3 - Part 3: Employment Uses Guidance - Do you
consider that the guidance on designing employment
buildings and areas will meet the future needs of Dacorum?
* Yes
* No

Dacorum BC should not be afraid to encourage higher density
development of exemplary design standards that encourage

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the guidance on
designing employment buildings and areas. walking and the public realm, particularly if it will reduce

pressures on its surrounding countryside and green spaces (that
does not have to mean encouraging high-rise development!)
People will be more receptive to new development if its of high
quality, is not disproportionate and integrates properly with the
existing fabric.

Include files

YesQuestion 4 - General Comments - Overall, do you have any
other comments regarding the Draft Strategic DesignGuide
SPD?
* Yes
* No

I think it's welcome that DBC have produced a design guide and
i would say that at the most basic level the following criteria

If yes, please provide you comments along with any
supporting information you may have.

should be given the highest weighting when assessing the design
quality of new (especially housing) developments:
-is the design based on a traditional street layout and one that
maximises walking (for everyday A to B trips)?
-does the development have sufficiently high quality aesthetic
appeal (ie ensure it is not built out of poor quality cheapo-looking
materials / encourage the use of brick and stone building
materials where possible)
-does the design integrate sufficiently with the existing and
surrounding urban environment?
-encourage active ground floor uses where possible (as part of
a street layout) and use average development/population density
as a parameter for promoting viable mixed use areas and public
spaces.

60

Page 399



Include files

DSDG37ID

369415Person ID

Mr Dacorum EnvironmentalForumFull Name

ChairOrganisation Details
Dacorum Environmental Forum Waste Group

Person ID

Full Name

Position

Company / Organisation

YesQuestion 1 - Part 1: Design Process - Do you consider that
the documents have identified the key characteristics of
Dacorum and its wider Hertfordshire context?
* Yes
* No

Under "Dacorum’s Design Aspirations" it is acknowledged that
"DBC has declared a Climate Emergency and is committed to

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the key
characteristics. fostering genuinely sustainable communities that support a zero

carbon future."
DEF wholeheartedly supports this commitment. However, see
our response to Part 2.

Include files

NoQuestion 2 - Part 2: Design Principles - Do you consider that
the detailed design principles (as set out under each of the
10 broad categories) will be effective in securing high quality
development?
* Yes
* No

The Design Principles state that "Designs should demonstrate:If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the draft detailed
design principles.

8.1.1 BREEAMStandards Design certificates of a minimum level
of ‘Very Good’ for buildings below1000m2 and specifying a
minimum BREEAM level of ‘Excellent’ for each non-residential
building of 1000m2 or more.
8.1.2 BRE’s Home Quality Mark Five Star for all residential
buildings.
8.1.3 Route toward achieving zero-carbon homes. This may be
achieved through certification such as Passivhaus or appropriate
carbon offsetting.
8.1.4 ‘WELL Building’ standards for all commercial buildings."
and there are proposals to "Conserve Energy and Reduce
Carbon Emissions"(8.6)
and to "Create Opportunities for Energy Production" (8.7)

These targets are not sufficiently ambitious, or easy to relate to
Carbon Reduction. BREEAM for example is a composite of
scores based on a number of factors, only one of which is energy
reduction. It was presented by BRE personnel and extensively
discussed at the Dacorum Environmental Forum meeting in
February 2016. A more specific and ambitious standard akin to
Germany's KfW-40-Standard is called for. From our experience
in trying to persuade DBC planners and /or developers to go
beyond the legal minimum in the case of the LA3 development

61

Page 400



ensuring this will be a challenge, but the Climate Emergency is
an even bigger challenge, and within the timescale of this plan
there should be opportunities to tighten up here using the
channels of communication and consultation between Dacorum
and central Government.

Include files

Question 3 - Part 3: Employment Uses Guidance - Do you
consider that the guidance on designing employment
buildings and areas will meet the future needs of Dacorum?
* Yes
* No

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the guidance on
designing employment buildings and areas.

Include files

YesQuestion 4 - General Comments - Overall, do you have any
other comments regarding the Draft Strategic DesignGuide
SPD?
* Yes
* No

DEF supports the proposals that emphasise sustainability, but
the guidelines in Documents 1 and 2 are insufficiently specified,

If yes, please provide you comments along with any
supporting information you may have.

and thus can easily be circumvented by developers. For example,
the proposals for using existing technology outlined in section 8
for combating the climate crisis say “should”, rather than “must”.
Para. 8.1.3 “Route towards achieving zero carbon…..” should
take full account of the fact that technology already exists to
achieve zero carbon, and should therefore be written as an
obligation rather than an aspiration. It is generally agreed that
future retro-fitting would be more expensive.
To be worth the paper it is written on, the force and applicability
of the current Design Guide needs to be more securely founded
than apparently the Council's Adopted Core Strategy was. DEF
raise this because of our experience arising from our outstanding
complaint about the way the Planning Application for LA3 was
approved November 2019. Our complaint included references
to Core Strategy Policies and pointed out that a number of these
policies were being flouted by the LA3Master Plan. The Council's
reply, for which we requested a review on March 25th this year,
stated that it was not the case that Council's policies should be
binding.

DEF remain very concerned about the loss of Green Belt over
a massive swathe of the lower Gade Valley which is of great
landscape value but which is under threat from the Garden
Communities proposals. The views in a North Easterly direction
over the Gade Valley are some of the best in Dacorum.
Urbanisation of this rural panorama would be a tragedy and a
great loss to Hemel Hempstead. The Borough should adhere to
its own assessment of the area in its 2017 Schedule of Site
Appraisals which was to “Exclude from further assessment and
retain as Green Belt.”

Include files

DSDG38ID

1250022Person ID

Mr Michael RidleyFull Name

Organisation Details

Person ID

62

Page 401



Full Name

Position

Company / Organisation

NoQuestion 1 - Part 1: Design Process - Do you consider that
the documents have identified the key characteristics of
Dacorum and its wider Hertfordshire context?
* Yes
* No

Please see my response in Question 4If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the key
characteristics.

Include files

NoQuestion 2 - Part 2: Design Principles - Do you consider that
the detailed design principles (as set out under each of the
10 broad categories) will be effective in securing high quality
development?
* Yes
* No

Please see my response in Question 4If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the draft detailed
design principles.

Include files

Question 3 - Part 3: Employment Uses Guidance - Do you
consider that the guidance on designing employment
buildings and areas will meet the future needs of Dacorum?
* Yes
* No

I am not qualified to comment on these issuesIf no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the guidance on
designing employment buildings and areas.

Include files

YesQuestion 4 - General Comments - Overall, do you have any
other comments regarding the Draft Strategic DesignGuide
SPD?
* Yes
* No

I have not looked at document 3 (employment), as this is outside
my area of expertise.

If yes, please provide you comments along with any
supporting information you may have.

• As a general comment, I feel concerned that DBC is
currently working towards a new Local Plan, a Spatial
Vision document for the Garden Community, and this
document. There is a danger of duplication of effort, or
worse, contradictory proposals being put forward.

• I am also concerned that with Government plans to radically
overhaul planning processes, these ideas will have to be
rethought when the new regime is announced.

The proposals (specifically those in document 2) include excellent
and foresighted concepts for the future, and if they are
implemented will lead to a stimulating, and lively community.
The exemplar illustrations from developments elsewhere are
inspiring, and engender a feeling of excitement looking to the
future, but without making the specifications more watertight, an
opportunity for Hemel Hempstead to become a leader in urban
design and a model for other local authorities to follow in
combating climate change will be lost. Moreover, the proposals
are based on “comply or justify” principles, but the guidelines in
documents 1 and 2 are insufficiently specified to enable
non-compliance by developers to be demonstrated, thus being
easily circumvented. In particular, the excellent proposals using
existing technology outlined in section 8 for combating the climate

63

Page 402



crisis are specified as “should”, rather than “must”. Clearly, a
developer or architect should be allowed to utilise their own
judgement in how to achieve virtually zero carbon status, but
they must demonstrate that the lowest possible carbon
consumption will be achieved, using existing technology, of which
those illustrated in section 8 are exemplars. 8.1.3 “Route towards
achieving zero carbon…..” ignores the fact that technology
already exists to achieve zero carbon, so this must be written
as an obligation rather than an aspiration. Clearly, new
technology will emerge, but this will not necessarily be cheaper
than currently available, and in any case retro-fitting in the future
is the most expensive option.
I am also concerned about the loss of iconic outstanding areas
of rural infrastructure which appear to under threat by the Garden
Community plans, even if these are not technically within the
Chilterns AONB. The views in a North Easterly direction over
the Gade Valley constitute some of the gems of Hemel
Hempstead. The ideas concerning the garden community are
extremely positive, but the loss of this rural panorama would
be a tragedy and a great loss to the town. The Borough’s own
assessment in 2017 concluded “Exclude from further assessment
and retain as Green Belt.”, and although this assessment was
in a draft document, the recommendation should be followed.

Include files

DSDG39ID

1250019Person ID

Cllr Nick HollinghurstFull Name

Organisation Details

Person ID

Full Name

Position

Company / Organisation

NoQuestion 1 - Part 1: Design Process - Do you consider that
the documents have identified the key characteristics of
Dacorum and its wider Hertfordshire context?
* Yes
* No

It is a thorough and impressive document and I note that it is
written on the basis that "DBC has declared a Climate Emergency

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the key
characteristics. and is committed to fostering genuinely sustainable communities

that support a zero-carbon future." This I agree with but feel this
should have been more explicitly stated at appropriate points in
Parts 2 and 3.
The following sentence is "Sustainability needs to come in the
form of technology" this is obviously true, but rather more
important is the need for this to be firmly underpinned by changes
in social, institutional and political attitudes that lead to
fundamental changes both in perceptions of the global situation
and in everybody's behaviour.
Furthermore it refers to national-level planning policies and
guidance without describing in any way what thosemight be and
in particular not outlining the statistical and evidential basis of
the quantities of housing with which we might be expected to
have to deal.

Include files

NoQuestion 2 - Part 2: Design Principles - Do you consider that
the detailed design principles (as set out under each of the
10 broad categories) will be effective in securing high quality
development?

64

Page 403



* Yes
* No

In many ways an inspiring document but already looking out of
date in some areas. In particular I liked 2.3 Land Use 3.3 All

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the draft detailed
design principles. places accessible to everyone 3.4 Integrate play 4.2 Socially

connected 4.5 naturally connected (especially 4.5.1)
4.7 Sustainably Connected - could be expanded by reference
to cycle parking and e-bike charging at appropriate points along
main bus routes (for multi-mode journeys e.g. cycle to get bus
to station) and also by reference to taxi park/pick up points with
EV top up facilities - but good to see 4.7.6 envisages pod access
(if that ever happens).
5.10 Reduce car dominance needs amplifying. Speed limits of
20 mph are needed for all residential areas and past schools.
Estates need to be built with increased power supplies. Public
charging points for cars and e-bikes need to be provided in at
least 50% of public car parks and enough electrical capacity
for homes to be able to instal home chargers for cars and e-bikes.
5.10.2 should take into account modern traffic calming measures
like low profile speed tables across most of the road (apart from
cycle channels at edges). Tring example - the speed cushions
in Grove Road (30 mph max) do work but have given rise over
the years to many complaints, but the new speed tables in the
Christchurch Road (20 mph max) have been well accepted with
(after a year) no complaints at all and are also effective as
reminders.
5.11 "Car Parking Integration" is generally good esp. 5.11.3
"Shared space and Home Zones" however I feel parking on
footways must be stopped altogether. There needs, however to
be a recognition that tradesmen need space to park their vans
and also many employers allow and expect their employees to
take a van home so that they can set off from home early to get
to a distant job e.g. somewhere in London or the midlands. Post
covid- with more people working from home this is likely to be
an increasing trend as more people will be based at home for
part of the week.
The glazing referred to in 6.4.4 well need to be a type of glass
which can minimise solar heating in one direction and inhibit loss
of heat in the other ("reverse greenhouse effect")
6.5 "Storage" needs to ensure garages are wide enough for
people to be able to comfortably get in and out of cars in the
garage - or the garage WILL end up being a store shed as per
usual!
6.7 "Utilities" 6.6.3 (sic) meters are moving to become "smart"
and capable of being read remotely. Omitted however is the
consideration with a trend to homeworking all new dwellings
need to have high/speed fibre optic cable broadband built in.
7.1 ""Attractive Safe & Usable Walking & Cycle Routes" An
excellent design aim but in 7.2 Cycle Parking low power 13 amp
e-bike shargers should be mentioned in each of 7.2.1, 7.2.2 and
especially 7.2.3
7.5 "Food Production". Sorry, whoever wrote that has never tried
to grow vegetables. It's REALLY difficult and the season is short.
Plus you need lots of space. Not practical.
7.6 "Effects of Pollution". We must electrify transport fast. We
need By Laws across urban areas of Dacorum to ensure the
growing number of home deliveries are made in electric vans,
all taxis EVs or petrol PHEVs and all buses are Diesel Mild
Hybrids. For surviving internal combustion vehicles the non-idling
regulations must be strictly enforced.
8.6 "Save Energy, Reduce CO2" 8.6.3 Sorry, this in NOT the
thing to do. You can only get the slow charging from a street
light, it's unreliable and you could have the circuit feeding multiple
lights all going out at the same time. Street lights are not metered
and power use is estimated - HCC would end up supplying a
few people free electricity with the added cost of frequent

65

Page 404



blackouts. Far better to facilitate home charging supplemented
by fast chargers in car parks.
8.7.1 Excellent.
9.3 "Anticipate" Maybe pods in the future. e.g. Tring Town Centre
to/from Station might make a good pod loop route in 2035 when
we cease making internal combustion engine vehicles
10.3.1 but NOT unrecyclable uPVC please!

Include files

NoQuestion 3 - Part 3: Employment Uses Guidance - Do you
consider that the guidance on designing employment
buildings and areas will meet the future needs of Dacorum?
* Yes
* No

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the guidance on
designing employment buildings and areas.

Include files

Question 4 - General Comments - Overall, do you have any
other comments regarding the Draft Strategic DesignGuide
SPD?
* Yes
* No

No recognition that not only is it urgent for us to convert all
transport (though perhaps not HGVs) to electric propulsion, but

If yes, please provide you comments along with any
supporting information you may have.

the number of cars will have to be reduced from the current 30
million to 20 - 25 million across UK (with emphasis on urban
locations), which implies an increase in public transport of all
types.
We need to consider restoring a Park & Ride scheme with
chargers in the park and a route that serves station and
Maylands.

Include files

DSDG41ID

1158356Person ID

Colin BlundelFull Name

Planning OfficerOrganisation Details
Chiltern Society

Person ID

Full Name

Position

Company / Organisation

Question 1 - Part 1: Design Process - Do you consider that
the documents have identified the key characteristics of
Dacorum and its wider Hertfordshire context?
* Yes
* No

Topography and Geology – This section is welcomed, and is
essential in assessing impacts on the landscape of the Chilterns.
Water – it is essential that the Chilterns Chalk Streams and their
important ecology are recognised within the guidance.
Green Infrastructure and Landscape – This section is welcomed,
but should recognise that parts of Dacorum are located within

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the key
characteristics.

the Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) and
is, therefore, of national importance for the quality of its
landscape. Priorities for the AONB are set out in the Chilterns
AONB Management Plan.
https://www.chilternsaonb.org/conservation-board/management-plan.html

66

Page 405



Ecology and Biodiversity – This needs to recognise the ecological
importance of chalk streams and the opportunities for habitats
enhancement on a landscape scale through Nature Recovery
Networks.
Connectivity – the Society supports improvements in connectivity
to diversify modes of transport. In particular, the improvements
of public rights of way and cycle routes in the Chilterns would
help to reduce reliance on the car, whilst providing improved
recreational facilities.
Edges and Beyond – If development is to be proposed in the
AONB or Green Belt it is important that greater care is taken
with settlement edges to incorporate them as far as possible into
the surrounding landscape and landforms. Landscape and Visual
Impact Assessments should be used to assess potential impacts
and inform settlement design.
Land Use – The guide should be more definite that ancient
woodland will be protected from development.

Include files

Question 2 - Part 2: Design Principles - Do you consider that
the detailed design principles (as set out under each of the
10 broad categories) will be effective in securing high quality
development?
* Yes
* No

A Distinctive Place – The Society fully supports a focus on
maintaining and enhancing local distinctiveness. The type of

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the draft detailed
design principles. approach is particularly important within the AONB where

development needs to complement local landscape character
and the character of local rural settlements.
A Compact Place – In a borough such as Dacorum with a high
proportion of Green Belt and AONB it is essential that efficient
use is made of land in existing built up areas. Increasing density
in these areas should allow more scope for restricting
development in rural areas, and where that development is
essential, incorporating it effectively into the rural landscape. In
developing more compact places, it will also be necessary to
create effective designs to deal with the impacts of settlement
edges on the landscape.
A Connected Place – The Society would like to see more
emphasis placed on connecting habitats through green and blue
infrastructure. With the Government placing increasing emphasis
on biodiversity net gain and the establishment of nature recovery
networks, there is a major opportunity to establish new habitats
and landscape features as part of any significant developments.
These measures must be incorporated into Masterplans, with
all the necessary surveys undertaken prior to any planning
permission being issued. The Society is promoting a Manifesto
for Chilterns Wildlife to support the management of wildlife
habitats on a landscape scale.
https://chilternsociety.org.uk/chiltern-manifesto/
Facing the Climate Crisis – the Society strongly supports the
inclusion of this section to drive a move to more sustainable
designs. However, in view of the importance of the local chalk
streams, the section should include a section relating to reducing
abstraction of water from local watercourses, managing habitats
in sustainable drainage systems, and reducing the risk of
increased pollution to local watercourses.

Include files

Question 3 - Part 3: Employment Uses Guidance - Do you
consider that the guidance on designing employment
buildings and areas will meet the future needs of Dacorum?
* Yes
* No

67

Page 406



The Society has no further comments on this document.
However, the issues raised under Part 2 above should also apply

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the guidance on
designing employment buildings and areas. to employment uses. Particular issues to be addressed relate to

habitat and landscape improvements, the efficient use of water,
and the control of pollution.

Include files

YesQuestion 4 - General Comments - Overall, do you have any
other comments regarding the Draft Strategic DesignGuide
SPD?
* Yes
* No

The Society welcomes the principle of ‘comply or justify’ as it will
help to ensure that new developments focus on design from an

If yes, please provide you comments along with any
supporting information you may have.

early stage. However, it is essential that the Guide is used to
Masterplan sites to be put forward for inclusion in a future Local
Plan. Design must not be considered as an afterthought after
planning permission has been given.
Relating the Vision to the Frameworks – The development of
the visioning process has been well thought through. However,
there is a need to incorporate community consultation into the
process. Involving local people and organisations will be essential
at an early stage in the design process, particularly as the
proposed planning reforms will bring the final decision on whether
a development is acceptable in principle forward to the Local
Plan stage. The vision and design proposal must be part of the
decision process and not added in at a later stage.
Landscape Framework – This section should be expanded to
include consideration of views to and from the site. This is
essential for sites in, and in the setting of, the AONB to ensure
that visual impacts are considered in addition to landscape
character.
With the recent Government White Paper proposing substantial
changes to the planning system, it is currently unclear whether
the design process will be undertaken at the Local Plan
preparation stage or at the Reserved Matters stage. In our view,
good design needs to be a determining factor as to whether the
development of a site is acceptable in principle. We suggest that
the Council considers how the contents of the Design Guide
could be applied to the Masterplanning process ahead of sites
being put forward for inclusion in an emerging Local Plan.
It is important to remember that landscape and ecological survey
work needs to be undertaken early in the design stage and before
a decision is made as to whether a development is acceptable
in principle.
Chilterns AONB Design Guide
We would like to see the Design Guide cross-referenced with
the Chilterns AONB Design Guide, which is now published, and
should be referenced in an AONB policy in the emerging
Dacorum Local Plan.
We hope that you can take these comments into account in
developing the final version of the Design Guide.

Include files

DSDG42ID

1250760Person ID

Mr Laurence ChalkFull Name

Catchment OfficerOrganisation Details

Person ID

Full Name

68

Page 407



Position

Company / Organisation

Question 1 - Part 1: Design Process - Do you consider that
the documents have identified the key characteristics of
Dacorum and its wider Hertfordshire context?
* Yes
* No

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the key
characteristics.

Include files

Question 2 - Part 2: Design Principles - Do you consider that
the detailed design principles (as set out under each of the
10 broad categories) will be effective in securing high quality
development?
* Yes
* No

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the draft detailed
design principles.

Include files

Question 3 - Part 3: Employment Uses Guidance - Do you
consider that the guidance on designing employment
buildings and areas will meet the future needs of Dacorum?
* Yes
* No

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the guidance on
designing employment buildings and areas.

Include files

YesQuestion 4 - General Comments - Overall, do you have any
other comments regarding the Draft Strategic DesignGuide
SPD?
* Yes
* No

1General: The construction works and operation of any proposed
development site should be done in accordance with the relevant

If yes, please provide you comments along with any
supporting information you may have.

British Standards and Best Management Practices, thereby
significantly reducing the groundwater pollution risk.
2 Ground investigation: Any works involving excavations below
the chalk groundwater table (for example, piling or the
implementation of a geothermal open/closed loop system) should
be avoided. If these are necessary, ground investigations should
first be carried out to identify appropriate techniques and to avoid
displacing any shallow contamination to a greater depth, which
could impact the aquifer.
3 Turbidity: Excavations are also likely to generate turbidity in
the aquifer, which could travel to the public water abstraction
point and cause disruption to the service. Mitigation measures
should be implemented and notification to Affinity Water at least
15 days prior from developers in advance of any such works, in
order to intensify our monitoring and plan potential interruption
of the service.
4 Contaminated land: Construction works may exacerbate any
known or previously unidentified pollution. If any pollution is found
at the site then works should cease and appropriate monitoring
and remediation methods will need to be undertaken to avoid
impacting the aquifer.
5 Infiltration: In certain scenarios surface water should not be
disposed of via direct infiltration into the ground via a soakaway.

69

Page 408



This could be due to the potential presence of contaminated land
and the risk for contaminants to remobilise, and the likelihood
of surface water to carry on oil and hydrocarbons and cause
groundwater pollution.
6 Drainage: In certain scenarios surface water is likely to carry
on oil and hydrocarbons. It is therefore recommended that onsite
drainage systems should incorporate an oil/water interceptor
which acts to prevent petrol/oil being discharged into the surface
and groundwater network.
7 Bunding: If any tanks, generators and filling areas are to be
installed as part of the development, they will need to have
secondary containment which can hold 110% of the volume the
tank or generator is designed to contain. This is to prevent
contaminants being discharged into the surface and groundwater
network in the event of a spill.
8 Substance Storage: The installation of a leak detection system
should be considered, and a procedure should be adopted that
includes directly notifying Affinity Water immediately if any
leakage is suspected. The Environment Agency should also be
notified. This so we are able to assess the impact on public water
supply and implement protection measures if necessary.
9 Water Supply: In this location Affinity Water will supply drinking
water to the developments. Applications for new or upgraded
connections should be done through the Developer Services
Team by going through their My Developments Portal
(https://affinitywater.custhelp.com/) or
aw_developerservices@custhelp.com. The Team also handle
C3 and C4 requests to cost water mains diversions should there
be any existing public water services already located on site.
10 Infrastructure (pipes etc): To check whether there are any
existing public water mains running through or located near to
proposed sites that may need removing, diverting or protecting,
a developer will need to get in contact with the Mapping Team
by emailing maps@affinitywater.co.uk. Upon request, they will
issue maps of water mains which should also help identify the
nearest water main for connection. For further information please
see their Mapping Team webpage
https://www.affinitywater.co.uk/my-water/mapping. Please note
that map charges may apply if requesting information on a site
you do not own.
11 Water Efficiency: Being within a water stressed area, we
would encourage developers to consider the wider water
environment by incorporating water efficient features such as
rainwater harvesting, rainwater storage tanks, water butts and
green roofs (as appropriate) within each dwelling/building.
For further information we will refer developers to CIRIA
Publication C532 "Control of water pollution from construction -
guidance for consultants and contractors".

Include files

DSDG43ID

1170593Person ID

W Lamb ltdFull Name

W Lamb LtdOrganisation Details

1250849Person ID

Alyson JonesFull Name

Position

Company / Organisation

70

Page 409



NoQuestion 1 - Part 1: Design Process - Do you consider that
the documents have identified the key characteristics of
Dacorum and its wider Hertfordshire context?
* Yes
* No

IntroductionIf no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the key
characteristics.

• 2.1 Part 1 of the Design Guide relates to the Design
Process. The Design Process is broken down in to 4
sections – Observing Place, Evaluating Place, Making a
Place: Frameworks and Making a Place: Spatial
Typologies. Overall, the breaking down of the process into
stages is helpful and does guide the reader through the
document. This breakdown into categories is not unlike
the National Design Guide.

• 2.2 Given that the document is of a strategic nature,
considerable focus is given on detailed matters that may
end up repeated in the detailed design guide in due course.
As this is a strategic level document it is felt that there
should be greater flexibility and more succinct in nature,
in order to allow for variation at the detailed stage.

• 2.3 It is noted that the introduction references the planned
level of growth, the way spend our time and the Climate
Emergency as being a driver for the guide. It will be
particularly important moving forward, that viability and the
uncertain economic conditions should also now be factored
in.

• 2.4 The process for using the guide is set out on page 8
and whilst it provides a comprehensive overview, it does
highlight the complexity and structure of the guide.

• 2.5 It is noted that the Design Guide is to apply to all
applications, however it should be
recognised within the document that different scales of
development will require different levels of output.

• 2.6 The typologies set out in the Context section are
generic and this should be recognised.

• 2.7 There is a risk of duplication throughout the report
making it more cumbersome and onerous than it needs to
be.

Observing Place: Checkist
• 2.8 Whilst the checklist is helpful and it is noted that the

Key Outputs are meant to be prescriptive, there should be
some reflection on the need and benefit for example for
surveys and sections in all instances. It is also not clear
on what basis the supplementary information is to be
provided and whether this is mandatory. Particularly given
the expense of creating 3D models etc, albeit that it will be
appropriate in larger scale schemes, but this is not clear.

Ingredients of Community
• 2.9 Under ‘The Ingredients of Community’, it states that

‘the Local Planning Authorities will particularly encourage
applications from teams who… incorporate all of the
placemaking and design principles (refer to the Design
Principles section) into their designs, addressing the
broader development challenges set out at the start of this
document’. We suggest an amendment to ‘…incorporate
all of the placemaking and design principles (refer to the
Design Principles section) in their designs where possible,
addressing the broader development challenges set out
at the start of this document’.

• 2.10 This amendment would allow for the viability of
proposals as it would allow schemes to balance physical
constraints while making best and most efficient use of the
land. Having to adhere to all placemaking and design
principles may not allow for viability which would have a
knock-on effect on deliverable housing.

71

Page 410



• 2.11 It should also be recognised that it is not always
possible to liaise with third parties in a timely manner and
nor will it be appropriate in all instances and this should
be reflected.

Relating the Vision to Frameworks
• 2.12 The section Relating the vision to the Frameworks

sets out a requirement to prepare frameworks for Land
Use, Landscape, Movement and Urban Design and
requires a series of strategies to be prepared under each
category. It is not clear what these frameworks or strategies
should comprise which makes it very ambiguous and could
result in considerable expenditure by the applicant. While
the process could be appropriate in relation to some of the
very large scale developments, it will not be applicable to
all scales of development and all strategies may not be
applicable to even a large development, let alone a small
scale site. However the guide is very explicit that this
process relates to all applications. There should be greater
clarity provided.

• 2.13 The nature of the framework and strategies are also
unclear and the process appears to be unlinked to the
requirements of the Design and Access Statement which
is the statutory requirement. Should these frameworks and
strategies be additional or supplementary to the DAS? How
much detail is required? Can they form illustrations with
annotations?

• 2.14 We also note that the White Paper: Planning for the
Future (2020) seeks to make the planning process faster
and more succinct, however the requirements of the
Strategic Design Guide while being aligned in terms of
outcome in making beautiful places, they may not be
aligned in terms of process. This should be recognised.

Making a Place: Frameworks Checklist
• 2.15 Whilst the checklist is helpful and it is noted that the

Key Outputs are meant to be prescriptive, there should be
some reflection on the need and benefit for all the outputs
and whether this could be refined.

Making a Place: Spatial Typologies Checklist
• 2.16 Whilst the checklist is helpful and it is noted that the

Key Outputs are prescriptive, there should be some
reflection on need and benefit for all the outputs and
whether this could be refined.

Overall
• 2.17 While the framework process set out is laudable and

the strategies that support them, for a strategic scale guide,
t it is very long and very detailed. Applicants of large scale
developments already follow such a process in creating
and formulating masterplans, however there is a risk that
the approach set out here will ‘put off’ applicants,
particularly those with smaller scale sites. It is not clear
how this process dovetails with the Design and Access
Statement and the Design Code and it is notable that the
Planning White Paper has an emphasis on Local Plans
being kept succinct in order to be effective.
2.18 The above has addressed in particular Part 1. It is
however noted that the key question asked is whether the
Documents reflect the key characteristics of Dacorum and
the wider Hertfordshire context. The nature of the document
is that it is generic while being prescriptive. The examples
provided are helpful and reflective of the parts of Dacorum
from which they are drawn, but each site is unique, even
within its own locale and this has to be reflected in overall
site design on a site by site basis. There is a risk that
designers and applicants will struggle to apply the process

72

Page 411



and key characteristics into their scheme, where it is simply
not appropriate. This should be recognised.
2.19 There is a significant emphasis on local character,
however the Government have made it clear in the White
Paper that community preferences are just as important
and this has not been fully reflected in the strategic guide.

Include files

NoQuestion 2 - Part 2: Design Principles - Do you consider that
the detailed design principles (as set out under each of the
10 broad categories) will be effective in securing high quality
development?
* Yes
* No

IntroductionIf no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the draft detailed
design principles.

• 3.1 Part 2 of the Design Guide sets out principles. Overall
the classification of design principles into categories is
helpful and does help to guide the reader through the
document. This breakdown into categories is not unlike
the National Design Guide, although we note that the
section on the relationship between the guide and NDG
has yet to be completed. This will be particularly important
in light of the White Paper: Planning for the Future and the
National Model Design Code due to be published in the
autumn. We would recommend delaying adoption of the
Strategic Design Guide until after the NMDC has been
published and digested and should then be fully reflected
in the strategic guide, to avoid becoming out of date and
irrelevant.

• 3.2 However, it is fundamentally important that Design
Guides provide clear expectations and guidance with no
ambiguity of language. It is also of utmost importance that
Design Guides are not so overly prescriptive that they
prevent development from coming forward.
3.3 A number of requirements within the Design Guide are
too prescriptive or ambiguous and risk the success of
applications being approved for appropriate developments.
These representations do not comment on each
requirement in turn but instead highlights those
requirements which appear too onerous or lacking in
flexibility. Whilst there is the chance to provide ‘robust and
evidence-based justification’ when the Design Guide is
deviated against the Guide, in numerous places, is
considered too rigid.

Section 2 - A compact Place
• 3.4 2.1.2 sets out that designs should demonstrate

‘walkable distances to amenities such as schools,
community facilities, parks and public transport’. Whilst
walking distances to such facilities are certainly a desired
feature of any development, it is not to say that an
application should be refused if not within walking distance
of such facilities. For example, a suitable site for
development with excellent quality of urban design and
architecture could be refused on the grounds that a school
is not within walking distance. This does not support the
NPPF’s overall goal to ‘boost significantly the number of
houses’.
3.5 2.1.3 requires designs to ‘create low traffic
neighbourhoods’. Whilst an acceptable overall principle
this is highly ambiguous. What does ‘low’ traffic mean?
Who has the final say on what ‘low’ levels of traffic are?

Section 3 - A place for all
• 3.6 3.1.1 – 3.1.3 requires accommodation for older people.

This in principle is supported and encouraged. However,

73

Page 412



it is noted that this Design Guide has been produced in
advance of the adoption of the Emerging Local Plan. It is
therefore important that the Local Plan includes policy
provision relating to homes for older persons to ensure the
Design Guide is rooted in policy.
3.7 Sections 3.3.3 and 3.3.4 use language such as ‘regular
street crossings’ and ‘frequent places to stop’. Such
language is ambiguous and it is unclear what is meant by
‘regular’ and ‘frequent’ and yet an application could be
refused if it is not deemed to meet with these requirements.

Section 4 - A connected Place
• 3.8 4.7.2 requires developments to be within 400mwalking

distance / 5 minute walk of bus stops from all homes. This
is not possible with every development and some sites
which are more than 400m / 5 minutes may still be
considered sustainable. Flexibility needs to be added in to
this requirement to prevent applications being refused
unnecessarily.

• 3.9 4.7.4 and 4.7.5 requires the extension of existing
walking and cycling routes to connect with networks outside
of the site. This may not be possible to provide outside of
land controlled by the Applicant or highway authority. This
should be reworded to ensure that developments
encourage and support such connections where possible.

• 3.10 4.7.6 requires proposals to ‘future proof in anticipation
of changes in transport’. This is not an acceptable or
appropriate requirement to make. For example, should
proposals be future proofing against transport changes
that are in the immediate pipeline, or should they be future
proofing against transport changes which have not been
publically announced. How far will an application have to
go in terms of demonstrating ‘future-proofing’ for it to be
considered acceptable?

Section 5 - Great Streets and Public Spaces
• 3.11 This section is overly prescriptive and does not allow

for sufficient flexibility with regards to design. It also fails
to account for site constraints. The Design Guide should
be a helpful tool when designing a scheme, it should not
prescribe what can and cannot feature.

• 3.12 5.1.2 seeks to prevent the use of any cul-de-sacs. In
many instances, the use of cul-de-sacs may be an
appropriate response to the local character or may be a
good response to site constraints. To set out clearly what
a design cannot do takes away the creative side of an
architect/urban designers job.

• 3.13 5.11.1 sets out that developments should integrate
parking into the streetscene with ‘minimal’ visual impact.
However 5.11.2 goes onto to start that on-street parking
would be encouraged. As such the use of on-street parking
is likely to impact the visual streetscene.

Section 6 - Great Homes
• 3.14 6.1 requires housing to be fit for 21st century and

beyond. 6.1.2 states that internal layout should reflect
contemporary living preferences with integrated
kitchen/family rooms. This is one type of preference, other
future residents may demonstrate a desire for separate
rooms. It is not the role of a Design Guide to set ‘living
preferences’. Instead, local developers and householders
will have a large extent of local knowledge on living
preferences and should be free to provide homes in
accordance with their evidence and the market demand.
To this end, the Design Guide should provide flexibility.

• 3.15 6.1.3 requires homes to have electric car charging
points. Such a requirement comes at considerable financial
cost to developers and should be rooted in planning policy.

74

Page 413



Such a blanket requirement may restrict some
developments coming forwards. Unless such a requirement
is included in policy it should not be specified in the Design
Guide.

• 3.16 6.4.3 calls for family-sized dwellings to exceed sizes
set out in the national minimum space standards. The
national space standards set out national space standards
which are considered acceptable. It should not the role of
a Design Guide to seek standards which exceed national
guidance.

Section 7 - Active and Healthy
• 3.17 7.1.2 requires developments to provide off-road cycle

routes between homes and key destinations. This may not
be possible to provide outside of land controlled by the
Applicant or highway authority. This should be reworded
to ensure that developments encourage and support
off-road cycle routes between destinations where possible.

• 3.18 7.1.3 requires developments to provide physically
segregated cycle lanes on primary streets. This may not
be suitable for every site due to perhaps physical
constraints which may make it impossible to provide
adjacent to primary streets. In such circumstances, a
separate alternative traffic free cycle route may be
appropriate. This may even allow alternative, more direct
routes for cyclists.

• 3.19 7.2.1 requires convenience bicycle storage at all
dwellings at the ground floor within apartment building
which is not often the most efficient use of space. As such,
it should be reworded to provide greater flexibility, with
convenient bicycle storage provided in safe and secure
storage areas across a range of locations, from shared
ground floor areas, through to smaller internal stores on
different levels, or appropriate storage within apartments
that can be utilised for general storage for non-cycle
owners.

• 3.20 7.5.1 states that designs should improve air quality.
It is too onerous to request that every site improves air
quality and this should be reworded so to encourage
improvements where possible.

• 3.21 7.5.2 requires designs to ‘incorporate opportunities
for food production or orchards’. It is not reasonable or
suitable for every site to cater for food production and
orchards (perhaps due to physical constraints). The
wording of this section requires amending to encourage
the exploration of opportunities for food production, rather
than requiring it.

Section 8 - Facing the Climate Crisis
• 3.22 It is important that the requirements within section 8.1

comply with policy (once the Emerging Local Plan is
adopted). This section seeks compliance with BREEAM
‘Very Good’ or ‘Excellent’ for non-residential buildings and
BRE’s Home Quality Mark Five Star for all residential
buildings. Unless this is clearly set out in policy it should
not be included in the Design Guide.

• 3.23 Flexibility should be incorporated within this section.
For example, it may not be possible to include electric car
charging points within lamp posts (8.6.3) and may not be
possible to provide on-site energy generation (8.6.1).

Conclusion
• 3.24 These representations have not provided opinion on

every single requirement but rather have highlighted
examples where the Design Guide is unclear, uses
unambiguous language or is too onerous and provides
little flexibility.

75

Page 414



• 3.25 It is fundamentally important to ensure that different
housebuilders and developers can maintain ownership of
design identity within developments. To achieve this the
Design Guide should offer guidance but should not seek
to stifle creativity. As set out in paragraph 126 of the NPPF,
a suitable degree of variety should be encouraged and
allowed.

• 3.26 As previously noted, the White Paper: Planning for
the Future (2020) seeks to make the planning process
faster and more succinct, however the requirements of the
Strategic Design Guide while being aligned in terms of
outcome in making beautiful places, they may not be
aligned in terms of process. This should be recognised.

Include files

Question 3 - Part 3: Employment Uses Guidance - Do you
consider that the guidance on designing employment
buildings and areas will meet the future needs of Dacorum?
* Yes
* No

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the guidance on
designing employment buildings and areas.

Include files

YesQuestion 4 - General Comments - Overall, do you have any
other comments regarding the Draft Strategic DesignGuide
SPD?
* Yes
* No

Introduction (Paragraphs 1.1 - 1.5)If yes, please provide you comments along with any
supporting information you may have. • 1.1 These representations have been prepared by Boyer

on behalf of W Lamb Ltd in response to the Strategic
Design Guide (SDG) consultation (August 2020).

• 1.2 Boyer have been appointed by W Lamb Ltd to act on
their behalf in respect of their land interests at Land at
Shendish, Hemel Hempstead. The site comprises 28
hectares and is predominantly a greenfield site that is in
part agricultural land and part recreational use which
formed part of the grounds of the adjacent ShendishManor.

• Role of Design Guide’s
1.3 The growing importance of Design Guide’s is clear to
see in the recent White Paper: Planning for the Future.
Within this White Paper is the introduction of the concept
of ‘planning for beautiful’ in which the role of Design Guides
is emphasised. In paragraph 3.4 the documents states that
“it is important for the planning system to set clear
expectations for the form of development which we expect
to see in different location”.

• 1.4 The Government’s commitment to Design Codes and
Design Guide’s is clear. As such the preparation of such
a detailed Design Guide by Dacorum Borough Council is
commended and encouraged.

• These Representations - 1.5 For ease and convenience,
these representations follow the questions raised within
the response form. The representations comment upon
questions 1, 2 and 4.

Question 4 Response (paragraphs 4.1 - 4.13)
• The Strategic Design Guide is separated into 3 parts. Part

1 refers to the Design Process, Part 2 Design Principles
and Part 3 Employment.

• 4.2 The NPPF section 12 relates to design. Paragraphs
124 – 126 express the importance of setting out clear
design vision and expectations and that design policies
should be based on local characteristics. Therefore, the

76

Page 415



production of a DesignGuide is encouraged andwelcomed.
It has already been identified that design and building
‘beautifully’ is a key proposal within the White Paper:
Planning for the Future.

Production of the Design Guide
• 4.3 Little information is provided on the process behind the

preparation of the Design Guide and which parties were
involved in its preparation.
4.4 The White Paper: Planning for the Future is clear that
Design Guides and Design Codes should have been
prepared with input from the local community. Furthermore,
theWhite Paper states “To underpin the importance of this,
we intend to make clear that designs and codes should
only be given weight in the planning process if they can
demonstrate that this input has been secured”. As such,
a brief section within the document setting out the process
and stakeholder engagement is encouraged.

Part 1 - Design Process
• 4.5 Part 1 sets out helpful indicators and factors that could

be taken into account when
considering a site. These range from historic patterns to
edges, transport links and
character. It is agreed that such consideration is helpful at
the outset of the design stage.

• 4.6 Would be helpful for the Architect/urban designer to
comment further on Part 1.

Part 2 Design Principles
• 4.7 Part 2 sets out 10 broad categories which applications

will be assessed against. Our responses to question 2 sets
out specific comments. However, there are a number of
overarching points to consider.

• 4.8 Paragraph 126 of the NPPF states:“…Their level of
detail and degree of prescription should be tailored to the
circumstances in each place, and should allow a suitable
degree of variety where this would be justified”.

• 4.9 The introduction to Part 2 sets out that applications will
judged against the Design Guide with an aim of ‘comply
or justify’. Where an application does not comply with
certain measures of the Guide, ‘robust and evidence-based
justification’ will be required to demonstrate why there is
a deviation. In principle, the need for justification to
demonstrate deviation from the Design Code is acceptable
and follows the approach set out in paragraph 126 of the
NPPF. However, it is important that there is flexibility built
into this approach. To provide ‘robust and evidence-based
justification’ requires substantial work and the Design Guide
needs to ensure that applicants have the right to freely
discuss design with Dacorum Borough Council
and provide the best possible development for their site,
even if there is slight deviation from the Design Guide.

• 4.10 The NPPF allows for a degree of variety and it is
important to ensure that the Design Code does allow for
this creative variety. There is a risk that the Design Code
will limit and stifle creativity, thereby eroding developers
housetypes and a developer/architects vision for the site.
4.11 The Design Code fails to offer guidance as to what
sized development the Design Guide caters to. For
example, the majority of the content of the Design Guide
may be relevant to a large scale development. However,
a smaller infill development cannot realistically be required
to meet every requirement in the guide. This is likely to
cause confusion for users of the Guide. There is an
additional risk that applications for smaller scale
developments have to provide extensive ‘robust and
evidence-based justification’ for not complying with aspects

77

Page 416



of the Design Code that the application and detail of
submission far exceeds what is proportionate.
4.12 A number of requirements set out in the Design Guide
would have substantial financial implications, yet the Design
Guide makes no reference to this as being a valid point of
justification.
4.13 Overall, the production of the Design Code is
applauded and the use of Design Guides is supported.
However, there must be a degree of flexibility within them
to allow for creativity without requiring extensive robust
justification.

Conclusion (Paragraphs 5.1 - 5.5)
• 5.1 These representations have been prepared by Boyer

on behalf of in response to the Strategic Design Guide
(SDG) consultation (August 2020).

• 5.2 Boyer have been appointed by W Lamb Ltd to act on
their behalf in respect of their land interests at Land at
Shendish, Hemel Hempstead. The site comprises 28
hectares and is predominantly a greenfield site that forms
part of the grounds of the adjacent Shendish Manor.

• 5.3 The preparation of the Design Guide is commended
and the growing importance of Design Guides and Design
Codes through the recent White Paper is acknowledged.

• 5.4 These representations have considered the content of
the Design Code and have suggested that the Design Code
needs to incorporate flexibility to ensure creativity is not
stifled. Suggestions have also been made to suggest that
the Guide needs to be clear which sized development it
relates to and examples have been given where the
language in the Design Guide is too ambiguous.

• 5.5 The NPPF in paragraph 126 seeks to ensure that a
degree of variety can be provided through design, which
is a sentiment fully endorsed through these representations.

• 5.6 On behalf of W Lamb Ltd we respectfully request that
these comments are taken into account.

Include files

DSDG44ID

1145351Person ID

Mrs Christine MableyFull Name

Organisation Details

Person ID

Full Name

Position

Company / Organisation

Question 1 - Part 1: Design Process - Do you consider that
the documents have identified the key characteristics of
Dacorum and its wider Hertfordshire context?
* Yes
* No

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the key
characteristics.

Include files

Question 2 - Part 2: Design Principles - Do you consider that
the detailed design principles (as set out under each of the
10 broad categories) will be effective in securing high quality
development?
* Yes
* No

78

Page 417



If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the draft detailed
design principles.

Include files

Question 3 - Part 3: Employment Uses Guidance - Do you
consider that the guidance on designing employment
buildings and areas will meet the future needs of Dacorum?
* Yes
* No

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the guidance on
designing employment buildings and areas.

Include files

YesQuestion 4 - General Comments - Overall, do you have any
other comments regarding the Draft Strategic DesignGuide
SPD?
* Yes
* No

Good afternoon
My user name and password have failed to work to log me in to
make my comments online via the portal so I am emailing you.

If yes, please provide you comments along with any
supporting information you may have.

My first impression is that some of the reports are woefully out
of date such that policy changes and economic impacts are not
incorporated in the documents presented. This means that
particularly housing and work assessments are not adequate to
inform decisions by planners. Assessment of green belt impact
and connectivity are also insufficient to meet the currently
changing demand for open green space for both mental and
physical health and there is lip service only to assessing impacts
of climate change and alternative modes of transport for
connectivity: cycle tracks and footpaths do not join up and there
is too much emphasis on vehicular transportation. Further there
is insufficient attention to the carrying capacity of rural lanes for
safe mixed use by pedestrians, cyclists and motorists.
There is frequent mention of the potential for local planning
policies to control appropriate development but there is no
evidence in Dacorum that this is the case. Housing need numbers
(which may of course need revising in light of Coronavirus/Covid
19 impact from 2020) have caused policies on green belt,
affordability ratios, highways safety and equality of access to
community infrastructure such as health and education, to be
set aside west of Hemel Hempstead.
I am disappointed that strategies to support community
development should be based on such poor descriptions of the
existing circumstances. Further there is a lack of ambition to
conserve equally across all kinds of land use. If you are rich you
are protected from change, if you are poor or a minority ethnic
group with special needs, you are not.

Include files

DSDG45ID

1250772Person ID

Mr Tim HagyardFull Name

Planning ManagerOrganisation Details
CPRE - The Hertfordshire Society

Person ID

Full Name

Position

79

Page 418



Company / Organisation

NoQuestion 1 - Part 1: Design Process - Do you consider that
the documents have identified the key characteristics of
Dacorum and its wider Hertfordshire context?
* Yes
* No

Page 5 refers to ‘sustainability ‘ but a definition is needed . This
says it will come in the form of technology…..as well as through

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the key
characteristics. planning of compact, well-integrated mixed use environments.’

A test that the proposed Hemel Garden Communities (Page 6)
fails.
Page 5 Refers to ‘including land formerly in the Green Belt’ when
in fact we are dealing with land ‘currently in the Green Belt’ .
This is both inaccurate and presumptuous.
Page 26 – The deficiencies in east-west connections of public
transport is an obvious omission to be addressed. Herts CC is
looking into the A414 as a strategic travel corridor for MRT or
light rail system. A strategic planning approach that CPRE
support in principle to realise greater brownfield opportunity.
Page 30 - Buncefield is one strategic brownfield development
opportunity to highlight that can benefit from an east west rapid
transit link to connect it
Page 39 – some of these references are questionable in their
relevance to Hertfordshire. Hoe ?Why not include ‘den’ and ‘row’
?
Pages 48 -83. The scenario of this whole section is that of Green
Belt land allocations not even submitted, let alone approved;
these allocations are not warranted by latest ONS Household
Projections which show a 9% lower figure for housing need in
2036 than was used in Dacorum Borough Council's 2017 "Issues
and Options" consultation (this equals 8268 fewer dwellings).
The approach does not sit well with a zero carbon objective and
the urgency for sustainable development. The objection is that
the strategic design guide should be focussing on the integration
of new development for the enhancement of existing urban areas,
rural settlements and villages, for the benefit of existing residents
and places. The specific example from Canterbury is not felt to
be ‘exemplary’ not least by its hostile and impenetrable motorway
barrier to the countryside at its edge.

Include files

NoQuestion 2 - Part 2: Design Principles - Do you consider that
the detailed design principles (as set out under each of the
10 broad categories) will be effective in securing high quality
development?
* Yes
* No

Housing.
The design guide currently lacks, and to be meaningful must
now include, robust standards that promote suitable space for

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the draft detailed
design principles.

flexible home working as well as better internal space standards,
cross ventilation to ensure dwellings are both cooler and can
reduce the spread of infection; private outside space including
balconies for all flats, healthy space standards.
Green spaces – sustainable drainage.
The guidelines for the amount of open green space required in
new developments are felt to be inadequate and need firming
up.
Sustainable Travel
• An explicit objective has to be low-car environments; the

space demands of car ownership frustrate space standards
for sustainable movement, green space as well as internal

80

Page 419



building spaces. Part 2, 2.1 does refer to compact, walkable
and low traffic neighbourhoods but a more explicit objective
is needed for low car ownership.

• The existing sustainable travel corridors, and those with
most potential, should be defined and then incoporated as
the basis for integrated sustainable land use and travel
planning. This would be appropriate to include in a strategic
design guide. The east-west A414 corridor is one with
potential highlighted by Herts CC and a mass rapid tranist
/ light rail scheme is being investigated as an option.

• Design standards for movement should be generous to
enhance amenity and the vital role of greenspace, but also
to provide resilience to future pandemics. Covid 19 has
highlighted the fundamental need for space and nature,
and future pandemic events remain highly probable.
Providing everyone with adequate space to move and live
should be part of greater resilience in physical planning.
Standard 2m wide or less footways for instance do not
allow this. Walking and cycling are amongst the safest
ways of travelling so this requires greater priority in road
design, space allocation and more extensive public rights
of way networks in existing urban areas. A strategic design
guide needs to do much more to address this.

Page 8 – Existing and future neighbourhoods need to be at
densities which support sustainability but without compromising
minimum standards of open space, internal space standards or
space for sustainable movement. The terms ‘walkable’ and ‘low
traffic’ are not defined. Sustainable
development is not car dependency – this should be made
explicit and some measure of it agreed.
Page 20. 6.2.2 The requirement for balconies should apply for
all apartments.
Page 23. Surely ‘all places’ not just ‘new’ places? We have to
recognise the need to address
deficiencies in existing unhealthy places.
Page 26 8.1.3 – what does ‘route towards’ mean exactly?
Page 26 8.2.2 – Delete ‘wherever possible’ as wemust not import
trees.
Page 27 – a ‘net gain’ approach to water run-off from all
development by SuDS is fully warranted given increased extreme
weather events / localised flooding and need to slow release of
water to local river systems
Page 28 8.4.2 – ‘maximum’ is meaningless in this context. There
seems to be denial about local water issues and the likelihood
that new development will have a serious impact on chalk
streams. A whole section devoted to SUDS, community-wide
rainwater harvesting and storage is needed ( Exeter University
is doing valuable work on this subject3 )
Page 31 – the potential for e-bikes, cargo bikes and e scooters
and providing for them has been overlooked.
Page 32 10.2 – Long term stewardship is critical but this section
needs strengthening and is simply too vague

Include files

NoQuestion 3 - Part 3: Employment Uses Guidance - Do you
consider that the guidance on designing employment
buildings and areas will meet the future needs of Dacorum?
* Yes
* No

Employment.
Mixed use rather than zoned employment areas should be central
to the strategic design strategy for their acknowledged wider

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the guidance on
designing employment buildings and areas.

81

Page 420



benefits, as encouraged inthe NPPF, and as a necessary
response to the changes brought on by Covid 19
Covid 19 will bring major long-term changes to patterns of
working, especially for office-based workers and to market
demand. The design guide is out of date and predetermines
mono uses and a separation of uses whereas, in response to
the pandemic, the climate crisis and with a focus on health and
well-being, a much more integrated mix of employment and
residential uses should be promoted. The Innovation Quarter
has yet to be assessed in a local plan but should be radically
rethought as a mixed-use environment to realise new housing
too. This brings diversity, interest and enables much lower car
parking regimes so is therefore a more efficient use of land.
Existing employment areas are also one of the main opportunity
areas to deliver mixed uses and provide accessible good quality
housing – far preferable to either the unplanned poorly designed
‘permitted development’ changes from office to residential or the
barren modern ‘office parks’ that workers dislike as there is
nowhere of interest to break out to.
Page 6
E.01 – For placemaking you need a wider range of uses including
residential to encourage viable hospitality and leisure uses.
E.01.3 If a community hub is to be provided surely residential
use is needed to support the
community activity?
Page 10
E.03.2 Harvesting rainwater should be integrated into water-using
functions within a site so the word ‘could’ here is incorrect.
E.03.3 the provisions have no meaning without quantification or
reference to environmental
standards.
E.04 lacks rigour and needs a complete reappraisal and re-write
.
Page 11 - The best practice examples should be ones where
the water collected is available to be reused. ..a demonstration
of the water cycle is needed.
Page 12 – described as ‘multi-functional’ but infact of course it
only provides office function. Could equally work as a highly
attractive mixed-use environment with focus on science.
Page 14 –E.05.5. We propose this be redrafted to simply ‘require
zero carbon buildings’
Page 20 - E.10.4 – Presumably this means to say ‘car bans’.
The use of technology can be applied to localised areas with
charging as a means, for instance, to limit vehicle use to ‘electric
only’.

Include files

YesQuestion 4 - General Comments - Overall, do you have any
other comments regarding the Draft Strategic DesignGuide
SPD?
* Yes
* No

GeneralIf yes, please provide you comments along with any
supporting information you may have. • This SPD lacks standards, details and is premature. It

presumes huge Green Belt land allocations in a Local Plan
which is yet to be submitted let alone adopted. CPREHerts
argues for a ‘paradigm shift’ to realise the opportunities of
brownfield land, the best focus for place-making, investing
in the quality of life of existing towns and places, as part a
sustainable travel-led strategy.

• While the SPD espouses quality places, and is attractively
presented, much of the material appears to be re-cycled
from other assignments. It would have been better for

82

Page 421



Dacorum to have engaged consultants with a better
understanding of the local environmental context, not least
the stress new development results in for the local water
environment.

CPRE Herts accordingly objects that this document:
1. Is premature in advance of a Local Plan presuming a land
allocation and a ‘growth’ agenda which sees unwarranted poorly
located development sprawling across established Green Belt
and countryside, in locations that cannot benefit from sustainable
transport corridors or infrastructure.
2. Is out of date given the seismic impacts and experience of the
Covid 19 pandemic (never mentioned) on work and living
patterns, use of technology, the need for local employment etc,
3. Fails to offer a genuinely sustainable strategy based on human
well-being, one that addresses the climate crisis. This would
value and presume to enhance the countryside as a first principle
and see land use planning fully integrated with sustainable travel
investment.
4. Includes separate residential and employment land design
guides, at odds with a simpler zonal approach, when it is
mixed-use design guides that are needed to promoted walkable
neighbourhoods. Strategically these would be highly relevant to
key brownfield sites - the boxlands (Footnote 1: Building Better
Building Beautiful Commission ‘Living With Beauty’ report Jan
2020 proposed to ‘banish boxlands’ – proposition 26.
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/861832/Living_with_beauty_BBBBC_report.pdf)
of space hungry and car dependent leisure, employment and
retail parks that need to be reimagined and replanned
5. While the design guide contains much analysis and ideas that
are good, this must more clearly apply across the board, to retrofit
existing towns and places, The SPD is too much a guide for
large poorly located edge of settlement green belt sites.
6. Lacks priority design objectives, the key principles of which
should be net-zero carbon, climate change mitigation, health
and wellbeing, active and low-car travel, biodiversity
enhancement, countryside protection and community needs.
Long term place-making
• Directing development investment to opportunities within

the existing urban footprint, fabric and building stock is the
best way of enhancing places and addressing social needs,
the need for green infrastructure (street trees) under the
long-term oversight of an active and accountable local
authority.

• Visions of new development (Footnote 2: Visions and
Reality by Transport for New Homes June 2020.
https://www.transportfornewhomes.org.uk/wpcontent/
uploads/2020/06/garden-village-visions.pdf) , especially
on greenfield sites. often do not match the built reality on
the ground, as developments are ‚value engineered‘ and
volume housebuilders draw out timescales and seek profit
maximisation. If investment flows to sprawling greenfield
‘utopias’ then accordingly nothing much happens for
existing places which are left behind. It is part of a debate
about ‘levelling up’ which exists at the local and regional
level as well as the national level.

Include files

DSDG46ID

1250778Person ID

Mr Anthony CollierFull Name

Organisation Details

83

Page 422



Person ID

Full Name

Position

Company / Organisation

NoQuestion 1 - Part 1: Design Process - Do you consider that
the documents have identified the key characteristics of
Dacorum and its wider Hertfordshire context?
* Yes
* No

Dacorum’s Design Aspirations - Page 5 Paragraph 3 – need to
add that there needs to be sustainable mix-use environments.

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the key
characteristics. Context: Green Infrastructure and Landscape Page 16.

Paragraph 1 – need to add that green infrastructure corridors
could be used to encourage the use of sustainable modes of
transport.
Context: Historical Legacy; Other Legacies Page 20. Ancient
tracks and historic way-markers – Possible expansion to highlight
Rights of way, country lanes and general historic street layouts
designed for pedestrians, and only adapted for motor vehicles
in the previous 100 years.
Context: Connectivity Page 26. Paragraph 1 – need to link
‘connectivity’ to key LTP4 policies including Policy 1, 7, 8, 9 and
10 and supporting strategies.
Observing: Connectivity Page 27.
• Need to be more explicit in relation to sustainable modes

of transport (need to spell things out more).
• Wider Context: Left Hand Box (Understand) Bullet Point 1

– needs to read: ‘Pedestrian and cycle networks
surrounding the site.’ Left Hand Box (Understand) Bullet
Point 3 – needs to read: ‘Public transport networks
(including bus and rail networks).’ Right Hand Box
(Examples of What to Observe) Bullet Point 1 – needs to
read: ‘Public Rights of Way, National Cycle Networks and
Public Transport Networks.’

• Site Context: Left Hand Box (Understand) Bullet Point 1 –
needs to read: ‘Links and connections to wider pedestrian,
cycle and public transport networks.’ Right Hand Box
(Examples of What to Observe) Bullet Point 1 – needs to
read: ‘Walking, cycling and public transport networks.’

• Outputs: Right Hand Box (Supplementary Information) line
two needs to read: ‘Walking and cycling times studies.’

Context: Edges and Beyond Page 28.
• Nearby Facilities - Need to add a paragraph after bullet

points that emphasize the need to consider the connectivity
of nearby facilities and amenities in order to reduce the
need to travel by car.

• Amenity Capacity - Paragraph 2 – need to highlight that
the development of new or enhanced amenities offers the
opportunity to improve provision for existing residents
reducing the need to travel.

• Edges - Paragraph 3 – should emphasize that Transport
Infrastructure edges are important in that they provide good
connectivity to the surrounding area.

Observing: Edges and Beyond Page 29.
• Need to be more explicit in relation to connectivity (need

to spell things out more).
• Wider Context - Left Hand Box (Understand) Bullet Point

4 – needs to read: ‘Amenity provision and capacity and
how connected they are to the surrounding area.’ Right
Hand Box (Examples of What to Observe) need to add
another bullet point that reads: ‘Walking and cycling routes.’

84

Page 423



• Wider Context - Consideration should also be given to the
current desires to mask the front of development or set
back from existing streets (typically with a vegetation strip
then small service type road) , and the balance of an active
frontage with passive surveillance over hard, impermeable
fronts that give noting back to those travelling along the
street. Active frontages assist many highway users and
reduce speeds in urban settings.

• Site Context - Left Hand Box (Understand) Bullet Point 5
– needs to read: ‘Effect and influence of edges on the site
providing good connectivity to the surrounding area.’ Right
Hand Box (Examples of What to Observe) Bullet Point 3
– needs to read: ‘Walking and cycling routes to provide
good connectivity.’

• Outputs - Left Hand Box (Key Outputs) need to add bullet
point that reads: ‘Connectivity to nearby facilities and
amenities.’

Context: Land Use Page 30.
• Education and Sports Facilities

Paragraph 1 – need to add that as school sites and sports
facilities often contribute to landscape edges, they can help
with reducing the need to travel by car. Possible inclusion
of utility or leisure transport in the natural environment,
rural and rights of way links offer excellent and attractive
journey options for walking and cycling, and should be
protected and enhanced, notably where existing
infrastructure causes severance.

Observing Place: Example Page 44.
• The street profile presented is neither to a standard we

would support, nor a design that would align with LTP4,
notably having in effect two ‘roads’ and a total of 5 lanes
of vehicles (parked or moving), no cycling provision and
sub standard footpaths that do not meet minimum
standards. This should be removed; we can provide
examples of good/adoptable profiles if required.

Connectivity and Places to Connect to Page 45
• Need to emphasize that it is important to demonstrate the

sustainability of the site and the need to reduce travel by
cars.

Illustrating Strengths, Opportunities and Structuring Elements
Pages 51 and 52. Need to emphasize the importance of site
connectivity to the surrounding area.
The Vision Page 58. Paragraph 2 – need to highlight that an
important consideration is how connected a site is to the
surrounding area. Paragraph 4 – need to highlight that an
important consideration is access by all modes of transport.
Relating the Vision to the Frameworks
Page 59. Movement Bottom Left Hand Box, Bullet Point 3 –
needs to read: ‘Consideration to walking, cycling and public
transport routes.’
Land Use Framework Page 60. Consider Bullet Point 6 – need
to highlight the importance of sustainable movement networks.
Landscape Framework Page 62. Consider Bullet Point 5 – need
to highlight that the promotion for active travel such as walking,
and cycling will contribute to
healthy lifestyles.
Movement Framework Page 64.
• Paragraph 1 – need to link ‘movement’ to key LTP4 policies

including Policy 1, 7, 8, 9 and 10 and supporting strategies.
• Paragraph 1 – need to highlight new places should be

connected, by sustainable modes of transport such as
walking and cycling, with existing settlements.

85

Page 424



• Inclusion of a hierarchy aligned to HCCs LTP (and manual
for streets) would be highly beneficial

• Statement that a street doesn’t necessarily include vehicle
access

• Designed for all users and uses including as a place.
• Inclusion of highways adjacent to sites in master planning

design process
• Para 5.7 Street furniture, signs, columns etc. and trees

should be placed in positions to ensure the footway width
is maintained at all time (there may be opportunity here to
also ensure utility service boxes are not placed on footpaths
etc.

Movement and Place Paragraph 1 need to emphasize how this
contributes to placemaking
Movement Paragraph 1: need to highlight that movement needs
to include pedestrian, cycle and public transport movements.
Movement Framework: Example Page 65.Additional Resources
- it is noted that roads in hertfordshire: design guide is currently
in the process of being reviewed and updated
Urban design framework page 66 paragraph 1 - need to
emphasize how this contributes to placemaking

Include files

NoQuestion 2 - Part 2: Design Principles - Do you consider that
the detailed design principles (as set out under each of the
10 broad categories) will be effective in securing high quality
development?
* Yes
* No

2.1 Create Walkable Neighborhoods with Identifiable Centers:
Page 8. 2.1.3 Need to highlight that creating low traffic
neighborhoods will encourage walking.

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the draft detailed
design principles.

2.5 Use a Hierarchy of Density and Scale: Page 9. 2.4.2 Need
to add here that by having facilities and amenities close to
residential areas, accessible transport corridors and existing
settlement the need to travel will be reduced and will encourage
the use of sustainable modes of transport.
3.1 Provide Housing and Facilities for Different Ages - Page 10.
3.1.1 Should emphasize here that accommodation suitable for
older people needs to be within walking distance of local centers
and facilities.
3.3 Ensure All Places are Accessible to Everyone Page 11.
Additional Guidance It is noted that ‘Roads in Hertfordshire:
Design Guide’ in currently in the process of being reviewed and
updated.
4.0 A Connected Place Page 12. Paragraph 1 – need to link
‘connected place’ to key LTP4 policies including Policy 1, 7, 8,
9 and 10 and supporting strategies.
4.1 Be Physically Connected - Page 12. 4.1.1 Need to add here
that the links need to be a combination of walking, cycling and
public transport links between new and existing places.
4.2 Be Socially Connected - Page 12. 4.2.2. Need to highlight
here that need to consider walking, cycling and public transport
links.
4.4 Be Economically Connected - Page 13. Paragraph 1 – need
to link changing work patterns, such as home working, to reduce
the need to travel.
4.5 Be Naturally Connected - Page 13. Paragraph 1 – need to
highlight that green corridors should be used where available to
encourage walking and cycling.

86

Page 425



4.7 Be Sustainably Connected - Page 14. Paragraph 1 – should
spell out the sustainable travel modes of walking, cycling and
public transport.
5.2 Create a Clear, Flexible Hierarchy of Streets - Page 15. 5.2.5
Need to add that there should be pedestrian and cycle priority.
Additional Guidance It is noted that ‘Roads in Hertfordshire:
Design Guide’ in currently in the process of being reviewed and
updated.
7.0 Active and Healthy - Page 23.Paragraph 1 – need to link
‘active and healthy’ to key LTP4 policies including Policy 1, 7,
8, 9 and 10 and supporting strategies.
7.1 Create Attractive Safe and Usable Walking and Cycling
Routes Page 23. The design principle relates to walking and
cycling but apart from the title there is no reference to walking
itself, and it all seems related to cycling only. Please provide
clarification.
7.2 Incorporate Cycle Parking Page 23. 7.2.2 Need to add that
showers at workplace buildings could also be provided to
encourage people to safely and easily cycle to work.
7.4 Enhance Access to Sport Page 24. 7.4.2 Need to add that
there should be easy, safe and convenient access by sustainable
modes of transport
7.6 Mitigate the Effects of Pollution Page 25. 7.5.1 Need to
highlight that encouraging the use of sustainable modes of
transport will reduce the dependency on the car and improve air
quality.

Include files

NoQuestion 3 - Part 3: Employment Uses Guidance - Do you
consider that the guidance on designing employment
buildings and areas will meet the future needs of Dacorum?
* Yes
* No

E.01 Placemaking Page 6.If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the guidance on
designing employment buildings and areas.

• E.01.1 Need to add that it is important to provide
sustainable connections between employment and
residential areas to contribute to ‘Placemaking’.

• E.02 Health and Well-being Page 6. E.02.2 Need to
emphasize that pedestrian, cycle and public transport
routes need to be provided to key destinations surrounding
the site.

•
• Employment Design Principles:
• A Multi-Functional, Natural Environment

Page 10. Paragraph 1 – need to highlight that green
infrastructure can be used where available to encourage
walking and cycling helping to tackle climate change.

• Small Industrial Units
Page 24. Need to relate this section to advice and
standards provided in ‘Roads in Hertfordshire: Design
Guide’.

• Large Industrial Units Page 25.Need to relate this section
to advice and standards provided in ‘Roads in
Hertfordshire: Design Guide’.

• Small Office Units Page 28. Need to relate this section to
advice and standards provided in ‘Roads in Hertfordshire:
Design Guide’.

• Large Office Units Page 29. Need to relate this section to
advice and standards provided in ‘Roads in Hertfordshire:
Design’.

Include files

87

Page 426



YesQuestion 4 - General Comments - Overall, do you have any
other comments regarding the Draft Strategic DesignGuide
SPD?
* Yes
* No

Hertfordshire Active Travel Projects Officer also provided a copy
of Non-Motorised Routes: A Design Guide Countryside and
Rights of Way Service August 2020

If yes, please provide you comments along with any
supporting information you may have.

Include files

DSDG47ID

591169Person ID

Mrs Nicola BullFull Name

Organisation Details

Person ID

Full Name

Position

Company / Organisation

YesQuestion 1 - Part 1: Design Process - Do you consider that
the documents have identified the key characteristics of
Dacorum and its wider Hertfordshire context?
* Yes
* No

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the key
characteristics.

Include files

NoQuestion 2 - Part 2: Design Principles - Do you consider that
the detailed design principles (as set out under each of the
10 broad categories) will be effective in securing high quality
development?
* Yes
* No

High-quality should mean that design is not only aesthetically
pleasing and fits into the
existing surroundings but also that buildings are constructed with
longevity and sustainability as key guiding principles. New

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the draft detailed
design principles.

buildings should all be orientated to maximise the use of solar
energy generation and solar water heating and/or should be able
to access power generated locally from ground-source or
air-source heat pumps. In this way they can contribute to both
increased use and generation of clean energy. While the
provision of car parking that is hidden rather than on-street is a
good thing, there should probably be greater recognition of the
fact that even people with a garage rarely use it nowadays to
house their vehicle/s. What can be done to encorage a return to
the use of garages for vehicle storage? Better sizing - and
provision of integral electric car charging points?

Include files

NoQuestion 3 - Part 3: Employment Uses Guidance - Do you
consider that the guidance on designing employment
buildings and areas will meet the future needs of Dacorum?
* Yes
* No

88

Page 427



There does not appear to be sufficient provision for electric car
charging points. If building
design is going to encourage a move away from personal car
use to either public transport or walking and cycling then the
plans need to be backed up by commitments from other
governemnt departments on the provision of safe cycling and
walking routes (dedicated lanes that are not dual purpose and

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the guidance on
designing employment buildings and areas.

are separated from road traffic) and better and more tailored
public transport powered by renewable energy.

Include files

YesQuestion 4 - General Comments - Overall, do you have any
other comments regarding the Draft Strategic DesignGuide
SPD?
* Yes
* No

Part 1, Page 26: 'Connectivity to railheads is desirable' to instead
read: 'The provision of
public transport links to railway stations, appropriately timetabled
and with capacity and
frequency reflecting changing needs through the day, is highly
desirable.'

If yes, please provide you comments along with any
supporting information you may have.

Include files

DSDG48ID

777660Person ID

Mr Jim GrimesFull Name

Organisation Details

Person ID

Full Name

Position

Company / Organisation

Question 1 - Part 1: Design Process - Do you consider that
the documents have identified the key characteristics of
Dacorum and its wider Hertfordshire context?
* Yes
* No

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the key
characteristics.

Include files

Question 2 - Part 2: Design Principles - Do you consider that
the detailed design principles (as set out under each of the
10 broad categories) will be effective in securing high quality
development?
* Yes
* No

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the draft detailed
design principles.

Include files

Question 3 - Part 3: Employment Uses Guidance - Do you
consider that the guidance on designing employment
buildings and areas will meet the future needs of Dacorum?
* Yes
* No

89

Page 428



If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the guidance on
designing employment buildings and areas.

Include files

YesQuestion 4 - General Comments - Overall, do you have any
other comments regarding the Draft Strategic DesignGuide
SPD?
* Yes
* No

I have lived happily in Roseheath, HP1 2LX, Hemel for 44 years
and hope to do so for some time to come. My wife and I both

If yes, please provide you comments along with any
supporting information you may have.

have Honours Degrees from the University of London, though
not in Strategic Planning. The information you have made
available is academic and totally beyond the comprehension or
grasp of the average Hemel citizen.
The issues regarding future planning, as far as we are concerned
, are to find a sustainable and happy medium between the need
to create more dwellings and the preservation of the quality of
life that we have hithertoo enjoyed.
I would describe myself, a total cynic regarding the efficacy of
public consultation. This is largely due to the unsatisfactory
developments where we live.To put it simply, the final plans for
housing and community development in Chaulden/Fields End/
Warners End district have, in no way, addressed the problem of
increased pressure on local services and road traffic.
If the planners wish to re-engage with the people of Dacorum
they must listen to "common sense" responses of the people
and respond accordingly. I therefore make a plea for a jargon
free, Joe Public Friendly, Idiot's Guide , on a few sheets of A4
paper to replace this welter of information you have sent us.
Town planners must ask themselves how they can regain the
confidence of the local people.

Include files

DSDG49ID

211496Person ID

Mr Peter LardiFull Name

Organisation Details

Person ID

Full Name

Position

Company / Organisation

Question 1 - Part 1: Design Process - Do you consider that
the documents have identified the key characteristics of
Dacorum and its wider Hertfordshire context?
* Yes
* No

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the key
characteristics.

Include files

Question 2 - Part 2: Design Principles - Do you consider that
the detailed design principles (as set out under each of the
10 broad categories) will be effective in securing high quality
development?
* Yes
* No

90

Page 429



If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the draft detailed
design principles.

Include files

Question 3 - Part 3: Employment Uses Guidance - Do you
consider that the guidance on designing employment
buildings and areas will meet the future needs of Dacorum?
* Yes
* No

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the guidance on
designing employment buildings and areas.

Include files

YesQuestion 4 - General Comments - Overall, do you have any
other comments regarding the Draft Strategic DesignGuide
SPD?
* Yes
* No

Thank you for your email. I entered the Planning Portal but found
the mode of questioning, unacceptably drawn out for me to

If yes, please provide you comments along with any
supporting information you may have.

personally participate, hence the following comments which you
may find helpful but perhaps not as generally they are not
complimentary about the historical planning policies of Dacorum
BC. Dacorum needs a professional panel to produce a design
guide that enhances development in the area which historically
has been poor. I often wonder if there are any design
professionals employed by DacorumCouncil or amongst elected
members that have any expertise in design issues, I think not.
(As an aside if there was a national competition for finding the
most ugly building in the UK Dacorum would win with the public
toilets they created in Durrants Hill Road) Currently it is likely
Dacorum is the National centre for pop-up up car cleaning
venues!
The principal entry points to Hemel Hempstead off the A41
bypass at Two Waters and the M1 J8 give a bad impression the
town . The appalling and hardly visible sculpture at J8 is an
example of the poor standards historically employed by the town
managers
Dacorum is fortunate to have Boxmoor which provides a green
wedge into the town centre linking with the Water Garden then
onto Gadebridge Park and open country beyond. Not many towns
in the UK have this advantage. A further under used asset is the
Grand Union canal passing through the length of Dacorum from
Hunton Bridge to Tring . Does the Canal have a special Planning
policy?
These two features would form a good starting framework for
the Design Guide . Currently the potential benefits of these two
assets are largely ignored The people of Hemel are fortunate
that the management of Boxmoor is provided by the Boxmoor
Trust and not by Dacorum BC .Despite the Canal and Rivers
Trust the canal does not appear to have special planning
protection . A good example is the recent depressing flats off
Durrants Hill Road and Red Lion Lane. Why does Dacorum fail
to encouragemore developments like ApsleyMarina an attractive
development for the general public but now hemmed in by more
flats and Office Blocks (which in future are likely to be converted
to flats).
The newly formed Design Guide team could review the 1970,s
Essex Design Guide which was first created in the 1970,s but
has been upgraded and republished in 2018 and would make a
good starting point for the Dacorum Design guide A further
suggestion that your design panel could consider is to set up a
strong working relationship with the Canal and Rivers Trust.

91

Page 430



It was good to see there is a proposal for a Dacorum Design
guide. I hope its creation does the job,

Include files

DSDG50ID

484212Person ID

Mr Alan BensonFull Name

Organisation Details

Person ID

Full Name

Position

Company / Organisation

Question 1 - Part 1: Design Process - Do you consider that
the documents have identified the key characteristics of
Dacorum and its wider Hertfordshire context?
* Yes
* No

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the key
characteristics.

Include files

Question 2 - Part 2: Design Principles - Do you consider that
the detailed design principles (as set out under each of the
10 broad categories) will be effective in securing high quality
development?
* Yes
* No

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the draft detailed
design principles.

Include files

Question 3 - Part 3: Employment Uses Guidance - Do you
consider that the guidance on designing employment
buildings and areas will meet the future needs of Dacorum?
* Yes
* No

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the guidance on
designing employment buildings and areas.

Include files

YesQuestion 4 - General Comments - Overall, do you have any
other comments regarding the Draft Strategic DesignGuide
SPD?
* Yes
* No

I dont see any mention in these documents wrt to COVID 19
situation now or similar in the future.

If yes, please provide you comments along with any
supporting information you may have.

These plans are clearly written before Lockdown and social
distancing.
What are the proposed changes to COVID 19:
1. Non sharing of office work places
2. Larger areas to work in
3. etc
We are bound to get another outbreak of a COVID virus, what
are the plans for that, and impact on your design and process.

92

Page 431



Include files

DSDG51ID

1224096Person ID

Mr Mark WhiteFull Name

Specialist - PlanningOrganisation Details
Homes England

Person ID

Full Name

Position

Company / Organisation

Question 1 - Part 1: Design Process - Do you consider that
the documents have identified the key characteristics of
Dacorum and its wider Hertfordshire context?
* Yes
* No

Part 1 - Design ProcessIf no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the key
characteristics.

Water – traditional patterns of field drainage such as ditches not
really mentioned. Also would be useful if this showed the likely
issues relating to water and climate change – how will a different
climate affect the water character across the District?
Exposure – should mention wind as well, as for new
developments, providing shelter from exposed windy sites makes
themmore livable? And also again, how will the changing climate
make exposure a bigger issue?
p. 33 Urban Grain – suggest figure ground studies should be
used?
p. 38/9 – These graphics are very much welcomed. It will be
helpful to have a short video from Proctor and Matthews to talk
users through it which could be linked to the SPD, helping users
interpret them.
p. 58 The Vision – this is a bit weak as currently written. A vision
sets out the principles and objectives for a site and is linked to
the place so its not generic
and will be a mix of text, plans and sketches. The Vision is
grounded in a thorough understanding of the site to identify the
opportunities and constraints, but it also must mix in the
aspirational/opportunity to innovate– considering how good the
scheme could be. E.g this Vision for Tresham Garden Village
http://www.treshamvillage.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/ALL-Tresham-Exhibition-boards-low-res.pdf
which has within it the spatial vision about connecting up the
landscape shown in the attachment to this email.
Another good example of a vision which is based on spatial
understanding is Taunton Garden Town. This is shown in the
attachment to this email.
• Spatial Typologies
The Bourne/ End Typology
p. 78 Are the edge houses to the ‘south’ that are ‘L’ shaped;
detached houses? They are linked by walls to form an edge. If
they are detached, the guide should say so. As per comments
above, the guide needs to be intelligible to members and
non-professionals. The guide refers to terraced houses and
semi-detached houses, so should refer to detached houses too
where they appear.

Include files

Question 2 - Part 2: Design Principles - Do you consider that
the detailed design principles (as set out under each of the

93

Page 432



10 broad categories) will be effective in securing high quality
development?
* Yes
* No

Part 2 Design PrinciplesIf no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the draft detailed
design principles.

• Facing the climate crisis
p. 26 The section on 'Certify Sustainability' is noted. Policy should
be written within the context of the government's aim for local
planning authorities to be looking to future proof or at least
reference future targets within the context of national planning
policy in the NPPF and PPG.

Include files

Question 3 - Part 3: Employment Uses Guidance - Do you
consider that the guidance on designing employment
buildings and areas will meet the future needs of Dacorum?
* Yes
* No

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the guidance on
designing employment buildings and areas.

Include files

YesQuestion 4 - General Comments - Overall, do you have any
other comments regarding the Draft Strategic DesignGuide
SPD?
* Yes
* No

Homes England is extensively involved with development in
Dacorum Borough; taking forward strategic and other

If yes, please provide you comments along with any
supporting information you may have.

landholdings for development in Hemel Hempstead and through
its role proving delivery advice and support to Hemel Garden
Communities. Our Strategic Plan commits us to improving design
quality and we welcome this opportunity to comment on the
Strategic Design Guide SPD. Our coments are as follows:
Comments:
General
• Glossary and Language
The SPD needs a glossary or hyper link for more unusual words
e.g. co-axial field patterns. The SPD would benefit form the use
of more simple language. This needs to be intelligible to
councillors and non professionals too who won’t understand
some of the terms currently used.
• Scope
The Strategic Design Guide says it applies to planning
applications and sites across Dacorum of all scales, for which it
covers the strategic objectives and design process to which DBC
expects designers to adhere – but one would not expect to have
multiple frameworks for a small site of e.g. 5 new homes? It
would be good to show a worked example for a small site where
one might put all of the framework information onto a series of
simpler plans
• Understanding Context
This is a very good high level summary of the context to show
individual applicants what they need to consider – but it would
be helpful to collate good examples (and the information they
have found) of good analysis within Dacorum. So if you have a
Design and Access statement that really got under the skin of a
particular neighbourhood – this could be shared; both to
encourage others to achieve that standard, but also so that other

94

Page 433



developments can benefit from that knowledge and
understanding, and save multiple consultants working on the
same place.
• It will be helpful to show examples of some of the types of plans
one would expect in an appendix so users can see a worked
example so they know what they look like for different scales of
development – not just the large masterplan example
• It will be helpful to have more examples than just from Proctor
and Matthews as it looks too linked to them as currently written.

Include files

DSDG52ID

1165136Person ID

Mr & Mrs J.D BattyeFull Name

Organisation Details

Person ID

Full Name

Position

Company / Organisation

Question 1 - Part 1: Design Process - Do you consider that
the documents have identified the key characteristics of
Dacorum and its wider Hertfordshire context?
* Yes
* No

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the key
characteristics.

Include files

Question 2 - Part 2: Design Principles - Do you consider that
the detailed design principles (as set out under each of the
10 broad categories) will be effective in securing high quality
development?
* Yes
* No

The topography of Dacorum presents particular problems and
some of the examples in Part 2 drawn from elsewhere are

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the draft detailed
design principles. inappropriate. (Good design is inevitably subjective but the

pictures from Cambridge look particularly stark, graceless and
unappealing )A bottom-up, not top-down, approach is required
in Dacorum.
I do not think sufficient overall emphasis has been given to
landscaping, tree-planting and enhancing biodiversity and
habitats;mitigating the effects of pollution and offsetting climate
change should be accorded a much higher priority if we are to
serve future generations responsibly.
The preface observes that Dacorum has declared a Climate
Emergency.Unfortunately there is already a huge credibility gap
between the specious words of the old Core Strategy and the
actual implementation of that plan.For example,it was shocking
to read the recorded remarks of the Portfolio Holder for
Environmental Services(no less) refusing to endorse a policy of
planting additional street trees “because of problems they cause
to tarmac and underground cables” ( minutes of DBC Council
meeting 26 February 2020.)
It is vital therefore that ,if adopted,the design principles
painstakingly established in the guide are faithfully translated

95

Page 434



into reality.Planning Officers must adhere to them strictly and
consistently and,it is of the highest priority that enforcement is
taken much more seriously than appears to have been the case
over recent years.Otherwise this whole exercise is indeed a
waste of time and taxpayers’ money.

Include files

Question 3 - Part 3: Employment Uses Guidance - Do you
consider that the guidance on designing employment
buildings and areas will meet the future needs of Dacorum?
* Yes
* No

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the guidance on
designing employment buildings and areas.

Include files

Question 4 - General Comments - Overall, do you have any
other comments regarding the Draft Strategic DesignGuide
SPD?
* Yes
* No

I have tried without success to comment on the portal using the
user name sent to me. I therefore give my comments below.

If yes, please provide you comments along with any
supporting information you may have.

I welcome the opportunity to comment on the proposed Design
Guide.I am not a developer or a planner but merely an interested
resident and taxpayer who does wonder how much the
documents have cost to compile.
If,however, good design,respect for the environment,a reduction
in global warming and an efficient infrastructure which meets the
needs of the population are the long term products of the exercise
then it will have been worthwhile.
Greater attention than in the past also needs to be paid to
increasing amenity capacity and developing an infrastructure
commensurate with the scale of development.There is already
a considerable deficit to make up in certain areas and if this
means a substantially higher rate of CIL and lower profits for
developers ,then so be it.
It is facile to suppose that reducing provision for parking will
result in a diminished appetite for car usage;in Berkhamsted it
has merely resulted in increased parking on pavements to the
dismay and distress of other residents.
Finally,regarding flexibility and adjustability,it is already clear
that the effects of Covid-19 will require more attention being
given to converting existing structures( offices,shops,shopping
centres)into housing units so that greenfield land of whatever
status can be preserved.Therein lies a great opportunity to solve
some of the most pressing problems.
It is imperative that any proposed lightening of touch in planning
procedures does not degenerate into shoddy design,poor
workmanship and environmental damage, to the detriment of
future generations.

Include files

DSDG53ID

1160454Person ID

Mr T PutmanFull Name

Organisation Details

Person ID

Full Name

96

Page 435



Position

Company / Organisation

Question 1 - Part 1: Design Process - Do you consider that
the documents have identified the key characteristics of
Dacorum and its wider Hertfordshire context?
* Yes
* No

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the key
characteristics.

Include files

Question 2 - Part 2: Design Principles - Do you consider that
the detailed design principles (as set out under each of the
10 broad categories) will be effective in securing high quality
development?
* Yes
* No

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the draft detailed
design principles.

Include files

Question 3 - Part 3: Employment Uses Guidance - Do you
consider that the guidance on designing employment
buildings and areas will meet the future needs of Dacorum?
* Yes
* No

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the guidance on
designing employment buildings and areas.

Include files

YesQuestion 4 - General Comments - Overall, do you have any
other comments regarding the Draft Strategic DesignGuide
SPD?
* Yes
* No

General Comments on Parts 1, 2 and 3If yes, please provide you comments along with any
supporting information you may have. Content and Style of the Documents

A. As for Content, I applaud the structure of the Design Process
as set out in Part One of the Document ie Observing , Evaluating
and Making a Place followed by detailed considerations under
each heading all "supporting and responding to Dacorum's local
character." If the Process and Principles were to be INSISTED
upon, the Process would herald a new start.
However, naming the Process a "Guide" and including the
heading "Comply or Justify" at the start of Part One - allowing
deviation from the requirements of the Document – both indicate
immediately that the aim to create the highest quality of design
can be weakened by the acceptance that there CAN be deviation
from the Guide despite the threat of refusal.
In addition, landowners and developers, even if the principles
and details are not followed, can still secure permission to
proceed if they can provide [unspecified] " compelling evidence"
for non compliance, showing the Guide can be ignored in some
circumstances.
On Green Belt land in particular, I believe the public which has
grown accustomed to the existence of Green Belt amenities,
would be appalled if a planning permission was granted without
the most strict adherence to the highest standards of Design as
set out

97

Page 436



B. I am strenthened in my concern by the style of expression
used in much of the Document. The language used strongly
suggests that Dacorum will be content to waive adherence to
the Document. There are many examples of a soft approach to
compliance eg:
(i) On the first page "Introduction, "it is made clear that there
WILL be building whatever the circumstances including on Green
Belt land and there is much emphasis upon the Document being
merely a Guide to land owners and developers, NOT a set of
firm requirements
(ii) There is reference to a ready acceptance of compact
environments and higher density communities – leaving open
the idea of large housing estates cramming in as many properties
as possible on a site and effectively linking otherwise distinctive
parts of the dacorum area
(iii) The approach and wording of the Design and Principles may
well provide for an ideal of what Dacorum would like but it also
suggests readymade arguments and considerations for land
owners/developers to use successfully -if they can show even
SOME level of compliance
(Iv) The language used is aspirational where it should be firm
and directional e.g. there is too much language which "hopes
for", "'expects adherence to," "design expectations," encourage,"
"inform," "material consideration" and "strong desire" - this leaves
far too much room for land owners and developers to make their
case for building what they want Irrespective of the Guidance
because little or nothing is framed in mandatory terms

Conclusions following Analysis of the 3 Documents
1. I have commented above mainly in relation to Part One but I
do agree with ALL the ideas in Part 2 (Design Principles) and
feel that, if met, they would be widely welcomed. I have no
comment to make on Part 3
2. Generally, I feel there is too much leeway for departure from
the vision and insufficient attention in particular to local
requirements - the character of local people, existing
neighbourhoods, usages of land and the wishes and needs of
local people
3. The allowance of deviation runs a real risk of land being built
on simply because it can be purchased by Dacorum allowing
the detailed considerations to be completely waived
4. There is also a real risk that individual large developments
will effectively "link" different parts of Dacorum thus losing
distinctive places and features and producing a single Estate
spread across a wide area - rather than creating new small and
distinctive communities
5. Little emphasis is placed on the management of the building
process itself and long term demands on developers to maintain
what they have built. Especially in area of Green Belt Dacorum
should insist on high quality in every respect plus stringent
guarantees of response to subsequent maintenance issues with
severe penalties for any breach

Include files

DSDG54ID

1250013Person ID

Mrs Nikki BugdenFull Name

ClerkOrganisation Details
Nash Mills Parish Council

Person ID

98

Page 437



Full Name

Position

Company / Organisation

YesQuestion 1 - Part 1: Design Process - Do you consider that
the documents have identified the key characteristics of
Dacorum and its wider Hertfordshire context?
* Yes
* No

Page 28 – EdgesIf no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the key
characteristics.

Landscape Edges offer the opportunity to enhance access to
the districts’ high-quality open spaces and green infrastructure
for new and existing residents in the area. They can also provide
biodiversity corridors or visual landscape buffers.
Transport Infrastructure edges are vital for the development of
sustainable places but can also bring noise and air pollution.
The first bullet seems to be the answer to the second one (noise
and air pollution). It would be interesting to know if there is a
standard ‘edge’ that would be put in place between housing and
major roads (e.g. potential developments next to the M1 - Hemel
Garden Communities project). Is there already a minimum
amount of space /number of trees that must exist? For the
purposes of health and wellbeing, should this be increased for
future developments as a natural filter for co2 emissions?
Page 64 – Movement Framework
It is encouraging to see mentioned on this page “flexibility to
accommodate future expansion beyond the site and changes in
lifestyle and movement patterns” and “flexibility to accommodate
electric and automated vehicles and future technology”. It should
be recognised, however, that future changes in the use of
vehicles (particularly autonomous) should not be a reason to
overly-minimise immediate parking requirements. Supporting
strategies (bottom of page 64) – it mentions a few which should
be developed but does not mention a Parking strategy which
would also be relevant here. There was a new draft strategy last
year. Is this now adopted?

Include files

NoQuestion 2 - Part 2: Design Principles - Do you consider that
the detailed design principles (as set out under each of the
10 broad categories) will be effective in securing high quality
development?
* Yes
* No

2.1 Create Walkable Neighbourhoods with Identifiable Centres
Having walkable facilities (e.g. commercial / social spaced) is

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the draft detailed
design principles. very well intentioned. How can we make sure that these facilities

are not removed during various iterations of development plans
before building?
3.1 Provide Housing and Facilities for Different Ages NMPC
wholeheartedly supports the proposed integration of care homes
and nurseries/intergenerational living.
4 Create Safe, Overlooked Spaces NMPC supports the concept
of passive surveillance to keep spaces safe.
5.10 Reduce Car Dominance/5.11 Integrate Car Parking. Whilst
it is admirable to aim for a reduction on car dominance, recent
developments in the Nash Mills area are evidence that this
assumption often fails in a practical sense. Even though we are
in a ‘commuter belt’ the majority of our resident’s use cars at
weekends and evenings. This is in part, but not entirely, due to
the poor provision of train services and a lack of alternative local
transport, which has a severe impact on traffic in our parish. Our

99

Page 438



proximity to the motorway network (M1/M25) also results in car
ownership to facilitate use of this infrastructure. A huge issue
with our most recent developments has been a severe lack in
parking provision which has resulted in pushing the problem onto
neighbouring streets. Under croft parking is a good option
providing the security of users and their vehicles is adequately
addressed.
5.10 Reduce Car Dominance - The design aim to prioritise
PEOPLE first and private vehicle users last seems incongruous
as the vehicle users are still people, hence should receive equal
consideration. Past local developments prove that lack of parking
provision is not prioritising the wellbeing of people.
5.11 Integrate Car Parking “ensure that public realm isn’t
dominated by cars parked on footway” will only be possible if
sufficient parking is included. Where restrictions are put in place
in one area, it simply shifts the problem as we’ve seen in Nash
Mills.
6.4 Maximise Space and Daylight Whilst the document mentions
a minimum size for balconies there does not seem to be a
minimum internal space requirement noted.
There does not appear to be any specification to ensure that
garden space in houses is commensurate with the number of
inhabitants and there appears to be no consideration of this.
7.1 Create Attractive Safe and Usable Walking and Cycling
Routes NMPC supports the delivery of safe cycle routes, however
there is a wider implication and DBC must ensure that the
network across Dacorum is safe and usable and supports this
initiative, linking new developments to existing neighbourhoods
as well as the town centre and industrial estate.
As part of this process NMPCwould welcome consideration and
discussion relating to the provision of options for a safe means
for cyclists to traverse the busiest routes within Dacorum such
as the A414 and the ‘link road’. These are vital routes linking
from large residential areas to the main business centre at
Maylands and therefore provide a hazard to cyclists due to the
volume of traffic on these routes. Currently provision for safety
here is lacking which may deter those willing to use alternative
methods for travelling.
Adequate lighting must be installed to keep users safe,
particularly during winter months as currently concerns re
personal security hinder many people from walking within the
parish at night. In addition, while the focus on walking / cycling
is obviously well-intentioned, the natural topography of the area
will make this hard for some.
7.3 Give Prominence to Health - This is such a major issue in
Dacorum with its current population and therefore we would
expect this topic to be prioritised and to include significantly more
detail on how DBC will ensure delivery of this proposal and how
our overstretched services will be futureproofed for the
anticipated population increase.
7.5 Incorporate Food Production - This initiative is brilliant and
would provide much needed access to ‘green space’, a desire
for which has been highlighted by the recent Covid-19 crisis.
7.6 Mitigate the Effects of Pollution - the focus in this section is
about reducing car dependency and the use of green
infrastructure for screening. The potential to encourage an
increase in electric car use is not mentioned but would also be
relevant under this heading (although provision of charging
options is mentioned elsewhere in the document).
8.3 Drain Places Naturally - If this is the place to bring this up,
please can we comment on the unusual choice of a photograph
of a child on a scooter on a very narrow bridge over a drain -
possibly a safety matter?

100

Page 439



8.6 Conserve Energy and Reduce Carbon Emissions - NMPC
welcomes the initiative of “discrete on-street electric car charging
points” to allow those without access to charging in their own
home to still own electric cars in the future.
8.7 Create Opportunities for Energy Production - NMPC
welcomes the initiative to ensure that renewable energy is used
and importantly that this energy is harnessed by adequate battery
storage.
9.3 Anticipate changes in mobility - The approach for flexible
design seems sensible for the longer-term plan and not to ‘lock
in’ current modes of transport, such as private cars. However, it
would be interesting to know more about how this might work to
avoid an initial lack of parking for current modes of transport.

Include files

NoQuestion 3 - Part 3: Employment Uses Guidance - Do you
consider that the guidance on designing employment
buildings and areas will meet the future needs of Dacorum?
* Yes
* No

Due to the current Covid 19 crisis it may be prudent for any
document relating to the working environment to consider some

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the guidance on
designing employment buildings and areas. of the implications of a pandemic situation. It could be that going

forward there is a wider shift to people working from home rather
than commuting so it may be a benefit to look at the long term
use of these sites - would it be easy and cost effective to convert
these buildings into residential buildings (as has already
happened throughout Dacorum), with the infrastructure and
provision requirements that entails, does this need to be a
consideration?
E.08 Smart Mobility - As mentioned above encouraging people
to cycle to work will rely heavily on the wider cycle network across
Dacorum being safe and accessible, simply adding the network
to the new development will not enable the wider network to be
sufficiently linked in a safe and secure way.

Include files

YesQuestion 4 - General Comments - Overall, do you have any
other comments regarding the Draft Strategic DesignGuide
SPD?
* Yes
* No

NMPC welcomes and supports the proposed document and
would like to offer some supplementary comments

If yes, please provide you comments along with any
supporting information you may have.

These proposals seem to relate to large-scale developments
with little consideration of smaller scale developments- do DBC
envisage that the proposals will apply across ALL development,
regardless of size?
Across Dacorum there is a vast increase in population and this
proposal seems to lack any mention of services and adequate
provision in relation to school places, indeed, as mentioned
above there is only a cursory mention of healthcare provision
and this section appears to be particularly light on detail whereas
the document has taken time to designate a minimum space
requirement for a balcony.
This proposal is looking at future growth and there appears to
have been no consideration of the provision of anything other
than the minor mention of ‘healthcare’, the lack of consideration
relating to hospital services appears to fail to address the gravity
of considering major growth within such a large town and the
subsequent necessary provision of suitable, local services.

101

Page 440



This matter should be considered as crucial to any future proofing
of a development plan (unless there is to be an additional
supplementary document to address this very important matter).
An additional note on parking (two local examples that we see
in / near Nash Mills)
▪ Apsley Lock (just outside Nash Mills) – a very attractive
development, initially built with grass verges along both sides of
every road.Within a short period, many grass verges were ruined
by parked cars and, eventually, ruined verges were replaced
with concrete to make space for parked cars. There is still a huge
parking issue in this development and the number of cars forced
to park on verges makes the development look much less
attractive that originally intended.
▪ Nash Mills Wharf – Built with the same parking standards but
the roads in the development are privately managed, therefore
people living there do not see the issue of cars littered around
the development. The surrounding roads bear the brunt of
insufficient parking on the development.
Whilst there is a need to avoid streets littered with cars, creating
the right parking offering in new developments (rather than not
providing it and hoping people will not own cars) would be more
acceptable. Lack of decent parking provision means that cars
are parked around developments in a very unattractive manner.
Cars parked in appropriate places (dedicated spaces, driveways,
etc. are not an eye sore. It only becomes so when people are
forced to use areas that should be pedestrian / green spaces.
Mixed use of developments
In new developments, the mix of housing, commercial facilities,
social, green spaces, etc. is well intentioned. However, we have
seen examples where commercial and social elements have
been removed in later iterations of plans so that developments
become purely housing. Will these new documents protect from
this in the future (both housing and employment developments)?
Will councils and Development Management Committee be able
to use these documents to oppose planning that do not meet
the criteria?

Include files

DSDG55ID

405001Person ID

Mr Roger HandsFull Name

Dacorum Heritage TrustOrganisation Details

Person ID

Full Name

Position

Company / Organisation

Question 1 - Part 1: Design Process - Do you consider that
the documents have identified the key characteristics of
Dacorum and its wider Hertfordshire context?
* Yes
* No

The geology statement in the Topography and Geology section
is a little misleading. The whole area is underlain by chalk and

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the key
characteristics. it is only the drift deposits which change. In the soils section

“more or less acid “ soils are mentioned. As the area is underlain
entirely by chalk I think this should say more or less alkaline soils
rather than more or less acid soils .
In the observing: Topography and Geology section under 2 Site
Context the box on the far right has a list of examples of what
to observe. One of the bullet points in the list is “Sudden

102

Page 441



features|”, I am not at all sure what is meant by this and it needs
to be clarified. In the same box changes in bedrock are
mentioned, but as stated in the comment above the whole area
is underlain by chalk bedrock and its only the drift deposits that
change.
In the section entitled Context: Water on the far lower right there
is a statement about water and urban development. The end of
the paragraph says “Other towns and villages turn their back on
rivers”…. What is meant by this statement? It is not at all clear
and needs to be re-worded. In the same section the paragraph
in the middle of the bottom of the page about the water gardens
states that Jellico created the water garden to connect the river
valley and town center. What this architect did was to concrete
line a natural chalk stream , I do not see any connection with the
town center as this canalized section of the river is not visible
from the high street, but merely forms a barrier between the
multistory carpark and the high street along with the road that
runs parallel to the high street .
The Context of Ecology and Biodiversity mentions some aquatic
species under the special action plan such as water voles, otter
and white clawed crayfish (now extinct in Hertfordshire) but it
doesn’t really mention the chalk streams themselves as an
important aquatic ecosystems or the fact that they are globally
rare and are UK BAP priority habitats
Under the Landscape Framework section there is a list of bullet
points in the box title Consider, but wildlife is not on the list and
neither are rivers. Both these need to be considered as part of
the landscape. Under the supporting strategies, SuDs are
mentioned along with flood prevention, but allowing more natural
flood attenuation needs to be part of the strategy, this might
include creation of more wetlands which would benefit
biodiversity as well as holding back flood water, re-connecting
the river to the floodplain in appropriate areas also benefits
ecology as well as reducing the flood peak. Re-meandering
straightened rivers can also help attenuate flooding as well as
creating more diverse habitats. These benefits could be grouped
un the term re-wilding of rivers .

Include files

Question 2 - Part 2: Design Principles - Do you consider that
the detailed design principles (as set out under each of the
10 broad categories) will be effective in securing high quality
development?
* Yes
* No

Section 4.5 Be Naturally Connected talks about people being
more connected by green and blue infrastructure, the ecology

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the draft detailed
design principles. also needs connectivity and this needs to be recognized in the

design. New and existing bridge crossings need to havemammal
ledges for example. New built areas need to ensure that they
doo not cut off natural pathways for both aquatic and terrestrial
fauna. Non Native invasive species also need to be considered
both in the construction phase and post cobstruction to ensure
they are not spread further and that they are actively controlled.
Section 6 Great Homes under the box headed Design should
demonstrate… a bullet point should be added in relation to proper
home working space as in these current times more and more
people will work from home.
Section 8.3 Drain Places Naturally should include something on
permeable hard standing . SuDs are mentioned, but there is no
provision for their maintenance which has long been an issue
which needs to be addressed.

Include files

103

Page 442



Question 3 - Part 3: Employment Uses Guidance - Do you
consider that the guidance on designing employment
buildings and areas will meet the future needs of Dacorum?
* Yes
* No

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the guidance on
designing employment buildings and areas.

Include files

Question 4 - General Comments - Overall, do you have any
other comments regarding the Draft Strategic DesignGuide
SPD?
* Yes
* No

The local chalk streams are internationally extremely important
and vulnerable to toomuch local development creating excessive

If yes, please provide you comments along with any
supporting information you may have.

demands upon our local aquifer. Local wetlands have a crucial
role in returning water to the aquifer and the historic objective to
get heavy rainfall out of the district and down to the sea is
thankfully not the major objective it once was.
• The design needs to address the possible impact of climate
change which would include increased winter rainfall and how
this would be dealt with e.g. grey water re-use, green rooves,
SuDs and SuDs maintenance, natural flood attenuation. Climate
change may also bring hotter daily temperature and how
buildings will deal with this in a carbon neutral way
• Permeable hard standing areas need to be looked at to allow
rainfall to percolate through to the chalk aquifer. Permeable hard
standing will also help address increased runoff and the resulting
increased risk of flooding.
• Increased housing will increase sewage effluent. At present,
much of the effluent is gravity fed down the catchment to large
sewage works . Water abstracted for local public supply use is
not therefore returned to the river in the catchments its abstracted
from. Consideration should be made to look at local treatment
works which will return the effluent locally.
• Water efficient white goods, water butts, water efficient showers
and low flush toilets should be installed in all housing as
standard. New buildings should also incorporate grey water use
and green rooves
• Gardens in new builds are getting smaller as more housing is
shoehorned into available building plots. More allotments should
be provided and or community gardens to allow residents to
learn about plants and growing vegetables.
• The removal of weirs and sluices in chalk streams would benefit
the aquatic community greatly. Old historic structures should be
removed or bypassed to allow the free movement of fish and to
allow morphological processes to naturally occur. This re-wilding
of river systems needs to be part of the built design of the
borough.

Include files

DSDG56ID

1160570Person ID

Tom SimmonsFull Name

Development ManagerOrganisation Details
St William Homes LLP

Person ID

Full Name

Position

104

Page 443



Company / Organisation

Question 1 - Part 1: Design Process - Do you consider that
the documents have identified the key characteristics of
Dacorum and its wider Hertfordshire context?
* Yes
* No

Dacorum's Design AspirationsIf no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the key
characteristics.

St William welcome that the council are seeking for growth in
Dacorum Borough to “be accommodated in the Borough’s
existing settlements, and some will be delivered on adjacent
greenfield sites, including land formerly in the Green Belt.”
However, given the emphasis the NPPF places on making use
of brownfield land, it is important to recognise the important role
that development on brownfield land can play in sustainable
urban development. The NPPF states that “Planning Policies
and decisions should: … give substantial weight to the value of
using suitable brownfield land within settlements for homes and
other identified needs” (Chapter 11: Making effective use of land).
Whilst
the Draft SPD does not set policy, St William believe that
additional wording should be included to reflect the importance
of brownfield development.
Part 1: Design Process
St William welcome the provision of a Design Process for
strategic sites. However, provision of such a detailed and
prescriptive Design Process may prohibit the timely delivery of
sites. The Draft SPD states that “The scope of design topics and
information required in Making a Place will depend on the scale
and type of proposal, and should be agreed in collaboration with
DBC officers” (page 10). This wording should be expanded upon
and reflected throughout the remainder of the Draft SPD to
ensure that the approval of applications and the delivery of
homes is not prohibited or delayed by the framework. Whilst it
is useful to provide a Design Process framework, St William
acknowledge that development is complex and it may therefore
not be possible to always follow a prescriptive framework. It
should
therefore be made clear in the Draft SPD that the framework
may be applied flexibly to suit a context specific basis.
Part 1: Design Process – Making a Place: Frameworks
The suggested range of densities alongside the Spatial
Typologies is overly prescriptive and could prohibit developers
achieving appropriate densities in areas with good accessibility
and making efficient use of land. It is therefore suggested that
references to specific densities be removed to accord with the
NPPF (Chapter 11: Making effective use of land).

Include files

Question 2 - Part 2: Design Principles - Do you consider that
the detailed design principles (as set out under each of the
10 broad categories) will be effective in securing high quality
development?
* Yes
* No

Part 2: Design Principles
St William welcome the ambition of the Draft SPD, but question
whether there is sufficient clarity regarding the application of the
Design Principles to smaller and medium sized sites.
Many of the remaining comments in the representations provided
by St William refer to the lack flexibility in the Design Principles

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the draft detailed
design principles.

with regard to site specific context, and the lack of differentiation
between what is expected of sites of various different scales.
Part 2: Design Principles – 1. A Distinctive Place

105

Page 444



The Draft SPD is overly focused on ensuring that development
is in keeping with the character and built form of the surrounding
area. Part 1 of the Draft SPD, ‘Making a Place: Spatial
Typologies’, provides guidance on the four spatial typologies
based on those identified in Observing Places. Whilst the Draft
SPD recognises that “These spatial typologies are not
exhaustive, design teams can identify further spatial typologies
through an assessment of historic built form and landscape.”
(Part 1, p.73), the Draft SPD should also recognise that new
development can accentuate the sense of place, streetscape
and quality of the surrounding built environment and should not
seek to stifle architectural ambition or high quality design.
Similarly, the Draft SPD acknowledges the diversity of the
Borough’s built environment but fails to promote this sense of
diversity in new development, instead focusing on new
development replicating existing. In this respect, the Council
should ensure that Design Principle 1.3, Be Historically Inspired,
Design for the Future, is expanded upon to ensure that
architectural ambition can be explored, whilst simultaneously
respecting the district’s character.
Design Principle 1, A Distinctive Place, fails to fully consider
circumstances where the existing built environment is of a poor
quality. As such it is suggested that Design Principle 1.1, Build
a Narrative of Place to Inform Designs, reads “Design Aim: To
employ the Design Process set out in this guidance (Part 1) to
build a place narrative as a starting point for exemplar design
which responds to the local context, provided that it is of a high
existing quality”.
Part 2: Design Principles – 2. A Compact Place
The Draft SPD Part 1: Design Process, Making a Place:
Frameworks, Land Use Framework, states that “All new
developments should have a defined centre with a mix of land
uses, such as schools, local shops, community space or play
areas.” This guidance is clearly only applicable to developments
of a certain size such as the urban extensions expected in
Dacorum. Design Principle 2.2, A Rich Mix of Uses, expands
upon the Land Use Framework and suggests that Designs should
demonstrate “A mix of complementary uses that provide for the
social, economic and leisure needs.” Design Principle 2.2 should
clarify that a mix of land uses may not always be possible or
appropriate; reference should be made to the Site Allocation. It
is not for a SPD to set policy.
Part 2: Design Principles – 3. A Place for All
St William support integrated and inclusive neighbourhoods and
therefore support the objective behind Design Principle 3.1,
Provide Housing and Facilities for Different Ages. However, it
may not always be possible to provide “Intergenerational living
opportunities” within a specific development site. It should be
clarified that this Design Principle should be applied at a
neighbourhood level, rather than a site specific level. Again, we
would encourage reference to the Local Plan and Site Allocations
where this would be more suitably placed. St William support
and encourage the aim of Design Principle 3.2, Integrate Different
Housing Tenures, to achieve integrated and inclusive
neighbourhoods. All St William developments are designed to
be tenure blind and the affordable homes are designed with
consideration of both the future community/resident in mind and
are aligned with Housing Associations needs and objectives,
which often includes consideration of end service charges. On
this basis, there will be circumstances where a separate entrance
would be suitable to avoid an excessive service charge being
placed on affordable housing units.
St William agree with Design Principle 3.4, Integrate Play, that
it is important to integrate play throughout new places. However,
the Design Principle should recognise that it may not be possible

106

Page 445



or appropriate to provide “Exciting multi-sensory play spaces for
children and young people of all ages” across all developments.
It is important to consider that it may be more appropriate to
deliver other forms of social infrastructure at a new development,
depending on the site-specific context. This principle should be
amended to allow for further flexibly.
Part 2: Design Principles – 4. A Connected Place
The integration of economic activity within residential areas is
an important step towards creating vibrant places and whilst St
William generally support the intention behind Design Principle
4.2, Be Economically Connected, the Draft SPD should recognise
that it would not be appropriate to provide retail and office uses
on all sites, especially where there is a more pressing need for
the delivery of new homes.. The location of specific uses should
form part of an Authorities spatial strategy as set out in policy of
a Local Plan, it is not appropriate to include within an SPD and
should be deleted. St William is a landscape-led developer and
deliver a net biodiversity gain across all of our sites. St William
support the objective of Design Principle 4.5.1 to provide “Safe,
direct and attractive walking and cycling routes to nearby open
spaces”. It should, however, be recognised that it may not always
be possible to comply with this Design Principle given site
location and surrounding uses and on this basis the SPD should
be altered to allow for some flexibility. It is considered that Design
Principle 4.5.2 should clarify that blue infrastructure is not
required on every site, but rather at neighbourhood level.
Provision of blue infrastructure across every site would be
excessively onerous and could prohibit other strategic priorities,
such as the delivery of new homes, where limited space is
available for development.
Part 2: Design Principles – 7. Active and Healthy
It is important to offer easy access to sporting facilities, and St
William encourage Design Principle 7.4, Enhance access to
sport. However, St William consider that provision of indoor and
outdoor sports facilities should be commensurate with the size
of the development and consider the viability of providing such
facilities.. Again, this is something that should be dealt with at
policy stage and should be deleted. It is considered that Design
Principle 7.5.2, Incorporate Food Production, to ensure that
designs should demonstrate “Public realm spaces that
incorporate opportunities for food production or orchards.” is
overly prescriptive. Although use of the public realm for growing
spaces is supported, this should only occur where appropriate
and where there is an evidenced demand.

Include files

Question 3 - Part 3: Employment Uses Guidance - Do you
consider that the guidance on designing employment
buildings and areas will meet the future needs of Dacorum?
* Yes
* No

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the guidance on
designing employment buildings and areas.

Include files

Question 4 - General Comments - Overall, do you have any
other comments regarding the Draft Strategic DesignGuide
SPD?
* Yes
* No

107

Page 446



St William Homes LLP (‘St William’) is pleased to provide
representations to the Draft Dacorum Strategic Design Guide
SPD (from herein referred to as ‘the Draft SPD’).
Established in 2014, St William is a joint venture between the
Berkeley Group and National Grid Property (‘National Grid’). The

If yes, please provide you comments along with any
supporting information you may have.

partnership combines National Grid’s extensive portfolio of
surplus brownfield sites across London and the South East with
the Berkeley Group’s design expertise and proven track record
of delivery to create high-quality residential and mixed use
developments.
St William pride ourselves in transforming derelict former gas
work sites; creating beautiful and vibrant places where new
inclusive communities can thrive and also integrate with the
neighbourhoods that are already there. The pandemic has
highlighted the importance to create high quality homes along
with well designed public realm and places that are inclusive,
accessible to local amenities and green space.We are continuing
our commitment of delivering a net biodiversity gain on all our
schemes.
Our written representations to the Draft SPD consultation are
set out below. It should be noted that these representations are
made solely on behalf of St William, notwithstanding any
representations made by other divisions of the Berkeley Group
or National Grid.
General Approach
St William welcome Dacorum Borough Council’s approach to
preparing the Strategic Design Guide SPD. The adopted Core
Strategy (2013) committed to preparing an Urban Design SPD
to deliver the Council’s design aspirations. The Dacorum
Strategic Design Guide forms the first part of this guidance.
Notwithstanding this, given the recent publication of the Planning
White Paper, its proposed third pillar ‘Planning for Beautiful and
Sustainable Places as well as the Paper’s references to the
National Design Guide and BBBB Commission report, it will be
expected that the SPD is updated accordingly prior to publication.
St William support the general direction and intention of the
Draft SPD. Some detailed comments on specific sections of the
document are however set out herein.
Whilst Part 1 – Design Process; Part 2 – Design Principles; and,
Part 3 – Employment Uses Guidance provide useful context it
is considered that they are too long and could be condensed. In
particular, an excessive amount of space throughout the Draft
SPD is dedicated to examples and context. Removal or
condensation of examples and context may aid in reducing the
length of longer sections of the Draft SPD, such as Part 1, Design
Process, Observing Place. Provision of the Draft SPD in three
distinct, and separately downloadable, documents inhibits the
user-friendliness of the SPD.
Summary
StWilliamwelcome the opportunity to comment on the Dacorum
Strategic DesignGuide SPD and supports its aims and ambitions;
however, the Draft SPD could be heavily condensed and made
into a more user friendly format. The Design Process should be
modified to allow for a less prescriptive, more flexible approach.
St William trust that their comments will be duly considered and
welcome further discussion with the Council.

Include files

DSDG57ID

211588Person ID

Mr Tim AmsdenFull Name

Organisation Details

Person ID

108

Page 447



Full Name

Position

Company / Organisation

Question 1 - Part 1: Design Process - Do you consider that
the documents have identified the key characteristics of
Dacorum and its wider Hertfordshire context?
* Yes
* No

On the contents of the Process paper, I would observe that under
Context: Water, the canal environment at the Tring summit, with

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the key
characteristics. its two branch canals, reservoirs, cutting, pumping station, dry

dock and former lock-making workshop are considerably more
significant historic features than anything Nash Mills has to offer.
Under Ecology, I would point out that Tring Park, High Scrubs
etc woodland contains comparatively little beech, and is
predominantly mixed deciduous woodland. Ash is more
significant and is referenced in local place names.
Under Vernacular details and materials, I venture to suggest that
puddingstone presents itself in such vanishingly small quantities
that it is not worth the mention. There appears to be no mention
of straightforward brick and flint, which is a frequently
encountered combination, but only of flint and stone
chequerwork, which is something usually encountered in only
church architecture and would be unduly expensive to
recommend to developers. Local brick covers a wider colour
range than just orange/red, extending to brown and purple
according to its position in the kiln. In general the orange shade
is not to be encouraged as it is more susceptible to frost, and
looks terrible bonded in modern khaki-coloured mortars. The
idea that there is some kind of relationship between local
masonry and straw plait is very far-fetched indeed.
While I'm impressed with the attempt to define locally prevailing
spatial typologies, I fear they will be wholly misunderstood and
misapplied by developers and there is a danger of pick and mix.
I am mystified by the photograph of Aldbury in a context of
waterside settings - that's a pond. I was disappointed that the
guidance failed to emphasise the special character of 19th/20th
century Estate housing, which is a prominent feature of Tring
and surrounding villages, and also of Aldbury and Ashridge.
No-one would wish to see feeble imitations of Rothschild or
Brownlow buildings, but there is much to be learned and
referenced from them.
In this context, and in relation to the idea of 'tenure-blind design',
I would mention the 56 houses in Tring (Miswell Lane and
elsewhere) which Lord Rothschild built between 1909 and 1913
and handed over to Tring Urban District Council. While they are
deliberately differentiated from his own Estate houses, they
accord very well with them and with neighbouring properties and
do not stand out as obvious social housing.

Include files

Question 2 - Part 2: Design Principles - Do you consider that
the detailed design principles (as set out under each of the
10 broad categories) will be effective in securing high quality
development?
* Yes
* No

Under 8.7 in the second document I note the reference to solar
panels. I cannot understand why you would not insist upon their

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the draft detailed
design principles. being fixed to all new houses, as it is vastly cheaper and simpler

to install on a new building than to retro-fit.

Include files

109

Page 448



Question 3 - Part 3: Employment Uses Guidance - Do you
consider that the guidance on designing employment
buildings and areas will meet the future needs of Dacorum?
* Yes
* No

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the guidance on
designing employment buildings and areas.

Include files

YesQuestion 4 - General Comments - Overall, do you have any
other comments regarding the Draft Strategic DesignGuide
SPD?
* Yes
* No

Despite four attempts at logging in, including asking for a new
password, the system will not admit me to the consultation.
Please accept the following comments instead.

If yes, please provide you comments along with any
supporting information you may have.

I should point out that for forty years I was engaged in
conservation-based building work locally, mainly roofing and
flintwork, at a practical level. I participated in the writing of the
Chilterns Conservation Board's various design guides. For twenty
years I was a town councillor and took a very close interest in
planning and design matters, including the Tring High Street
Improvement Scheme of 1987. I am also involved in the running
of Tring Local History Museum, contributed to the research for
the latest Pevsner guide, and am preparing a biography of
William Huckvale, the Tring architect.
Q4
In broad terms, the proposed guidance represents a major step
forward for local planning and is very welcome. Something of
the kind should have been introduced many, many years ago
and would have spared us acres of bland, orthodox and
uninteresting buildings out of keeping with and detrimental to
the local landscape, towns and villages. If adopted, it should
spare us from the sort of architecturally illiterate,
computer-generated estates which are springing up around towns
such as Aylesbury and Bicester.
If Dacorum has declared a 'climate emergency' it might be best
to call a moratorium on further building, which will result in
additional CO2 emissions from construction and the road traffic
engendered. Building on the scale indicated by the most recent
district plan proposals will only exacerbate the present conditions
and result in irreversible change to the character of Dacorum.
This guidance will at best merely limit the damage.
Under Connectivity, the new guidance needs to do better than
has occurred with the redevelopment of the St Francis Convent
site in Tring, where an obvious footpath connection might have
been made to Longfield Road, allowing access to primary
schools, recreation ground and shops, and yet was not insisted
upon. Furthermore the road access from Aylesbury Road,
although unfinished to date, does not appear even to have a
footway alongside it. This will result in unnecessary car use.
The two areas for major housing development in Tring proposed
in the most recent draft district plan, Dunsley Farm and
Marshcroft, offer contrasting cases when it comes to connectivity
with the town centre. Dunsley Farm (which in my view should
remain, erm, a farm) is at least in close proximity to the town
centre. The Marshcroft area is at a considerable distance from
it, and it is hard to see how development there could ever satisfy
these criteria.
The stress on the railway system and its access to London is
looking a bit dated in view of recent events. In any case it strikes
me as undesirable to posit Dacorum in terms of a commuter

110

Page 449



wonderland. Elsewhere, the concept of flexible work patterns is
stressed, and I would argue that this will be more than ever
necessary for the post-Covid world.
It is not made clear how any of these documents might relate
to, and be compatible with, the current Government proposals
for the planning system, which are aimed (in my view, wrongly)
at simplifying the system. Would not these proposals be seen
as further complicating it? Are they compatible with the new
concept of Local Development Orders?

Include files

DSDG58ID

1207604Person ID

Thames Water Planning PolicyFull Name

C/O SavillsOrganisation Details
Thames Water Planning Policy

Person ID

Full Name

Position

Company / Organisation

Question 1 - Part 1: Design Process - Do you consider that
the documents have identified the key characteristics of
Dacorum and its wider Hertfordshire context?
* Yes
* No

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the key
characteristics.

Include files

Question 2 - Part 2: Design Principles - Do you consider that
the detailed design principles (as set out under each of the
10 broad categories) will be effective in securing high quality
development?
* Yes
* No

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the draft detailed
design principles.

Include files

Question 3 - Part 3: Employment Uses Guidance - Do you
consider that the guidance on designing employment
buildings and areas will meet the future needs of Dacorum?
* Yes
* No

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the guidance on
designing employment buildings and areas.

Include files

YesQuestion 4 - General Comments - Overall, do you have any
other comments regarding the Draft Strategic DesignGuide
SPD?
* Yes
* No

Thank you for consulting Thames Water on the Draft Strategic
Design Guide SPD for Dacorum. Thames Water is the statutory
sewerage undertaker for the borough.
General Comments

If yes, please provide you comments along with any
supporting information you may have.

111

Page 450



Thames Water support the inclusion of requirements for SuDS
andwater efficiencymeasures in new development. The inclusion
of SuDS can help to ensure that development does not overload
existing sewerage networks and surface water sewers and can
help reduce the requirement for sewerage network upgrades.
New development proposals may have an impact on off-site
sewerage infrastructure requiring upgrades to the network. These
would be provided by Thames Water and funded through the
infrastructure charge for new development, however, the
timescales for delivery can vary. Local network upgrades can
take around 18 months to design and construct while strategic
upgrades could take 3-5 years.
Thames Water support section 2.2.2 which requires designs to
demonstrate ‘Adequate provision of land for business and
infrastructure including transport, utilities, community and green
infrastructure, which as a minimum achieves/complies with the
required space standards for each type of infrastructure.’
To assist with this requirement in relation to wastewater
infrastructure, the design guide could incorporate supporting text
encouraging developers to contact Thames Water to discuss
the drainage requirements for their development ahead of the
submission of any applications.
I trust the above and enclosed comments are satisfactory, but
please do not hesitate to contact me if you have any queries.

Include files

DSDG59ID

868541Person ID

Mr Michael CurryFull Name

Town ClerkOrganisation Details
Tring Town Council

Person ID

Full Name

Position

Company / Organisation

Question 1 - Part 1: Design Process - Do you consider that
the documents have identified the key characteristics of
Dacorum and its wider Hertfordshire context?
* Yes
* No

• Page 17 "Site Context Examples of What to Observe" at
"grasslands" add "especially species rich grassland". This Natural

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the key
characteristics. England information could be added as a reference (Whilst

identifying whether grassland is alkaline or neutral is necessary,
it isn't sufficient.):
http://www.magnificentmeadows.org.uk/assets/pdfs/How_to_identify_different_types_of_grassland.pdf
• Page 26 "Public Transport" photo and words. 2nd sentence re
connectivity to railheads at least needs "highly" before "desirable"
and "is essential" is preferred
• The inclusion at Page 27 in Supplementary Information of
"walking time studies" is pleasing as that's crucial to
understanding the feasibility (or otherwise) of minimising car
dependency.
• The "Observing Places Examples" (pages 44 – 47) should be
very helpful to developers from out of area

Include files

Question 2 - Part 2: Design Principles - Do you consider that
the detailed design principles (as set out under each of the

112

Page 451



10 broad categories) will be effective in securing high quality
development?
* Yes
* No

• Part 2 isn't sufficiently strong on renewable energy (unlike Part
3 on employment). That insufficient strength seems partly to be

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the draft detailed
design principles. an unintended consequence of the very strong emphasis on

design layout of housing needing to reflect the traditional layout
specific to the type of place. That means that the layouts shown
in the section on Spatial Typologies often militate against
effective renewable energy via solar PV and solar thermal on
about half the houses (houses need to be aligned roughly
east-west so as to receive on suitable roof facing between SW
and SSE), and in some cases may well mitigate against
Passivhaus standard, where spacing between adjacent rows is
very important
• Emphasis on mixed types of affordable homes on a
development, and having them mixed in with the rest of the
housing is a positive feature
• A commitment that in design within and around developments
the car is subservient to pedestrians and cyclists e.g. Dutch
roundabouts
• Roads & Parking
o Para 5.2.5 "For all street types, carriageways with the minimum
width possible...." Need to consider omitting "all", because what
about bus access, waste/recycling truck access, emergency
vehicle access
o Para 5.11.5 exacerbates the above by providing for cars
parking on the pavement. That is illegal (although common) and
would be problematic for parents/carers with buggies/toddlers,
and for elderly people especially those with disabilities
o Para 5.2.5 is also incompatible with para 5.11.2 and the use
of on-street parking, unless on-street parking is allowed only in
bays
o Para 5.11.4. Car park surfaces should also be to SUDs
standard
o Charging facilities should be provided to encourage adoption
of electric local delivery vehicles and buses
• Orientation. Para 8.7.1 What's discussed here is expressed
more clearly in Part 3 para E.05.1. Orientation of houses to
achieve what's proposed here needs stating, plus specific
distances from other buildings to avoid roof shadowing (which
significantly reduces the performance of roof mounted solar PV)
• Adaptation. This should surely apply both ways e.g. houses to
make them easily adaptable for staying in as occupants become
disabled/unsteady on feet/difficulty with stairs

Include files

Question 3 - Part 3: Employment Uses Guidance - Do you
consider that the guidance on designing employment
buildings and areas will meet the future needs of Dacorum?
* Yes
* No

• E.06.3 Add "repair shops"
• E.07.2 Add "public transport links to nearest mainline rail
station"
• E.08.1 EV parking bays should be at all employment units (not
just in "key areas" which is a very vague, imprecise phrase)

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the guidance on
designing employment buildings and areas.

Include files

Question 4 - General Comments - Overall, do you have any
other comments regarding the Draft Strategic DesignGuide
SPD?
* Yes

113

Page 452



* No

1. Summary
The Town Council welcomed the approach adopted and the
implicit recognition of the importance good design in its widest

If yes, please provide you comments along with any
supporting information you may have.

context can play in Part 1. The principles articulated in Part 2
are obvious, fundamental objectives if a sustainable, connected
and healthy community is to be achieved. The SPD is going to
be a key document given the direction the Government appears
to be going form the recent White Paper ‘Planning for the Future’.
That Part 3 reflects the aims and ambitions of the Parts 1 & 2 is
important because of the significance proportion of time
dedicated to one’s work. It is an integral part of achieving the
community objectives.
The major criticism is that whilst taking a more holistic approach
to community development, the draft Design Guide has not gone
far enough in its considerations of howmodern trends are blurring
the distinction between residence, leisure and work. COVID19
was accelerated these trends – home working, the decline of
retail and the need for town (& village) centres to play a different
role as articulated in the Grimsey Reports 1& 2.
The typological examples give the evolutionary perspective on
how communities have developed. But given the lifestyle trends
and the scale of development being faced now, which is radical
not evolutionary, growth cannot be accommodated simply by
more of the same.
Looking at the changes that are taking place now, there are
parallels to the Industrial Revolution and whether-or-not the
outcome is rows of back-to-backs next to the pit or mill, which
at the time represented an improvement over rural housing albeit
relatively short-lived, or the more philanthropic approach behind
Port Sunlight/Bourneville where investment was made in the
community, which has stood the test of time.
Building methods, standards and infrastructure are an integral
part of achieving good design and cannot be considered in
isolation. Therefore they must be specified in a meaningful way
that tackles energy efficiency and sustainability and not
abandoned in the quest for speed and simplicity by sticking to
minimum standards.
Technology exists now to radically move the building industry
away from traditional bricks and mortar often in ways that deliver
higher standards more quickly facilitating the oft quoted ‘building
beauty’ in the White Paper (It is appreciated that the draft was
prepared prior to the publication of the White Paper).
There is a role for the SPD to play in encouraging the use of
local materials.

Include files

DSDG60ID

742209Person ID

Mr. Steve MelliganFull Name

The Crown EstateOrganisation Details

1251771Person ID

Andrew WatsonFull Name

Position

SavillsCompany / Organisation

Question 1 - Part 1: Design Process - Do you consider that
the documents have identified the key characteristics of
Dacorum and its wider Hertfordshire context?
* Yes
* No

114

Page 453



The document sets out a design process for new developments
to follow in order to achieve the Council’s design expectations.

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the key
characteristics. Page 8 (How to use this guide) contains a diagram that provide

a broad overview of the planning process for strategic sites. This
differs from the same diagram that was displayed on page 8 of
the SADC Strategic Site Design Principles document and could
result in conflicts with the cross boundary applications. It is also
noted that the DBC diagram consider that pre-application
discussions would not be involved in the creation of Frameworks
or for Reserved Matters applications. From our experience
ongoing discussions via Planning Performance Agreement are
required for larger and complex sites. These discussions will
need to include that of Design Frameworks and details attached
to Reserved Matters applications. Furthermore, it suggests
streets and spaces are a Reserved Matters issue. TCE’s
experience of the East Hemel masterplanning process is that
this is something for earlier consideration. The guidance should
be clearer on this, and a consistent approach would be
welcomed.
Page 42 (Spatial typologies) refers to ‘hoe typology’ with
development parallel to the topography and roads/pavements
perpendicular with the contours. It is likely that these
roads/pavements will exceedHertfordshire County Council (HCC)
slope angles and will be non-compliant with highways standards.
As was noted to SADC regarding the Strategic Spatial
Masterplan, it is not clear whether developers will accept non
ambulant disabled streets and pavements due to the steepness
of some parts of the site. This is a potential conflict between
historic replication of character areas and the physical limitations
of the site. Each of the five sketches on pages 42-43 represent
houses as long thin narrow wide frontages – this will not deliver
a density of 40dph as the density of properties cannot be
delivered through wide frontage property.

Include files

Question 2 - Part 2: Design Principles - Do you consider that
the detailed design principles (as set out under each of the
10 broad categories) will be effective in securing high quality
development?
* Yes
* No

The second part of the DSDG details the design principles which
will set a high standard for new development in order to achieve

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the draft detailed
design principles. sustainable growth and retain the design of Dacorum’s places.

The following observations have been made:
Page 12 para 4.2.3 this goes beyond the remit of what would be
expected as part of a planning application. It should be removed,
or the intent clarified.
Page 21 item 6.3.2 suggests adequate threshold space for
dwellings. If this is applied rigidly then Mews streets and
frontages that directly address the pavements will not be
supported. Notably, properties with direct access to the street is
a characteristic of some of Dacorum’s Conservation Areas.
Page 22 Item 6.6.3 (numbering should be 6.7.1) please note
that some statutory authorities require access and therefore
internal utility boxes may be resisted, although this could
potentially be overcome by smart metering.
Page 24 item 7.4.4 this paragraphs suggests that parks should
meet Green Flag standards but does not provide a quality
threshold. Clarity would be welcomed on this point.
Page 26 item 8.1.1 The requirement for BREEAM Excellent for
buildings over 1,000 sq m is onerous and should be set at Very
Good, with an aspiration for Excellent.

115

Page 454



Page 29 item 8.7.2 requests that large developments incorporate
sustainable district heating and power networks. As per our
Energy Strategy PPA meeting (Land at East Hemel), district
energy networks are only effective at the scale and density of
East Hemel and NWHH if: there is a source of waste heat to be
exploited centrally and distributed; and there is a mix of uses
with simultaneous heating/cooling demands that facilitate energy
sharing in denser locations (e.g. district centres). The requirement
for mandated district heating and power networks may not be
appropriate and its feasibility should be investigated.
Page 33 item 10.5.1 clarification of the intent – planning stage
should read ‘reserved matters stage’

Include files

Question 3 - Part 3: Employment Uses Guidance - Do you
consider that the guidance on designing employment
buildings and areas will meet the future needs of Dacorum?
* Yes
* No

The third part of the DSDG provides guidance on the design of
employment developments.
TCE would like to make the following comments:
Page 4 the diagram is unclear as to what applicants should
achieve.
Page 6 item E.02.4 sports provision is not embedded in the
LEHH employment zone because of physical constraints (e.g.

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the guidance on
designing employment buildings and areas.

HSE DPZ zone) as concentration of people is prohibited. We
would expect DBC to acknowledge this and take a flexible
approach.
Page 10 E.03.1 (References to Green roofs): TCE do not support
the use of green roofs on
commercial buildings where their use would compromise viability.
The guidance should be outcomes focussed, deliveringmaximum
ecological and social value as opposed to prescribing specific
initiatives.
Page 14 item E.05.4 the requirement for BREEAM Excellent for
buildings over 1,000 sq m is onerous and should be set at Very
Good, with an aspiration for Excellent.
Page 24 diagrams are not representative of modern industrial
units, with limited servicing and reference to undercroft parking.
TCE would suggest this is misleading and should contain more
reference to building types similar to that of nearby Prologis Park,
Hemel.
Page 25 (Diagram 1) a strategic approach to servicing contains
prescriptive dimensions that are wrong, suggesting that service
yards would operate on a 27m depth and are enclosed. This is
incorrect.
Page 25, Reference to social hubs is potentially misleading:
Buildings are required to function to the end user operations and
so the guidance should not be limiting how each unit can be set
out.
Page 26 (Industrial Units): best practice examples. Examples
used are overly bespoke, and not representational of best
practice within large industrial units.
Page 27 (Parking and Servicing) Parking on roofs is not
considered good practice. Whilst it is
possible, it should not be within the design toolkit, and is more
aligned to an urban location where space is tight.

Include files

Question 4 - General Comments - Overall, do you have any
other comments regarding the Draft Strategic DesignGuide
SPD?
* Yes
* No

116

Page 455



Land East of Hemel (LEHH) – Bespoke Situation
Whilst the opening context of Part 1 explains that a joined-up
approach to HGC with SADC and Herts IQ has been taken, it is

If yes, please provide you comments along with any
supporting information you may have.

not evident throughout the guidance. Paragraph 4.1.7 of the draft
SADCStrategic Spatial Masterplanning Toolkit (SSMT) explains
that a the north and east of Hemel Hempstead broad locations
will be subject to a bespoke process and will be developed with
DBC and other stakeholders. It is note that the bespoke approach
to LEHH in not included in the DSDG and TCE consider that it
should be included to provide consistency across the
development.
Justify or Comply
TCEwelcomes the flexibility provided by the pragmatic approach
of justify or comply:
‘The Strategic Design Guide is to be used following a principle
of ‘Comply or Justify’. Deviation from the principles and design
processes set out will only be permitted with robust and
evidence-based justification for doing so. In such cases,
developers and their design teams must demonstrate that their
proposals will deliver the very highest quality design that aligns
with the aims of each Design Principle theme.’ (page 7, draft
Part 1).
It is important to recognise that design is subjective, and there
may be many different responses to a site. It is encouraging that
both DBC and SADC have recognised this within their draft
design guidance as it will allow the Local Authorities to deal with
deviations from their design guidance documents pragmatically.
However, it is important that the guidance contained within the
documents is realistic and at the moment there are concerns
that the guidance, as drafted, introduces unrealistic and
undeliverable requirements.

Include files

DSDG61ID

737184Person ID

Mr Tim NodenFull Name

Planning ManagerOrganisation Details
Harrow Estates

868800Person ID

Mrs Sam RyanFull Name

DirectorPosition

Turley EstatesCompany / Organisation

NoQuestion 1 - Part 1: Design Process - Do you consider that
the documents have identified the key characteristics of
Dacorum and its wider Hertfordshire context?
* Yes
* No

The Guide presents sound advice in terms of how to approach
a site and gain an understanding of its context and attributes, to

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the key
characteristics. show how these should inform a robust design concept. The

process section presents some spatial typologies based on
historic settlements in the district that are used to explain how
contemporary developments can reflect local distinctiveness
through replicating patterns in urban form. However, it appears
to place over-emphasis on historic and small scale samples for
reference; those typologies would not be easily replicated in
larger developments in a way that would not necessarily meet
the demands or requirements of modern lifestyles. In particular,
the analysis gives the overall impression that all twentieth century
housing in the district has failed to create good places and as a
consequence, it can be disregarded in terms of a reference for

117

Page 456



future places. Yet, there are numerous places in Dacorum
including tree-lined streets and compact walkable suburbs, that
remain very popular places to live. It is recommended that the
Guide identify the most successful and sustainable examples of
twentieth century popular places to live and also include those
as references for future developments.
Page 5 Dacorum's Design Aspirations - We support the strategic
design aspirations and the proposed “strategic approach to
design at all scales, embracing nationally-recognised best
practice whilst responding to the characteristics and features
which are unique and distinctive to Dacorum”.
Page 6 - The Strategic Design Guide was prepared through
collaboration with St Albans City and District Council (SADC)
and Herts IQ, in recognition that the features which make the
local area distinctive are not contained by administrative
boundaries - It is unclear whether other stakeholders, including
the local community, were involved in development of this Design
Guide. It is important to capture the views, aspirations and
architectural tastes of local people since they will be living in the
new developments and communities created. The NPPF states
that effective engagement with communities is essential in
achieving well-designed places; in those circumstances it would
be appropriate and in accordance with policy to ensure that the
design approach and imagery presented in the draft Design
Guide is informed by consultation or collaboration with the local
community; for example through workshops with residents or
community groups, and a poll of architectural styles, ensuring
the views, desires and aspirations for new places reflect
community preferences. Alternatively, there should be flexibility
within the SPD to allow for departures to be justified where this
reflects community feedback following site specific local
consultation.
We note that all of the imagery presented in the Design Guide
is of contemporary design. Whilst this may appeal to some
people, it is clear that many people still have a preference for
traditional styles when it comes to choosing a home. This is
demonstrated in the Policy Exchange survey of 5,000 people in
2018
(https://policyexchange.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/Building-More-Building-Beautiful-for-print.pdf).
For ‘suburban settings’ (page 44) the 1930s homes was voted
the one with the right look and feel by participants. 1930s inspired
architecture also emerged as the most ‘acceptable’ style of home
in a survey of 1,100 councillors in the book “Building in Arcadia”
(2019).
In Redrow’s representations to the Building Beautiful
Commission, the company noted how its customers have a
preference for Arts and Crafts style homes suggesting that any
definition of beauty should reflect the tastes of home owners;
this was agreed by the Commission. Please see pages 114-115
of the Living with Beauty report -
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/861832/Living_with_beauty_BBBBC_report.pdf
Pages 7-9 - A three-stage design process based on observing,
evaluating and making a place - this three stage design process
is supported
Page 10-31 - Observing place in respect of topography, geology,
water, green infrastructure and landscape, ecology and
biodiversity, historical legacy, visual exposure, enclosure and
shelter and connectivity, edges and boundaries and land use.
- The approaches set out under these headings are supported
and will help to create responsive, successful places.
Pages 32 - Context: Urban Grain and Built Form “The variety in
morphology and grain characteristic of old settlements is often
missing in new developments, which tend to be comparatively
monotonous in appearance as a result” - We are concerned that
the Guide’s sweeping critique of modern developments and

118

Page 457



apparent reliance on historical building patterns is unhelpful. As
a starting point, the guidance for new homes and communities
should reflect how people live today – the modern functional
requirements of new homes and places – as well as the desires,
aspirations and tastes of the people who will live there. Such
approach will deliver sustainable places where people will be
happy.
There are a number of images of modern developments with
more traditional architectural styles within the “Building for a
Healthy Life” Design Toolkit which are shown to be good “green”
examples
(https://www.udg.org.uk/sites/default/files/publications/files/14JULY20%20BFL%202020%20Brochure_3.pdf).
While fine grained and high density development may be
appropriate in town centres and inner urban areas, this should
not be a ‘catch-all’ model for the delivery of attractive, functional
and practical places to live.
The Guide would benefit from revisions to include reference to
the wide variety of popular, attractive residential places to live
across Dacorum.
For example, local Estate Agents in Tring have consistently
reported that the most popular streets to live in the town are
grove park road, tring hill, and station road.The Design Guide
should be revised to include reference to these and other very
popular twentieth century streets in the borough, in recognition
of the many qualities that residents value, including a green
setting, detached homes, practical and functional on-plot parking,
and attractive traditionally-inspired architecture. Houses with a
sense of homeliness and cosiness arranged along a
recognisable, attractive, tree-lined street. Such values should
also be recognised as an important driver for delivering popular,
successful places to live. Their absence from the Guide is a
notable omission. It is possible to design compact, sustainable
new places comprising very sustainable homes, designed to
reflect peoples’ preference for traditional architecture and
arranged along recognisable and desirable tree-lined streets.
As drafted, the Guide appears to preclude this type of approach
and does not reflect the preferences of many of the borough’s
residents.
Pages 36 and 37 - This section sets out what to look for in
appraising the local architectural vernacular - The use of local
material palettes and distinctive architectural detailing may be
particularly important considerations where development is
proposed close to an area of identified local distinctiveness (such
as a Conservation Area or Listed Building). However, this is not
necessarily an appropriate approach for all development sites.
In most locations new development should be informed by its
immediate surroundings enabling it be well integrated into the
local area. The National Design Guide states that well-designed
new development should be based on an understanding of “the
architecture prevalent in the area, including the local vernacular
and other precedents that contribute to local character, to inform
the form, scale, appearance, details and materials of new
development.”
(https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/843468/National_Design_Guide.pdf)
The draft Design Guide should be revised to explain that the
architecture prevalent in an area is an acceptable reference for
new developments..
Pages 38-43 - “Identifying patterns” and “Spatial typologies”
These pages set out “some spatial typologies observed in
settlements in Dacorum and St Albans.” 5 Spatial Typologies
are presented all of which are based on historic small scale
sample clusters of buildings, such as: around a green; a
farmstead courtyard; a group of longhouses; a high density
market street; longhouses along contours - The typologies
presented present a useful reference for housing developments
of c. 10-20 dwellings. While elements of those typologies could

119

Page 458



be included within larger developments, they are not appropriate
for creating the framework necessary for larger scale housing
schemeswhere additional elements such as recognisable streets,
hierarchy of routes and spaces, and defined perimeter blocks
are necessary to deliver a legible place.
The diagram on page 38 showing how historic settlement forms
may be useful as part of the narrative to inform layout of new
residential areas. It would benefit from further elaboration and
reference to successful, well-designed and popular residential
areas that include a range of densities and a clear hierarchy of
streets.

Pages 48-53 - Evaluating Place - This section offers very clear
and helpful guidance on how to identify the strengths and
opportunities of a site and filter these into a responsive design
concept.

Page 66 - This section explains that “Neighbourhoods should
be clearly defined by the framework elements, with the potential
for clusters of different typologies within the neighbourhoods”
- This section would benefit from including an explanation of
street types and how these are important in creating a successful
place. Streets are an important element in delivering a successful
and well-design place and whilst principles for streets are
included in Part 2 of the Guide, Part 1 makes no reference to
the design of a clear and legible street hierarchy. It is not possible
to create a sustainable, legible and well-ordered development
(especially on larger sites) by applying clusters of different
typologies without a clear street network to apply them to.
Page 70 - Making a Place: Spatial Typologies - Although it is
explained that “These spatial typologies are not exhaustive,
design teams can identify further spatial typologies through an
assessment of historic built form and landscape”, those presented
fail to recognise the importance of creating recognisable streets.
Beyond a small housing development of 10-20 dwellings it is
difficult to understand or interpret how these typologies are to
be applied.The diagram on page 70 misses out what is probably
the most important organising element in any successful place
– the street network. This should be added between
neighbourhoods and spatial typologies. Spatial typologies should
also be expanded to include reference to successful examples
of housing development fromDacorum the last 50 years including
tree-lined streets comprising high quality, desirable homes.
Pages 72-78 - Contemporary spatial typologies Four
‘Contemporary Spatial Typologies’ are presented Rather than
the usual way of presenting design guidance through street
typologies and character areas, Part 1 of the Design Guide
presents a series of typologies featuring worked up areas of
development. While this is useful at a macro scale, it makes
interpretation of the guidance for larger sites (> 50 dwellings)
difficult to follow.
Detailed comments on each of the typologies are set out below:
The Green and The Ham / Worth:
This typology is based on ‘structured courtyard typologies, like
farmsteads or almshouses, forming architectural ‘set pieces’
within the landscape.
It is difficult to interpret how these principles are to be applied to
a development unless the intention is to replicate the illustrative
layout shown.
The example includes a number of elements that would not be
helpful in creating a legible, permeable and popular place to live:
- East-west permeability for pedestrians and cyclists is
compromised (a street-based system would be better)

120

Page 459



- The layout would not be easy to understand and legibility is
compromised without a clear hierarchy of street types / spaces
and movement routes
- Rear parking courtyards are inconvenient for residents and are
likely to lead to uncontrolled parking to the front. All of the
example images feature contemporary designed homes which
may not necessarily reflect the local vernacular or be preferred
by the local community.
This selection of images should be revised to include examples
of homes of a traditional design and appearance which research
has shown continue to be very popular with the borough’s
residents.
A number of possible images are offered below (see table
attachment to response). The high resolution versions can be
issued to the Council if it wishes to include these.
The hoe:
The use of only terraced housing is likely to lead to
parking-dominated streets. The illustration could be improved
by adding a greater variety of house types including terraced
homes with parking to the side which is convenient for residents
and minimises the impact of cars within the street scene.
- The north south routes prevent movement by cyclists,
wheelchair users and cars and are poorly defined as not enclosed
by built form. Amendments would be useful to show how
north-south permeability for all vehicles can be delivered, with
well-defined and overlooked streets and spaces.
All of the example images feature contemporary designed homes
which may not necessarily reflect the local vernacular or be
preferred by the local community.
This selection of images should be revised to include examples
of homes of a traditional design and appearance which research
has shown continue to be very popular.
Possible additional images are offered below and in earlier
comments above. The high resolution versions can be issued
to the Council if it wishes to include these.

The Stead/Sted:
This illustration presents a potentially confusing arrangement of
buildings and spaces that could be difficult to understand and
move though. A traditional street-based network (rather than
development blocks within space) would be easier to understand,
easier to service and access andmore efficient.All of the example
images feature contemporary designed homes which may not
necessarily reflect the local vernacular or be preferred by the
local community.
This selection of images should be revised to include examples
of homes of a traditional design and appearance which research
has shown continue to be very popular.
Images such as the below are offered for inclusion in the report,
as well as those referenced in previous comments.

The Bourne/End
The rear elevations of the homes facing the green define the
edge of the street to the north. This presents challenges in terms
of a satisfactory overlooking of the street and creating a secure
boundary. We would question the position of the street in this
example and suggest that it relocated to the front of those
dwellings facing the green using shared materials / private
driveways with off-road parking for all vehicles to soften the
effect.
All of the example images feature contemporary designed homes
which may not necessarily reflect the local vernacular or be
preferred by the local community.

121

Page 460



This selection of images should be revised to include examples
of homes of a traditional design and appearance which research
has shown continue to be very popular.
Images such as the below are offered for inclusion in the report,
as well as those referenced in previous comments.

Include files

YesQuestion 2 - Part 2: Design Principles - Do you consider that
the detailed design principles (as set out under each of the
10 broad categories) will be effective in securing high quality
development?
* Yes
* No

Part 2 of the Guide sets out clear, very helpful design principles
to guide development and ensure that sustainable places with

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the draft detailed
design principles. a sense of community will be delivered. Many of the design

principles reflect our own commitments to delivering great places
that are well-connected and easy to get around, include
destinations within walking distance, careful integration of people
and nature, and delivery of streets for living.
Some detailed comments are set out in the accompanying table.
The attached comments form includes some suggested images
for contemporary designs by way of example. We would be
pleased to provide higher resolution versions of those images if
they would be useful for inclusion in the final version of the Guide.
Page 6 - 1. A Distinctive Place It is stated in the Overview that
“Putting lessons from the local context into practice should be
achieved through good modern design and innovation not in a
tokenistic or cynical way, or through pastiche.” - Whilst innovative
and modern designs should be encouraged it should also be
recognised that homes with a traditional design and appearance
(such as Arts and Crafts inspired homes) continue to be very
popular with many people. These homes can be designed for
modern lifestyles while meeting modern sustainability and
efficiency standards. The text should be amended to: “Putting
lessons from the local context into practice should be achieved
through reflecting the character of existing buildings in the
immediate locality (as suggested in the National Design Guide).
Good modern design and innovation should be encouraged
where appropriate.
Page 15 - 5. Great Streets and Public Spaces Sets out principles
for creating legible and navigable places using a clear hierarchy
of streets comprising primary, secondary and tertiary streets
- We agree with this approach and the principles set out.
However, we note that this detailed guidance appears to conflict
with the “Contemporary Spatial Typologies” set out in Part 1. As
drafted in Part 1 those Contemporary Spatial Typologies are
likely to cause confusion (see comments above); they should
either be deleted or revised to inform the more detailed design
principles set out in Part 2.We support the principles for creating
great streets. However, the imagery should be revised to present
amore balancedmix of contemporary and traditional architectural
styles (images in table email response)
Page 18 - We support the principles for creating great streets.
However, the imagery should be revised to present a more
balancedmix of contemporary and traditional architectural styles.
Page 20 - 6.Great Homes - Whilst the principles for creating
great homes that are sustainable, spacious and designed for
modern living are supported the imagery should be balanced
with more examples of traditional architectural styles which many
people continue to have a preference for when choosing a new
home.

122

Page 461



Page 23 - 7. active and healthy - We support these principles
for delivering active and attractive places that encourage walking,
cycling and other activities.
Page 26 - 8. Facing the climate crisis - The requirements set out
in 8.1, 8.4, 8.5, 8.6, 8.7 and 8.8 go beyond what is currently and
will be required through the Future Homes Standard implemented
through the Building Regulations. The text should be revised to
make it clear that these additional exemplary standards are
encouraged but are not mandatory.
We support the aspiration for high sustainability standards for
new buildings, however the BREEAM targets set out in 8.1.1
must be subject to technical and commercial viability to ensure
that specific sustainability opportunities, and any constraints
relating to each particular site and development proposal, are
appropriately accounted for.
8.1.2 seeks certification of all new dwellings to the BRE’s Home
Quality Mark Five Star rating. While we support measures to
ensure that homes are built to the highest quality, a requirement
for five star certification for all new homes is unrealistic and
unlikely to be achieved.
The Home Quality Mark website
(https://www.homequalitymark.com/discover/how-is-it-assessed/)
states that a Five Star rating “signifies a truly outstanding home
which pushes the boundaries”. Similarly, a Sustainable Housing
Options Paper prepared for Babergh and Mid Suffolk District
Councils
(https://baberghmidsuffolk.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s3096/X-55-16%20Appendix%20a.pdf)
notes that, in contrast with other sustainable housing standards
such as Passivhaus and Zero Carbon Homes which apply solely
to the building in question, the HomeQuality Mark also considers
the building’s surroundings including transport links, air quality
and ecology. The report concludes that this difference “makes
it far more difficult to construct a property with a HQM score of
4 or 5, as constructing a high quality building simply isn’t enough”.
The report also notes that as a relatively new methodology (with
only a limited number of completed new homes certified), costs
for the Home Quality Mark assessment, certification and the
additional build for the home are not yet known or understood
among the industry. We are not aware of any HomeQuality Mark
Five Star dwellings having beencompleted to date. The
requirement for five-star certification across the borough is not
evidenced and likely to have a significant adverse impact on
viability, and hence deliverability, of new homes.
The SPD should be amended to remove the requirement for
Five Star rating and make clear that any requirement for Homes
Quality Mark certification must be subject to both technical and
commercial feasibility. In any event, the recent consultation on
the Future Homes Standard is scheduled to introducemandatory
requirements from 2025; if necessary this could be referenced
in the SPD
The ambition of 8.1.3 to move towards zero carbon homes is
supported, however critical considerations include the specific
“zero carbon” definition to be applied and the timescales for
achieving this target.
Rather than developing their own standard for net zero buildings,
it would make sense for Dacorum to apply a recognised standard
applied elsewhere in the UK, for example the UKGreen Building
Council’s Net Zero Carbon Buildings Framework (April 2019) or
RIBA’s Sustainable Outcomes Guide (2019). This approach will
help promote a common understanding across project teams
and ensure that knowledge gained from projects elsewhere is
relevant and directly applicable in terms of what does and does
not work as well as helping avoid the situation where national
operators are required to respond to varying standards across
their estate.

123

Page 462



The requirement of 8.5.1 for building orientation and internal
layouts to maximise solar gain potentially conflicts significantly
with the requirement of 8.5.3 to ensure an appropriate mitigation
strategy to avoid summertime overheating Section 8.5.1 should
therefore be amended to note the balance that is required
between maximising natural daylight within new dwellings (and
therefore solar gain) with the need to avoid summertime
overheating risks. Reference could also be made to the cooling
hierarchy as implemented by London Plan Policy 5.9 Overheating
& Cooling.
8.7.1 seeks either the provision of solar panels and battery
storage for all new homes and commercial buildings, with any
buildings that do not have solar panels integrated needing to be
designed to enable their future installation. It must be noted
however that not all new buildings are suitable for solar panels
(hence also battery storage) due to considerations including
orientation, roof design and overshadowing from adjacent
structures such as other buildings or trees. Such requirement
is, therefore, unreasonable, particularly as it would result in
increased build costs with no apparent purpose. The SPD should
be amended to set out a clear aspiration for all development to
support installation of renewal energy sources, in particular solar
panels of battery storage, unless it is not feasible or economically
viable to do so.
8.7.2 seeks the incorporation of sustainable district heating and
power networks (CHP) for large developments. It should be noted
however that, due to updated carbon factors (SAP10.1) for grid
electricity and mains gas, gas is now a higher carbon fuel
compared with electricity per kWh. For this reason, combined
heat and power (CHP) is increasingly likely to result in greater
carbon emissions than (especially where mains-gas fired as is
typically the case) compared with an all-electric energy strategy
including heat pumps for example. The Committee on Climate
Change recommends that no new dwellings are connected to
the gas network from 2025, with low carbon heating provided
instead such as heat pumps or connection to an appropriate
heat network. The SPD should therefore be amended to
recognise the significant changes in this area and that low carbon
heating (e.g. air source heat pumps or heat networks) are
scheduled to be required for all new homes from 2025 as part
of the Future Homes Standard.

Include files

Question 3 - Part 3: Employment Uses Guidance - Do you
consider that the guidance on designing employment
buildings and areas will meet the future needs of Dacorum?
* Yes
* No

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the guidance on
designing employment buildings and areas.

Include files

YesQuestion 4 - General Comments - Overall, do you have any
other comments regarding the Draft Strategic DesignGuide
SPD?
* Yes
* No

The Guide includes a number of requirements for new homes
that go beyond what is currently and will be required through the

If yes, please provide you comments along with any
supporting information you may have.

Future Homes Standard implemented through the Building
Regulations – this is likely to impact upon the viability and, hence,
delivery of new homes in the borough. The text should be revised

124

Page 463



to make it clear that these additional exemplary standards are
encouraged but are not mandatory.

Include files

DSDG62ID

1248898Person ID

Sarah GriffithsFull Name

LQ EstatesOrganisation Details

1250850Person ID

Mr Neil CoxFull Name

Position

Company / Organisation

Question 1 - Part 1: Design Process - Do you consider that
the documents have identified the key characteristics of
Dacorum and its wider Hertfordshire context?
* Yes
* No

Part 1: Design Process
This section is intended to identify the key characteristics of
Dacorum and its wider Hertfordshire context. L&Q Estates is

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the key
characteristics.

supportive of this overall approach subject to a number of
comments. Page 8 of the SPD sets out the planning process in
relation to the design process. The planning process includes
reference to Design Review Panels and Design Code(s). It should
be clarified that these elements will not apply in all instances
and the SPD should define which sites will be subject to design
codes, for example strategic allocations, and define the type of
applications that would be expected to be subject to the Design
Review Panel. It should be clarified that where a site conforms
with an adopted Design Code, it will not be required to go through
the Design Review Panel.
The ‘Observing Place’ section sets out a series of key topics for
consideration of a site. The principle of this is supported however
a number of the categories include information which go beyond
what would be required to inform the design process and would
not be applicable for all sites. The SPD should reflect the need
for flexibility dependent on the particular context of the site. For
example, the Water Section sets out that watershed boundaries
are required. Whilst this is relevant to the drainage strategy for
a site which should be integrated into the design, the watershed
boundary is not particularly relevant to the site design and would
be better focusing on water features and drainage either on-site
or in the immediate vicinity. Similarly, the Environmental
Exposure, Enclosure and Shelter section suggests that a site
plan showing the orientation of slope, sun path, wind direction
and other environmental features should be provided. This is
unlikely to be relevant to all sites and should reflect the need for
flexibility depending on the specific characteristics of individual
sites.
The Observing Place Checklist sets out the ‘Key Outputs and
Supplementary Information’ that should be provided for each
site. The SPD states that the Key Outputs are prescriptive. This
is not supported as it is overly rigid and will require information
to be provided which is not relevant to all sites, potentially at the
expense of other more relevant considerations which are not
listed. It is suggested that the ‘Key Outputs’ should be guidance
and, where certain outputs are not provided, a short justification
should be provided explaining why this was not necessary for
this site. This would reflect the overall ‘comply or justify’ approach
of this document. The ‘Evaluating Place and Making a Place
Checklists’ are to be considered a starting point and may vary

125

Page 464



according to the nature of the site and proposed development.
This approach is supported.
As part of the ‘Making a Place’ section, the SPD sets out the
ingredients of community as the SPD intends that the spatial
requirements of a community should form a foundational element
of the design framework. It sets out the minimum requirements
for applicants and their design teams, for example this includes
liaising with the Lead Local Flood Authority and Local Education
Authority, amongst other requirements. These requirements
should form part of pre-application discussions with the Council
and the relevant consultees should be involved in this process.

Include files

Question 2 - Part 2: Design Principles - Do you consider that
the detailed design principles (as set out under each of the
10 broad categories) will be effective in securing high quality
development?
* Yes
* No

This section outlines Dacorum’s strategic design expectations
and the design process to achieve this. It makes reference to

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the draft detailed
design principles. National Design Guide Principles which is supported in general

however details have not been provided and this needs to be
clarified and L&Q Estates wish to reserve the right to comment
on these details at a later date if necessary.
Section Five, ‘Great Streets and Public Spaces’ includes design
guidance for highways (in particular, paragraphs 5.2, 5.9, 5.10
and 5.11). This Section should be agreed with the Local
Highways Authority, including the Adoption Team, to ensure that
proposals will be acceptable in highways terms and meet
adoptable standards. Agreement from the Highways Authority
is crucial in ensuring that design guidance is implementable.
This will apply to other sections which are also relevant to
highways, for example cycle parking.
Section Seven is concerned with ‘Active and Healthy
Communities’. This is generally supported however incorporating
food production on all sites is unlikely to be feasible. The SPD
supports food production opportunities in the public realm which
is often delivered in the form of allotments. Whilst provision of
allotments is appropriate on some sites, on others an off-site
contribution towards allotment provision is more appropriate and
the SPD should reflect this option.
Section Eight, ‘Facing the Climate Crisis’ sets out that all sites
should meet specific sustainability standards. This may not be
viable for all sites and the SPD should reflect this. It is noted that
the DEFRA assessment methodology is proposed to be used
for biodiversity net gain and that this should be on-site first before
looking at options for enhancement of nearby natural habitats.
The inclusion of SuDS as part of green and blue infrastructure
is supported and it should be clarified that SuDS does form part
of the on-site open space provision. Paragraph 8.3 sets out the
Council’s aspirations to maximise opportunities for natural
drainage. Whilst this is supported, ultimately this will be
determined by site-specific technical considerations. The contents
of this section also needs to be agreed with the Lead Local Flood
Authority. Paragraph 8.7 states that designs for large
developments should incorporate sustainable district heating
and power networks. It should be clarified what is considered to
be a ‘large’ development. This should also be amended to reflect
that this will not be feasible/viable for all developments
Section Ten, ‘For the Long Term’ sets out the Council’s
aspirations for proactive stewardship by, and on behalf of the
community. This would need to be facilitated by the Council,
particularly if community assets were not be adopted by the Local

126

Page 465



Authority. Paragraph 10.5 sets out what should be submitted in
order to secure quality at the planning stage. The elements listed
at 10.5.1 and 10.5.2 are detailed matters and should not be
required at outline planning stage. The SPD should make this
clear.

Include files

Question 3 - Part 3: Employment Uses Guidance - Do you
consider that the guidance on designing employment
buildings and areas will meet the future needs of Dacorum?
* Yes
* No

If no, please explain your reasons along with any
suggestions for changes or additions to the guidance on
designing employment buildings and areas.

Include files

Question 4 - General Comments - Overall, do you have any
other comments regarding the Draft Strategic DesignGuide
SPD?
* Yes
* No

Overall, it is considered that the overall intention of the SPD is
supported however there are elements which need to be

If yes, please provide you comments along with any
supporting information you may have.

considered to avoid negative implications for the delivery of sites.
In particular, the SPD needs to be more flexible in order to
recognise that each site is different and will require a different
approach. The comments set out above highlight specific
concerns. The SPD should also be considered by relevant
consultees, in particular highways and drainage, to ensure that
its contents are acceptable and will not cause issues, for example
with highways adoption, further on in the development process.
L&Q Estates is grateful for the opportunity to comment on the
Draft SPD and look forward to continuing to engage with the
Council throughout the development of this document. It is hoped
that these comments are of assistance to the Council as it
progresses the SPD.

Include files

127

Page 466



 
 

 
 
Report for: Cabinet 

 

Date of meeting: 19th January 2021 
 

Part: I 
 

If Part II, reason:  
 

 

Title of report: Appropriation by the Housing Revenue Account of 
General Fund Land for Housing Development purposes. 
 

Contact: Cllr Margaret Griffiths, Portfolio Holder for Housing 
 
Mark Gaynor, Corporate Director Housing and Regeneration  
 
Fiona Williamson, Assistant Director Housing 
 
David Barrett, Housing Development Group Manager 
 

Purpose of report: To be read in conjunction with Part II. 
 
To seek approval for the appropriation of the following sites 
located at : 
 

 Garage Site in Beechfield, Kings Langley. 
 

 Garage Site in Housewood End, Hemel Hempstead. 
 

 Garage Sites in Sempill Road (East and West sites), 
Hemel Hempstead. 
 

 Garage Site in Dione Road, Hemel Hempstead. 
 

 Garage Site in Sleddale, Hemel Hempstead. 
 

 Garage Site & Bedsit Flats over Garages in Randall’s 
Ride, Hemel Hempstead. 
 

 Land at rear of 36 – 42 Tring Road, Wilstone and 
adjacent Garage Site. 

 

Recommendations: That Cabinet approves the appropriation of the General Fund 
land, set out in Part II of the report, to the Housing Revenue 
Account (HRA), to enable the development of Council new 
build homes . . 

Page 467

Agenda Item 9



 
 

 

 
 

Corporate Objectives: Delivering Affordable Housing 
 

Implications: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
‘Value For Money 
Implications’ 

Financial  
 
The overall development budget is reviewed strategically as 
part of the annual review of the Housing Revenue Account 
Business Plan. Each individual scheme, following contract 
award, is subject to close financial monitoring with any 
variances agreed formally through a change control process. 
 
Value for Money  
 
The lifting of HRA borrowing cap has provided the opportunity 
to take out additional borrowing, through the Public Works 
Loan Board (PWLB), at what are still historically low rates of 
interest, enabling the expansion of the new build programme 
in a sustainable and affordable way.  
 
Land purchases are in line with Red Book Valuations to 
ensure that the Council can demonstrate value for money.  
 

Risk Implications Risk Assessments are completed within the new build Project 
Initiation Document (PID) and are reviewed and updated on 
Project Management Office, on a monthly basis.  
There is an ongoing requirement to deliver affordable housing 
in the Borough, evidenced by the high demand on the 
housing register. Failure to progress delivery will increase 
pressure on the homeless service which could have General 
Fund implications.  
 

Community Impact 
Assessment 

A Community Impact assessment is not required because 
homes are developed and allocated in line with demand and 
eligibility for homes is assessed in line with the Council’s 
Allocation Policy, which has had a full Community Impact 
Assessment. The Developments will include some 
Wheelchair accessible units. 
 

Health And Safety 
Implications 

Each new build scheme has in place a Principal Designer and 
Construction Design and Management Regulations (CDM) 
Advisor. Contractors are required to comply with the Council’s 
Health and Safety (H&S) policy along with Considerate 
Constructors’ requirements.  
 
Health and Safety is identified as a key risk for the Housing 
Service and is reported to the Council’s Housing and 
Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee on a 
quarterly basis.  
 

Monitoring 
Officer/S.151 Officer 
Comments 

Monitoring Officer:    
 
Pursuant to section 122 of the Local Government Act 1972, a 

Page 468



 
 

local authority may appropriate land it owns held one for 
purpose to another purpose, if the land is no longer required 
for its existing purpose. In reaching this decision, the Council 
must consider the public need within the area for the existing 
use.   
 
The purpose for which the local authority is appropriating the 
land must be authorised by statute.  Further to section 
17(1)(a) of the Housing Act 1985, a local housing authority 
may acquire land for housing purposes. 
 
S.151 Officer  
 
The transfer values are consistent with an external Red Book 
Valuation, and are in line with the HRA Business Plan budget. 
 

Consultees: Mark Gaynor, Corporate Director Housing and Regeneration 
 
James Deane, Corporate Director Finance & Operations 
 
Fiona Williamson, Assistant Director Housing  
 
Nigel Howcutt, Assistant Director Finance and Resources 
 
David Barrett, Group Manager, Housing Development 
 
Richard Rice, Commercial Asset and Property Development 
Group Manager 
 

Background papers: n/a 
 

Glossary of acronyms 
and any  other 
abbreviations used in 
this report: 

HRA -  Housing Revenue Account 
H&S -  Health and Safety 
PWLB – Public Works Loan Board 
PID – Project Initiation Document 
CDM – Construction Design and Management Regulations 
2015 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 469



 
 

1. Background  
 

1.1 Since 2013, the Council has delivered 335 new Council homes in the 
Borough.  

 
Table 1. Properties delivered to date 

 

Scheme Tenure No. of 
units 

Completion Site source 
 

The Elms  TA 41 2015 Council 

Longlands Social rent 6 2015 Council 

Farm Place  Social rent 26 2015 Council 

St Peters Social rent 9 2015 Private 

Aspen Court Social rent 36 2016 Private 

Queen Street Social rent 6 2016 Council 

Able House Social rent 14 2017 Private 

Kylna Court Social rent 79 2019 Private 

Corn Mill Court Social rent 12 2019 Private 

Williams House TA 6 2020 Council 

Howe Grove House TA 6 2020 Council 

Magenta Court Social rent 29 2020 Private 

Martindale Social rent 
Private sale 

44 
21 

2020 Private 

TOTAL  335   

 
 

1.2 The Council already has both a good record of achievement on delivery 
of new homes to date and a strong pipeline of new schemes 
programmed. The lifting of the borrowing cap on the HRA has presented 
an opportunity to accelerate delivery and enable a sustainable ongoing 
development programme.  

 
Table 2. Properties currently in construction (Including schemes 
mobilising to start on site) 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2. Appropriation of Land by the Housing Revenue Account 
 

2.1 In September 2014, Cabinet approved the disposal of 97 of the Council’s 
garage sites with a view to increasing the supply of housing across the 
Borough, minimising the future maintenance liability, and driving more 
efficient use of its stock. Since that date, the 97 sites have been 
reviewed further and the garages under current consideration in this 
report, among others, were selected for disposal/development this year.  
Respective Ward Councillors have been notified. 

 

Scheme Tenure No. of 
units 

Completion Site 
source 
 

West Dean Social Rent 3 January2021 Council 

Coniston Road Social Rent 10 Spring 2022 Council 

Eastwick Row Social Rent 36 Winter 2022/23 Council 

TOTAL  49   

Page 470



 
 

2.2 A review of garage sites owned by the Council has been carried out to 
establish their suitability for re-development into much needed affordable 
accommodation in the Hemel Hempstead and surrounding areas. The 
first assessment has concluded that the following garage sites are 
suitable for redevelopment: 

 

 Beechfield, Kings Langley 

 Housewood End, Hemel Hempstead 

 Sempill Road (East and West sites), Hemel Hempstead 

 Dione Road, Hemel Hempstead 

 Sleddale, Hemel Hempstead 

 Randall’s Ride, Hemel Hempstead 

 Land at rear of 36 – 42 Tring Road, Wilstone    
 

2.3   In order to ensure a continued pipeline of the future affordable housing 
development sites, this report seeks approval to consider the 
appropriation of the General Fund land to the Housing Revenue Account 
at market value, subject to obtaining full planning permission. 

 
2.4  The garage sites and land at rear of 36 – 42 Tring Road have been 

submitted for pre-application planning advice and are currently being 
prepared for a full plan applications. It is envisaged that the current 
proposals will deliver the following number of homes: 

 

Development Number of units Unit Type 

Housewood End, Hemel 
Hempstead 

3 3 No. 3 bed houses 

Dione Road, Hemel 
Hempstead 

4 3 No. 2 bed houses 
2 No. 3 bed houses 

Sempill Road (East), Hemel 
Hempstead 

4 4 No. 1 bed apartments 

Sempill Road (West), 
Hemel Hempstead 

5 3 No. 3 bed houses 
2 No. 2 bed houses 

Sleddale, Hemel 
Hempstead 

8 3 No. 1 bed apartments 
3 No. 2 bed apartments 
2 No. 3 bed houses 

Beechfields, Kings Langley 4 2 No. 2 bed houses 
2 No. 3 bed houses 

Randall’s Ride, Hemel 
Hempstead 

30 18 No. 1 bed apartments 
12 No. 2 bed apartments 

Land at rear of 36 – 42 
Tring Road, Wilstone 

6 4No. 2 bed houses 
2No. 3 bed houses 

Total 64  

 
The independent red book valuations for these sites are contained in 
Part II of this report. 

 
3. Recommendations 

 
That the appropriation of the General Fund land to the Housing Revenue 
Account, set out in the report, for council house new build purposes be 
approved.  

 
 

Page 471



Document is Restricted

Page 472

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 473

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	6 Cabinet Forward Plan
	7 Hemel Garden Communities Spatial Vision
	Cabinet-19-01-21-Appendix 2-Hemel Garden Communities Spatial Vision
	Cabinet-19-01-21-Appendix 3-Hemel Garden Communities Spatial Vision

	8 Dacorum Strategic Sites Design Guide
	Cabinet-19-01-21-Dacorum Strategic Design Guide SPD Part 1 Design Process
	Cabinet-19-01-21-Dacorum Strategic Design Guide SPD Part 2 Design Principles
	Cabinet-19-01-21-Dacorum Strategic Design Guide SPD Part 3 Employment Uses Guidance
	Cabinet-19-01-21-SPD Consultation responses

	9 Appropriation of General Fund Land to the HRA for Housing Development
	Cabinet-19-01-21-Part 2-Appropriation by the Housing Revenue Account of General Fund Land
	Cabinet-19-01-21-Part 2-Appendix B-Site plans




